

THE UNIVERSITY of EDINBURGH

This thesis has been submitted in fulfilment of the requirements for a postgraduate degree (e.g. PhD, MPhil, DClinPsychol) at the University of Edinburgh. Please note the following terms and conditions of use:

- This work is protected by copyright and other intellectual property rights, which are retained by the thesis author, unless otherwise stated.
- A copy can be downloaded for personal non-commercial research or study, without prior permission or charge.
- This thesis cannot be reproduced or quoted extensively from without first obtaining permission in writing from the author.
- The content must not be changed in any way or sold commercially in any format or medium without the formal permission of the author.
- When referring to this work, full bibliographic details including the author, title, awarding institution and date of the thesis must be given.

Ecosystem-atmosphere interactions in the Arctic

Using data-model approaches to understand carbon cycle feedbacks

Efrén López-Blanco, Doctoral Thesis, 2018

Papers included in this volume:

- López-Blanco, E., Lund, M., Williams, M., Tamstorf, M. P., Westergaard-Nielsen, A., Exbrayat, J. F., Hansen, B. U., and Christensen, T. R.: Exchange of CO₂ in Arctic tundra: impacts of meteorological variations and biological disturbance, Biogeosciences, 14, 4467-4483, 10.5194/bg-14-4467-2017, 2017.
- Lund, M., Raundrup, K., Westergaard-Nielsen, A., López-Blanco, E., Nymand, J., and Aastrup, P.: Larval outbreaks in West Greenland: Instant and subsequent effects on tundra ecosystem productivity and CO₂ exchange, AMBIO, 46, 26-38, 10.1007/s13280-016-0863-9, 2017.
- López-Blanco, E., Lund, M., Christensen, T. R., Tamstorf, M. P., Smallman, T. L., Slevin, D., Westergaard-Nielsen, A., Hansen, B. U., Abermann, J., and Williams, M.: Plant traits are key determinants in buffering the meteorological sensitivity of net carbon exchanges of arctic tundra, Journal of Geophysical Research – Biogeosciences, 123, https://doi.org/10.1029/2018JG004386, 2018.
- López-Blanco, E., Exbrayat, J. F., Lund, M., Christensen, T. R., Tamstorf, M. T., Slevin, D., Hugelius, G., Bloom, A. A., and Williams, M.: Evaluation of terrestrial pan-Arctic carbon cycling using a data assimilation system, Earth System Dynamics Discussions, 2018, 1-27, 10.5194/esd-2018-19, 2018.





GEM

Ecosystem-atmosphere interactions in the Arctic

Using data-model approaches to understand carbon cycle feedbacks

Efrén López-Blanco, Doctoral Thesis 2018

Department of Biosciences, Aarhus University, Denmark School of Geosciences, University of Edinburgh, UK Greenland Ecosystem Monitoring





Declaration

I declare that this thesis has been composed by myself and has not been submitted for any other degree. The work described is my own, except where otherwise indicated.

Efrén López-Blanco

April 2018

Data sheet

Title:	Ecosystem-atmosphere interactions in the Arctic
Subtitle:	Using data-model approaches to understand carbon cycle feedbacks
Author:	Efrén López-Blanco
Institutes:	Department of Biosciences, Aarhus University (AU), Denmark
	School of GeoSciences, The University of Edinburgh (UoE), UK
Publisher:	Aarhus University, Denmark
URL:	www.bios.au.dk/en/
Year of publication:	2018
PhD supervisors:	Professor Torben Røjle Christensen (AU), Professor Mathew Williams (UoE), Vice Head Dept Dr Mikkel Tamstorf (AU) and Senior Researcher Dr Magnus Lund (AU).
Assessment committee:	Professor Caroline Lehmann (UoE), Professor Lise Lotte Sørensen (AU), Professor Morten Frederiksen (AU) and Professor Han Dolman (The Vrije Universiteit Amsterdam).
Please cite as:	López-Blanco, E. 2018. Ecosystem-atmosphere interactions in the Arctic - Using data-model approaches to understand carbon cycle feedbacks. PhD Thesis. Aarhus University. Department of Bioscience, Denmark. 182 pp.
Abstract:	The terrestrial CO ₁ exchange in the Arctic plays an important role in the global carbon (C) cycle. The Arctic ecosystems, containing a large amount of organic carbon (C), are experiencing ongoing warming in recent decades, which is affecting the C cycling and the feedback interactions between its different components. To improve our understanding of the atmosphere-ecosystem interactions, the Greenland Ecosystem Monitoring (GEM) program measures ecosystem CO ₂ exchange and links it to biogeochemical processes. However, this task remains challenging in northern latitudes due to an insufficient number of measurement sites, particularly covering full annual cycles, but also the frequent gaps in data affected by extreme conditions and remoteness. Combining ecosystem models and field observations we are able to study the underlying processes of Arctic CO ₂ exchange in changing environments. The overall aim of the research is to use data-model approaches to analyse the patterns of C exchange and their links to biological processes in Arctic ecosystems, studied in detail both from a measurement and a modelling perspective, but also from a local to a pan-arctic scale. In Paper I we found a compensatory response of photosynthesis (GPP) and ecosystem respiration (R _m), both highly sensitive to the meteorological drivers (i.e. temperatures and radiation) in Kobbefjord, West Greenland tundra. This tight relationship led to a relatively insensitive net ecosystem acted as a consistent sink of C (-30 g C m ⁻²), except in 2011 (41 g C m ⁻²), which was associated with a major pest outbreak. In Paper II we estimated this decrease of C sink strength of 118-144 g C m ⁻² in the anomalous year (2011), corresponding to 1210-1470 tonnes C at the Kobbefjord catchment scale. We concluded that the meteorological sensitivity of photosynthesis and respiration were similar, and hence compensatory, but we could not explain the cause. Therefore, in Paper II we used a calibrated and validated version of the Soil-Plant-Artmosphere
	disturbance plant traits observations modelling
Lowent and	uisiuroance, piant traits, observations, modelling.
Layout and photos:	Elicii Lopez-Dialleo
Front cover: Book cover:	Overview of the Zackenberg area and surroundings in Fast Greenland (source Google Earth Pro).
Dack cover:	2404000725
ISBN: Drintad hv:	2404770/2J
Filline by:	Laser Hyk.uk A/S
i nne and place of defences:	June 4, 2018, in School of GeoSciences, University of Edinburgh, Edinburgh, EH93FF, UK. June 22 nd , 2018, in Niels Bohr Auditorium, Frederiksborgvej 399, 4000 Roskilde, Denmark.

Table of Contents

Data sheet	i
Preface	iv
Acknowledgement	vi
List of included papers	viii
Abstract	ix
Dansk sammenfatning	X
Introduction	1
Thesis context: on-going changes in Arctic ecosystems	2
Sensitivity of the Arctic to climate change - the situation	2
Uncertainty in the Arctic C cycle - the complication	3
How do we measure and model C cycling in the Arctic? - the novelty	4
Overview of the study area	5
Thesis rationale: a better understanding of ecosystem-atmosphere interactions in Arctic ecosystems us	ing data-model
approaches	7
Thesis objectives	9
Overview of thesis papers	9
Paper I - Exchange of CO ₂ in Arctic tundra: impacts of meteorological variations and biological disturban	ce10
Paper II - Larval outbreaks in West Greenland: Instant and subsequent effects on tundra ecosystem produ-	ctivity and
CO ₂ exchange	10
Paper III - Plant traits are key determinants in buffering the meteorological sensitivity of net carbon excha- tundra	inges of arctic
Paper IV - Evaluation of terrestrial pan-Arctic carbon cycling using a data assimilation system	11
References	
Paper I	24
Paper II	
Paper III	
Paper IV	
Paper SI	
Discussion, future perspective and key conclusions	
The impact of environmental drivers and a biological disturbance over the exchange of CO ₂ in Arctic	undra 145
The compensatory effect between photosynthesis and respiration losses	
The role of wintertime fluxes over full annual cycles	
The current state of the pan-Arctic C cycling modelling and its challenges	
Concluding remarks	
References	



Hiking trip around the Kobbefjord valley, West Greenland. Photo by Efrén López-Blanco

Preface

This thesis is the result of a three-year PhD project conducted both at Department of Biosciences and Arctic Research Centre, Aarhus University, and the School of GeoSciences, The University of Edinburgh, under the supervision of Torben R. Christensen, Mathew Williams, Magnus Lund and Mikkel P. Tamstorf. This PhD project is part of the collaborative effort from both Aarhus University and The University of Edinburgh, framed within the ExEDE (Excellence in European Doctoral Training) project. During the research period, I was based in both institutions, and the results presented here have been produced from a joint collaboration with international collages, all of whom are listed as co-authors of the respective papers.

In a way, I think I have always felt attracted and fascinated with our surrounding nature. Simple sensations such as the fresh breeze close to an open coast, the sound of zigzagging water at the top of the mountains or the hidden wildlife across a dense and humid forest early in the mornings have been somehow very rewarding. But then I got to know Greenland, with its shapes, colours, and a lot of new indescribable emerging feelings... I consider myself privileged to have explored such remote and breath-taking landscapes, almost pristine and untouched, but also to be able to work on what I like most, what make me feel pleased and passionate about. This project gave me the opportunity to travel extensively, one of my hobbies, cultivating new ideas across relevant courses all around the world and performing two exciting field campaigns in Greenland. Science is an enriching path, full of new people to meet, and with challenges awaiting at each corner, sometimes tough at first, but frequently heart-warming at the end. By better understanding how our surroundings work, we will be able to take better decisions in the future. The fact is, beyond what few individuals are still blindly denying, the Earth System is changing in an ongoing warming trend, triggering a series of processes that we do not fully understand yet. I am particularly interested in the exchange of CO₂ between the terrestrial ecosystems and the atmosphere, and how this interplay is affected by feedback changes. Therefore, in this thesis I show some of my findings, emphasizing why it is so important to keep learning from this our beloved planet.

This thesis includes an introduction to the current situation of the Arctic, the complication and difficulties about analysing feedbacks under ongoing warming conditions and the novelty of using model-data approaches. This initial part will be followed by a more specific justification of the proposed PhD thesis, including the overall aim, its specific objectives and an overview of the papers included in the thesis. Hereafter, I include two published papers, one manuscript under review and one submitted covering some of the knowledge gaps spotted in the introduction. Finally, I discuss the implications of each paper for our understanding of Arctic C dynamics, and suggest areas for further research.



View from my room in Zackenberg at 1 am, East Greenland. Photo by Efrén López-Blanco

Acknowledgement

First of all, I would like to thank all my supervisors Torben, Mat, Magnus and Mikkel for their guidance, advice, encouragement and openness throughout this project. Torben, this PhD would not have been possible without you, plus your top-level expertise in the Arctic has been invaluable for me. Mat, you have always been a great source of inspiration; your endless curiosity around the why and hows, but also the pursuit of novelty, are something that definitely have had an impact on me, a legacy. Magnus, always there and happy to help and super effective. I truly appreciate the constructive and stimulating discussions we had and I am looking forward to continue doing it in the future, plus you have been a great conference teammate at AGU. Mikkel, even though you have not been in the science game as much as you would have liked to due to your new deputy roles, your contributions have been extremely valuable and have made my work better and more detailed than it would have been otherwise. Also, your support was always great, anytime I needed something. I feel Torben, Mat, Magnus and Mikkel have been not only excellent scientific mentors, but also people that I could talk to outside the office, which I think it is very important and indispensable, too. I must admit I was a bit curious at first about the dynamics of having four supervisors and how it would work but, right from the start, it turned out to be a successful and very productive combination, each of them contributing with their specific abilities. This PhD is the result of our collaborative effort, and I am extremely grateful to you all!

Likewise, I would like to express my gratitude to the Greenland Ecosystem Monitoring programme (particularly to GeoBasis and its crew!), and to Aarhus University and the University of Edinburgh. The combination of a multicultural environment together with the possibility of geographical mobility and quality of education have made this experience incredibly enriching and fulfilling.

I am especially grateful to Jeff, Darren and Luke for their magnificent support during my stay in Edinburgh. Your contribution to my PhD is unquestionable; you were very helpful and have played an essential role in the modelling context. Thanks also to Marcin, Kirstine, Mikhail, Herbert, Janick, Lumi, Siri, Rune, Jesper and many others from the Arctic Ecosystem Ecology lab and the department of Bioscience in general (Aarhus University) as well as to Paula, Felix, Sophie, Hemanth, Pedro, Yaquing and many other Crewtons from the Attic and the Global Change Ecology lab at the department of GeoSciences (University of Edinburgh).

Last but not least. I send a special warm thank you to my family who have supported me on this motivating journey. I will forever appreciate the freedom of decision they have always granted me, which has allowed me to pursue my dreams and ambitions. I would also like to thank all my seareños friends and Carlos, Serxio, Panda, Jorge, and many others as well as my amazing housemates (specially to Victoria, Alizée and Rachel in Scotland and Gabri, Adriana and Megan in Denmark) for their daily support and positives thoughts. Isa, of course, for you goes one of the biggest thanks; I cannot express in a single sentence how much you have contributed to my well-being along these three years. Thanks a million!



On the way to the Nuuk-Kobbefjord site, West Greenland. Photo by Efrén López-Blanco

List of included papers

- Paper I López-Blanco, E., Lund, M., Williams, M., Tamstorf, M. P., Westergaard-Nielsen, A., Exbrayat, J. F., Hansen, B. U., and Christensen, T. R.: Exchange of CO₂ in Arctic tundra: impacts of meteorological variations and biological disturbance, Biogeosciences, 14, 4467-4483, 10.5194/bg-14-4467-2017, 2017.
- Paper II Lund, M., Raundrup, K., Westergaard-Nielsen, A., López-Blanco, E., Nymand, J., and Aastrup, P.: Larval outbreaks in West Greenland: Instant and subsequent effects on tundra ecosystem productivity and CO₂ exchange, AMBIO, 46, 26-38, 10.1007/s13280-016-0863-9, 2017.
- Paper III López-Blanco, E., Lund, M., Christensen, T. R., Tamstorf, M. P., Smallman, T. L., Slevin, D., Westergaard-Nielsen, A., Hansen, B. U., Abermann, J., and Williams, M.: Plant traits are key determinants in buffering the meteorological sensitivity of net carbon exchanges of arctic tundra, Journal of Geophysical Research Biogeosciences, 123, https://doi.org/10.1029/2018JG004386, 2018.
- Paper IV López-Blanco, E., Exbrayat, J. F., Lund, M., Christensen, T. R., Tamstorf, M. T., Slevin, D., Hugelius, G., Bloom, A. A., and Williams, M.: Evaluation of terrestrial pan-Arctic carbon cycling using a data assimilation system, Earth System Dynamics Discussions, 2018, 1-27, 10.5194/esd-2018-19, 2018.

List of additional contributions

Paper SI Pirk, N., Mastepanov, M., López-Blanco, E., Christensen, L. H., Christiansen, H. H., Hansen, B. U., Lund, M., Parmentier, F.-J. W., Skov, K., and Christensen, T. R.: Toward a statistical description of methane emissions from arctic wetlands, AMBIO, 46, 70-80, 10.1007/s13280-016-0893-3, 2017.

My contribution to each paper

Paper I: Experimental design, data preparation and analysis, fieldwork, and leading the writing of the paper. **Paper II:** Flux modelling analysis and the writing of the paper.

Paper III: Experimental design, data preparation and analysis, fieldwork, and leading the writing of the paper.

Paper IV: Data preparation and analysis as well as leading the writing of the paper.

Paper SI: Data handling and the writing of the paper.

Abstract

The terrestrial CO_2 exchange in the Arctic plays an important role in the global carbon (C) cycle. The Arctic ecosystems, containing a large amount of organic carbon (C), are experiencing ongoing warming in recent decades, which is affecting the C cycling and the feedback interactions between its different components. To improve our understanding of the atmosphere-ecosystem interactions, the Greenland Ecosystem Monitoring (GEM) program measures ecosystem CO_2 exchange and links it to biogeochemical processes. However, this task remains challenging in northern latitudes due to an insufficient number of measurement sites, particularly covering full annual cycles, but also the frequent gaps in data affected by extreme conditions and remoteness. Combining ecosystem models and field observations we are able to study the underlying processes of Arctic CO_2 exchange in changing environments. The overall aim of the research is to use data-model approaches to analyse the patterns of C exchange and their links to biological processes in Arctic ecosystems, studied in detail both from a measurement and a modelling perspective, but also from a local to a pan-arctic scale.

In **Paper I** we found a compensatory response of photosynthesis (GPP) and ecosystem respiration (R_{exp}), both highly sensitive to the meteorological drivers (i.e. temperatures and radiation) in Kobbefjord, West Greenland tundra. This tight relationship led to a relatively insensitive net ecosystem exchange (NEE) to the meteorology, despite the large variability in temperature and precipitations across growing seasons. This tundra ecosystem acted as a consistent sink of C (-30 g C m⁻²), except in 2011 (41 g C m⁻²), which was associated with a major pest outbreak. In **Paper II** we estimated this decrease of C sink strength of 118-144 g C m⁻² in the anomalous year (2011), corresponding to 1210-1470 tonnes C at the Kobbefjord catchment scale. We concluded that the meteorological sensitivity of photosynthesis and respiration were similar, and hence compensatory, but we could not explain the causes. Therefore, in Paper III we used a calibrated and validated version of the Soil-Plant-Atmosphere model to explore full annual C cycles and detail the coupling between GPP and R_{em}. From this study we found two key results. First, similar metrological buffering to growing season reduced the full annual C sink strength by 60%. Second, plant traits control the compensatory effect observed (and estimated) between gross primary production and ecosystem respiration. Because a site-specific location is not representative of the entire Arctic, we further evaluated the pan-Arctic terrestrial C cycling using the CARDAMOM data assimilation system in **Paper IV**. Our estimates of C fluxes, pools and transit times are in good agreement with different sources of assimilated and independent data, both at pan-Arctic and local scale. Our benchmarking analysis with extensively used Global Vegetation Models (GVM) highlights that GVM modellers need to focus on the vegetation C dynamics, but also the respiratory losses, to improve our understanding of internal C cycle dynamics in the Arctic.

Data-model approaches generate novel outputs, allowing us to explore C cycling mechanisms and controls that otherwise would not have been possible to address individually. Also, discrepancies between data and models can provide information about knowledge gaps and ecological indicators not previously detected from field observations, emphasizing the unique synergy that models and data are capable of bringing together.

Keywords: Greenland, Arctic, carbon cycle, net ecosystem exchange, photosynthesis, respiration, meteorology, biological disturbance, plant traits, observations, modelling.

Dansk sammenfatning

Den arktiske landbaserede CO_2 udveksling spiller en vigtig rolle i den globale kulstofcyklus. De arktiske økosystemer som indeholder store mængder organisk kulstof (C) er udsat for ændringer under den globale opvarmning hvilket har konsekvenser for den interne kulstof dynamik og fordeling af C. For at forbedre vores forståelse af interaktionen mellem økosystemer og atmosfæren i Arktis har et dansk-grønlandsk moniterings program (Greenland Ecosystem Monitoring, GEM) målt CO_2 udvekslingen mellem land og atmosfære igennem mange år. Dette er kombineret med en række målinger på relaterede styrende parametre som samlet kan forbedre vores forståelse af de biogeokemiske kredsløb i Arktis. Selvom GEM med succes har foretaget disse kontinuerlige målinger nu igennem årtier, er disse fortsat forbundet med store udfordringer specielt når det handler om at dække de lange perioder af året uden for vækstsæsonen. Gennem at kombinere disse målinger i felt med økosystemmodeller er det muligt at arbejde med forståelsen af hele års cyklusser af kulstofudveksling og hvordan disse påvirkes af et klima i forandring. Dette studie har som overordnet formål at udnytte kombinationen af feltdata og modeller til at belyse forskellige biologiske processer i de arktiske økosystemer både på lokalt og på det store cirkumarktiske niveau.

I den første del af dette studie (Paper I) fandt vi kompenserende responser mellem fotosyntese (GPP) og økosystemets respiration (R_{eco}) som begge er følsomme over for de meteorologiske drivere (dvs. temperaturer, nedbør og stråling) på tundraen i Kobbefjord, Vest-Grønland. Dette nære modsatrettede forhold førte til en relativ lille påvirkning af net økosystemudvekslingen (NEE) på trods af den store variation i temperatur og nedbør henover vækstsæsonen. Dette tundraøkosystem viser sig at være en konsekvent "sink" for C (-30 g C m²), undtagen i 2011 (41 g C m²), som var forbundet med et større insektudbrud. I den næste del af studiet (**Paper II**) undersøgte vi det fald i C-sinkstyrken på 118-144 g C m⁻² i det uregelmæssige år 2011, svarende til et tab af 1210-1470 tons C fra Kobbefjord-afvandingsområdet som helhed. Dette tab var forbundet med det nævnte insektudbrud. Men vi konkluderede også, at den meteorologiske følsomhed af fotosyntese og respiration fortsat var ens, og dermed kompenserende, uden dog at kunne ikke forklare årsagerne. Derfor anvendte vi i den følgende del af studiet (Paper III) en kalibreret og valideret version af Soil-Plant-Atmosphere-modellen til at udforske den helårlige C-omsætning for eventuelt at finde svar på koblingen mellem GPP og R_{eco}. Fra denne undersøgelse fandt vi to hovedresultater. For det første reducerede den kombinerede metrologiske effekt på vækstsæsonen den fulde årlige C-sinkstyrke med 60%. For det andet kontrollerer planteegenskaberne den observerede kompenserende virkning mellem bruttoproduktion og økosystemets respiration. Da en enkel lokalitet ikke kan være repræsentativ for hele Arktis, undersøgte vi i den sidste del af studiet (Paper IV) og med afsæt i Paper I-III yderligere den pan-arktiske terrestriske Comsætning ved hjælp af CARDAMOM data assimileringssystemet. Vores estimater af C fluxes, pools og omsætnings-tider er i god overensstemmelse med forskellige kilder til assimilerede og uafhængige data, både fra Arktis som helhed og fra lokale undersøgelser. Vores benchmarking-analyse med udbredt brug af Global Vegetation Models (GVM) fremhæver, at GVM-modellerne skal fokusere på vegetationens C dynamik og ydeevne, men også tabet til atmosfæren gennem respiration for at forbedre vores forståelse af den interne dynamik i C-omsætningen i Arktis.

Data-model tilgange genererer nye studiemuligheder, så vi kan udforske C omsætning og det som kontrollerer den, på en måde som ikke vil være muligt at adressere individuelt. Afvigelser mellem data og modeller kan også give oplysninger om centrale mangler i vores viden om økologiske indikatorer, der ikke tidligere er registreret i feltobservationerne, hvilket understreger den unikke synergi, som modeller og data i kombination er i stand til at samle.

Introduction

Thesis context: ongoing changes in Arctic ecosystems

Sensitivity of the Arctic to climate change - the situation

The Arctic is changing. There is strong evidence of the ongoing impacts of climate change on terrestrial ecosystems' structure (Anisimov et al., 2007; Post et al., 2009). Likewise, these changes in ecosystem function will not only continue in the future, but it will also result in cascading effects and shifts on key regional bio-physical systems and cause global climatic feedbacks (Anisimov et al., 2007; Friedlingstein et al., 2006).

The Arctic terrestrial ecosystem plays a significant role in the global carbon (C) cycle despite the fact that it only contributes to 6-8 % of the global land area (AMAP, 2017; McGuire et al., 2012; van der Molen et al., 2007). Arctic organic C storage has received increased attention in recent years due to large potential for C releases following thaw. Recent reviews have estimated the Arctic terrestrial C pool to be 1400-1850 Pg C, accounting for more than twice of the atmospheric C pool and approximately 50% of the global soil organic C stocks (Hugelius et al., 2014; McGuire et al., 2009; Tarnocai et al., 2009). Most of this C is stored in soils as organic material, typically attributed to the limiting effects of cold temperatures and anaerobic conditions on decomposition (Hobbie et al., 2000; Shaver et al., 2006).

Global air surface temperatures have clearly increased since the middle of the 19th century (Jones and Moberg, 2003). However, there is a further intensified warming tendency in the Arctic (Figure 1), where temperatures have increased almost twice compared to the global average over the last 100 years (AMAP, 2017; Anisimov et al., 2007; Callaghan et al., 2012b; Serreze and Barry, 2011). Measured temperatures show an increase of 0.6 °C per decade since 1985 in latitudes above 62 °N (Polyakov et al., 2002). According to the literature, the tendency will continue, and the forecasted Arctic warming is expected to be more prominent in the coming years (AMAP, 2017; Callaghan et al., 2012a; Christensen et al., 2007; Grøndahl et al., 2008; Meltofte et al., 2008). Several studies pointed out that temperatures, precipitation and growing season length



Figure 1. Annual average 2-m temperature anomalies in the Arctic (67°N+) for various reanalysis data sets. Anomalies are calculated from a 1981-2010 baseline. Data source: Zachary Lab (2017).

will likely increase in the Arctic (AMAP, 2017; Bintanja and Andry, 2017; Christensen et al., 2007; Christensen et al., 2004; IPCC, 2013). Given all these circumstances, together with the vast C pool stored in Arctic regions, the response of the C cycle to changes in climate is a major issue of global concern (McGuire et al., 2009; McGuire et al., 2012).

Uncertainty in the Arctic C cycle - the complication

In the Earth system almost everything is connected (Dopheide et al., 2012); between biosphere and atmosphere, complex mechanisms and responses interplay at multiple inter-related spatio- and temporal scales. C cycle processes interact most of the time between them all, allowing feedback loops with intricate and uncertain consequences. The C cycle is inordinately complex; relocation of C between storage pools together with turnover and decomposition rates are constant, but not at the same temporal scale, resulting from a large set of interplaying physical, biological, chemical and geological dynamics. Together these processes regulate the C balance.

The state of the C cycle in the Arctic has implications for feedback mechanisms with the climate system (Elberling et al., 2008; IPCC, 2013) and it is shaped by several actors. The likely increase of future temperature, precipitation, and growing season length may have multiple effects on CO_2 exchange, initiating a series of critical alterations in the ecosystem. On the one hand, an increase of photosynthetic C uptake can be expected by increasing plant productivity due to warmer temperatures (Street et al., 2013), earlier and longer growing seasons (Aurela et al., 2004; Black et al., 2000; Groendahl et al., 2007), enhanced nutrient availability due to more rapid N mineralization in soils (Rustad et al., 2001a), CO_2 fertilisation (Sitch et al., 2008) and shifts in vegetation dynamics such as shrub expansion and greening (Myers-Smith et al., 2011; Myneni et al., 1997).

On the other hand, these increases of C uptake may be compensated by C losses associated with drought stress on plant productivity under warmer conditions (Goetz et al., 2005; Hanis et al., 2015), microbial turnover of soil organic matter during the beginning of the cold season (Commane et al., 2017; Zona et al., 2016) but also during following summer (Helfter et al., 2015; Lund et al., 2012), higher rates of heterotrophic respiration from soil organic matter associated with warmer temperatures (Davidson and Janssens, 2006; Grosse et al., 2011; Webb et al., 2016) and substantial methane emissions (Christensen et al., 1996; Mastepanov et al., 2008; Mastepanov et al., 2012). Likewise, C releases can be boosted by the occurrence of periodic disturbances such as insect outbreaks (Callaghan et al., 2004; Heliasz et al., 2011) and severely burned landscapes (Rocha and Shaver, 2011). Finally, high latitude soil organic C may release large amount of C following permafrost thaw (Koven et al., 2011; Schuur et al., 2015) due to enhanced decomposition rates (McGuire et al., 2009), triggering the likely positive feedback of accelerating the global warming rate. These changes contribute to the increase of permafrost's temperature (Romanovsky et al., 2010) and active layer thickness (Åkerman and Johansson, 2008). These two processes affect simultaneously the (1) vegetation dynamics (Johansson et al., 2013; Myers-Smith et al., 2015), (2) hydrology by wetting-drying mechanisms (Åkerman and Johansson, 2008), (3) export and composition of dissolved organic carbon losses (Olefeldt and Roulet, 2012), (4) nutrient cycling (Rustad et al., 2001b) and (5) topography (Johansson et al., 2013).

As result of the multiple interactions between these processes, a subsequent new state (sign and magnitude) of C balance can be reached. The net ecosystem exchange (NEE) of CO_2 is the balance between

its two major modulating components: Gross Primary Production (GPP; CO_2 uptake) and Ecosystem Respiration (R_{eco} ; CO_2 release), but it is also a consequence of the interplay between tissue C allocation, nitrogen (N) uptake and fixation, and decomposition of litter and soil organic matter (Thomas and Williams, 2014). Minor variations in relation to these processes can lead to changes in ecosystem C sink/source functioning, which will likely have an impact on the overall C cycle in the ecosystem (Arndal et al., 2009; Lund et al., 2010; Tagesson et al., 2012; Williams et al., 2000). Our knowledge about the exact scale and sensitivity for a phasechange of these C stocks are, however, limited. Likewise, the full implications of these changes for the regional and global terrestrial carbon dynamics remain unknown (Bloom et al., 2016; Grøndahl et al., 2008). Therefore, an improvement of our process-based understanding of CO_2 exchanges in the Arctic, and their climate sensitivity, is critical (McGuire et al., 2009).

How do we measure and model C cycling in the Arctic? - the novelty

The exchange of CO₂ between terrestrial ecosystems and the atmosphere (NEE) is a key descriptor of ecosystem functioning and it imposes a major influence on the atmospheric CO₂ concentration (Campioli et al., 2016). Eddy covariance (EC) measurements of NEE has become a widespread technique in recent years for C flux measurements at the landscape scale (Baldocchi, 2003; Lasslop et al., 2012; Lund et al., 2012; Reichstein et al., 2005). Similarly, manual and automatic chambers (MC and AC respectively) are also primary techniques used to measure NEE (Elberling et al., 2008; Mastepanov et al., 2008; Pirk et al., 2017). For example, McGuire et al. (2012) (Supplement 1) have compiled an extensive list including ~250 observations from 120 published articles of NEE across Arctic tundra including EC and chamber methods. On the other hand NEE is frequently gap filled and separated into its two key processes, GPP and R_{eco}, to understand CO₂ flux responses to the environmental forcing (Hanis et al., 2015) using different gap-filling (Falge et al., 2001; Moffat et al., 2007; Papale et al., 2006) and partitioning approaches (Lasslop et al., 2013). Unfortunately, these procedures present inevitable uncertainties in their estimations of C budgets and inconsistencies between approaches (Brændholt et al., 2017; Oikawa et al., 2017; Papale et al., 2006). Further, the gap-filled and partitioned products are not true observations any longer, and additional requirements need to be considered.

While the EC and AC techniques are a widely used flux monitoring approaches, their temporal and spatial coverage is limited. Likewise, the evaluation of underlying ecosystem dynamics only based on NEE and its partitioned gross fluxes is challenging. Further levels of complexity at leaf, canopy and landscape scale is desirable to better understand C related interactions and potential feedback loops. Conveniently, process oriented models have been proven capable of retrieving reasonable estimations of C cycle dynamics in Arctic ecosystems such as NEE (Williams et al., 2000), gross fluxes (Zhang et al., 2018), methane releases (Walter and Heimann, 2000), but also their feedback with permafrost (Koven et al., 2015), snow dynamics (Essery, 2015) and vegetation shifts (van der Kolk et al., 2016). However, future work is required since many biologically mediated C cycle dynamics are inadequately represented in process based modelling (Chapin et al., 2009). Some examples of these mechanisms that are currently very uncertain and unsatisfactory represented in ecosystem models are the 1) allocation of photosynthesised C to growth versus respiration, 2) litter and soil organic matter (SOM) turnover, 3) wintertime decomposition and 4) episodic disturbance events such as fires

and insect outbreaks (Chapin et al., 2009; Hobbie et al., 2000; Sitch et al., 2007). Respiration processes are complex, but they represent key elements to constrain the net C uptake uncertainty.

At coarser scales, regional to global vegetation models (GVMs) can moderately represent vegetation ecosystem processes addressing the structural (i.e. growth, competition, and turnover) and biochemical (i.e. water, carbon, and nutrients cycling) responses to climate variability (Clark et al., 2011; Friend and White, 2000; Ito and Inatomi, 2012; Pavlick et al., 2013; Sitch et al., 2003; Smith et al., 2001; Woodward et al., 1995). However, issues related to inherent differences of model structure, pre-arranged parameters derived from literature, prescribed plant-functional types (PFT) and the use of steady state assumptions contribute to large uncertainties and bias. Likewise, model intercomparison projects demonstrated a lack of consistency in prognostic estimations of terrestrial C dynamics of GVMs (Ahlström et al., 2012; Friedlingstein et al., 2014). Some other evaluation designs such as the Inter-Sectoral Impact Model Intercomparison Project (ISIMIP) (Warszawski et al., 2014) focus on the analysis of the vegetation C cycling performance. ISIMIP-related studies found that a large portion of the uncertainties in these GVMs are derived from the lack of understanding of long term C dynamics (i.e. vegetation turnover and soil decomposition) compared to photosynthetic processes (GPP and NPP). These days we find an agreement in literature suggesting that the carbon turnover in land ecosystem is a main uncertain feature of the global carbon cycle (Exbrayat et al., 2018; Friend et al., 2014; Nishina et al., 2015; Thurner et al., 2017). On top of conventional GVMs, new approaches based on Bayesian statistics and optimal parameter sets have been recently developed (Bloom et al., 2016; Bloom and Williams, 2015; Koven et al., 2015). These data-assimilation systems are becoming attractive frameworks to digest the increasing number of re-analysis products (Figure 1) (Dee et al., 2011), remote sensing- and observational-based products (Carvalhais et al., 2014; Hugelius et al., 2013a; Jung et al., 2017), which all are difficult to integrate in traditional GVMs. These model-data fusion approaches, significantly more data constrained frameworks, are suitable candidates to identify issues and bias in GVMs that need to be addressed to decrease errors and uncertainties in their forecasts.

Overall, there is an increasing tendency towards field measurements and model simulations integration to assess the consequences of climate change in the total CO_2 budget. This can be partly achieved by combining (i) ecosystem models to increase mechanistic understanding, (ii) ground plot measurements, and (iii) remotely sensed products. Certainly, model-data approaches are capable to fill important knowledge gaps learning from each other, but there are still opportunities for further enhancements.

Overview of the study area

This thesis makes particular reference to the Nuuk-Kobbefjord site (**Papers I, II, III** and **IV**), a research station founded under the umbrella of the Greenland Ecosystem Monitoring (GEM) program (Christensen et al., 2017). GEM is an integrated and long-term research monitoring program which seeks to contribute to the basic scientific understanding of Arctic ecosystems and their responses to climatic changes and variability as well as the potential local, regional and global implications of changes in Arctic ecosystems (Christensen and Topp-Jørgensen, 2017). The Nuuk-Kobbefjord site is located in South-west Greenland (64°07' N; 51°21' W), around 16 km from Nuuk, the capital of Greenland (Figures 2a and 2b). Kobbefjord is a low Arctic fen without permafrost in the lowland. Kobbefjord has been subjected to extensive cross-

disciplinary ecological monitoring program since 2007 within the Nuuk Ecological Research Operations (NERO, now integrated in GEM). It has been incorporated to the global data network FLUXNET, and it has been also proposed as associated station within the European research infrastructure ICOS (Integrated Carbon Observation System). The available C related datasets at high temporal resolution provide a unique opportunity to describe and analyse inter-annual variability of C dynamics where extensive environmental ancillary data, plant phenology data and ecological dynamics are also monitored. This infrastructure provides an attractive natural environment to explore C related interactions to the ongoing changes of climate in very sensitive ecosystems.



Figure 2. (a) Location of the Nuuk-Kobbefjord area in West Greenland (source: Google Earth Pro). (b) Location of Nuukbasis instrumentation in the catchment area of Kobbefjord: the climate station, the fen station (including the EC tower and six AC), the automatic cameras (K1, K3) as well as the hydrometric (H1, H2) and diver stations (H3, H4, H5). (c) Time series of temperatures (1866-2015) from Nuuk (yellow line), Kobbefjord-Fen (red line) and Kobbefjord-weather station (orange line) together with precipitations (1931-2015) from Nuuk (light blue bar). The Kobbefjord-Fen and Kobbefjord-weather station are modelled on the basis on the long term data from Nuuk (Cappelen, 2016).

The Nuuk area presented a significant inter-annual variability with a mean annual air temperature of -1.4°C in the 1866-2015 period and a total mean annual precipitation of about 708 mm between 1932 and 2015 (Cappelen, 2016) (Figure 2c). Kobbefjord has experienced a tendency towards warmer and wetter conditions compared the long-time series considered by Cappelen (2016), except for 2011 and 2015. This large meteorological variation from year to year is likely influenced by the complex terrain, this is a coastal area surrounded by three glaciered mountains, all above 1000 m above sea level. Annual variation of the maximum snow depth also extensively fluctuated between winters; for the 2008-2015 period snow oscillated between 0.3-1.4 m of maximum height. However, it is not possible to measure C fluxes across winter seasons yet due

to the harsh conditions and remoteness, and thus it complicates the analysis of C dynamics during the cold season. There is no permafrost documented in the area, although thin lenses may remain until the growing season. The valley is dominated by three eco-types: fen (*Scirpus cespitosus*), heath (*Empetrum nigrum, Salix glauca, Vacinium uliginosum*) and copse (*Eriophorum angustifolium, Salix glauca*).

Thesis rationale: a better understanding of ecosystem-atmosphere interactions in Arctic ecosystems using data-model approaches

The terrestrial C cycle is currently the least constrained component of the global carbon budget (Bloom et al., 2016; Le Quéré et al., 2013). Large uncertainties remain from poor understanding of the C cycling feedbacks to climate change as well as the magnitude, distribution and dynamics of the major terrestrial C pools. Precise estimations of the state and fluxes of the terrestrial C cycle are problematic; vegetation structure and composition together with soil properties are spatially variable (Carvalhais et al., 2014; Fischer et al., 2008; Tarnocai et al., 2009), and ecosystems in different locations have divergent characteristics. The overall aim of the proposed research is to contribute towards a better understanding of the C exchange patterns and their links to biological processes in Arctic ecosystems using data-model approaches. The research focuses on how C fluxes and stocks are influenced by meteorology, vegetation dynamics, biological disturbances, soil properties and hydrology, studied in detail both from a measurement and a modelling perspective. This thesis pivots over four themes related to each other throughout the presented papers (**Paper I, II, III, IV**): field data and modelling driven analyses, from a local to a pan-Arctic scale (Figure 3). This research covers (i) eddy flux (**Paper I, IV**) and chamber (**Paper I, II**) measurement techniques, (ii) high temporal resolution modelling with parameterization at leaf-level and prediction at canopy-level (**Paper III**), and (iii) a state-of-the-art data assimilation framework applied to the pan-Arctic region (**Paper IV**).



Figure 3. Conceptual diagram of the themes addressed in this PhD project including the papers involved and their inter-relation and overlaps.

The use of long-term measurements is crucial to improve our understanding of the C exchange balance in the soil-vegetation-atmosphere continuum (Aurela et al., 2004; Christensen et al., 2012; Lafleur et al., 1997; Lund et al., 2012; Parmentier et al., 2011; Zona et al., 2014). Important synthesis processes have led to a compilation of published information regarding C cycling both in a measurement and modelling context. Nevertheless, there is a lack of reference sites from where full measurement-based data are available, documenting the basic full annual carbon fluxes, stocks and the impact of disturbance regimes at the catchment scale. With increasing temperatures, precipitations, and growing season length, tundra systems are expected to increase rates of C cycling, i.e. enhanced productivity (GPP) and respiration losses (R_{en}). However, little is known about the responses to the meteorological variability by the C uptake and C storage interactions, and the overall influence on the net C uptake. Moreover, the C sink strength can be severely shifted by biological disturbances such as moth outbreaks, challenging the NEE forecast in the Arctic. Moth outbreaks can have extensive consequences for ecosystem productivity (decreased C uptake due to low GPP) and ecosystem functioning (i.e. canopy defoliation and reduction of biomass), leading to an increase of the total C losses (Callaghan et al., 2004; Heliasz et al., 2011; Post and Pedersen, 2008). Focus on analysis based on field observations at a small scale is required to better understand C dynamics. With **Paper I** and **II**, the intention is to elaborate on the information gathered in existing catchment scale studies making use of the extensive monitoring over the past few years under the auspices of the Greenland Ecosystem Monitoring (GEM) program.

Notwithstanding, exclusive field data analyses are insufficient to provide a complete picture of the C cycling at any scale. Field observations remain scarce and fragmented in northern latitudes due to remoteness and harsh conditions (Kwon et al., 2006; Lafleur et al., 2012; McGuire et al., 2012; Poyatos et al., 2013; van der Molen et al., 2007; Westergaard-Nielsen et al., 2013). Therefore, it is challenging to produce a comprehensive full picture of the terrestrial C cycling. The snow season and the delayed effects of wintertime variables such as the snow depth and cover are usually not considered even though these are key controllers of full annual C budgets (Aurela et al., 2002; Commane et al., 2017; Grøndahl et al., 2008; Zona et al., 2016). In addition, the linkages of the competing processes inherent to NEE with C storage in vegetation and soil remain to be fully understood. To better comprehend the dynamics controlling ecosystem respiration, a better understanding is needed in the (i) separation of R_{em} into autotropic (R_a; from living C pools) and heterotrophic respiration (R_b; from dead C pools) (Hopkins et al., 2013; Reich et al., 2008; Waring and Schlesinger, 1985; Xenakis and Williams, 2014),(ii) carbon use efficiency (CUE) (Bradford and Crowther, 2013; Street et al., 2013), and (iii) C-N relations (Thomas and Williams, 2014). Consequently, Paper III incorporates a processbased modelling perspective in order to fill some gaps in the current C exchange knowledge. The intention is to not only simulate the annual C budget from where there is not full annual data available using the Soil-Plant-Atmosphere (SPA) model (Williams et al., 2000; Williams et al., 1996; Williams et al., 2005), but also to take advantage of the knowledge learnt from Paper I and II to answer questions that otherwise would not have been possible to address individually.

At global scale, GVMs have traditionally been used to assess vegetation C dynamics. However, forward models usually rely on predefined parameters, PFT, steady state assumptions, and different model structures, leading to large uncertainties identified in predictive estimations (Exbrayat et al., 2018; Nishina et al., 2015). Recent important studies have indicated that ecosystem turnover and decomposition are less understood than photosynthetic processes (Carvalhais et al., 2014; Friend et al., 2014) although the degree of uncertainties introduced by each component remains to be quantified. Hence, new techniques are required to benchmark the

performance with regards to ecosystem productivity and turnover from GVMs to pinpoint fixable bias, but also to efficiently assimilate the increasing volume of C related datasets available (Carvalhais et al., 2014; FAO/IIASA/ISRIC/ISSCAS/JRC, 2012; Hugelius et al., 2013a; Thurner et al., 2014). Data assimilation systems (or model-data fusion approaches) are tools developed to be constrained by data, allowing the best possible solution based on the integrated data. Recently, Bloom et al. (2016) produced global C retrievals using the state of the art CARbon DAta MOdel (CARDAMOM) framework but global point of view constrained the choice of soil organic C (SOC) data and the availability of biomass was an issue at high latitudes. The use of Arctic related products is critical to better represent high latitude characteristics such as slow turnover and decomposition processes (Hobbie et al., 2000). Therefore, in **Paper IV** we further evaluate the pan-Arctic terrestrial C cycling using the CARDAMOM data assimilation system, but incorporating new sources of Arctic-related data constraints such an innovative biomass dataset (Carvalhais et al., 2014) and the improved Northern Circumpolar Soil Carbon dataset (NCSCD) (Hugelius et al., 2013b). The CARDAMOM framework in **Paper IV** uses the same core modelling structure for C cycling utilized in **Paper III**, but **Paper IV** also links the field observation analysis back with **Paper I**, establishing also a connection with the observational and local perspective point of views.

Thesis objectives

The overall objective of this thesis is to resolve key uncertainties related to mechanisms driving the net C uptake dynamics and the interplay between photosynthetic inputs, respiratory outputs and changes of C stocks in Arctic ecosystems. This thesis involved field observations (**Paper I, II, III, IV**) and modelling simulations (**Paper III, IV**), both at local (**Paper I, II, III**) and pan-Arctic scale (**Paper IV**). Specifically, the objectives were to:

- Investigate the impact of the environmental drivers (Paper I) and the biological disturbance (Paper I, II) over the exchange of CO₂ in Arctic tundra.
- 2. Investigate the compensatory effect observed and modelled between photosynthesis and respiration losses (**Paper I, III**).
- 3. Investigate the role of wintertime fluxes over full annual cycles (**Paper III**).
- 4. Evaluate the terrestrial pan-Arctic C cycle retrievals of the first 15 years of the 21st century and benchmark those retrievals with estimates from extensively used GVMs to pinpoint fixable biases (**Paper IV**).

Overview of thesis papers

The thesis is structured as a series of four papers (plus an additional side project only mentioned, not discussed), which are either published or under review process. The papers are ordered to reflect the progressive steps of the study development. This sometimes result in cross-references and overlap of content,

which is an unavoidable consequence of ensuring that the manuscripts could stand as independent research article. The content and purpose of each paper are outlined below.

Paper I - Exchange of CO_2 in Arctic tundra: impacts of meteorological variations and biological disturbance

This paper analyses the net ecosystem exchange (NEE) of CO_2 in the Nuuk-Kobbefjord site located in West Greenland tundra across eight consecutive snow-free periods. **Paper I** also characterizes the two key modulating components of NEE: gross primary productivity (GPP) and ecosystem respiration (R_{eco}). Our objectives were (i) to explore the uncertainties in NEE gap filling and partitioning, (ii) to determine how C uptake and C storage respond to meteorological variability and (iii) to identify how the environmental drivers affect not only the inter-annual variability, but also the hourly, daily, weekly and monthly variability of C fluxes. We use eddy covariance and auto-chamber data to explore different gap filling and partitioning approaches and to evaluate different sources of uncertainties derived from field measurements. We find that growing season NEE was insensitivity to meteorological variability across the 2008-2015 period. We show that the insensitivity was persistent despite the large variability in temperature and precipitation throughout the growing seasons with the exception of 2011 due to a biological disturbance caused by a moth outbreak (see also **Paper II**). The net CO₂ budget was surprisingly stable compared to the magnitude of variation of GPP and R_{eco} . Interestingly, the meteorological sensitivity of GPP and R_{eco} were similar, and thus compensatory, but we could not explain why.

Paper II - Larval outbreaks in West Greenland: Instant and subsequent effects on tundra ecosystem productivity and CO₂ exchange

This paper synthesises available information about larvae moth outbreaks in Greenland. **Paper II** also assesses the effects of the biological disturbance in the Nuuk-Kobbefjord (**Paper I**) site during 2011 and how this tundra ecosystem responds to the larval attack in the following three years. Our objective was to calculate the effects of the larval outbreak on the ecosystem productivity. We use monitoring data on land–atmosphere exchange of CO_2 from manual close chamber method, vegetation greenness derived from an automatic camera station, and remote sensing imagery to investigate possible historical outbreaks in Kobbefjord and Kangerlussuaq. We find a significant impact on vegetation productivity, with a marked decline in summertime C sink strength of 118–143 g C m⁻². Interestingly, the decrease of C sink strength was counterbalanced during the following years by the likely increase of nutrient turnover rates favouring the plant growth in the 2012-2014 period. Additionally, we show for the first time the potential for using satellite imagery to detect and map insect outbreak events in tundra ecosystems, events that can cause significant impacts on Arctic C dynamics (**Paper I**).

Paper III - Plant traits are key determinants in buffering the meteorological sensitivity of net carbon exchanges of Arctic tundra

This manuscript explores and quantifies the mechanisms that drive the interaction between photosynthesis, respiration and changes in C stocks in the Nuuk-Kobbefjord site. In **Paper I** we concluded that the meteorological sensitivity of photosynthesis and respiration were similar, and hence compensatory, but we could not explain the causes. Therefore, in **Paper III** we target some possible explanations for this behaviour, but we also explore the importance of wintertime in relation to the full annual C budgets. We use a modified, calibrated and validated version of the soil-plant-atmosphere (SPA) model to report independent predictions from observational data presented in **Paper I**. With this model version specific to high-latitude ecosystems we untangle the effects of competing ecosystem processes and their links to plant traits, testing the hypothesis that plant nitrogen and vegetation properties are important controls on the compensatory effect between GPP and R_{coo} . We find three key results in this study. First, similar meteorological sensitivity of GPP and R_{coo} leads to buffered NEE. Second, the winter season reduced full annual C sink strength by 60%. Third, plant traits control the compensatory effect observed (and estimated) between GPP and R_{coo} . We conclude that, even though the combination of data-model approaches helps to explore mechanisms that otherwise would not be possible to address individually, we still need more measurements to better constrain models and to move towards enhanced data-model integrated frameworks.

Paper IV - Evaluation of terrestrial pan-Arctic carbon cycling using a data-assimilation system

This manuscript integrates a range of data (soil organic carbon, leaf area index, biomass, and climate) to determine the most likely state of the high latitude C cycle (C fluxes, pools and transit times) for the first 15 years of the 21st century. In **Paper IV** we use an improved version of the CARDAMOM data-assimilation system, to produce pan-Arctic terrestrial C-related variables without using traditional plant functional type or steady-state assumptions. Our objectives were to (i) present and evaluate the retrievals and uncertainties of the current state of the pan-Arctic C cycle and (ii) benchmark extensively used GVMs to determine whether vegetation transit times biases are derived from productivity or vegetation stocks. We find that the pan-Arctic region was a likely sink of C, weaker in tundra and stronger in taiga, but uncertainties around the respiration losses are still large, and so the region could be a source of C. Moreover, we show that turnover time of vegetation C is poorly simulated in GVMs and is a major component of error in their forecasts. We conclude that more attention to vegetation C stocks and their change over time is required to provide better analytical constraints on the pan-Arctic predictive modelling.

References

- Ahlström, A., Schurgers, G., Arneth, A., and Smith, B.: Robustness and uncertainty in terrestrial ecosystem carbon response to CMIP5 climate change projections, Environmental Research Letters, 7, 044008, 2012.
- Åkerman, H. J., and Johansson, M.: Thawing permafrost and thicker active layers in sub-arctic Sweden, Permafrost and periglacial processes, 19, 279-292, 10.1002/ppp.626, 2008.
- AMAP: Snow, water, ice and permafrost in the Arctic (SWIPA) 2017, Oslo, Norway, xiv + 269 pp, 2017.
- Anisimov, O. A., Vaughan, D. G., Callaghan, T. V., Furgal, C., Marchant, H., Prowse, T. D., Vilhjálmsson, H., and Walsh, J. E.: Polar regions (Arctic and Antarctic), in: Climate Change 2007: Impacts, Adaptation and Vulnerability. Contribution of Working Group II to the Fourth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, edited by: Parry, M. L., Canziani, O. F., Palutikof, J. P., Van Der Linden, P. J., and Hanson, C. E., Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 653-685, 2007.
- Arndal, M. F., Illeris, L., Michelsen, A., Albert, K., Tamstorf, M., and Hansen, B. U.: Seasonal Variation in Gross Ecosystem Production, Plant Biomass, and Carbon and Nitrogen Pools in Five High Arctic Vegetation Types, Arctic, Antarctic, and Alpine Research, 41, 164-173, 10.1657/1938-4246-41.2.164, 2009.
- Aurela, M., Laurila, T., and Tuovinen, J.-P.: Annual CO2 balance of a subarctic fen in northern Europe: Importance of the wintertime efflux, Journal of Geophysical Research: Atmospheres, 107, ACH 17-11-ACH 17-12, 10.1029/2002JD002055, 2002.
- Aurela, M., Laurila, T., and Tuovinen, J.-P.: The timing of snow melt controls the annual CO2 balance in a subarctic fen, Geophysical Research Letters, 31, L16119, 10.1029/2004GL020315, 2004.
- Baldocchi, D. D.: Assessing the eddy covariance technique for evaluating carbon dioxide exchange rates of ecosystems: past, present and future, Global Change Biology, 9, 479-492, 10.1046/j.1365-2486.2003.00629.x, 2003.
- Bintanja, R., and Andry, O.: Towards a rain-dominated Arctic, Nature Climate Change, 7, 263, 10.1038/nclimate3240, 2017.
- Black, T. A., Chen, W. J., Barr, A. G., Arain, M. A., Chen, Z., Nesic, Z., Hogg, E. H., Neumann, H. H., and Yang, P. C.: Increased carbon sequestration by a boreal deciduous forest in years with a warm spring, Geophysical Research Letters, 27, 1271-1274, 10.1029/1999GL011234, 2000.
- Bloom, A. A., and Williams, M.: Constraining ecosystem carbon dynamics in a data-limited world: integrating ecological "common sense" in a model–data fusion framework, Biogeosciences, 12, 1299-1315, 10.5194/bg-12-1299-2015, 2015.
- Bloom, A. A., Exbrayat, J.-F., van der Velde, I. R., Feng, L., and Williams, M.: The decadal state of the terrestrial carbon cycle: Global retrievals of terrestrial carbon allocation, pools, and residence times, Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 113, 1285-1290, 10.1073/pnas.1515160113, 2016.
- Bradford, M. A., and Crowther, T. W.: Carbon use efficiency and storage in terrestrial ecosystems, New Phytologist, 199, 7-9, 10.1111/nph.12334, 2013.

- Brændholt, A., Steenberg Larsen, K., Ibrom, A., and Pilegaard, K.: Overestimation of closed-chamber soil CO2 effluxes at low atmospheric turbulence, Biogeosciences, 14, 1603-1616, 10.5194/bg-14-1603-2017, 2017.
- Callaghan, T. V., Björn, L. O., Chernov, Y., Chapin, T., Christensen, T. R., Huntley, B., Ims, R. A., Johansson, M., Jolly, D., Jonasson, S., Matveyeva, N., Panikov, N., Oechel, W., Shaver, G., and Henttonen, H.: Effects on the Structure of Arctic Ecosystems in the Short- and Long-term Perspectives, AMBIO: A Journal of the Human Environment, 33, 436-447, 10.1579/0044-7447-33.7.436, 2004.
- Callaghan, T. V., Johansson, M., Brown, R. D., Groisman, P. Y., Labba, N., Radionov, V., Barry, R. G., Bulygina, O. N., Essery, R. L. H., Frolov, D. M., Golubev, V. N., Grenfell, T. C., Petrushina, M. N., Razuvaev, V. N., Robinson, D. A., Romanov, P., Shindell, D., Shmakin, A. B., Sokratov, S. A., Warren, S., and Yang, D.: The Changing Face of Arctic Snow Cover: A Synthesis of Observed and Projected Changes, AMBIO, 40, 17-31, 10.1007/s13280-011-0212-y, 2012a.
- Callaghan, T. V., Johansson, M., Prowse, T. D., Olsen, M. S., and Reiersen, L.-O.: Arctic Cryosphere: Changes and Impacts, AMBIO, 40, 3-5, 10.1007/s13280-011-0210-0, 2012b.
- Campioli, M., Malhi, Y., Vicca, S., Luyssaert, S., Papale, D., Peñuelas, J., Reichstein, M., Migliavacca, M., Arain, M. A., and Janssens, I. A.: Evaluating the convergence between eddy-covariance and biometric methods for assessing carbon budgets of forests, 7, 13717, 10.1038/ncomms13717, 2016.
- Cappelen, J.: Greenland DMI Historical Climate Data Collection 1784-2015, Danish Meteorological Institute, 2016.
- Carvalhais, N., Forkel, M., Khomik, M., Bellarby, J., Jung, M., Migliavacca, M., u, M., Saatchi, S., Santoro, M., Thurner, M., Weber, U., Ahrens, B., Beer, C., Cescatti, A., Randerson, J. T., and Reichstein, M.: Global covariation of carbon turnover times with climate in terrestrial ecosystems, Nature, 514, 213-217, 10.1038/nature13731, 2014.
- Chapin, F. S. I., McFarland, J., McGuire, A. D., Euskirchen, E. S., Ruess, R. W., and Kielland, K.: The changing global carbon cycle: linking plant–soil carbon dynamics to global consequences, Journal of Ecology, 97, 840-850, doi:10.1111/j.1365-2745.2009.01529.x, 2009.
- Christensen, J. H., Hewitson, B., Busuioc, A., Chen, A., Gao, X., Held, I., Jones, R., Kolli, R. K., Kwon, W.-T., Laprise, R., Magaña Rueda, V., Mearns, L., Menéndez, C. G., Räisänen, J., Rinke, A., Sarr, A., and Whetton, P.: Regional Climate Projections, in: Climate Change 2007: Climate Change 2007: The Physical Science Basis: Working Group I Contribution to the Fourth Assessment Report of the IPCC, edited by: Solomon, S., Qin, D., Manning, M., Chen, Z., Marquis, M., Averyt, K. B., Tignor, M., and Miller, H. L., Cambridge University Press, New York, 2007.
- Christensen, T. R., Prentice, I. C., Kaplan, J., Haxeltine, A., and Sitch, S.: Methane flux from northern wetlands and tundra, Tellus B, 48, 1996.
- Christensen, T. R., Johansson, T., Åkerman, H. J., Mastepanov, M., Malmer, N., Friborg, T., Crill, P., and Svensson, B.: Thawing sub-arctic permafrost: Effects on vegetation and methane emissions, Geophysical Research Letters, 31, L04501, 10.1029/2003GL018680, 2004.
- Christensen, T. R., Jackowicz-Korczyński, M., Aurela, M., Crill, P., Heliasz, M., Mastepanov, M., and Friborg, T.: Monitoring the Multi-Year Carbon Balance of a Subarctic Palsa Mire with Micrometeorological Techniques, AMBIO, 41, 207-217, 10.1007/s13280-012-0302-5, 2012.
- Christensen, T. R., and Topp-Jørgensen, E.: Greenland Ecosystem Monitoring Annual Report Cards 2016., DCE-Danish Centre for Environment and Energy, Aarhus University, Roskilde, Denmark, 26, 2017.

- Christensen, T. R., Topp-Jørgensen, E., Sejr, M. K., and Schmidt, N. M.: Synthesis of the Greenland Ecosystem Monitoring program. In: AMBIO, Supplement 1, 2017.
- Clark, D. B., Mercado, L. M., Sitch, S., Jones, C. D., Gedney, N., Best, M. J., Pryor, M., Rooney, G. G., Essery, R. L. H., Blyth, E., Boucher, O., Harding, R. J., Huntingford, C., and Cox, P. M.: The Joint UK Land Environment Simulator (JULES), model description – Part 2: Carbon fluxes and vegetation dynamics, Geosci. Model Dev., 4, 701-722, 10.5194/gmd-4-701-2011, 2011.
- Commane, R., Lindaas, J., Benmergui, J., Luus, K. A., Chang, R. Y.-W., Daube, B. C., Euskirchen, E. S., Henderson, J. M., Karion, A., Miller, J. B., Miller, S. M., Parazoo, N. C., Randerson, J. T., Sweeney, C., Tans, P., Thoning, K., Veraverbeke, S., Miller, C. E., and Wofsy, S. C.: Carbon dioxide sources from Alaska driven by increasing early winter respiration from Arctic tundra, Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 114, 5361-5366, 10.1073/pnas.1618567114, 2017.
- Davidson, E. A., and Janssens, I. A.: Temperature sensitivity of soil carbon decomposition and feedbacks to climate change, Nature, 440, 165, 10.1038/nature04514, 2006.
- Dee, D. P., Uppala, S. M., Simmons, A. J., Berrisford, P., Poli, P., Kobayashi, S., Andrae, U., Balmaseda, M. A., Balsamo, G., Bauer, P., Bechtold, P., Beljaars, A. C. M., van de Berg, L., Bidlot, J., Bormann, N., Delsol, C., Dragani, R., Fuentes, M., Geer, A. J., Haimberger, L., Healy, S. B., Hersbach, H., Hólm, E. V., Isaksen, L., Kållberg, P., Köhler, M., Matricardi, M., McNally, A. P., Monge-Sanz, B. M., Morcrette, J. J., Park, B. K., Peubey, C., de Rosnay, P., Tavolato, C., Thépaut, J. N., and Vitart, F.: The ERA-Interim reanalysis: configuration and performance of the data assimilation system, Quarterly Journal of the Royal Meteorological Society, 137, 553-597, 10.1002/qj.828, 2011.
- Dopheide, E., van der Meer, F., Sliuzas, R., van der Veen, A., and Voinov, A.: System Earth: some theory on the system, in: The core of GIScience: a systems-based approach, The International Institute for Geo-Information Science and Earth Observation (ITC), Enschede, The Netherlands, 2012.
- Elberling, B., Nordstrøm, C., Grøndahl, L., Søgaard, H., Friborg, T., Christensen, T. R., Ström, L., Marchand, F., and Nijs, I.: High-Arctic Soil CO2 and CH4 Production Controlled by Temperature, Water, Freezing and Snow, in: Advances in Ecological Research, Academic Press, 441-472, 2008.
- Essery, R.: A factorial snowpack model (FSM 1.0), Geosci. Model Dev., 8, 3867-3876, 10.5194/gmd-8-3867-2015, 2015.
- Exbrayat, J. F., Bloom, A. A., Falloon, P., Ito, A., Smallman, T. L., and Williams, M.: Reliability ensemble averaging of 21st century projections of terrestrial net primary productivity reduces global and regional uncertainties, Earth Syst. Dynam., 9, 153-165, 10.5194/esd-9-153-2018, 2018.
- Falge, E., Baldocchi, D., Olson, R., Anthoni, P., Aubinet, M., Bernhofer, C., Burba, G., Ceulemans, R., Clement, R., Dolman, H., Granier, A., Gross, P., Grünwald, T., Hollinger, D., Jensen, N.-O., Katul, G., Keronen, P., Kowalski, A., Lai, C. T., Law, B. E., Meyers, T., Moncrieff, J., Moors, E., Munger, J. W., Pilegaard, K., Rannik, Ü., Rebmann, C., Suyker, A., Tenhunen, J., Tu, K., Verma, S., Vesala, T., Wilson, K., and Wofsy, S.: Gap filling strategies for defensible annual sums of net ecosystem exchange, Agricultural and Forest Meteorology, 107, 43-69, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0168-1923(00)00225-2, 2001.
- FAO/IIASA/ISRIC/ISSCAS/JRC: Harmonized World Soil Database (version 1.21). FAO, Rome, Italy and IIASA, Laxenburg, Austria, 2012.

- Fischer, G., Nachtergaele, F., Prieler, S., Velthuizen, H. T. v., Verelst, L., and Wiberg, D.: Global Agro-ecological Zones Assessment for Agriculture (GAEZ 2008). IIASA, Laxenburg, Austria and FAO, Rome, Italy., 2008.
- Friedlingstein, P., Cox, P., Betts, R., Bopp, L., Bloh, W. v., Brovkin, V., Cadule, P., Doney, S., Eby, M., Fung, I., Bala, G., John, J., Jones, C., Joos, F., Kato, T., Kawamiya, M., Knorr, W., Lindsay, K., Matthews, H. D., Raddatz, T., Rayner, P., Reick, C., Roeckner, E., Schnitzler, K.-G., Schnur, R., Strassmann, K., Weaver, A. J., Yoshikawa, C., and Zeng, N.: Climate–Carbon Cycle Feedback Analysis: Results from the C4MIP Model Intercomparison, Journal of Climate, 19, 3337-3353, 10.1175/jcli3800.1, 2006.
- Friedlingstein, P., Meinshausen, M., Arora, V. K., Jones, C. D., Anav, A., Liddicoat, S. K., and Knutti, R.: Uncertainties in CMIP5 Climate Projections due to Carbon Cycle Feedbacks, Journal of Climate, 27, 511-526, 10.1175/jcli-d-12-00579.1, 2014.
- Friend, A. D., and White, A.: Evaluation and analysis of a dynamic terrestrial ecosystem model under preindustrial conditions at the global scale, Global Biogeochemical Cycles, 14, 1173-1190, doi:10.1029/1999GB900085, 2000.
- Friend, A. D., Lucht, W., Rademacher, T. T., Keribin, R., Betts, R., Cadule, P., Ciais, P., Clark, D. B., Dankers, R., Falloon, P. D., Ito, A., Kahana, R., Kleidon, A., Lomas, M. R., Nishina, K., Ostberg, S., Pavlick, R., Peylin, P., Schaphoff, S., Vuichard, N., Warszawski, L., Wiltshire, A., and Woodward, F. I.: Carbon residence time dominates uncertainty in terrestrial vegetation responses to future climate and atmospheric CO2, Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 111, 3280-3285, 10.1073/pnas.1222477110, 2014.
- Goetz, S. J., Bunn, A. G., Fiske, G. J., and Houghton, R. A.: Satellite-observed photosynthetic trends across boreal North America associated with climate and fire disturbance, Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 102, 13521-13525, 10.1073/pnas.0506179102, 2005.
- Groendahl, L., Friborg, T., and Soegaard, H.: Temperature and snow-melt controls on interannual variability in carbon exchange in the high Arctic, Theor. Appl. Climatol., 88, 111-125, 10.1007/s00704-005-0228-y, 2007.
- Grøndahl, L., Friborg, T., Christensen, T. R., Ekberg, A., Elberling, B., Illeris, L., Nordstrøm, C., Rennermalm, Å., Sigsgaard, C., and Søgaard, H.: Spatial and Inter-Annual Variability of Trace Gas Fluxes in a Heterogeneous High-Arctic Landscape, in: Advances in Ecological Research, edited by: Hans Meltofte, T. R. C. B. E. M. C. F., and Morten, R., Academic Press, 473-498, 2008.
- Grosse, G., Harden, J., Turetsky, M., McGuire, A. D., Camill, P., Tarnocai, C., Frolking, S., Schuur, E. A. G., Jorgenson, T., Marchenko, S., Romanovsky, V., Wickland, K. P., French, N., Waldrop, M., Bourgeau-Chavez, L., and Striegl, R. G.: Vulnerability of high-latitude soil organic carbon in North America to disturbance, Journal of Geophysical Research: Biogeosciences, 116, n/a-n/a, 10.1029/2010JG001507, 2011.
- Hanis, K. L., Amiro, B. D., Tenuta, M., Papakyriakou, T., and Swystun, K. A.: Carbon exchange over four growing seasons for a subarctic sedge fen in northern Manitoba, Canada, Arctic Science, 1, 27-44, 10.1139/as-2015-0003, 2015.
- Helfter, C., Campbell, C., Dinsmore, K. J., Drewer, J., Coyle, M., Anderson, M., Skiba, U., Nemitz, E., Billett, M. F., and Sutton, M. A.: Drivers of long-term variability in CO2 net ecosystem exchange in a temperate peatland, Biogeosciences, 12, 1799-1811, 10.5194/bg-12-1799-2015, 2015.
- Heliasz, M., Johansson, T., Lindroth, A., Mölder, M., Mastepanov, M., Friborg, T., Callaghan, T. V., and Christensen, T.
 R.: Quantification of C uptake in subarctic birch forest after setback by an extreme insect outbreak, Geophysical Research Letters, 38, n/a-n/a, 10.1029/2010GL044733, 2011.

- Hobbie, S. E., Schimel, J. P., Trumbore, S. E., and Randerson, J. R.: Controls over carbon storage and turnover in highlatitude soils, Global Change Biology, 6, 196-210, 10.1046/j.1365-2486.2000.06021.x, 2000.
- Hopkins, F., Gonzalez-Meler, M. A., Flower, C. E., Lynch, D. J., Czimczik, C., Tang, J., and Subke, J.-A.: Ecosystemlevel controls on root-rhizosphere respiration, New Phytologist, 199, 339-351, 10.1111/nph.12271, 2013.
- Hugelius, G., Bockheim, J. G., Camill, P., Elberling, B., Grosse, G., Harden, J. W., Johnson, K., Jorgenson, T., Koven, C. D., Kuhry, P., Michaelson, G., Mishra, U., Palmtag, J., Ping, C. L., O'Donnell, J., Schirrmeister, L., Schuur, E. A. G., Sheng, Y., Smith, L. C., Strauss, J., and Yu, Z.: A new data set for estimating organic carbon storage to 3 m depth in soils of the northern circumpolar permafrost region, Earth Syst. Sci. Data, 5, 393-402, 10.5194/essd-5-393-2013, 2013a.
- Hugelius, G., Tarnocai, C., Broll, G., Canadell, J. G., Kuhry, P., and Swanson, D. K.: The Northern Circumpolar Soil Carbon Database: spatially distributed datasets of soil coverage and soil carbon storage in the northern permafrost regions, Earth Syst. Sci. Data, 5, 3-13, 10.5194/essd-5-3-2013, 2013b.
- Hugelius, G., Strauss, J., Zubrzycki, S., Harden, J. W., Schuur, E. A. G., Ping, C. L., Schirrmeister, L., Grosse, G., Michaelson, G. J., Koven, C. D., O'Donnell, J. A., Elberling, B., Mishra, U., Camill, P., Yu, Z., Palmtag, J., and Kuhry, P.: Improved estimates show large circumpolar stocks of permafrost carbon while quantifying substantial uncertainty ranges and identifying remaining data gaps, Biogeosciences Discuss., 11, 4771-4822, 10.5194/bgd-11-4771-2014, 2014.
- IPCC: Climate Change 2013: The Physical Science Basis. Contribution of Working Group I to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, United Kingdom and New York, NY, USA, 2013.
- Ito, A., and Inatomi, M.: Water-Use Efficiency of the Terrestrial Biosphere: A Model Analysis Focusing on Interactions between the Global Carbon and Water Cycles, Journal of Hydrometeorology, 13, 681-694, 10.1175/jhm-d-10-05034.1, 2012.
- Johansson, M., Callaghan, T. V., Bosiö, J., Åkerman, H. J., Jackowicz-Korczynski, M., and Christensen, T. R.: Rapid responses of permafrost and vegetation to experimentally increased snow cover in sub-arctic Sweden, Environmental Research Letters, 8, 035025, 2013.
- Jones, P. D., and Moberg, A.: Hemispheric and Large-Scale Surface Air Temperature Variations: An Extensive Revision and an Update to 2001, Journal of Climate, 16, 206-223, 10.1175/1520-0442(2003)016<0206:HALSSA>2.0.CO;2, 2003.
- Jung, M., Reichstein, M., Schwalm, C. R., Huntingford, C., Sitch, S., Ahlström, A., Arneth, A., Camps-Valls, G., Ciais, P., Friedlingstein, P., Gans, F., Ichii, K., Jain, A. K., Kato, E., Papale, D., Poulter, B., Raduly, B., Rödenbeck, C., Tramontana, G., Viovy, N., Wang, Y.-P., Weber, U., Zaehle, S., and Zeng, N.: Compensatory water effects link yearly global land CO2 sink changes to temperature, Nature, 541, 516, 10.1038/nature20780, 2017.
- Koven, C. D., Ringeval, B., Friedlingstein, P., Ciais, P., Cadule, P., Khvorostyanov, D., Krinner, G., and Tarnocai, C.: Permafrost carbon-climate feedbacks accelerate global warming, Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 108, 14769-14774, 10.1073/pnas.1103910108, 2011.
- Koven, C. D., Schuur, E. A. G., Schädel, C., Bohn, T. J., Burke, E. J., Chen, G., Chen, X., Ciais, P., Grosse, G., Harden, J. W., Hayes, D. J., Hugelius, G., Jafarov, E. E., Krinner, G., Kuhry, P., Lawrence, D. M., MacDougall, A. H., Marchenko, S. S., McGuire, A. D., Natali, S. M., Nicolsky, D. J., Olefeldt, D., Peng, S., Romanovsky, V. E.,

Schaefer, K. M., Strauss, J., Treat, C. C., and Turetsky, M.: A simplified, data-constrained approach to estimate the permafrost carbon–climate feedback, Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society A: Mathematical, Physical and Engineering Sciences, 373, 10.1098/rsta.2014.0423, 2015.

- Kwon, H.-J., Oechel, W. C., Zulueta, R. C., and Hastings, S. J.: Effects of climate variability on carbon sequestration among adjacent wet sedge tundra and moist tussock tundra ecosystems, Journal of Geophysical Research: Biogeosciences, 111, n/a-n/a, 10.1029/2005JG000036, 2006.
- Lafleur, P. M., McCaughey, J. H., Joiner, D. W., Bartlett, P. A., and Jelinski, D. E.: Seasonal trends in energy, water, and carbon dioxide fluxes at a northern boreal wetland, Journal of Geophysical Research: Atmospheres, 102, 29009-29020, 10.1029/96JD03326, 1997.
- Lafleur, P. M., Humphreys, E. R., St. Louis, V. L., Myklebust, M. C., Papakyriakou, T., Poissant, L., Barker, J. D., Pilote, M., and Swystun, K. A.: Variation in Peak Growing Season Net Ecosystem Production Across the Canadian Arctic, Environmental Science & Technology, 46, 7971-7977, 10.1021/es300500m, 2012.
- Lasslop, G., Reichstein, M., Papale, D., Richardson, A. D., Arneth, A., Barr, A., Stoy, P., and Wohlfahrt, G.: Separation of net ecosystem exchange into assimilation and respiration using a light response curve approach: critical issues and global evaluation, Global Change Biology, 16, 187-208, 10.1111/j.1365-2486.2009.02041.x, 2010.
- Lasslop, G., Migliavacca, M., Bohrer, G., Reichstein, M., Bahn, M., Ibrom, A., Jacobs, C., Kolari, P., Papale, D., Vesala, T., Wohlfahrt, G., and Cescatti, A.: On the choice of the driving temperature for eddy-covariance carbon dioxide flux partitioning, Biogeosciences, 9, 5243-5259, 10.5194/bg-9-5243-2012, 2012.
- Le Quéré, C., Andres, R. J., Boden, T., Conway, T., Houghton, R. A., House, J. I., Marland, G., Peters, G. P., van der Werf, G. R., Ahlström, A., Andrew, R. M., Bopp, L., Canadell, J. G., Ciais, P., Doney, S. C., Enright, C., Friedlingstein, P., Huntingford, C., Jain, A. K., Jourdain, C., Kato, E., Keeling, R. F., Klein Goldewijk, K., Levis, S., Levy, P., Lomas, M., Poulter, B., Raupach, M. R., Schwinger, J., Sitch, S., Stocker, B. D., Viovy, N., Zaehle, S., and Zeng, N.: The global carbon budget 1959–2011, Earth Syst. Sci. Data, 5, 165-185, 10.5194/essd-5-165-2013, 2013.
- Lindroth, A., Lund, M., Nilsson, M., Aurela, M., Christensen, T. R., Laurila, T., Rinne, J., Riutta, T., Sagerfors, J., StrÖM, L., Tuovinen, J.-P., and Vesala, T.: Environmental controls on the CO2 exchange in north European mires, Tellus B, 59, 812-825, 10.1111/j.1600-0889.2007.00310.x, 2007.
- Lund, M., Lafleur, P. M., Roulet, N. T., Lindroth, A., Christensen, T. R., Aurela, M., Chojnicki, B. H., Flanagan, L. B., Humphreys, E. R., Laurila, T., Oechel, W. C., Olejnik, J., Rinne, J., Schubert, P. E. R., and Nilsson, M. B.: Variability in exchange of CO2 across 12 northern peatland and tundra sites, Global Change Biology, 16, 2436-2448, 10.1111/j.1365-2486.2009.02104.x, 2010.
- Lund, M., Falk, J. M., Friborg, T., Mbufong, H. N., Sigsgaard, C., Soegaard, H., and Tamstorf, M. P.: Trends in CO2 exchange in a high Arctic tundra heath, 2000-2010, Journal of Geophysical Research: Biogeosciences, 117, 2012.
- Mastepanov, M., Sigsgaard, C., Dlugokencky, E. J., Houweling, S., Strom, L., Tamstorf, M. P., and Christensen, T. R.: Large tundra methane burst during onset of freezing, Nature, 456, 628-630, 10.1038/nature07464, 2008.
- Mastepanov, M., Sigsgaard, C., Tagesson, T., Ström, L., Tamstorf, M. P., Lund, M., and Christensen, T. R.: Revisiting factors controlling methane emissions from high-arctic tundra, Biogeosciences Discuss., 9, 15853-15900, 10.5194/bgd-9-15853-2012, 2012.

- McGuire, A. D., Melillo, J. M., Randerson, J. T., Parton, W. J., Heimann, M., Meier, R. A., Clein, J. S., Kicklighter, D. W., and Sauf, W.: Modeling the effects of snowpack on heterotrophic respiration across northern temperate and high latitude regions: Comparison with measurements of atmospheric carbon dioxide in high latitudes, Biogeochemistry, 48, 91-114, 10.1023/a:1006286804351, 2000.
- McGuire, A. D., Anderson, L. G., Christensen, T. R., Dallimore, S., Guo, L., Hayes, D. J., Heimann, M., Lorenson, T. D., Macdonald, R. W., and Roulet, N. T.: Sensitivity of the carbon cycle in the Arctic to climate change, Ecological Monographs, 79, 523-555, 10.1890/08-2025.1, 2009.
- McGuire, A. D., Christensen, T. R., Hayes, D., Heroult, A., Euskirchen, E., Kimball, J. S., Koven, C., Lafleur, P., Miller, P. A., Oechel, W., Peylin, P., Williams, M., and Yi, Y.: An assessment of the carbon balance of Arctic tundra: comparisons among observations, process models, and atmospheric inversions, Biogeosciences, 9, 3185-3204, 10.5194/bg-9-3185-2012, 2012.
- Meltofte, H., Christensen, T. R., Elberling, B., Forchhammer, M. C., and Rasch, M.: Introduction, in: Advances in Ecological Research, edited by: Hans Meltofte, T. R. C. B. E. M. C. F., and Morten, R., Academic Press, 1-12, 2008.
- Moffat, A. M., Papale, D., Reichstein, M., Hollinger, D. Y., Richardson, A. D., Barr, A. G., Beckstein, C., Braswell, B. H., Churkina, G., Desai, A. R., Falge, E., Gove, J. H., Heimann, M., Hui, D., Jarvis, A. J., Kattge, J., Noormets, A., and Stauch, V. J.: Comprehensive comparison of gap-filling techniques for eddy covariance net carbon fluxes, Agricultural and Forest Meteorology, 147, 209-232, 10.1016/j.agrformet. 2007.08.011, 2007.
- Myers-Smith, I. H., Forbes, B. C., Wilmking, M., Hallinger, M., Lantz, T., Blok, D., Tape, K. D., Macias-Fauria, M., Sass-Klaassen, U., Lévesque, E., Boudreau, S., Ropars, P., Hermanutz, L., Trant, A., Siegwart, C., L., Weijers, S., Rozema, J., Rayback, S. A., Schmidt, N. M., Schaepman-Strub, G., Wipf, S., Rixen, C., Ménard, C. B., Venn, S., Goetz, S., Andreu-Hayles, L., Elmendorf, S., Ravolainen, V., Welker, J., Grogan, P., Epstein, H. E., and Hik, D. S.: Shrub expansion in tundra ecosystems: dynamics, impacts and research priorities, Environmental Research Letters, 6, 045509, 10.1088/1748-9326/6/4/045509, 2011.
- Myers-Smith, I. H., Elmendorf, S. C., Beck, P. S. A., Wilmking, M., Hallinger, M., Blok, D., Tape, K. D., Rayback, S. A., Macias-Fauria, M., Forbes, B. C., Speed, J. D. M., Boulanger-Lapointe, N., Rixen, C., Lévesque, E., Schmidt, N. M., Baittinger, C., Trant, A. J., Hermanutz, L., Collier, L. S., Dawes, M. A., Lantz, T. C., Weijers, S., Jørgensen, R. H., Buchwal, A., Buras, A., Naito, A. T., Ravolainen, V., Schaepman-Strub, G., Wheeler, J. A., Wipf, S., Guay, K. C., Hik, D. S., and Vellend, M.: Climate sensitivity of shrub growth across the tundra biome, Nature Climate Change, 5, 887, 10.1038/nclimate2697, 2015.
- Myneni, R. B., Keeling, C. D., Tucker, C. J., Asrar, G., and Nemani, R. R.: Increased plant growth in the northern high latitudes from 1981 to 1991, Nature, 386, 698, 10.1038/386698a0, 1997.
- Nishina, K., Ito, A., Falloon, P., Friend, A. D., Beerling, D. J., Ciais, P., Clark, D. B., Kahana, R., Kato, E., Lucht, W., Lomas, M., Pavlick, R., Schaphoff, S., Warszawaski, L., and Yokohata, T.: Decomposing uncertainties in the future terrestrial carbon budget associated with emission scenarios, climate projections, and ecosystem simulations using the ISI-MIP results, Earth Syst. Dynam., 6, 435-445, 10.5194/esd-6-435-2015, 2015.
- Oikawa, P. Y., Sturtevant, C., Knox, S. H., Verfaillie, J., Huang, Y. W., and Baldocchi, D. D.: Revisiting the partitioning of net ecosystem exchange of CO2 into photosynthesis and respiration with simultaneous flux measurements of 13CO2 and CO2, soil respiration and a biophysical model, CANVEG, Agricultural and Forest Meteorology, 234-235, 149-163, <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agrformet.2016.12.016</u>, 2017.
- Olefeldt, D., and Roulet, N. T.: Effects of permafrost and hydrology on the composition and transport of dissolved organic carbon in a subarctic peatland complex, Journal of Geophysical Research: Biogeosciences, 117, n/a-n/a, 10.1029/2011JG001819, 2012.
- Papale, D., Reichstein, M., Aubinet, M., Canfora, E., Bernhofer, C., Kutsch, W., Longdoz, B., Rambal, S., Valentini, R., Vesala, T., and Yakir, D.: Towards a standardized processing of Net Ecosystem Exchange measured with eddy covariance technique: algorithms and uncertainty estimation, Biogeosciences, 3, 571-583, 10.5194/bg-3-571-2006, 2006.
- Parmentier, F. J. W., van der Molen, M. K., van Huissteden, J., Karsanaev, S. A., Kononov, A. V., Suzdalov, D. A., Maximov, T. C., and Dolman, A. J.: Longer growing seasons do not increase net carbon uptake in the northeastern Siberian tundra, Journal of Geophysical Research: Biogeosciences, 116, n/a-n/a, 10.1029/2011JG001653, 2011.
- Pavlick, R., Drewry, D. T., Bohn, K., Reu, B., and Kleidon, A.: The Jena Diversity-Dynamic Global Vegetation Model (JeDi-DGVM): a diverse approach to representing terrestrial biogeography and biogeochemistry based on plant functional trade-offs, Biogeosciences, 10, 4137-4177, 10.5194/bg-10-4137-2013, 2013.
- Pirk, N., Mastepanov, M., López-Blanco, E., Christensen, L. H., Christiansen, H. H., Hansen, B. U., Lund, M., Parmentier, F.-J. W., Skov, K., and Christensen, T. R.: Toward a statistical description of methane emissions from arctic wetlands, AMBIO, 46, 70-80, 10.1007/s13280-016-0893-3, 2017.
- Polyakov, I. V., Alekseev, G. V., Bekryaev, R. V., Bhatt, U., Colony, R. L., Johnson, M. A., Karklin, V. P., Makshtas, A. P., Walsh, D., and Yulin, A. V.: Observationally based assessment of polar amplification of global warming, Geophysical Research Letters, 29, 25-21-25-24, 10.1029/2001GL011111, 2002.
- Post, E., and Pedersen, C.: Opposing plant community responses to warming with and without herbivores, Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 105, 12353-12358, 10.1073/pnas.0802421105, 2008.
- Post, E., Forchhammer, M. C., Bret-Harte, M. S., Callaghan, T. V., Christensen, T. R., Elberling, B., Fox, A. D., Gilg, O., Hik, D. S., Høye, T. T., Ims, R. A., Jeppesen, E., Klein, D. R., Madsen, J., McGuire, A. D., Rysgaard, S., Schindler, D. E., Stirling, I., Tamstorf, M. P., Tyler, N. J. C., van der Wal, R., Welker, J., Wookey, P. A., Schmidt, N. M., and Aastrup, P.: Ecological Dynamics Across the Arctic Associated with Recent Climate Change, Science, 325, 1355-1358, 10.1126/science.1173113, 2009.
- Poyatos, R., Heinemeyer, A., Ineson, P., Evans, J. G., Ward, H. C., Huntley, B., and Baxter, R.: Environmental and Vegetation Drivers of Seasonal CO2 Fluxes in a Sub-arctic Forest–Mire Ecotone, Ecosystems, 17, 377-393, 10.1007/s10021-013-9728-2, 2013.
- Reich, P. B., Tjoelker, M. G., Pregitzer, K. S., Wright, I. J., Oleksyn, J., and Machado, J.-L.: Scaling of respiration to nitrogen in leaves, stems and roots of higher land plants, Ecology Letters, 11, 793-801, 10.1111/j.1461-0248.2008.01185.x, 2008.
- Reichstein, M., Falge, E., Baldocchi, D., Papale, D., Aubinet, M., Berbigier, P., Bernhofer, C., Buchmann, N., Gilmanov, T., Granier, A., Grünwald, T., Havránková, K., Ilvesniemi, H., Janous, D., Knohl, A., Laurila, T., Lohila, A., Loustau, D., Matteucci, G., Meyers, T., Miglietta, F., Ourcival, J.-M., Pumpanen, J., Rambal, S., Rotenberg, E., Sanz, M., Tenhunen, J., Seufert, G., Vaccari, F., Vesala, T., Yakir, D., and Valentini, R.: On the separation of net ecosystem exchange into assimilation and ecosystem respiration: review and improved algorithm, Global Change Biology, 11, 1424-1439, 10.1111/j.1365-2486.2005.001002.x, 2005.

- Rocha, A. V., and Shaver, G. R.: Burn severity influences postfire CO2 exchange in arctic tundra, Ecological Applications, 21, 477-489, 10.1890/10-0255.1, 2011.
- Romanovsky, V. E., Drozdov, D. S., Oberman, N. G., Malkova, G. V., Kholodov, A. L., Marchenko, S. S., Moskalenko, N. G., Sergeev, D. O., Ukraintseva, N. G., Abramov, A. A., Gilichinsky, D. A., and Vasiliev, A. A.: Thermal state of permafrost in Russia, Permafrost and Periglacial Processes, 21, 136-155, 10.1002/ppp.683, 2010.
- Runkle, B. R. K., Sachs, T., Wille, C., Pfeiffer, E. M., and Kutzbach, L.: Bulk partitioning the growing season net ecosystem exchange of CO2 in Siberian tundra reveals the seasonality of its carbon sequestration strength, Biogeosciences, 10, 1337-1349, 10.5194/bg-10-1337-2013, 2013.
- Rustad, L., Campbell, J., Marion, G., Norby, R., Mitchell, M., Hartley, A., Cornelissen, J., and Gurevitch, J.: A metaanalysis of the response of soil respiration, net nitrogen mineralization, and aboveground plant growth to experimental ecosystem warming, Oecologia, 126, 543-562, 10.1007/s004420000544, 2001a.
- Rustad, L. E., Campbell, J. L., Marion, G. M., Norby, R. J., Mitchell, M. J., Hartley, A. E., Cornelissen, J. H. C., and Gurevitch, J.: A Meta-Analysis of the Response of Soil Respiration, Net Nitrogen Mineralization, and Aboveground Plant Growth to Experimental Ecosystem Warming, Oecologia, 126, 543-562, 10.2307/4222885, 2001b.
- Schuur, E. A. G., McGuire, A. D., Schadel, C., Grosse, G., Harden, J. W., Hayes, D. J., Hugelius, G., Koven, C. D., Kuhry, P., Lawrence, D. M., Natali, S. M., Olefeldt, D., Romanovsky, V. E., Schaefer, K., Turetsky, M. R., Treat, C. C., and Vonk, J. E.: Climate change and the permafrost carbon feedback, Nature, 520, 171-179, 10.1038/nature14338, 2015.
- Serreze, M. C., and Barry, R. G.: Processes and impacts of Arctic amplification: A research synthesis, Global and Planetary Change, 77, 85-96, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.gloplacha.2011.03.004</u>, 2011.
- Shaver, G. R., Giblin, A. E., Nadelhoffer, K. J., Thieler, K. K., Downs, M. R., Laundre, J. A., and Rastetter, E. B.: Carbon turnover in Alaskan tundra soils: effects of organic matter quality, temperature, moisture and fertilizer, Journal of Ecology, 94, 740-753, doi:10.1111/j.1365-2745.2006.01139.x, 2006.
- Sitch, S., Smith, B., Prentice, I. C., Arneth, A., Bondeau, A., Cramer, W., Kaplan, J. O., Levis, S., Lucht, W., Sykes, M. T., Thonicke, K., and Venevsky, S.: Evaluation of ecosystem dynamics, plant geography and terrestrial carbon cycling in the LPJ dynamic global vegetation model, Global Change Biology, 9, 161-185, doi:10.1046/j.1365-2486.2003.00569.x, 2003.
- Sitch, S., McGuire, A. D., Kimball, J., Gedney, N., Gamon, J., Engstrom, R., Wolf, A., Zhuang, Q., Clein, J., and McDonald, K. C.: ASSESSING THE CARBON BALANCE OF CIRCUMPOLAR ARCTIC TUNDRA USING REMOTE SENSING AND PROCESS MODELING, Ecological Applications, 17, 213-234, doi:10.1890/1051-0761(2007)017[0213:ATCBOC]2.0.CO;2, 2007.
- Sitch, S., Huntingford, C., Gedney, N., Levy, P. E., Lomas, M., PIAO, S. L., Betts, R., Ciais, P., Cox, P., Friedlingstein, P., Jones, C. D., Prentice, I. C., and Woodward, F. I.: Evaluation of the terrestrial carbon cycle, future plant geography and climate-carbon cycle feedbacks using five Dynamic Global Vegetation Models (DGVMs), Global Change Biology, 14, 2015-2039, doi:10.1111/j.1365-2486.2008.01626.x, 2008.
- Smith, B., Prentice, I. C., and Sykes, M. T.: Representation of vegetation dynamics in the modelling of terrestrial ecosystems: comparing two contrasting approaches within European climate space, Global Ecology and Biogeography, 10, 621-637, doi:10.1046/j.1466-822X.2001.t01-1-00256.x, 2001.

- Street, L. E., Subke, J.-A., Sommerkorn, M., Sloan, V., Ducrotoy, H., Phoenix, G. K., and Williams, M.: The role of mosses in carbon uptake and partitioning in arctic vegetation, New Phytologist, 199, 163-175, 10.1111/nph.12285, 2013.
- Tagesson, T., Mölder, M., Mastepanov, M., Sigsgaard, C., Tamstorf, M. P., Lund, M., Falk, J. M., Lindroth, A., Christensen, T. R., and Ström, L.: Land-atmosphere exchange of methane from soil thawing to soil freezing in a high-Arctic wet tundra ecosystem, Global Change Biology, 18, 1928-1940, 10.1111/j.1365-2486.2012.02647.x, 2012.
- Tarnocai, C., Canadell, J. G., Schuur, E. A. G., Kuhry, P., Mazhitova, G., and Zimov, S.: Soil organic carbon pools in the northern circumpolar permafrost region, Global Biogeochemical Cycles, 23, GB2023, 10.1029/2008GB003327, 2009.
- Thomas, R. Q., and Williams, M.: A model using marginal efficiency of investment to analyze carbon and nitrogen interactions in terrestrial ecosystems (ACONITE Version 1), Geosci. Model Dev., 7, 2015-2037, 10.5194/gmd-7-2015-2014, 2014.
- Thurner, M., Beer, C., Santoro, M., Carvalhais, N., Wutzler, T., Schepaschenko, D., Shvidenko, A., Kompter, E., Ahrens, B., Levick, S. R., and Schmullius, C.: Carbon stock and density of northern boreal and temperate forests, Global Ecology and Biogeography, 23, 297-310, doi:10.1111/geb.12125, 2014.
- Thurner, M., Beer, C., Ciais, P., Friend, A. D., Ito, A., Kleidon, A., Lomas, M. R., Quegan, S., Rademacher, T. T., Schaphoff, S., Tum, M., Wiltshire, A., and Carvalhais, N.: Evaluation of climate-related carbon turnover processes in global vegetation models for boreal and temperate forests, Global Change Biology, 23, 3076-3091, 10.1111/gcb.13660, 2017.
- van der Kolk, H. J., Heijmans, M. M. P. D., van Huissteden, J., Pullens, J. W. M., and Berendse, F.: Potential Arctic tundra vegetation shifts in response to changing temperature, precipitation and permafrost thaw, Biogeosciences, 13, 6229-6245, 10.5194/bg-13-6229-2016, 2016.
- van der Molen, M. K., van Huissteden, J., Parmentier, F. J. W., Petrescu, A. M. R., Dolman, A. J., Maximov, T. C., Kononov, A. V., Karsanaev, S. V., and Suzdalov, D. A.: The growing season greenhouse gas balance of a continental tundra site in the Indigirka lowlands, NE Siberia, Biogeosciences, 4, 985-1003, 10.5194/bg-4-985-2007, 2007.
- Walter, B. P., and Heimann, M.: A process-based, climate-sensitive model to derive methane emissions from natural wetlands: Application to five wetland sites, sensitivity to model parameters, and climate, Global Biogeochemical Cycles, 14, 745-765, 10.1029/1999GB001204, 2000.
- Waring, R. H., and Schlesinger, W. H.: Forest ecosystems : concepts and management, Academic Press, 1985.
- Warszawski, L., Frieler, K., Huber, V., Piontek, F., Serdeczny, O., and Schewe, J.: The Inter-Sectoral Impact Model Intercomparison Project (ISI–MIP): Project framework, Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 111, 3228-3232, 10.1073/pnas.1312330110, 2014.
- Webb, E. E., Schuur, E. A. G., Natali, S. M., Oken, K. L., Bracho, R., Krapek, J. P., Risk, D., and Nickerson, N. R.: Increased wintertime CO2 loss as a result of sustained tundra warming, Journal of Geophysical Research: Biogeosciences, 121, 249-265, 10.1002/2014JG002795, 2016.

- Westergaard-Nielsen, A., Lund, M., Hansen, B. U., and Tamstorf, M.: Camera derived vegetation greenness index as proxy for gross primary production in a low Arctic wetland area, ISPRS Journal of Photogrammetry and Remote Sensing, 86, 89-99, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.isprsjprs.2013.09.006</u>, 2013.
- Williams, M., Rastetter, E. B., Fernandes, D. N., Goulden, M. L., Wofsy, S. C., Shaver, G. R., Melillo, J. M., Munger, J. W., Fan, S. M., and Nadelhoffer, K. J.: Modelling the soil-plant-atmosphere continuum in a Quercus–Acer stand at Harvard Forest: the regulation of stomatal conductance by light, nitrogen and soil/plant hydraulic properties, Plant, Cell & Environment, 19, 911-927, 10.1111/j.1365-3040.1996.tb00456.x, 1996.
- Williams, M., Eugster, W., Rastetter, E. B., McFadden, J. P., and Chapin III, F. S.: The controls on net ecosystem productivity along an Arctic transect: a model comparison with flux measurements, Global Change Biology, 6, 116-126, 10.1046/j.1365-2486.2000.06016.x, 2000.
- Williams, M., Schwarz, P. A., Law, B. E., Irvine, J., and Kurpius, M. R.: An improved analysis of forest carbon dynamics using data assimilation, Global Change Biology, 11, 89-105, 10.1111/j.1365-2486.2004.00891.x, 2005.
- Woodward, F. I., Smith, T. M., and Emanuel, W. R.: A global land primary productivity and phytogeography model, Global Biogeochemical Cycles, 9, 471-490, doi:10.1029/95GB02432, 1995.
- Xenakis, G., and Williams, M.: Comparing microbial and chemical kinetics for modelling soil organic carbon decomposition using the DecoChem v1.0 and DecoBio v1.0 models, Geosci. Model Dev., 7, 1519-1533, 10.5194/gmd-7-1519-2014, 2014.
- Zhang, W., Jansson, P. E., Schurgers, G., Hollesen, J., Lund, M., Abermann, J., and Elberling, B.: Process-oriented modeling of a high Arctic tundra ecosystem: Long-term carbon budget and ecosystem responses to interannual variations of climate, Journal of Geophysical Research: Biogeosciences, 123, <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/2017JG003956</u>, 2018.
- Zona, D., Lipson, D. A., Richards, J. H., Phoenix, G. K., Liljedahl, A. K., Ueyama, M., Sturtevant, C. S., and Oechel, W. C.: Delayed responses of an Arctic ecosystem to an extreme summer: impacts on net ecosystem exchange and vegetation functioning, Biogeosciences, 11, 5877-5888, 10.5194/bg-11-5877-2014, 2014.
- Zona, D., Gioli, B., Commane, R., Lindaas, J., Wofsy, S. C., Miller, C. E., Dinardo, S. J., Dengel, S., Sweeney, C., Karion, A., Chang, R. Y.-W., Henderson, J. M., Murphy, P. C., Goodrich, J. P., Moreaux, V., Liljedahl, A., Watts, J. D., Kimball, J. S., Lipson, D. A., and Oechel, W. C.: Cold season emissions dominate the Arctic tundra methane budget, Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 113, 40-45, 10.1073/pnas.1516017113, 2016.

Paper I

López-Blanco, E., Lund, M., Williams, M., Tamstorf, M. P., Westergaard-Nielsen, A., Exbrayat, J. F., Hansen, B. U., and Christensen, T. R.: Exchange of CO₂ in Arctic tundra: impacts of meteorological variations and biological disturbance, Biogeosciences, 14, 4467-4483, 10.5194/bg-14-4467-2017, 2017.



Nuuk-Kobbefjord site, West Greenland. 2015 field season. Photo by Efrén López-Blanco





Exchange of CO₂ in Arctic tundra: impacts of meteorological variations and biological disturbance

Efrén López-Blanco^{1,2}, Magnus Lund¹, Mathew Williams², Mikkel P. Tamstorf¹, Andreas Westergaard-Nielsen³, Jean-François Exbrayat^{2,4}, Birger U. Hansen³, and Torben R. Christensen^{1,5}

¹Department of Biosciences, Arctic Research Center, Aarhus University, Frederiksborgvej 399, 4000 Roskilde, Denmark ²School of GeoSciences, University of Edinburgh, Edinburgh, EH93FF, UK

³Center for Permafrost (CENPERM), Department of Geosciences and Natural Resource Management, University of Copenhagen, Oester Voldgade 10, 1350 Copenhagen, Denmark

⁴National Centre for Earth Observation, University of Edinburgh, Edinburgh, EH93FF, UK

⁵Department of Physical Geography and Ecosystem Science, Lund University, Sölvegatan 12, 223 62 Lund, Sweden

Correspondence to: Efrén López-Blanco (elb@bios.au.dk)

Received: 23 November 2016 – Discussion started: 9 December 2016 Revised: 3 August 2017 – Accepted: 5 September 2017 – Published: 11 October 2017

Abstract. An improvement in our process-based understanding of carbon (C) exchange in the Arctic and its climate sensitivity is critically needed for understanding the response of tundra ecosystems to a changing climate. In this context, we analysed the net ecosystem exchange (NEE) of CO₂ in West Greenland tundra (64° N) across eight snow-free periods in 8 consecutive years, and characterized the key processes of net ecosystem exchange and its two main modulating components: gross primary production (GPP) and ecosystem respiration (R_{eco}). Overall, the ecosystem acted as a consistent sink of CO₂, accumulating $-30 \,\mathrm{g}\,\mathrm{C}\,\mathrm{m}^{-2}$ on average (range of -17 to -41 gCm^{-2}) during the years 2008–2015, except 2011 (source of 41 gCm^{-2}), which was associated with a major pest outbreak. The results do not reveal a marked meteorological effect on the net CO₂ uptake despite the high interannual variability in the timing of snowmelt and the start and duration of the growing season. The ranges in annual GPP $(-182 \text{ to } -316 \text{ g C m}^{-2})$ and R_{eco} (144 to 279 g C m⁻²) were > 5 fold larger than the range in NEE. Gross fluxes were also more variable (coefficients of variation are 3.6 and 4.1 % respectively) than for NEE (0.7 %). GPP and R_{eco} were sensitive to insolation and temperature, and there was a tendency towards larger GPP and R_{eco} during warmer and wetter years. The relative lack of sensitivity of NEE to meteorology was a result of the correlated response of GPP and R_{eco} . During the snow-free season of the anomalous year of 2011, a biological disturbance related to a larvae outbreak reduced

GPP more strongly than R_{eco} . With continued warming temperatures and longer growing seasons, tundra systems will increase rates of C cycling. However, shifts in sink strength will likely be triggered by factors such as biological disturbances, events that will challenge our forecasting of C states.

1 Introduction

Quantifying the climate sensitivity of carbon (C) stocks of the terrestrial biosphere is a major challenge for Earth system science (Williams et al., 2005). In the Arctic, organic soil C storage has the potential for very large C releases following thaw (Koven et al., 2011) that could create a positive feedback on climate change and accelerate the rate of global warming. Recent reviews have estimated the Arctic terrestrial C pool to be 1400–1850 Pg C, more than twice the size of the atmospheric C pool (Hugelius et al., 2014; McGuire et al., 2009; Tarnocai et al., 2009) and approximately 50 % of the global soil organic C pool (AMAP, 2011; McGuire et al., 2009). Further, Arctic ecosystems have experienced an intensified warming tendency, reaching almost twice the global average (ACIA, 2005; AMAP, 2011; Callaghan et al., 2012c; Serreze and Barry, 2011). The projected Arctic warming is also expected to be more pronounced in coming years (AMAP, 2011; Callaghan et al., 2012a; Christensen et al., 2007; Grøndahl et al., 2008; Meltofte et al., 2008) and tem-

Published by Copernicus Publications on behalf of the European Geosciences Union.

4468

E. López-Blanco et al.: Exchange of CO₂ in Arctic tundra

perature, precipitation and growing season length will likely increase in the Arctic (ACIA, 2005; Christensen et al., 2007, 2004; IPCC, 2007). Given this situation, an improvement in our process-based understanding of CO_2 exchanges in the Arctic and their climate sensitivity is critical (McGuire et al., 2009).

Measuring the interannual C exchange variability in the Arctic tundra is challenging due to extreme conditions and the patchy nature of the landscape linked to microtopography. Different eco-types are linked to different C exchange rates (Bubier et al., 2003). Synthesis studies have found a significant spatial variability in NEE (Lafleur et al., 2012; Mbufong et al., 2014) between different tundra sites (Lindroth et al., 2007; Lund et al., 2010) and also large temporal variability within sites (Aurela et al., 2004, 2007; Christensen et al., 2012; Grøndahl et al., 2008; Lafleur et al., 2012). Minor variations in the key process of photosynthesis (gross primary production, GPP) and ecosystem respiration (R_{eco}) may promote important changes in the sign and magnitude of the C balance (Arndal et al., 2009; Elberling et al., 2008; IPCC, 2007; Lund et al., 2010; Tagesson et al., 2012; Williams et al., 2000). With continued warming temperature and longer growing seasons, tundra systems will likely have enhanced GPP and R_{eco} rates, but long-term data with which to investigate and quantify these responses are rare. Further, the effects on net CO₂ sequestration are not known, and may be altered by long-term processes such as vegetation shifts and short-term disturbances like insect pest outbreaks, complicating the prognostic forecast of upcoming C states (Callaghan et al., 2012b; McGuire et al., 2012). Consequently, there is a need to understand how the C cycle behaves over timescales from days to years and the links to environmental drivers. There is a lack of reference sites in the Arctic from which full measurement-based data are available, documenting carbon fluxes at the terrestrial catchment scales. Here we investigate the functional responses of C exchange to environmental characteristics across eight snowfree periods in 8 consecutive years in West Greenland.

In recent decades, eddy covariance has become a fundamental method for carbon flux measurements at the landscape scale (Lasslop et al., 2012; Lund et al., 2012; Reichstein et al., 2005). Eddy covariance measurements of landatmosphere fluxes or net ecosystem exchange (NEE), of CO₂ can be gap-filled and subsequently separated into the modulating components of GPP and R_{eco} using flux partitioning algorithms (Reichstein et al., 2005). These techniques are critical for providing a better understanding of the C uptake vs. C release behaviour (Lund et al., 2010), but they also allow for an examination of the environmental effects on ecological processes (Hanis et al., 2015). However, large gaps in the measured fluxes may introduce significant uncertainties in the C budget estimations. Moreover, GPP and R_{eco} estimates can be calculated in different ways. Some algorithms fit an instantaneous temperature-respiration curve to night-time data to calculate R_{eco} and estimate GPP (Lasslop et al., 2012; Reichstein et al., 2005); others calculate R_{eco} from a light-response curve (Gilmanov et al., 2003; Lindroth et al., 2007; Lund et al., 2012; Mbufong et al., 2014; Runkle et al., 2013). Unfortunately, different interpretations of the flux gap filling and partitioning lead to different estimates of NEE, GPP and R_{eco} as well as undefined uncertainties.

The main objectives of this paper are (1) to explore the uncertainties in NEE gap filling and partitioning obtained from different approaches, (2) to determine how C uptake and C storage respond to the meteorological variability, and (3) to identify how the environmental forcing affects not only the interannual variability, but also the hourly, daily, weekly and monthly variability of NEE, GPP and Reco. The intention of this paper is to elaborate on the information gathered in an existing catchment area under an extensive crossdisciplinary ecological monitoring programme in low Arctic West Greenland, established under the auspices of the Greenland Ecosystem Monitoring (GEM) (http://www.g-e-m.dk). Using a long-term (8-year) data set to explore uncertainties in NEE gap-filling and partitioning methods and to characterize the interannual variability of C exchange in relation to driving factors can provide our understanding of landatmosphere CO_2 exchange in Arctic regions with a novel input. Our overarching hypothesis was that both GPP and $R_{\rm eco}$ would respond positively to warmer and longer growing seasons. However NEE response to warming would be more complex and variable (positive or negative) depending on subtle balances between plant and microbial climate sensitivity.

2 Materials and methods

2.1 Site description

Field measurements were conducted in the low Arctic Kobbefjord drainage basin in south-western Greenland $(64^{\circ}07' \text{ N}; 51^{\circ}21' \text{ W})$ (Fig. 1a). The study area is located $\sim 20 \,\mathrm{km}$ SE of Nuuk, the Greenlandic capital. Kobbefjord has been subject to extensive environmental research activities (the Nuuk Ecological Research Operations) since 2007 (http://www.nuuk-basic.dk). The lowland site is located 500 m from the south-eastern shore of the bottom of Kangerluarsunnguaq Fjord (Kobbefjord), and 500 m from the western shore of the 0.7 km² lake called "Badesø" (Fig. 1b). Three glaciated mountains, all above 1000 m a.s.l., surround the site. The landscape consists of a fen area surrounded by heath, copse and bedrock. The current fen vegetation is dominated by Scirpus cespitosus, whereas the surroundings are dominated by heath species such as Empetrum nigrum, Vaccinium uliginosum, Salix glauca and copse species such as S. glauca and Eriophorum angustifolium (Bay et al., 2008). Kobbefjord belongs to the "arctic shrub tundra" (bioclimate zone E) according to The Circumpolar Arctic Vegetation Map (CAVM Team, 2003; Walker et al., 2005). This map is

Biogeosciences, 14, 4467-4483, 2017



Figure 1. (a) Location of Kobbefjord in Greenland, 64°07′ N; 51°21′ W (source: Google Earth Pro). (b) Location of EddyFen station, automatic chambers and SoilFen station in Kobbefjord (source: Google Earth Pro, 16 July 2013). (c) Eddy covariance (orange arrow) from EddyFen station, six automatic chambers (light blue arrows) and SoilFen station (pale red arrow) (photo by Efrén López Blanco, 27 June 2015).

based on the summer warmth index (SWI), which is the sum of the monthly mean temperature above 0 °C from May to September and the southernmost bioclimatic zone E has limits of 20–35. In 2010 and 2012, the weather conditions led the area to experience temperatures from warmer climatic zones (SWI ca. 36 and 35 respectively). For the 1961–1990 period, the mean annual air temperature was -1.4 °C and the annual precipitation was 750 mm (Cappelen, 2013). The sunlight hours between May and September range from 14 to 21 h. Outcalt's frost number (Nelson and Outcalt, 1987) indicates that discontinuous permafrost should be present, although no permafrost has been found. Nonetheless, thin lenses of ice may remain until late summer.

2.2 Measurements

We have used eddy covariance (EC) data on NEE, measured during the snow-free period from 2008 to 2015. Measurements typically started around the end of the snowmelt (ca. May-June) and extended until the freeze-in period (between September and October). Once the snow melts, the growing season (i.e. the part of the year when the weather conditions allow plant growth) has been reported as the most relevant period defining both spatial (Lund et al., 2010; Mbufong et al., 2014) and temporal (Aurela et al., 2004; Groendahl et al., 2007; Lund et al., 2012) CO₂ variability. The EC measurements were conducted at the EddyFen station (Fig. 1b and c), located in a wet lowland, 40 m a.s.l. The EC tower is equipped with a closed-path infrared CO₂ and H₂O gas analyser LI-7000 (LI-COR Inc, USA) and a 3-D sonic anemometer Gill R3-50 (Gill Instruments Ltd, UK). The anemometer was installed at a height of 2.2 m, while the air intake was attached 2.0 m above terrain on the steel stand. Adjacent to the EddyFen station, an independent system (Fig. 1b and c) measures round-the-clock net CO2 fluxes using an automatic chamber (AC) method based on Goulden and Crill (1997). The transparent chambers, each covering a known surface area of 60 cm by 60 cm, with a height of 30 cm, can be opened and closed by the computer in succession for 10 min every hour. When the chamber closes, a CO₂ analyser (SBA-4, PP Systems, UK) monitors both the CO₂ concentration by a close loop of tubing (further information about the set up can be found in Mastepanov et al. (2013). Nearly 20 m from the EddyFen station, the automated SoilFen (Fig. 1b and c) station provides environmental variables such as air and surface temperature (Vaisala HMP45C), soil temperature at different depths (Campbell scientific 10ST) and relative humidity (Vaisala HMP45C). Two kilometres from these stations, an automatic weather station provides complementary ancillary data such as short- and long-wave radiation (with a CNR1 instrument), photosynthetic active radiation (with a Kipp & Zonen PAR Lite instrument), precipitation (using an Ott Pluvio instrument) and snow depth (with a Campbell Scientific SR 50). The water table depth data were monitored using a piezometer located next to each of the six autochambers. Finally, a robust daily estimate of the timing of snowmelt was analysed at a pixel level from a timelapse camera (HP e427) located at 500 m a.s.l. (Westergaard-Nielsen et al., 2013).

2.3 Data handling

2.3.1 Data collection and pre-processing

Data collection from the EddyFen station was performed using Edisol software (Moncrieff et al., 1997). Raw data files were processed using EdiRe software (version 1.5.0.32, R. Clement, University of Edinburgh) calculating the CO_2 fluxes on a half-hourly basis. The flux processing integrated despiking (Højstrup, 1993), 2-D rotation, time lag removal by covariance optimization, block averaging, frequency response correction (Moore, 1986) and Webb–Pearman– Leuning correction (Webb et al., 1980). For more information, see Westergaard-Nielsen et al. (2013). Ancillary data (air temperature, soil temperature, incoming short-wave radiation, relative humidity, PAR and precipitation) were temporally resampled using R (R Development Core Team, 2015). Time-series-related packages such as *zoo* (Zeileis and Grothendieck, 2005), *xts* (Ryan and Ulrich, 2014) and *lubridate* (Grolemund and Wickham, 2011) were used to get the ancillary data aligned with the flux data on a half-hourly basis.

2.3.2 Generating robust and complete flux time series

Before the CO_2 flux time series were analysed, we applied three different processing techniques (u^* filtering, gap filling and partitioning) to (1) filter the NEE data for quality, (2) fill the NEE gaps and (3) separate NEE into GPP and R_{eco} . The identification of periods with insufficient turbulence conditions (indicated by low friction velocity u^*) is important for avoiding biases and uncertainties in EC fluxes. To control the data quality, the u^* thresholds were bootstrapped by identifying conditions with inadequate wind turbulence according to the method described in (Papale et al., 2006). We subsetted the data to similar environmental conditions, aside from friction velocity: 8 years and 7 temperature classes. Within each year/temperature subset the u^* threshold (5, 50 and 95 % of bootstrap) was estimated at 1000 samples per year. We used the subsequent gap filling and partitioning based on these different subsets to propagate the uncertainty of u^* threshold estimation across NEE, GPP and R_{eco} .

Our gap-filling method was similar to Falge et al. (2001), using the marginal distribution sampling (MDS) algorithm, re-adapted from Reichstein et al. (2005) in REddyProc (Reichstein et al., 2016). MDS takes into account similar meteorological data available with different window sizes (Moffat et al., 2007). Parallel to this approach, we also gap-filled the original EC NEE data with an independent AC NEE data set (2010–2013). AC data were collected simultaneously with EC data, and so we can used them as a cross check. The EC NEE was predicted from AC NEE based on linear regression models. The subsequent product was gap-filled using the MDS algorithm (REddyProc).

We separated NEE into its two main components (GPP and R_{eco}) using two approaches: (1) the REddyProc partitioning tool (Reichstein and Moffat, 2014) and (2) a light-response curve (LRC) approach (Lindroth et al., 2007; Lund et al., 2012). A brief description of each flux partitioning method is provided in the Supplement (Eq. S1). After the flux partitioning comparison, we used ReddyProc-based GPP and R_{eco} estimates on further analyses.

E. López-Blanco et al.: Exchange of CO2 in Arctic tundra

2.3.3 Flux uncertainties

In order to estimate the NEE gap-filling uncertainty, we assessed three different sources of uncertainty. First, we addressed the 95% confidence interval of the EC prediction based on AC data. Second, we inferred the random uncertainty of filled half-hourly values from the spread of variables with otherwise very similar environmental conditions. REddyProc uses the gap filling to also estimate an observation uncertainty for the measured NEE, by temporarily introducing artificial gaps (T. Wutzler and M. Migliavacca (BGC-Jena), personal communication). Finally, we assessed the effect of uncertainty in the estimate of the u^* threshold. In the u^* -NEE relationship we want to exclude the probably false low fluxes (absolute NEE values) at low u^* . When choosing a lower u^* threshold, the associated lower flux will contribute to the gap filling and the annual sums. Therefore, there is a tendency of a lower absolute NEE associated with lower u^* . The difference between the 5 and 95 % of bootstrap provides a means of the uncertainties based on the u^* filters. We summed and propagated all these sources of uncertainties over time. The GPP and R_{eco} uncertainties include the bias from the oneto-one flux comparison obtained from each model. The micrometeorological sign convection used in this study present uptake fluxes (GPP) as negative, while the released fluxes $(R_{\rm eco})$ are shown as positive.

2.4 Identifying environmental forcing

Snow- and phenology-related variables such as the end of the snowmelt period and the start, end and length of the growing season are important components that shape the Arctic CO₂ dynamics. In this study we defined the end of the snowmelt period as the day of year when more than 80 % of the surface of the fen was considered snow free; the threshold was chosen in agreement with suggestions previously reported in Hinkler et al. (2002) and Westergaard-Nielsen et al. (2015). For the start, end and length of the growing season (GS_{start}, GS_{end}, GS_{length}); the GS_{start} and the GS_{end} were defined as the first and last days on which the consecutive 3-day NEE average was negative (i.e. CO₂ uptake) and positive (i.e. CO₂ release) respectively (Aurela et al., 2004), while GS_{length} is the number of days between GS_{start} and GS_{end}).

A random forest machine-learning algorithm (Breiman, 2001; Pedregosa et al., 2011) was utilized in a data-mining exercise to identify how the environmental controls affect the variability of NEE, GPP and R_{eco} . Random forest calculates the relative importance of explanatory variables over the response variables. Here, we use photosynthetic active radiation (PAR), air temperature (T_{air}), precipitation (Prec) and vapour pressure deficit (VPD) to explain the response of C fluxes (NEE, GPP and R_{eco}) to climate variability. Each decision tree in the forest is trained on different random subset of the same training data set. The random forest is a classifier that groups explanatory variables and, in each fi-



Figure 2. (a) Annual temperature (°C) and precipitation (mm) anomalies of the analysed years (2008–2015) compared to the 1866–2007 time series shown as empty circles (Cappelen, 2016), and (**b**) within the 2008–2015 period including annual (January to December), warm season (July to September) and cold season (October to May) averages.

nal cluster, a multiple linear regression is built to reproduce fluxes as function of driving factors. This approach has been used to extrapolate maps of biomass (Baccini et al., 2012; Exbrayat and Williams, 2015). This version of random forest sums the relative importance of each variable from 0 up to 100 %, which correspond to the fraction of decision in which a variable is involved to cluster the data. We applied random forests to assess the relative importance of PAR, Tair, Prec and VPD at different temporal scales (hourly, daily, weekly and monthly), aggregating them at the timescale indicated and lumping all the years together. (Table S1; Supplement). Moreover, we evaluated the diurnal, seasonal and annual pattern for each explanatory variable (data binned per hour; this is one random forest per hour of the day, day of the year and year respectively). To make sure that these results were not an artefact of the partitioning method that is based on a relationship between hourly R_{eco} and T_{air} , we performed the same analyses using daytime and night-time only hourly NEE as respective proxies for GPP and R_{eco} . Based on these results (Table S2) we concluded that the approach was robust for the Kobbefjord site.

3 Results

3.1 Interannual and seasonal variation of environmental and phenological variables

The annual mean temperature documented from Nuuk $(-0.5 \,^{\circ}\text{C})$ and Kobbefjord $(-0.4 \,^{\circ}\text{C})$ in the 2008–2015 period were generally warmer compared to the long time series between 1866 and 2007 (Cappelen, 2016; Fig. S1; Supplement), with an annual temperature average of $-1.5 \,^{\circ}\text{C}$. The 2008–2015 period temperature also exhibited larger variability (coefficients of variation (CV) = 283.3 %) compared to the 1866–2007 period (CV = 79.3 %). The 2008–2015 mean annual temperature measured in Kobbefjord fluctuated be-

tween -1.7 °C in 2011 and 3.4 °C in 2010. Moreover, the mean annual precipitation documented from the nearby station of Nuuk (885 mm) and the one measured across the 8 year-study in Kobbefjord (862 mm) were both significantly higher than the 1931-2007 mean (689 mm), although less variable (CV = 30.8 and 24.5 %). Overall, 2008, 2009, 2010, 2012, 2013 and 2014 have shown warmer and wetter anomalies while 2011 and 2015 presented colder and drier anomalies compared to the long-term mean (Fig. 2a). Among the 8 study years (Fig. 2b), the temperature and precipitation anomalies in the warm season (June to September) ranged from about -1 °C (2011, 2013 and 2015) to +1.5 °C (2010) and -96 mm (2011) to about +125 mm (2012 and 2013). The cold season (October to May) anomalies have shown greater variability compared to the warm season, and 2010, 2012 and 2013 experienced warmer and wetter winters, while 2011 and 2015 were colder and drier.

The end of the snowmelt period and the growing season start and length presented high interannual variability (CVs were 9.5, 9.0 and 19.0 %). Kobbefjord became snow free on DOY 154 (3 June for non-leap years, SD = 15) on average. On average, the site switched from being a source of CO_2 to a sink (GS_{start}) on DOY 175 (24 June, SD = 20), and remained so (GS_{end}) until DOY 241 (29 July, SD = 8.4) (Table 1). The GS_{start} and the GS_{length} did not follow a consistent pattern among the analysed years, the growing season timing have fluctuated substantially. The high interannual variability of the GS_{start} correlated with variations in temperature, end of snowmelt period and VPD (p < 0.05). The highest variability was observed during 2009–2012. The 2010's GS_{length} was nearly twice as long as in 2011. Indeed, GS_{start} in 2011 differs only by 26 days from the GS_{end} in 2010.

www.biogeosciences.net/14/4467/2017/

4471

	2008	2009	2010	2011	2012	2013	2014	2015
Maximum snow depth (m)	0.6	1.0	0.3	1.4	1.0	0.6	1.1	1.2
End of snowmelt period (DOY)	148	159	125	165	152	158	156	176
Beginning of growing season (DOY)	167	182	150	209	169	174	169	188
End of growing season (DOY)	230	249	235	256	247	237	_	246
Length of growing season (DOY)	63	67	85	47	78	63	-	58



Figure 3. Time series of gap-filled NEE (2008–2015) based on autochamber data (2010–2013) and the MDS algorithm (from REddyProc). Green represents C uptake while the orange–dark-red denotes C release. The solid lines represent the end of the snowmelt period, while the area within the dashed lines represents the period between the start and the end of the growing season.

3.2 Data processing and quality

The NEE gap filling and subsequent partitioning obtained from different approaches exposed inconsistencies in performance and specific uncertainties in the seasonal C budget calculation. During the eight study snow-free periods, data gaps made up 46.5 % of the record from the EddyFen station due to unfavourable micro-meteorological conditions, instrument failures, maintenance and calibration (Jensen and Christensen, 2014) but also due to the rejection of lowquality flux measurements or too low u^* . In 2014 a major instrument failure forced the station to stop measurements in the middle of the season. In 2010 and 2012 there were two more interruptions in the measurements (data gaps of > 20 days), although the problems could be solved before the end of the season. Such prolonged gaps led to unreliable gap-filled NEE estimates. The REddyProc MDS algorithm tended to fill these large gaps with high peaks of respiration at noontime, coercing C uptake underestimation. For this reason, an independent AC NEE data set (2010-2013) was tested to gap-fill EC data (Figs. 3 and S2). The R^2 obtained from the EC-AC correlations was always > 0.70(2010: $R^2 = 0.80$, p < 0.001; 2011: $R^2 = 0.72$, p < 0.001; 2012: $R^2 = 0.80$, p < 0.001; 2013: $R^2 = 0.84$, p < 0.001). By using AC data, the proportion of missing data was reduced to 28%, and we found that the random uncertainty from the combination of AC and MDS algorithm decreased by 5 % on average. By using the u^* filtering and the AC data together with EC, there was an increase in $\sim 6\%$ in terms of C sink strength. Moreover, the propagated uncertainty in NEE never exceeded $\pm 1.8 \text{ g C m}^{-2}$, mainly because the error related to u^* filtering was low. Further, we hypothesized that different flux partitioning approaches would lead to different estimates of GPP and R_{eco} . However, the results suggest a relatively good agreement (Fig. 4). There was a higher degree of agreement with regard to GPP ($R^2 = 0.83$) compared with R_{eco} ($R^2 = 0.30$). LRC tended to estimate 12 and 15 % larger GPP and R_{eco} respectively compared to REddyProc.

3.3 Interannual and seasonal variation of CO₂ ecosystem fluxes

Overall, land-atmosphere CO₂ exchange measured for the snow-free periods of 2008-2015, omitting 2011, acted as a sink of CO₂, taking up $-30\,g\,C\,m^{-2}$ on average (range -17 to -41 g C m⁻²) (Fig. 5; Table 2). The cumulative NEE showed a characteristic pattern during the measurement period (Fig. 5), with an initial loss of carbon in early spring right after snowmelt (also observed in Fig. 3), followed by an intense C uptake as assimilation exceeded respiratory losses, triggered by increases in temperature, PAR and vegetation growth. This transition point matched the growing season start, when NEE switched from positive values (a net C source) to negative values (a net C sink). Eventually, the ecosystem turned again into a net C source, defining the growing season end. Even with high interannual variability in terms of the end of snowmelt time and growing season start/length (Table 1), the results do not show a marked meteorological effect on the NEE. The ranges in annual GPP (-182 to $-316 \,\mathrm{gC}\,\mathrm{m}^{-2}$) and $R_{\rm eco}$ (144–

Biogeosciences, 14, 4467–4483, 2017



Figure 4. Time series of daily mean GPP (negative fluxes) and R_{eco} (positive fluxes) from 2008 to 2015 calculated by REddyProc (dark green and dark red) and LRC (orange and light blue).



Figure 5. Cumulative NEE, GPP and R_{eco} from 2008 through 2015 including the u^* filtering and random errors.

279 g C m⁻²) (Table 2) were > 5 fold larger and more variable (CVs are 3.6 and 4.1% respectively) than for NEE (0.7%). There was a tendency towards larger GPP and R_{eco} during warmer and wetter years (Fig. S3), but there were no warmer and drier years during the study period. The strongest growing season CO₂ uptake occurred in 2012 (NEE = -74.2 g C m^{-2} ; GS_{length} = 78 days), followed by 2010 (NEE = -70.0 g C m^{-2} ; GS_{length} = 85 days) (Tables 1 and 2). A lengthening of the growing season did not increase the net carbon uptake in this study. In other words, an earlier end of the snowmelt resulting in a longer growing season length did not lead to a stronger carbon sink.

The anomalous year, 2011, constituted a relatively strong source of CO₂ (41 g C m⁻²) and was associated with a major pest outbreak, which reduced GPP more strongly than R_{eco} . Data on the larvae of the moth *Eurois occulta*, collected from pitfall traps in the surrounding *Salix*- and *Empetrum*-dominated plots, showed a strong peak at the beginning of the 2011 growing season (Lund et al., 2017), coinciding with high NEE and very low GPP (Fig. 4). In 2011 up to 2078 larvae were observed, while in other years only 14 (2008), 82 (2009), 186 (2010), 0 (2012) and 8 (2013) were observed. It is likely that the reduced primary production in the wetland area was a partial response to the *Eurois occulta* outbreak.

The daily aggregated NEE–GPP relationships displayed consistent linear correlation (2008–2015: $R^2 = 0.77$, p < 0.001) across the assessed years (Fig. 6a). The linear cor-

relations were weaker in 2010 and 2011. A hysteresis was detected in 2010 (i.e. long growing season with higher R_{eco} in autumn than in spring), while strong C releases were observed in 2011 across June and July. The relation between GPP and R_{eco} , which can be understood as the degree of coupling between inputs and outputs of C and therefore the degree of C sink strength, showed non-linear patterns (Fig. 6b). The curved behaviour is likely because GPP increased more than R_{eco} during early growing season, except for in 2011. Moreover, R_{eco} lagged behind GPP due to (1) the vegetation green-up in the first part of the growing season and (2) the higher respiration rates due to increased biomass in the second part. The years with clearer hysteresis coincide with the years with positive temperature anomalies (i.e. 2010, 2012 and 2013) of the 2008–2015 series. It is worth mentioning the different directions (clockwise or anticlockwise) in the hysteresis observed in these years between June, July and August. The data suggest that the clockwise 2012 hysteresis was due to greater gross C cycling (GPP and R_{eco}) in June and July favoured by warmer conditions, while in 2010 (anticlockwise hysteresis), the higher gross C fluxes were measured in August with warmer and wetter conditions (Fig. S4).

3.4 Environmental forcing

The varied importance of meteorological variables (such as PAR, T_{air} , VPD and precipitation) obtained from random forest at different temporal scales (hourly, daily, weekly and

	2008	2009	2010	2011	2012	2013	2014	2015
First measurement (DOY)	157	135	124	135	158	149	150	177
Last measurement (DOY)	303	304	282	287	305	295	209*	294
Missing data (%)	57.6	42.3	28.6	35.4	32.3	29.8	44.9*	40.0
NEE in measuring period (gCm^{-2})	-41.3	-16.9	-24.4	40.7	-37.0	-28.1	-28.7^{*}	-31.5
	± 1.4	± 1.4	±1.9	±1.3	± 1.8	± 1.7	± 1.1	±1.6
NEE in growing season (gCm^{-2})	-62.3	-45.9	-70.0	-16.2	-74.2	-69.7	-35.3^{a}	-55.8
Maximum daily uptake (DOY)	195	205	182	230	204	220	192 ^a	199
Maximum uptake (μ mols m ⁻² s ⁻¹)	-2.4	-1.7	-3.0	-1.4	-2.8	-2.5	-1.9^{a}	-2.3
Estimated GPP (gCm^{-2})	-185.5	-181.8	-266.1	-130.6	-316.2	-230.7	-106.8^{*}	-206.1
	± 1.4	± 1.4	±1.9	±1.3	±1.9	± 1.7	± 1.1	±1.6
Estimated R_{eco} (g C m ⁻²)	144.2	164.9	241.6	171.3	279.2	202.6	78.1*	174.6
	± 1.3	±1.3	± 1.8	± 1.2	± 1.8	± 1.7	± 1.1	±1.5

Table 2. Summary of the measuring periods and the growing season CO₂ fluxes for the period 2008–2015.

Where applicable: \pm sum of the autochamber, random and u^* filtering uncertainties. * incomplete growing season data set.



Figure 6. Interannual variability between (a) NEE–GPP and (b) GPP- R_{eco} relationships. The data were daily aggregated and coloured per month.

monthly) showed differences in behaviour depending on the time aggregation utilized (Fig. 7). PAR dominated NEE and GPP while T_{air} correlated the most with R_{eco} in hourly averages, whereas T_{air} became increasingly important at longer temporal aggregations for all the fluxes (Fig. 7). VPD and precipitation were not as important as the other variables while the use of water table depth in the analysis was discarded due to its very low impact on CO₂ fluxes. In general, NEE and GPP showed similar distributions of importance, reinforcing the linear relationships found between NEE and GPP (Fig. 6). The standard deviation of the variables' importance (across 1000 decision trees) tended to increase at coarser time aggregations.

Changes of environmental forcing (PAR, T_{air} and VPD) across diurnal, seasonal and annual timescales reveal patterns of functional responses to C fluxes. The diurnal cycle analyses on hourly data showed the changes in importance between day- and night-time (Fig. 8). NEE and GPP had two predominant variables (T_{air} and PAR) determining the variability at daytime. PAR was important at dawn (06:00 WGST) and dusk (20:00 WGST), while T_{air} was more important at other times. This performance indicates a threshold response to PAR, and a more continuous response to temperature. On the other hand, R_{eco} was mainly driven by T_{air} at both night-time and daytime. VPD and PAR had a negligible impact on R_{eco} . The seasonal pattern importance showed

Biogeosciences, 14, 4467-4483, 2017



Figure 7. Importance of environmental variables PAR (yellow), T_{air} (orange), Prec (pink) and VPD (green), explaining variability in NEE, GPP and R_{eco} (partitioned by REddyproc) at different temporal aggregations (hourly, daily, weekly and monthly) when all the years were lumped together. Thick bars and error bars represent the mean \pm standard deviation of the importance across 1000 decision trees.

PAR dominating NEE and GPP from early June to early October (Fig. 8), while T_{air} and VPD became more important before and after the snow-free conditions. In terms of CO₂ emission (R_{eco}) the pattern is less clear and noisier, although T_{air} appeared to be the most important variable. Finally, the annual pattern exposes a performance in line with previous results; i.e. PAR dominated NEE and GPP while R_{eco} was more sensitive to variations of T_{air} . Interestingly, the random forest analysis revealed a decrease in PAR's importance in 2011, the same year in which the sharp decrease in C sink strength was exposed.

4 Discussion

4.1 Data processing and quality

The NEE gap filling and subsequent partitioning into GPP and R_{eco} are needed to understand the CO₂ flux responses to the environmental forcing. However, these procedures expose unavoidable uncertainties in the seasonal C budget calculation (Table 2) and partial inconsistencies between approaches (Fig. 4). In this study, we used an MDS gap-filling technique, an enhancement to the standard look-up table. Both methods have shown a good overall performance compared to other procedures such as non-linear techniques or semi-parametric models but slightly inferior to artificial neural network (Moffat et al., 2007). However, the MDS gap filling alone introduced NEE estimates out of range across the two extensive gaps in 2010 and 2012 (Fig. S2). Quantifying the uncertainty introduced by measurement gaps is complex (Falge et al., 2001; Moffat et al., 2007; Papale et al., 2006). One possibility would be a sensitivity analysis of time series with artificially introduced gaps (Dragomir et al., 2012; Pirk et al., 2017). However, the choice of gap length and position is difficult and would render uncertainty to the uncertainty assessment itself. Instead, we used the EC prediction based on independent autochamber (AC) measurements between 2010 and 2013. The agreement between EC and AC was always $R^2 > 0.72$ and p < 0.001, and the 95 % confidence intervals of the predictions were reported together with the resulting uncertainties (Table 2). Although the AC data itself incorporated a new source of uncertainty in the calculations, we consider this method to be less weak than an unreliable gap-filling estimate. We used the AC as platform with which to decrease the gap length and the total random uncertainty (Aurela et al., 2002) before the MDS algorithm was applied. AC was used together with MDS and was never used as an independent gap-filling procedure.

The NEE partitioning obtained from REddyProc and LRC suggests a relatively good agreement in model performance. The one-to-one comparison between different approaches found a better agreement with regard to GPP compared to R_{eco} . In this analysis, REddyProc produced smoother R_{eco} estimates compared to the noisier GPP estimates, whereas the LRC results were the other way around. This is mainly because measurement noise goes into GPP for the REd-dyProc method, and into R_{eco} for the LRC method. REd-



Figure 8. Diurnal, seasonal and annual importance of environmental variables PAR (yellow), T_{air} (orange), and VPD (green), explaining variability in NEE, GPP and R_{eco} . Thick lines and shading represent the mean ± standard deviation of the importance across 1000 decision trees.

dyProc retrieves positive GPP values, whereas the LRC method results in negative R_{eco} values. Both scenarios are not fully convincing, although it is not straightforward as to how they should be treated. Removing all positive GPP/negative $R_{\rm eco}$ values would risk removing only one side of the extremes. Besides night-time-based (REddyProc) and daytimebased (LRC) partitioning approaches, several implementations have been proposed to improve the algorithm's performance. Lasslop et al. (2010) has modified the hyperbolic LRC to account for the temperature sensitivity of respiration and the VPD limitation of photosynthesis. Further, Runkle et al. (2013) proposed a time-sensitive multi-bulk fluxpartitioning model, where the NEE time series was analysed in 1-week increments as the combination of a temperaturedependent R_{eco} flux and a PAR-dependent flux (GPP). However, it remains uncertain as to under which circumstances each partitioning approach is more appropriate, especially in the boundaries between low- and high-Arctic due to the lack of dark night during polar days (when light is not a limiting factor for plant growth). Since there are few methods with an unclear precision, an evaluation study on the effect of using different partitioning approaches along latitudinal gradients would be very beneficial to assessing the suitability for each method.

4.2 Interannual and seasonal variation of CO₂ ecosystem fluxes

The balance between the two major gross fluxes in terrestrial ecosystems, photosynthetic inputs (GPP) and respiration outputs (R_{eco}) , displayed larger temporal variability than did NEE. These results suggest that both GPP and R_{eco} were strongly coupled and sensitive to meteorological conditions such as insolation and temperature (Figs. 7 and 8). Interestingly, the tendency to warmer and wetter conditions led to greater rates of C cycling associated with larger GPP and R_{eco} (Fig. S3). This result does not entirely coincide with Peichl et al. (2014), even though they performed a similar analysis for a Swedish boreal fen. This finding points towards the complexity in the response of wetland ecosystems towards changing environmental conditions. The response is dependent on many things, such as hydrological settings, and these differ between sites. In this study, larger rates of C uptake (GPP) were linked to larger rates of C release (R_{eco}), with the exception of the anomalous year 2011. The relative insensitivity of NEE to meteorological conditions during the snow-free period could be the result of the correlated response of ranked cumulative GPP and Reco (Fig. 5) (Richardson et al., 2007; Wohlfahrt et al., 2008). This site likely receives more precipitation than many other tundra ecosystems and has no permafrost; thus the NEE response to climate could be less variable. However, as Kobbefjord is located in a coastal area, it is not surprising that it receives high pre-

cipitation, and other ecosystems such as coastal blanket bogs often receive even more precipitation without a clear impact of drought effect on the NEE sensitivity (Lund et al., 2015). Furthermore, permafrost adds another layer of complexity to the C dynamics (Christensen et al., 2004; Koven et al., 2011; Schuur et al., 2015). Although some studies showed similarities of CO₂ fluxes in various northern wetland ecosystems with and without permafrost (Lund et al., 2015), permafrost has a strong influence on the hydrology of peatlands (Åkerman and Johansson, 2008), and therefore their topography and distribution of vegetation (Johansson et al., 2013). Especially in the context of climate warming permafrost thaw can cause large changes to the ecosystems. Further, this study agrees with Parmentier et al. (2011) and Lund et al. (2012), who suggested that a longer growing season does not necessarily increase the net carbon uptake. Here a more negative NEE indicated a stronger C sink (i.e.) in 2012 compared to 2010. Parmentier et al. (2011) hypothesized that this behaviour is due to site-specific differences, such as meteorology and soil structure, and that changes in the carbon cycle with longer growing seasons will not be uniform around the Arctic. Thus, the effects of climate change on the tundra C balance of are not straightforward to infer.

NEE measured at Kobbefjord from 2008 to 2015 indicates a consistent sink of CO_2 (within a range of -17 to -41 gCm^{-2}) with exception of the year 2011 (+41 gCm⁻²) (Table 2). The year 2011, associated with a major pest outbreak, reduced GPP more strongly than R_{eco} (Fig. 5) and Kobbefjord turned into a strong C source within an episodic single growing season. The return to substantial cumulative CO_2 sink rates following the extreme year of 2011 shows the ability of the ecosystem to recover from the disturbance (Lund et al., 2017). Indeed, the ecosystem not only shifted back from being a C source to a C sink, but it also changed rapidly from one year to the next. Thus we found evidence in Kobbefjord of ecosystem resilience to the meteorological variability, similar to other cases described in other northern sites (Peichl et al., 2014; Zona et al., 2014). Only a few reference sites have reported similar decreases in net C uptake, but in no case as large as the one observed here. Zona et al. (2014) described an effect of delayed responses to an unusual warm summer in Alaska. Their results suggested that vascular plants, which have enhanced their physiological activity during the warmer summer, might have difficulties readapting to cooler, but not atypical, conditions, which have provoked a significant decrease in GPP and R_{eco} the following year. In their study, the ecosystem returned to be a fairly strong C sink after 2 years, suggesting strong ecosystem resilience. Moreover, Hanis et al., 2015 have reported comparable C sink-C source variations in a Canadian fen within the growing season due to changes in the water table depth. Drier and warmer than normal conditions have triggered an increase in C source strength. Finally, during an extensive outbreak of autumn and winter moths in a subarctic birch forest in Sweden, Heliasz et al. (2011) observed

a similar decrease in net sink of C (most likely due to weaker GPP) across the growing season. However, the C source strength (NEE = 40.7 g C m^{-2}) found in 2011 at Kobbefjord was higher compared to these other cases. To our knowledge, such abrupt disturbance concerning C sink strength in Arctic tundra has not been previously reported, excluding severely burned landscapes (Rocha and Shaver, 2011).

A combination of different factors could have led to the sharp change in C balance observed between 2010 and 2011, both physical and biological. The year 2010 had the warmest mean annual temperature (3.4 °C compared to the -0.4 °C mean annual temperature for 2008–2015) and the warmest mean wintertime temperature $(-2.7 \,^{\circ}\text{C} \text{ compared to})$ the -6.79 °C mean for 2008–2015) (Fig. 2a). These climatic conditions generated the thinnest (maximum daily snow depth of 0.3 m compared to an average of 0.9 m) (Table 1) and shortest-lasting snowpack. Consequently, 2010 had the longest growing season (85 days) and very high growing season C uptake (-70 g C m^{-2}) . Increases in temperature can lead to high respiration rates during early winter (Commane et al., 2017; Zona et al., 2016) but also during the following summer (Helfter et al., 2015; Lund et al., 2012), which is related to soil temperature and snow dynamics. Further, in Kobbefjord the year 2011 had one of the lowest mean annual temperatures and mean wintertime temperatures (-1.7 and-6.1 °C respectively), which created the thickest (maximum daily snow depth of 1.4 m) and the longest-lasting snowpack, leading to the shortest growing season for the study period (only 47 days). According to Lund et al. (2012), soils will be insulated from low temperatures when below thick snowpack, which acts as a lid and prevents R_{eco} from being released to the atmosphere until the snowmelt period. Finally, an outbreak of larvae of the noctuid moth Eurois occulta occurred in 2011, overlapping the observed abrupt decrease in C sink strength. Although we cannot provide a quantification of change attributed to meteorological variations and biological disturbances, there is evidence showing that the moth outbreak could partially have decreased the C sink strength in Kobbefjord. In an undisturbed scenario, the meteorological conditions in 2015, colder and dryer than the mean 2008-2015 period (Fig. 2) but similar to 2011, would have stimulated similar behaviours in terms of C fluxes. However, the cumulative fluxes in 2015 (Fig. 5) followed analogous patterns compared to other years. This evidence agrees with the literature (Callaghan et al., 2012b; Lund et al., 2017) on the fact that tundra systems can fluctuate in sink strength influenced by factors such as episodic disturbances or species shifts, events which are very difficult to predict.

4.3 Environmental forcing

Our data indicate that the importance of the main environmental controls (radiation and temperature) for C fluxes did vary across diurnal, seasonal and annual cycles, but also between time aggregations. The hourly variability of NEE and GPP (Figs. 7 and 8) was mostly dependent on PAR because of the threshold nature on radiation control on GPP. Overall, the results indicate that environmental factors that can change rapidly such as PAR will have a high influence on short timescales (Stoy et al., 2014). The increased importance of PAR at 08:00 and 20:00 h WGST coincides with the sharp gradient in light at dawn and dusk (Fig. 8). The control of PAR on GPP is not a new finding itself, but the random forest approach helps to quantify its importance. There is no GPP at night, and therefore there will be a strong increase/decrease in GPP at dawn/dusk. The seasonal pattern also showed that radiation is the single main driver for NEE and GPP between early June and early October, supported by the longer daytime. Further, PAR appeared to be a limiting factor for annual NEE in 2011, increasing further the complexity around this anomalous year. These results agree with the literature (Groendahl et al., 2007; Stoy et al., 2014), suggesting that the uptake of CO_2 is partially controlled by radiation for the photosynthetic physiology at the leaf scale. Arctic plants are usually well adapted to environments with low light levels, reporting near-maximum rates ranging from 10 to 25 °C (Oechel and Billings, 1992; Shaver and Kummerow, 1992).

Photosynthesis is restricted by low temperature, so enzymatically driven processes such as carbon fixation are more sensitive to low temperature than the light-driven biophysical reactions (Chapin et al., 2011). In this paper the daily, weekly and monthly aggregated variability of C fluxes was primarily linked to T_{air} . Moreover, the random forest analyses revealed a strong diurnal pattern with a marked contribution of T_{air} to variations in NEE and GPP (both at night-time and between 08:00 and 18:00 h WGST). These results agree with Lindroth et al. (2007), who recognized T_{air} as the key driver of NEE seasonal trends in northern peatlands. However, in this analysis both NEE and GPP had similar responses to common environmental forcing, contrary to the results in Reichstein et al. (2007). In order to circumvent the potential circularity conflicts based on the use of partitioning products, we filtered daytime NEE (true GPP) and night-time NEE (true $R_{\rm eco}$), obtaining very similar results (Table S2). Further, our data also suggest that R_{eco} is often dominated by air temperature. The patterns observed here are in agreement with findings on plant respiration dynamics (Heskel et al., 2016; Lloyd and Taylor, 1994; Tjoelker et al., 2001).

In this study, environmental drivers related to water availability such as VPD and precipitation were not found to be as influential as other assessed variables. We did not find significant relationships between CO_2 fluxes and the water table depth. Thus, there was no apparent water limitation on carbon dynamics during the 8-year period. However, the complex interactions based on changes in temperature and soil moisture particularly over full annual cycles and for sites with permafrost, should be further explored. Our results contrast with Strachan et al. (2015), who described water table depth as an important driver regulating the CO_2 balance, and

E. López-Blanco et al.: Exchange of CO₂ in Arctic tundra

others, who found that CO_2 emissions increase during dry years due to increased decomposition rates and a reduction in GPP (Aurela et al., 2007; Lund et al., 2007; Oechel et al., 1993; Peichl et al., 2014), whereas other sites act as sinks during relatively wet years (Lafleur et al., 1997). The fen in Kobbefjord is probably quite resistant to droughts since it is fed with water from the surroundings.

5 Conclusions

We have analysed eight snow-free periods in 8 consecutive years in a West Greenland tundra (64° N) focusing on the net ecosystem exchange (NEE) of CO2 and its photosynthetic inputs (GPP) and respiration outputs (R_{eco}). Here, the NEE gap filling exposed inherent uncertainties in the seasonal C budget calculation, but there were also inconsistencies between the flux partitioning approaches used. We find that Kobbefjord acted as a consistent sink of CO2 during the years 2008-2015, except 2011, which was associated with a major pest outbreak. The results do not show a marked meteorological effect on the net C uptake. However, the relative insensitivity of NEE during the snow-free period was driven by the correlated, balancing responses of GPP and R_{eco} , both more variable than NEE and sensitive to temperature and insolation. In this paper we show a tendency towards larger GPP and R_{eco} during wetter and warmer years. The anomalous year 2011, affected by a biological disturbance, constituted a relatively strong source of CO₂ and reduced GPP more strongly than $R_{\rm eco}$. A novel analysis assessing the changes of environmental forcing across diurnal, seasonal and annual timescales unmasked patterns of functional responses to C fluxes.

Despite the fact that we analysed an 8-year data set, the results do not provide a complete picture due to the lack of year-round data (Grøndahl et al., 2008). The snow season should be taken into account for a comprehensive understanding of complete C budget (Aurela et al., 2002; Commane et al., 2017; Zona et al., 2016) and the delayed effect of wintertime-based variables such as snow depth or snow cover on the C fluxes. Because some studies have suggested that GPP and R_{eco} increase with observed changes in climate and NEE trends remain unclear (Lund et al., 2012), it is challenging to produce strong evidence while the data remains scarce and fragmented. Hence, there is a need for increased efforts in monitoring Arctic ecosystem changes over the full annual cycle (Euskirchen et al., 2012; Grøndahl et al., 2008). Future work is also required with C flux modelling in order to explore process-based insights of C exchange balance in the Arctic tundra and the interactions of photosynthesis and $R_{\rm eco}$ with changes in C stocks.

Data availability. Measurement data from the Greenland Ecosystem Monitoring (GEM) programme are freely available from the GEM database (http://data.g-e-m.dk). Post-processed data

Tignor, M., and Miller, H. L., Cambridge University Press, New York, 2007.

- Christensen, T. R., Johansson, T., Åkerman, H. J., Mastepanov, M., Malmer, N., Friborg, T., Crill, P., and Svensson, B.: Thawing sub-arctic permafrost: effects on vegetation and methane emissions, Geophys. Res. Lett., 31, L04501, https://doi.org/10.1029/2003GL018680, 2004.
- Christensen, T. R., Jackowicz-Korczyński, M., Aurela, M., Crill, P., Heliasz, M., Mastepanov, M., and Friborg, T.: Monitoring the multi-year carbon balance of a subarctic palsa mire with micrometeorological techniques, AMBIO, 41, 207–217, https://doi.org/10.1007/s13280-012-0302-5, 2012.
- Commane, R., Lindaas, J., Benmergui, J., Luus, K. A., Chang, R. Y.-W., Daube, B. C., Euskirchen, E. S., Henderson, J. M., Karion, A., Miller, J. B., Miller, S. M., Parazoo, N. C., Randerson, J. T., Sweeney, C., Tans, P., Thoning, K., Veraverbeke, S., Miller, C. E., and Wofsy, S. C.: Carbon dioxide sources from Alaska driven by increasing early winter respiration from Arctic tundra, P. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA, 114, 5361–5366, https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1618567114, 2017.
- Dragomir, C. M., Klaassen, W., Voiculescu, M., Georgescu, L. P., and van der Laan, S.: Estimating annual CO₂ flux for Lutjewad Station using three different gap-filling techniques, Sci. World J., 2012, 10, https://doi.org/10.1100/2012/842893, 2012.
- Elberling, B., Nordstrøm, C., Grøndahl, L., Søgaard, H., Friborg, T., Christensen, T. R., Ström, L., Marchand, F., and Nijs, I.: Higharctic soil CO₂ and CH₄ production controlled by temperature, water, freezing and snow, in: Advances in Ecological Research, Academic Press, 441–472, 2008.
- Euskirchen, E. S., Bret-Harte, M. S., Scott, G. J., Edgar, C., and Shaver, G. R.: Seasonal patterns of carbon dioxide and water fluxes in three representative tundra ecosystems in northern Alaska, Ecosphere, 3, 1–19, https://doi.org/10.1890/ES11-00202.1, 2012.
- Exbrayat, J.-F. and Williams, M.: Quantifying the net contribution of the historical Amazonian deforestation to climate change, Geophys. Res. Lett., 42, 2968–2976, https://doi.org/10.1002/2015GL063497, 2015.
- Falge, E., Baldocchi, D., Olson, R., Anthoni, P., Aubinet, M., Bernhofer, C., Burba, G., Ceulemans, R., Clement, R., Dolman, H., Granier, A., Gross, P., Grünwald, T., Hollinger, D., Jensen, N.-O., Katul, G., Keronen, P., Kowalski, A., Lai, C. T., Law, B. E., Meyers, T., Moncrieff, J., Moors, E., Munger, J. W., Pilegaard, K., Rannik, Ü., Rebmann, C., Suyker, A., Tenhunen, J., Tu, K., Verma, S., Vesala, T., Wilson, K., and Wofsy, S.: Gap filling strategies for defensible annual sums of net ecosystem exchange, Agr. Forest Meteorol., 107, 43–69, https://doi.org/10.1016/S0168-1923(00)00225-2, 2001.
- Gilmanov, T. G., Verma, S. B., Sims, P. L., Meyers, T. P., Bradford, J. A., Burba, G. G., and Suyker, A. E.: Gross primary production and light response parameters of four Southern Plains ecosystems estimated using long-term CO₂flux tower measurements, Global Biogeochem. Cy., 17, https://doi.org/10.1029/2002GB002023, 2003.
- Goulden, M. L. and Crill, P. M.: Automated measurements of CO₂ exchange at the moss surface of a black spruce forest, Tree Physiol., 17, 537–542, https://doi.org/10.1093/treephys/17.8-9.537, 1997.

- Groendahl, L., Friborg, T., and Soegaard, H.: Temperature and snow-melt controls on interannual variability in carbon exchange in the high Arctic, Theor. Appl. Climatol., 88, 111–125, https://doi.org/10.1007/s00704-005-0228-y, 2007.
- Grolemund, G. and Wickham, H.: Dates and Times Made Easy with lubridate, J. Stat. Softw., 40, 1–25, 2011.
- Grøndahl, L., Friborg, T., Christensen, T. R., Ekberg, A., Elberling, B., Illeris, L., Nordstrøm, C., Rennermalm, Å., Sigsgaard, C., and Søgaard, H.: Spatial and inter-annual variability of trace gas fluxes in a heterogeneous high-arctic landscape, in: Advances in Ecological Research, edited by: Meltofte, H., Christensen, T. R., Elberling, B., Forchhammer, M. C., and Rasch, M., Academic Press, 473–498, 2008.
- Hanis, K. L., Amiro, B. D., Tenuta, M., Papakyriakou, T., and Swystun, K. A.: Carbon exchange over four growing seasons for a subarctic sedge fen in northern Manitoba, Canada, Arctic Sci., 1, 27–44, https://doi.org/10.1139/as-2015-0003, 2015.
- Helfter, C., Campbell, C., Dinsmore, K. J., Drewer, J., Coyle, M., Anderson, M., Skiba, U., Nemitz, E., Billett, M. F., and Sutton, M. A.: Drivers of long-term variability in CO₂ net ecosystem exchange in a temperate peatland, Biogeosciences, 12, 1799–1811, https://doi.org/10.5194/bg-12-1799-2015, 2015.
- Heliasz, M., Johansson, T., Lindroth, A., Mölder, M., Mastepanov, M., Friborg, T., Callaghan, T. V., and Christensen, T. R.: Quantification of C uptake in subarctic birch forest after setback by an extreme insect outbreak, Geophys. Res. Lett., 38, L01704, https://doi.org/10.1029/2010GL044733, 2011.
- Heskel, M. A., O'Sullivan, O. S., Reich, P. B., Tjoelker, M. G., Weerasinghe, L. K., Penillard, A., Egerton, J. J. G., Creek, D., Bloomfield, K. J., Xiang, J., Sinca, F., Stangl, Z. R., Martinez-de la Torre, A., Griffin, K. L., Huntingford, C., Hurry, V., Meir, P., Turnbull, M. H., and Atkin, O. K.: Convergence in the temperature response of leaf respiration across biomes and plant functional types, P. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA, 113, 3832–3837, https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1520282113, 2016.
- Hinkler, J., Pedersen, S. B., Rasch, M., and Hansen, B. U.: Automatic snow cover monitoring at high temporal and spatial resolution, using images taken by a standard digital camera, Int. J. Remote Sens., 23, 4669–4682, https://doi.org/10.1080/01431160110113881, 2002.
- Højstrup, J.: A statistical data screening procedure, Meas. Sci. Technol., 4, 153–157, 1993.
- Hugelius, G., Strauss, J., Zubrzycki, S., Harden, J. W., Schuur, E. A. G., Ping, C.-L., Schirrmeister, L., Grosse, G., Michaelson, G. J., Koven, C. D., O'Donnell, J. A., Elberling, B., Mishra, U., Camill, P., Yu, Z., Palmtag, J., and Kuhry, P.: Estimated stocks of circumpolar permafrost carbon with quantified uncertainty ranges and identified data gaps, Biogeosciences, 11, 6573–6593, https://doi.org/10.5194/bg-11-6573-2014, 2014.
- IPCC: Climate Change 2007: The Physical Science Basis: Working Group I Contribution to the Fourth Assessment Report of the IPCC, Cambridge University Press, New York, 2007.
- Jensen, L. M. and Christensen, T. R.: Nuuk Ecological Research Operations, 7th Annual Report 2013, Aarhus University, DCE-Danish Centre for Environment and Energy, Roskilde, Denmark, 94, 2014.
- Johansson, M., Callaghan, T. V., Bosiö, J., Åkerman, H. J., Jackowicz-Korczynski, M., and Christensen, T. R.: Rapid responses of permafrost and vegetation to experimentally increased

Biogeosciences, 14, 4467-4483, 2017

snow cover in sub-arctic Sweden, Environ. Res. Lett., 8, 035025, https://doi.org/10.1088/1748-9326/8/3/035025, 2013.

- Koven, C. D., Ringeval, B., Friedlingstein, P., Ciais, P., Cadule, P., Khvorostyanov, D., Krinner, G., and Tarnocai, C.: Permafrost carbon-climate feedbacks accelerate global warming, P. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA, 108, 14769–14774, https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1103910108, 2011.
- Lafleur, P. M., McCaughey, J. H., Joiner, D. W., Bartlett, P. A., and Jelinski, D. E.: Seasonal trends in energy, water, and carbon dioxide fluxes at a northern boreal wetland, J. Geophys. Res.-Atmos., 102, 29009–29020, https://doi.org/10.1029/96JD03326, 1997.
- Lafleur, P. M., Humphreys, E. R., St. Louis, V. L., Myklebust, M. C., Papakyriakou, T., Poissant, L., Barker, J. D., Pilote, M., and Swystun, K. A.: Variation in Peak Growing Season Net Ecosystem Production Across the Canadian Arctic, Environ. Sci. Technol., 46, 7971–7977, https://doi.org/10.1021/es300500m, 2012.
- Lasslop, G., Reichstein, M., Papale, D., Richardson, A. D., Arneth, A., Barr, A., Stoy, P., and Wohlfahrt, G.: Separation of net ecosystem exchange into assimilation and respiration using a light response curve approach: critical issues and global evaluation, Glob. Change Biol., 16, 187–208, https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2486.2009.02041.x, 2010.
- Lasslop, G., Migliavacca, M., Bohrer, G., Reichstein, M., Bahn, M., Ibrom, A., Jacobs, C., Kolari, P., Papale, D., Vesala, T., Wohlfahrt, G., and Cescatti, A.: On the choice of the driving temperature for eddy-covariance carbon dioxide flux partitioning, Biogeosciences, 9, 5243–5259, https://doi.org/10.5194/bg-9-5243-2012, 2012.
- Lindroth, A., Lund, M., Nilsson, M., Aurela, M., Christensen, T. R., Laurila, T., Rinne, J., Riutta, T., Sagerfors, J., Ström, L., Tuovinen, J.-P., and Vesala, T.: Environmental controls on the CO₂ exchange in north European mires, Tellus B, 59, 812–825, https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-0889.2007.00310.x, 2007.
- Lloyd, J. and Taylor, J. A.: On the temperature dependence of soil respiration, Funct. Ecol., 8, 315–323, https://doi.org/10.2307/2389824, 1994.
- Lund, M., Lindroth, A., Christensen, T. R., and Ström, L.: Annual CO₂ balance of a temperate bog, Tellus B, 59, 804–811, https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-0889.2007.00303.x, 2007.
- Lund, M., Lafleur, P. M., Roulet, N. T., Lindroth, A., Christensen, T. R., Aurela, M., Chojnicki, B. H., Flanagan, L. B., Humphreys, E. R., Laurila, T., Oechel, W. C., Olejnik, J., Rinne, J., Schubert, P. E. R., and Nilsson, M. B.: Variability in exchange of CO₂ across 12 northern peatland and tundra sites, Glob. Change Biol., 16, 2436–2448, https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2486.2009.02104.x, 2010.
- Lund, M., Falk, J. M., Friborg, T., Mbufong, H. N., Sigsgaard, C., Soegaard, H., and Tamstorf, M. P.: Trends in CO₂ exchange in a high Arctic tundra heath, 2000–2010, J. Geophys. Res.-Biogeo., 117, G02001, https://doi.org/10.1029/2011JG001901, 2012.
- Lund, M., Bjerke, J. W., Drake, B. G., Engelsen, O., Hansen, G. H., Parmentier, F. J. W., Powell, T. L., Silvennoinen, H., Sottocornola, M., Tømmervik, H., Weldon, S., and Rasse, D. P.: Low impact of dry conditions on the CO₂ exchange of a Northern-Norwegian blanket bog, Environ. Res. Lett., 10, 025004, https://doi.org/10.1088/1748-9326/10/2/025004, 2015.
- Lund, M., Raundrup, K., Westergaard-Nielsen, A., López-Blanco, E., Nymand, J., and Aastrup, P.: Larval outbreaks

in West Greenland: instant and subsequent effects on tundra ecosystem productivity and CO₂ exchange, AMBIO, 46, 26–38, https://doi.org/10.1007/s13280-016-0863-9, 2017.

- Mastepanov, M., Sigsgaard, C., Tagesson, T., Ström, L., Tamstorf, M. P., Lund, M., and Christensen, T. R.: Revisiting factors controlling methane emissions from high-Arctic tundra, Biogeosciences, 10, 5139–5158, https://doi.org/10.5194/bg-10-5139-2013, 2013.
- Mbufong, H. N., Lund, M., Aurela, M., Christensen, T. R., Eugster, W., Friborg, T., Hansen, B. U., Humphreys, E. R., Jackowicz-Korczynski, M., Kutzbach, L., Lafleur, P. M., Oechel, W. C., Parmentier, F. J. W., Rasse, D. P., Rocha, A. V., Sachs, T., van der Molen, M. K., and Tamstorf, M. P.: Assessing the spatial variability in peak season CO₂ exchange characteristics across the Arctic tundra using a light response curve parameterization, Biogeosciences, 11, 4897–4912, https://doi.org/10.5194/bg-11-4897-2014, 2014.
- McGuire, A. D., Anderson, L. G., Christensen, T. R., Dallimore, S., Guo, L., Hayes, D. J., Heimann, M., Lorenson, T. D., Macdonald, R. W., and Roulet, N. T.: Sensitivity of the carbon cycle in the Arctic to climate change, Ecol. Monogr., 79, 523–555, https://doi.org/10.1890/08-2025.1, 2009.
- McGuire, A. D., Christensen, T. R., Hayes, D., Heroult, A., Euskirchen, E., Kimball, J. S., Koven, C., Lafleur, P., Miller, P. A., Oechel, W., Peylin, P., Williams, M., and Yi, Y.: An assessment of the carbon balance of Arctic tundra: comparisons among observations, process models, and atmospheric inversions, Biogeosciences, 9, 3185–3204, https://doi.org/10.5194/bg-9-3185-2012, 2012.
- Meltofte, H., Christensen, T. R., Elberling, B., Forchhammer, M. C., and Rasch, M. (Eds.): Introduction, in: Advances in Ecological Research, Academic Press, 1–12, 2008.
- Moffat, A. M., Papale, D., Reichstein, M., Hollinger, D. Y., Richardson, A. D., Barr, A. G., Beckstein, C., Braswell, B. H., Churkina, G., Desai, A. R., Falge, E., Gove, J. H., Heimann, M., Hui, D., Jarvis, A. J., Kattge, J., Noormets, A., and Stauch, V. J.: Comprehensive comparison of gap-filling techniques for eddy covariance net carbon fluxes, Agr. Forest Meteorol., 147, 209–232, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agrformet.2007.08.011, 2007.
- Moncrieff, J. B., Massheder, J. M., de Bruin, H., Elbers, J., Friborg, T., Heusinkveld, B., Kabat, P., Scott, S., Soegaard, H., and Verhoef, A.: A system to measure surface fluxes of momentum, sensible heat, water vapour and carbon dioxide, J. Hydrol., 188– 189, 589–611, https://doi.org/10.1016/S0022-1694(96)03194-0, 1997.
- Moore, C. J.: Frequency response corrections for eddy correlation systems, Bound.-Layer Meteorol., 37, 17–35, https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00122754, 1986.
- Nelson, F. E. and Outcalt, S. I.: A computational method for prediction and regionalization of permafrost, Arctic Alpine Res., 19, 279–288, https://doi.org/10.2307/1551363, 1987.
- Oechel, W. C. and Billings, W.: Effects of global change on the carbon balance of arctic plants and ecosystems, in: Arctic Ecosystems in a Changing Climate: an Ecophysiological Perspective, Academic Press, San Diego, 139–168, 1992.
- Oechel, W. C., Hastings, S. J., Vourlrtis, G., Jenkins, M., Riechers, G., and Grulke, N.: Recent change of Arctic tundra ecosystems from a net carbon dioxide sink to a source, Nature, 361, 520–523, 1993.

and scripts are available from the authors upon request (elb@bios.au.dk).

The Supplement related to this article is available online at https://doi.org/10.5194/bg-14-4467-2017-supplement.

Author contributions. EL-B, ML, MW, TRC and MPT designed the experiment. Data preparation and analysis were primarily performed by EL-B with contribution from ML (eddy covariance data processing, data quality control and LRC partitioning), MW and TRC (experimental set up), BUH (data gathering from Nuuk Ecological Research Operations, GeoBasis), AW-N (daily estimate of the timing of snowmelt) and J-FE (random forest approach). EL-B prepared the manuscript with active contributions from all coauthors.

Competing interests. The authors declare that they have no conflict of interest.

Acknowledgements. This work was supported in part by a scholarship from the Aarhus-Edinburgh Excellence in European Doctoral Education Project and by the eSTICC (eScience tools for investigating Climate Change in Northern High Latitudes) project, part of the Nordic Center of Excellence. The authors wish to thank the Nuuk Ecological Research Operations (nuuk-basic.dk) as well as GeoBasis programme, which is in charge of the eddy covariance and the autochamber systems. Both projects are being run under the Greenland Ecosystem Monitoring (GEM) programme funded by the Danish Environmental Protection Agency and the Danish Energy Agency.

Edited by: Xinming Wang Reviewed by: two anonymous referees

References

- ACIA: Arctic Climate Impact Assessment, Cambridge University Press, New York, 1042 pp., 2005.
- Åkerman, H. J. and Johansson, M.: Thawing permafrost and thicker active layers in sub-arctic Sweden, Permafrost Periglac., 19, 279–292, https://doi.org/10.1002/ppp.626, 2008.
- AMAP: Snow, Water, Ice and Permafrost in the Arctic (SWIPA), Oslo, Norway, 2011.
- Arndal, M. F., Illeris, L., Michelsen, A., Albert, K., Tamstorf, M., and Hansen, B. U.: Seasonal Variation in Gross Ecosystem Production, Plant Biomass, and Carbon and Nitrogen Pools in Five High Arctic Vegetation Types, Arct. Antarct. Alp. Res., 41, 164– 173, https://doi.org/10.1657/1938-4246-41.2.164, 2009.
- Aurela, M., Laurila, T., and Tuovinen, J.-P.: Annual CO₂ balance of a subarctic fen in northern Europe: importance of the wintertime efflux, J. Geophys. Res.-Atmos., 107, ACH 17-11–ACH 17-12, https://doi.org/10.1029/2002JD002055, 2002.

- Aurela, M., Laurila, T., and Tuovinen, J.-P.: The timing of snow melt controls the annual CO₂ balance in a subarctic fen, Geophys. Res. Lett., 31, L16119, https://doi.org/10.1029/2004GL020315, 2004.
- Aurela, M., Riutta, T., Laurila, T., Tuovinen, J.-P., Vesala, T., Tuittila, E.-S., Rinne, J., Haapanala, S., and Laine, J.: CO₂ exchange of a sedge fen in southern Finland – the impact of a drought period, Tellus B, 59, 826–837, https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-0889.2007.00309.x, 2007.
- Baccini, A., Goetz, S. J., Walker, W. S., Laporte, N. T., Sun, M., Sulla-Menashe, D., Hackler, J., Beck, P. S. A., Dubayah, R., Friedl, M. A., Samanta, S., and Houghton, R. A.: Estimated carbon dioxide emissions from tropical deforestation improved by carbon-density maps, Nat. Clim. Change, 2, 182–185, 2012.
- Bay, C., Aastrup, P., and Nymand, J.: The NERO line. A vegetation transect in Kobbefjord, West Greenland, National Environmental Research Institute, Aarhus University, Aarhus, 2008.
- Breiman, L.: Random forests, Mach. Learn., 45, 5–32, https://doi.org/10.1023/a:1010933404324, 2001.
- Bubier, L. J., Bhatia, G., Moore, R. T., Roulet, T. N., and Lafleur, M. P.: Spatial and temporal variability in growing-season net ecosystem carbon dioxide exchange at a large peatland in Ontario, Canada, Ecosystems, 6, 353–367, https://doi.org/10.1007/s10021-003-0125-0, 2003.
- Callaghan, T. V., Johansson, M., Brown, R. D., Groisman, P. Y., Labba, N., Radionov, V., Barry, R. G., Bulygina, O. N., Essery, R. L. H., Frolov, D. M., Golubev, V. N., Grenfell, T. C., Petrushina, M. N., Razuvaev, V. N., Robinson, D. A., Romanov, P., Shindell, D., Shmakin, A. B., Sokratov, S. A., Warren, S., and Yang, D.: The changing face of arctic snow cover: a synthesis of observed and projected changes, AMBIO, 40, 17– 31, https://doi.org/10.1007/s13280-011-0212-y, 2012a.
- Callaghan, T. V., Johansson, M., Key, J., Prowse, T., Ananicheva, M., and Klepikov, A.: Feedbacks and interactions: from the arctic cryosphere to the climate system, AMBIO, 40, 75–86, https://doi.org/10.1007/s13280-011-0215-8, 2012b.
- Callaghan, T. V., Johansson, M., Prowse, T. D., Olsen, M. S., and Reiersen, L.-O.: Arctic cryosphere: changes and Impacts, AMBIO, 40, 3–5, https://doi.org/10.1007/s13280-011-0210-0, 2012c.
- Cappelen, J.: Greenland DMI Historical Climate Data Collection 1873–2012, Danish Meteorological Institute, Copenhagen, 2013.
- Cappelen, J.: Greenland DMI Historical Climate Data Collection 1784–2015, Danish Meteorological Institute, Copenhagen, 2016.
- CAVM Team: Circumpolar Arctic Vegetation Map, scale 1: 7500000, in: Conservation of Arctic Flora and Fauna (CAFF) Map No. 1, US Fish and Wildlife Service, Anchorage, Alaska, 2003.
- Chapin, F. S., Matson, P. A., and Vitousek, P. M.: Principles of Terrestrial Ecosystem Ecology, Springer, New York, 2011.
- Christensen, J. H., Hewitson, B., Busuioc, A., Chen, A., Gao, X., Held, I., Jones, R., Kolli, R. K., Kwon, W.-T., Laprise, R., Magaña Rueda, V., Mearns, L., Menéndez, C. G., Räisänen, J., Rinke, A., Sarr, A., and Whetton, P.: Regional Climate Projections, in: Climate Change 2007: Climate Change 2007: The Physical Science Basis: Working Group I Contribution to the Fourth Assessment Report of the IPCC, edited by: Solomon, S., Qin, D., Manning, M., Chen, Z., Marquis, M., Averyt, K. B.,

www.biogeosciences.net/14/4467/2017/

Biogeosciences, 14, 4467–4483, 2017

4482

E. López-Blanco et al.: Exchange of CO₂ in Arctic tundra

- Papale, D., Reichstein, M., Aubinet, M., Canfora, E., Bernhofer, C., Kutsch, W., Longdoz, B., Rambal, S., Valentini, R., Vesala, T., and Yakir, D.: Towards a standardized processing of Net Ecosystem Exchange measured with eddy covariance technique: algorithms and uncertainty estimation, Biogeosciences, 3, 571–583, https://doi.org/10.5194/bg-3-571-2006, 2006.
- Parmentier, F. J. W., van der Molen, M. K., van Huissteden, J., Karsanaev, S. A., Kononov, A. V., Suzdalov, D. A., Maximov, T. C., and Dolman, A. J.: Longer growing seasons do not increase net carbon uptake in the northeastern Siberian tundra, J. Geophys. Res.-Biogeo., 116, G04013, https://doi.org/10.1029/2011JG001653, 2011.
- Pedregosa, F., Varoquaux, G., Gramfort, A., Michel, V., Thirion, B., Grisel, O., Blondel, M., Prettenhofer, P., Weiss, R., Dubourg, V., Vanderplas, J., Passos, A., Cournapeau, D., Brucher, M., Perrot, M., and Duchesnay, É.: Scikit-learn: machine learning in python, J. Mach. Learn. Res., 12, 2825–2830, 2011.
- Peichl, M., Öquist, M., Löfvenius, M. O., Ilstedt, U., Sagerfors, J., Grelle, A., Lindroth, A., and B. Nilsson, M.: A 12-year record reveals pre-growing season temperature and water table level threshold effects on the net carbon dioxide exchange in a boreal fen, Environ. Res. Lett., 9, 055006, https://doi.org/10.1088/1748-9326/9/5/055006, 2014.
- Pirk, N., Sievers, J., Mertes, J., Parmentier, F.-J. W., Mastepanov, M., and Christensen, T. R.: Spatial variability of CO₂ uptake in polygonal tundra: assessing low-frequency disturbances in eddy covariance flux estimates, Biogeosciences, 14, 3157–3169, https://doi.org/10.5194/bg-14-3157-2017, 2017.
- R Development Core Team: R: A Language and Environment for Statistical Computing, R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria, 2015.
- Reichstein, M., Moffat, A. M., Wutzler, T., and Sickel, K.: REddyProc: Data processing and plotting utilities of (half-)hourly eddy-covariance measurements, R package version 0.8-2/r14, 2016.
- Reichstein, M., Falge, E., Baldocchi, D., Papale, D., Aubinet, M., Berbigier, P., Bernhofer, C., Buchmann, N., Gilmanov, T., Granier, A., Grünwald, T., Havránková, K., Ilvesniemi, H., Janous, D., Knohl, A., Laurila, T., Lohila, A., Loustau, D., Matteucci, G., Meyers, T., Miglietta, F., Ourcival, J.-M., Pumpanen, J., Rambal, S., Rotenberg, E., Sanz, M., Tenhunen, J., Seufert, G., Vaccari, F., Vesala, T., Yakir, D., and Valentini, R.: On the separation of net ecosystem exchange into assimilation and ecosystem respiration: review and improved algorithm, Glob. Change Biol., 11, 1424–1439, https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2486.2005.001002.x, 2005.
- Reichstein, M., Papale, D., Valentini, R., Aubinet, M., Bernhofer, C., Knohl, A., Laurila, T., Lindroth, A., Moors, E., Pilegaard, K., and Seufert, G.: Determinants of terrestrial ecosystem carbon balance inferred from European eddy covariance flux sites, Geophys. Res. Lett., 34, L01402, https://doi.org/10.1029/2006GL027880, 2007.
- Richardson, A. D., Hollinger, D. Y., Aber, J. D., Ollinger, S. V., and Braswell, B. H.: Environmental variation is directly responsible for short- but not long-term variation in forestatmosphere carbon exchange, Glob. Change Biol., 13, 788–803, https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2486.2007.01330.x, 2007.

- Rocha, A. V. and Shaver, G. R.: Burn severity influences postfire CO₂ exchange in arctic tundra, Ecol. Appl., 21, 477–489, https://doi.org/10.1890/10-0255.1, 2011.
- Runkle, B. R. K., Sachs, T., Wille, C., Pfeiffer, E.-M., and Kutzbach, L.: Bulk partitioning the growing season net ecosystem exchange of CO₂ in Siberian tundra reveals the seasonality of its carbon sequestration strength, Biogeosciences, 10, 1337–1349, https://doi.org/10.5194/bg-10-1337-2013, 2013.
- Ryan, J. A. and Ulrich, J. M.: xts: eXtensible Time Series. R package version 0.9-7, 2014.
- Schuur, E. A. G., McGuire, A. D., Schadel, C., Grosse, G., Harden, J. W., Hayes, D. J., Hugelius, G., Koven, C. D., Kuhry, P., Lawrence, D. M., Natali, S. M., Olefeldt, D., Romanovsky, V. E., Schaefer, K., Turetsky, M. R., Treat, C. C., and Vonk, J. E.: Climate change and the permafrost carbon feedback, Nature, 520, 171–179, https://doi.org/10.1038/nature14338, 2015.
- Serreze, M. C. and Barry, R. G.: Processes and impacts of Arctic amplification: a research synthesis, Global Planet. Change, 77, 85–96, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gloplacha.2011.03.004, 2011.
- Shaver, G. and Kummerow, J.: Phenology, resource allocation, and growth of arctic vascular plants, in: Arctic Ecosystems in a Changing Climate: An Ecophysiological Perspective, edited by: Svoboda, J., Academic Press, New York, 1992.
- Stoy, P. C., Trowbridge, A. M., and Bauerle, W. L.: Controls on seasonal patterns of maximum ecosystem carbon uptake and canopy-scale photosynthetic light response: contributions from both temperature and photoperiod, Photosynth. Res., 119, 49–64, https://doi.org/10.1007/s11120-013-9799-0, 2014.
- Strachan, I. B., Pelletier, L., and Bonneville, M.-C.: Inter-annual variability in water table depth controls net ecosystem carbon dioxide exchange in a boreal bog, Biogeochemistry, 127, 99– 111, https://doi.org/10.1007/s10533-015-0170-8, 2015.
- Tagesson, T., Mölder, M., Mastepanov, M., Sigsgaard, C., Tamstorf, M. P., Lund, M., Falk, J. M., Lindroth, A., Christensen, T. R., and Ström, L.: Land–atmosphere exchange of methane from soil thawing to soil freezing in a high-Arctic wet tundra ecosystem, Glob. Change Biol., 18, 1928–1940, https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2486.2012.02647.x, 2012.
- Tarnocai, C., Canadell, J. G., Schuur, E. A. G., Kuhry, P., Mazhitova, G., and Zimov, S.: Soil organic carbon pools in the northern circumpolar permafrost region, Global Biogeochem. Cy., 23, GB2023, https://doi.org/10.1029/2008GB003327, 2009.
- Tjoelker, M. G., Oleksyn, J., and Reich, P. B.: Modelling respiration of vegetation: evidence for a general temperature-dependent Q10, Glob. Change Biol., 7, 223– 230, https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-2486.2001.00397.x, 2001.
- Walker, D. A., Raynolds, M. K., Daniëls, F. J. A., Einarsson, E., Elvebakk, A., Gould, W. A., Katenin, A. E., Kholod, S. S., Markon, C. J., Melnikov, E. S., Moskalenko, N. G., Talbot, S. S., Yurtsev, B. A., and the other members of the C.T.: The Circumpolar Arctic vegetation map, J. Veg. Sci., 16, 267–282, https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1654-1103.2005.tb02365.x, 2005.
- Webb, E. K., Pearman, G. I., and Leuning, R.: Correction of flux measurements for density effects due to heat and water vapour transfer, Q. J. Roy. Meteor. Soc., 106, 85–100, https://doi.org/10.1002/qj.49710644707, 1980.
- Westergaard-Nielsen, A., Lund, M., Hansen, B. U., and Tamstorf, M.: Camera derived vegetation greenness in-

Biogeosciences, 14, 4467-4483, 2017

dex as proxy for gross primary production in a low Arctic wetland area, ISPRS J. Photogramm., 86, 89–99, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.isprsjprs.2013.09.006, 2013.

- Westergaard-Nielsen, A., Lund, M., Pedersen, S. H., Schmidt, N. M., Klosterman, S., Abermann, J., and Hansen, B. U.: Transitions in high-Arctic vegetation growth patterns and ecosystem productivity from 2000– 2013 tracked with cameras, AMBIO, 46, Supplement 1, 39–52, https://doi.org/10.1007/s13280-016-0864-8, 2015.
- Williams, M., Eugster, W., Rastetter, E. B., McFadden, J. P., and Chapin Iii, F. S.: The controls on net ecosystem productivity along an Arctic transect: a model comparison with flux measurements, Glob. Change Biol., 6, 116–126, https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-2486.2000.06016.x, 2000.
- Williams, M., Schwarz, P. A., Law, B. E., Irvine, J., and Kurpius, M. R.: An improved analysis of forest carbon dynamics using data assimilation, Glob. Change Biol., 11, 89–105, https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2486.2004.00891.x, 2005.
- Wohlfahrt, G., Hammerle, A., Haslwanter, A., Bahn, M., Tappeiner, U., and Cernusca, A.: Seasonal and interannual variability of the net ecosystem CO₂ exchange of a temperate mountain grassland: effects of weather and management, J. Geophys. Res.-Atmos., 113, D08110, https://doi.org/10.1029/2007JD009286, 2008.

- Zeileis, A. and Grothendieck, G.: zoo: S3 infrastructure for regular and irregular time series, J. Stat. Softw., 14, 1–27, 2005.
- Zona, D., Lipson, D. A., Richards, J. H., Phoenix, G. K., Liljedahl, A. K., Ueyama, M., Sturtevant, C. S., and Oechel, W. C.: Delayed responses of an Arctic ecosystem to an extreme summer: impacts on net ecosystem exchange and vegetation functioning, Biogeosciences, 11, 5877–5888, https://doi.org/10.5194/bg-11-5877-2014, 2014.
- Zona, D., Gioli, B., Commane, R., Lindaas, J., Wofsy, S. C., Miller, C. E., Dinardo, S. J., Dengel, S., Sweeney, C., Karion, A., Chang, R. Y.-W., Henderson, J. M., Murphy, P. C., Goodrich, J. P., Moreaux, V., Liljedahl, A., Watts, J. D., Kimball, J. S., Lipson, D. A., and Oechel, W. C.: Cold season emissions dominate the Arctic tundra methane budget, P. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA, 113, 40–45, https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1516017113, 2016.





Supplement of

Exchange of CO_2 in Arctic tundra: impacts of meteorological variations and biological disturbance

Efrén López-Blanco (elb@bios.au.dk)

Correspondence to: Efrén López-Blanco (elb@bios.au.dk)

The copyright of individual parts of the supplement might differ from the CC BY 3.0 License.

Equations S1: Flux partitioning

The separation of NEE into its two main components (GPP and R_{eco}) was achieved applying two approaches: (1) the REddyProc partitioning tool (Reichstein et al., 2016) and (2) a light response curve (LRC) approach (Lindroth et al., 2007; Lund et al., 2012). REddyProc uses the measured night-time NEE as R_{eco} , assuming GPP close to zero. This partitioning is based on the exponential regression of night-time respiration with temperature using the Lloyd-Taylor-Function (Lloyd and Taylor, 1994):

$$R_{eco}(t) = R_{ref}(t)e^{E_0(1/(T_{ref}-T_0)-(1/(T_{air}(t)-T_0)))}$$
(1)

where $R_{ref}(\mu mol m^{-2} s^{-1})$ is the based respiration at the reference temperature (set here to 10°C), E_o (°C) is the temperature sensitivity, T_{air} (°C) is the air temperature and T_0 is kept constant at -46.02°C as in Lloyd and Taylor (1994). A combined threshold of current solar radiation and potential radiation (based on exact solar time, latitude and longitude) selects nighttime. REddyProc estimates temperature sensitivity E_0 from short-term periods, and the reference temperature R_{ref} based on this short-term temperature sensitivity for successive periods across the dataset. These estimates are then used to calculate the R_{eco} during day-time and night-time. GPP is calculated from the difference between NEE and R_{eco} .

On the other hand, LRC uses the Misterlich function (Falge et al., 2001):

 $NEE = -(F_{csat} + R_d)(1 - e^{(-\alpha(PAR)/(F_{csat} + R_d))}) + R_d$

(2)

where F_{csat} is the CO₂ uptake at light saturation (µmol m⁻² s⁻¹), R_d is dark respiration (µmol m⁻² s⁻¹), α is the initial slope of the light response curve (µmol µmol⁻¹) and PAR is the photosynthetic active radiation, (µmol m⁻² s⁻¹). NEE and PAR feeds a 6 days moving window (time step: 1 day) to estimate a set of F_{csat} , R_d and α per day (as a response to changes in vegetation characteristics). The parameterization of the LRC was considered significant when F_{csat} , R_d and α were significantly different from zero (p<0.05)(Lund et al., 2012). From the equation (2), 30 min GPP is calculated from the subtraction of R_d.

Falge, E., Baldocchi, D., Olson, R., Anthoni, P., Aubinet, M., Bernhofer, C., Burba, G., Ceulemans, R., Clement, R., Dolman, H., Granier, A., Gross, P., Grünwald, T., Hollinger, D., Jensen, N.-O., Katul, G., Keronen, P., Kowalski, A., Lai, C. T., Law, B. E., Meyers, T., Moncrieff, J., Moors, E., Munger, J. W., Pilegaard, K., Rannik, Ü., Rebmann, C., Suyker, A., Tenhunen, J., Tu, K., Verma, S., Vesala, T., Wilson, K., and Wofsy, S.: Gap filling strategies for defensible annual sums of net ecosystem exchange, Agricultural and Forest Meteorology, 107, 43-69, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0168-1923(00)00225-2</u>, 2001.

Lindroth, A., Lund, M., Nilsson, M., Aurela, M., Christensen, T. R., Laurila, T., Rinne, J., Riutta, T., Sagerfors, J., StrÖM, L., Tuovinen, J.-P., and Vesala, T.: Environmental controls on the CO2 exchange in north European mires, Tellus B, 59, 812-825, 10.1111/j.1600-0889.2007.00310.x, 2007.

Lloyd, J., and Taylor, J. A.: On the Temperature Dependence of Soil Respiration, Functional Ecology, 8, 315-323, 10.2307/2389824, 1994.

Lund, M., Falk, J. M., Friborg, T., Mbufong, H. N., Sigsgaard, C., Soegaard, H., and Tamstorf, M. P.: Trends in CO2 exchange in a high Arctic tundra heath, 2000-2010, Journal of Geophysical Research: Biogeosciences, 117, 2012.

Reichstein, M., Moffat, A. M., Wutzler, T., and Sickel, K.: REddyProc: Data processing and plotting utilities of (half-)hourly eddy-covariance measurements. R package version 0.8-2/r14. 2016.



Figure S1. Time series for temperatures (1866-2015) from Nuuk, Kobbefjord-Fen and Kobbefjord-weather station (solid yellow, red and orange line respectively); and precipitations (1931-2015) from Nuuk (dashed blue line).



Figure S2. (a) Original NEE EC data, (b) gap-filled NEE based on auto-chamber data, (c) gap-filled product combining auto-chamber data and the MDS algorithm and (d) gap-filled product using only the MDS algorithm.



Figure S3. Annual cumulative GPP and R_{eco} defined by annual temperature and precipitation anomalies (2008-2015). The flux size is categorized depending on the flux magnitude (g C m⁻²), i.e. larger diameters with greater fluxes.



Figure S4. Temperature (°C) and precipitation (mm) anomalies in June, July and August of the analysed years (2008-2015).

 Table S1. Temporal scale, time aggregation, sample size and number of random forests utilized in the Random Forest analysis.

Figure	Temporal scale	Time aggregation	Sample size	Number of random forests (per variable and per flux)
7	Hourly	Hourly	24426	1
	Daily	Daily	1006	1
	Weekly	Weekly	118	1
	Monthly	Monthly	29	1
8	Diurnal	Hourly	24426	24
	Seasonal	Hourly	24426	37
	Annual	Hourly	24426	8

Paper II

Lund, M., Raundrup, K., Westergaard-Nielsen, A., López-Blanco, E., Nymand, J., and Aastrup, P.: Larval outbreaks in West Greenland: Instant and subsequent effects on tundra ecosystem productivity and CO₂ exchange, AMBIO, 46, 26-38, 10.1007/s13280-016-0863-9, 2017.



Nuuk-Kobbefjord site, West Greenland. 2015 field season. Photo by Efrén López-Blanco



Larval outbreaks in West Greenland: Instant and subsequent effects on tundra ecosystem productivity and CO₂ exchange

Magnus Lund, Katrine Raundrup, Andreas Westergaard-Nielsen, Efrén López-Blanco, Josephine Nymand, Peter Aastrup

Abstract Insect outbreaks have important can consequences for tundra ecosystems. In this study, we synthesise available information on outbreaks of larvae of the noctuid moth Eurois occulta in Greenland. Based on an extensive dataset from a monitoring programme in Kobbefjord, West Greenland, we demonstrate effects of a larval outbreak in 2011 on vegetation productivity and CO₂ exchange. We estimate a decreased carbon (C) sink strength in the order of $118-143 \text{ g C m}^{-2}$, corresponding to 1210-1470 tonnes C at the Kobbefjord catchment scale. The decreased C sink was, however, counteracted the following years by increased primary production, probably facilitated by the larval outbreak increasing nutrient turnover rates. Furthermore, we demonstrate for the first time in tundra ecosystems, the potential for using remote sensing to detect and map insect outbreak events.

Keywords Arctic · Carbon · Disturbance · Ecosystem productivity · *Eurois occulta* · Insect outbreak

INTRODUCTION

Arctic tundra ecosystems cover ca. 8% of the global land area. Yet, the vast stocks of organic carbon (C) stored in their soils make them especially important in a climate change context (McGuire et al. 2012), since increasing temperatures may result in increased emissions of carbon dioxide (CO₂) and methane (CH₄). The occurrence of periodic disturbances, such as fires, pathogens and insect outbreaks, which to a varying temporal and spatial extent damage vegetation and affect C cycling, are also likely to change in the future (Callaghan et al. 2004; Post et al. 2009). There are, however, large gaps in our understanding of how extreme events affect ecosystem functioning and they are as such generally underrepresented in processbased ecosystem models (McGuire et al. 2012).

Insect outbreaks can have extensive consequences for ecosystem productivity and functioning in subarctic and arctic biomes (Callaghan et al. 2004; Post et al. 2009). The outbreaks may lead to local and regional canopy defoliation (Tenow and Nilssen 1990; Callaghan et al. 2004; Bjerke et al. 2014), decreased vegetation biomass (Pedersen and Post 2008; Post and Pedersen 2008), shifts in vegetation composition (Karlsen et al. 2013; Jepsen et al. 2013), decreased C uptake (Heliasz et al. 2011) as well as cascading impacts through other food web compartments (Jepsen et al. 2013). The prevalence and intensity of these disturbances are expected to increase with a warmer climate (Neuvonen et al. 1999; Callaghan et al. 2004; Chapin et al. 2004). The strong warming observed in northern high latitudes (Stocker et al. 2013) has been associated with a northward extension of outbreaks of moths and their leafdefoliating larvae in northern Fennoscandia (Post et al. 2009; Jepsen et al. 2013), likely related to enhanced survival of overwintering eggs due to warmer winters (Callaghan et al. 2004).

There are several reports of outbreaks of the autumnal moth *Epirrita autumnata* and the winter moth *Operophtera brumata* from northern Fennoscandia, occurring at roughly decadal intervals (Tenow and Nilssen 1990; Callaghan et al. 2004; Heliasz et al. 2011; Jepsen et al. 2013; Karlsen et al. 2013). The larvae of these moth species not only defoliate forests of mountain birch *Betula pubescens*, but have also been found to feed on understorey vegetation including dwarf birch *Betula nana* and bilberry *Vaccinium*

Description Springer

Electronic supplementary material The online version of this article (doi:10.1007/s13280-016-0863-9) contains supplementary material, which is available to authorized users.

myrtillus (Karlsen et al. 2013). During an extensive outbreak in the lake Torneträsk catchment in subarctic Sweden in 2004, the mountain birch forest was a much smaller C sink during the growing season compared with a reference year, most likely due to lower gross primary production (Heliasz et al. 2011). Furthermore, changes in light conditions caused by defoliation and nutrient additions from larval faeces and carcasses (Karlsen et al. 2013) may alter the conditions for plant species not directly affected by defoliation.

In Greenland, outbreaks of larvae of the noctuid moth Eurois occulta have occasionally been reported (see "Background" section). During the 2004–2005 outbreak in Kangerlussuaq, West Greenland, the above ground biomass of all plant functional groups was reduced by up to 90% as a result of intense defoliation (Post and Pedersen 2008). However, little is known about the frequency, timing and extent of the outbreaks of E. occulta in Greenland. The purpose of this study is therefore to synthesize available knowledge on E. occulta outbreaks in Greenland and their effects on ecosystem functioning and productivity. We were fortunate to document an outbreak of E. occulta larvae in 2011 in Kobbefjord, West Greenland, where an extensive monitoring programme has been ongoing since 2008. We aim to quantify the effects of the larval outbreak on the ecosystem productivity by analyses of monitoring data on land-atmosphere exchange of CO2 and vegetation greenness derived from an automatic camera setup. We study the effects of the larval outbreak over a longer time period including three years following the outbreak, allowing for an investigation of how the tundra ecosystem responds to the larval attack in subsequent years. Furthermore, we use satellite imagery to investigate possible historical outbreaks in the Kobbefjord catchment.

BACKGROUND

Eurois occulta is a noctuid moth with a holarctic distribution. In Greenland, *E. occulta* is distributed northwards to Ilulissat and Qeqertarsuaq on the west coast (Mølgaard et al. 2013) and to Skjoldungen on the east coast (Fig. 1; Karsholt et al. 2015). Adult moths fly from early July to early September when they lay their eggs under stones or in moss. They hatch in fall and survive the winter as partially grown larvae underneath the snow before developing into fully grown larvae during the following spring. At this stage, they forage on green parts of the plants. In some years, *E. occulta* larvae occur in tremendous numbers (Vibe 1971).

These outbreak events have been reported to occur as far back as the late 1400 s as documented in peat cores from Ujarassuit (Iversen 1934). Since then, a number of *E*.

occulta larvae outbreaks have been reported in Greenland (Table 1), i.e. in the Kangerlussuaq inland (Fox et al. 1987; Pedersen and Post 2008; Avery and Post 2013) and in the Nuup Kangerlua area (Iversen 1934), most recently in 2010–2011 when outbreaks occurred at both locations. *E. occulta* was also found in the Disko Bay region in 2012 (Mølgaard et al. 2013). Vibe (1971) reported that outbreaks of larvae have been observed often and must be regarded as a normal phenomenon. Although this has not been determined specifically for *E. occulta*, Vibe (1971) suggested that outbreaks in Greenland occur only under the right combinations of climatic factors, e.g. temperature, solar radiation, humidity, precipitation and wind.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Study site

This study was conducted in Kobbefjord/Kangerluarsunnguaq in low Arctic West Greenland ($64^{\circ}08'N$, $51^{\circ}23'W$, ca. 25 m a.s.l.), located ca. 20 km from Nuuk, the capital of Greenland (Fig. 1). This area is subjected to extensive monitoring and long-term research activities within the Greenland ecosystem monitoring (GEM) programme. The area is part of a valley system surrounded by mountains that reach up to ca. 1300 m a.s.l. The monitoring area covers 32 km² and is characterised by dwarf shrub heaths intersected with dry south-facing slopes and smaller fen areas. The heaths are dominated by *Salix glauca, Betula nana* and *Empetrum nigrum* (Bay et al. 2008). Long-term (1961–1990) mean annual temperature and precipitation sum for Nuuk are -1.4 °C and 750 mm, respectively (Cappelen 2012).

Monitoring data

Three terrestrial monitoring sub-programmes are operational in the Kobbefjord valley, namely BioBasis, GeoBasis and ClimateBasis (cf. Jensen and Rasch 2008); data from these programmes form the basis of this study. In 2008, an experiment was set up consisting of 18 control plots, six open-top ITEX chambers that increase temperature (cf. Henry and Molau 1997) and six plots with Hessian tents that reduce incoming light (Aastrup et al. 2015). In this study, only data from control plots were used.

Measurements of CO₂ exchange were conducted weekly to biweekly during the snow-free season 2008–2014 using the closed chamber technique. A plexiglas measuring chamber ($0.33 \times 0.33 \times 0.34$ m), equipped with a fan for air mixing and a HTR-2 probe logging photosynthetic photon flux density and air temperature, was placed on top of a fixed metal frame for three minutes and air was



Fig. 1 a Updated distribution of *Eurois occulta* in Greenland. The map is modified from Jensen (2003) and includes data points from Mølgaard et al. (2013). b Study area in Kobbefjord. The *red square* indicates the approximate location of the experimental plots. The *black line* delineates the watershed. c *E. occulta* larvae. d Adult *E. occulta* moth, photo: J. Böcher

analysed for CO₂ concentrations using an infrared gas analyser EGM4 (PP Systems, USA). The linear change in CO₂ concentration in the transparent chamber was used to calculate net ecosystem exchange (NEE), whereas a subsequent measurement in a dark chamber was used to represent ecosystem respiration (R_{eco}). Gross primary production (GPP) was calculated as the difference between light and dark measurements (GPP = NEE - R_{eco}).

All taxonomic groups of arthropods were sampled on a weekly basis at four sites located within a few hundred metres of the experimental plots, each with eight pitfall traps as specified by Aastrup et al. (2015). The traps contained ca. 200 ml water with one teaspoon of salt and two drops of detergent. The number of *E. occulta* larvae was counted at the department of Bioscience, Aarhus University, Denmark. For the purpose of this paper, samples from one site (arthropod plot 3) with vegetation composition and coverage resembling the CO_2 flux plots were included in the analyses.

Soil temperatures (ST) from a depth of 1, 5, 10 and 30 cm were measured with T107 temperature probes (Campbell Sci., UK) approximately 500 m from the

🖄 Springer

Year	Location	Latitude	Longitude	References
1490	Ameralik	64.22	-50.00	Iversen (1934)
1932	Ameralik	64.22	-50.00	Iversen (1934)
1932	Kangerlussuaq	67.03	-50.62	Iversen (1934)
1979	Kangerlussuaq	67.03	-50.62	Fox et al. (1987)
2004	Kangerlussuaq	67.03	-50.62	Pedersen and Post (2008)
2005	Kangerlussuaq	67.03	-50.62	Pedersen and Post (2008)
2010	Kangerlussuaq	67.03	-50.62	Avery and Post (2013)
2011	Kangerlussuaq	67.03	-50.62	Avery and Post (2013)
2011	Kobbefjord	64.13	-51.37	This study
2012	Ilulissat	69.25	-50.92	Mølgaard et al. (2013)
2012	Qeqertarsuaq	69.25	-53.55	Mølgaard et al. (2013)

Table 1 Reported outbreaks of Eurois occulta in Greenland

experimental plots. Incoming photosynthetic photon flux density (PPFD; Li-190SA, LICOR, USA) and air temperature (AT; Vaisala HMP 45D, Finland) were obtained from a weather station located ca. 2 km from the experimental plots. Daily imagery of the valley was derived from a HP E427 digital camera housed inside a weatherproof box. The box was mounted at 500 m above sea level in September 2009, and daily images were taken at noon local time (Westergaard-Nielsen et al. 2013).

Data analyses

The CO_2 flux measurements provide a snapshot of the CO_2 exchange at the specific time of the day when measurements were performed. In order to take diurnal variation into account and to estimate seasonal budgets, the following nonlinear equations (Saarnio et al. 2003; Lund et al. 2009) were parameterised for each year separately based on available monitoring data:

$$GPP = \frac{a \times PPFD \times ST}{b + PPFD}$$
(1)

$$R_{\rm eco} = c \times e^{d \times \rm ST} \tag{2}$$

where *a*, *b*, *c* and *d* are regression parameters. Initial tests indicated that ST at 30 cm provided best fits (highest r^2 values) for GPP (Eq. 1), whereas ST at 5 cm was most suitable for R_{eco} (Eq. 2). The time series of GPP and R_{eco} were constructed between 1 June and 31 August for each plot and year, and NEE was calculated as the sum of GPP and R_{eco} . The ST measurements were initiated on 25 July 2008 and thus, we did not estimate a seasonal budget for 2008.

The vegetation greenness at plant community level was evaluated from time series of RGB-images available from the fixed automatic camera overlooking Kobbefjord (Fig. 2).

In this study, snow cover fraction and green chromatic coordinate (GCC) were computed for the region covering the experimental plots from daily images through the snow melt and snow-free period. GCC has been used as a proxy for NDVI and ecosystem productivity in different ecosystems (cf. Toomey et al. 2015) including low Arctic tundra and wetlands (Westergaard-Nielsen et al. 2013) and can be extracted from digital cameras offering only red, green and blue colour channels. To enable a quantification of larval impact, the area around the head of Kobbefjord, as defined by the field of view of the camera (Fig. 2), was classified. An image from peak growing season (July 29, 2011) was selected for maximum separation between affected and nonaffected vegetated areas. Prior to the classification, the image was orthorectified (Corripio 2004). Since the classification was based on high spatial resolution data with only three colour channels (RGB), a nearest neighbour classification in eCognition Developer (Trimble, Inc.) was applied, based on a processing chain of (1) a multi-resolution segmentation; (2) a spectral difference segmentation; and (3) a supervised nearest neighbour classification.

Satellite data

The MOD13Q1 vegetation index (VI) product was used to assess the spatial and temporal differences of VI signals at locations with reported larvae outbreaks. The VI product is derived from the MODIS sensor on board the Terra satellite platform. MOD13Q1 is a 16-day composite at 250 m spatial resolution based on cloud-free observations and includes, e.g. normalized difference vegetation index (NDVI) and enhanced vegetation index (EVI) measurements (Huete et al. 2002). The data were pre-processed based on the quality assessment layer, to include only observations with VI quality down to bit 1000, however, no





Fig. 2 Photos from 20 July 2011 and 21 July 2012 from the fixed automatic camera in Kobbefjord. The *red square* indicates the approximate location of the experimental plots

further processing steps to adjust for possible differences in the number of observations within each composite were taken.

The impact of larval outbreaks was examined using a window of 3×3 satellite pixels, with the centre pixel

covering the geographical coordinates of reported outbreaks (for Kobbefjord, we used the location of the experimental plots, whereas for Kangerlussuaq, we used the coordinates for site 1 in Young et al. 2016). Timeintegrated NDVI and EVI, which have been found to

D Springer
correlate significantly with the aboveground phytomass in the Arctic (Westergaard-Nielsen et al. 2015), were calculated using five 16-day composites during DOY 177–241 in each year. Values below 0.2 and 0.1 for NDVI and EVI, respectively, were considered erroneous and replaced by linear interpolation. This was done for Kobbefjord NDVI and EVI on DOY 193, 2004; DOY 209, 2012 and DOY 241, 2013. No values were below the thresholds for Kangerlussuaq.

RESULTS

The study years (2008–2014) were generally warmer and wetter (Table 2) than the long-term mean (see "Study site" section). The year 2010 had the highest mean annual temperature (3.4°C), mainly due to unusually high temperatures in the winter months (mean temperature for January, February and December = -1.6° C). In the summer months (June–August), mean temperatures ranged between 8.3°C (2011) and 10.5°C (2012) for all years. Snow cover varied considerably in time and space during the study period. In 2010, there was only a thin snow pack that disappeared early, whereas in 2011, maximum daily snow depth reached 1.36 m and in the experimental CO₂ flux plots, snow did not disappear until 12 June.

Larvae of the noctuid moth *E. occulta* were observed in the Kobbefjord area mainly in 2010 and 2011. The number of larvae caught in pitfall traps in 2010 was modest with 31 larvae caught during the entire season. Numbers peaked in 2011 with more than 1800 larvae caught in July, thus representing an outbreak (Fig. 3). The dwarf shrub vegetation in the experimental CO₂ flux plots was almost completely defoliated (Fig. 4). The amount of *Salix glauca* catkins was low in 2010 and non-existent in 2011, as a result of larvae feeding on the plants. Also, in 2012, when no larvae were encountered, no buds were developed.



Fig. 3 Number of *Eurois occulta* larvae in arthropod plot 3 in June, July and August (J, J, A) 2008–2014

However, in the following years, the number of catkins was much higher compared with 2008–2012 (e.g. the *Salix* plants in plot 4 in Fig. 3 had 28, 21, 3, 0, 0, 143 and 73 female catkins in July 2008–2014, respectively).

The CO₂ exchange measurements showed a distinct decrease in measured fluxes in the main outbreak year (2011) compared with the other years (Fig. 5), with lower amplitude of instantaneous NEE, R_{eco} and GPP. There was also an apparent delay in the onset of net CO₂ uptake during 2011. However, the fluxes were higher in the years following the outbreak compared with earlier years. Based on the flux measurements and ancillary information on ST and PPFD, we parameterised Eqs. 1 and 2 separately for each year (2009–2014; Table S1). However, for the outbreak year of 2011, Eq. 1 could not be fitted with the data because the larvae damaged the vegetation and severely postponed the development of the photosynthetic apparatus, which in other years correlated with the progress in ST. As an alternative, we used the green chromatic coordinate

Table 2 Meteorological characteristics during the study period in Kobbefjord including snow characteristics (Max depth, m; DOY of melt in the CO₂ flux plots, day of year), annual means (AT, air temperature, °C at 2 m; Precipitation, mm) and summer means from June, July and August (AT; Precip; PPFD, photosynthetic photon flux density, μ mol m⁻² s⁻¹)

Year	Snow characteris	tics	Annual val	ues	Summer (JJA) values		
	Max. Depth	DOY of melt	AT	Precip	AT	Precip	PPFD
2008	n/a	n/a	-0.7	1127	9.2	140	435
2009	0.91	154	-0.6	838	8.8	135	410
2010	0.33	118	3.4	905	10.4	314	364
2011	1.36	163	-1.6	n/a	8.3	193	356
2012	1.02	152	0.5	n/a	10.5	254	373
2013	0.53	149	0.2	1046	8.4	230	377
2014	1.1	153	-0.1	709	9.0	208	391



Fig. 4 Yearly photos (2008–2014) from one of the experimental plots (plot 4C) in Kobbefjord. All photos were taken between DOY 203 and 208

D Springer

(GCC) as a replacement for ST in Eq. 1, to be able to estimate a C budget in 2011 (Table S1).

As for the June–August budgets (Table 3), there were significant between-year differences in all flux components (ANOVA for GPP: F = 9.4, p < 0.001; R_{eco} : F = 32.3, p < 0.001; NEE: F = 6.3, p < 0.001). Year 2011, the main larval outbreak year, had the lowest (i.e. least negative) and a C sink close GPP sums to zero (NEE = $7 \pm 16 \text{ g C m}^{-2}$). However, the years following the outbreak (2012-2014) had higher (i.e. more negative) GPP sums and stronger C sink strengths compared with the years preceding the outbreak (2009–2010).

In order to estimate the C exchange in 2011, had there not been a larval outbreak, we used the parameterisations (Eqs. 1 and 2) from other years (2009, 2010, 2012–2014) with meteorological data (PPFD and ST) from 2011 (Table 4). The parameters in Eqs. 1 and 2 regulate the

sensitivity of ecosystem photosynthesis and respiration to variations in PPFD and ST, and using meteorological data from 2011, we can assess the C budget assuming that the same sensitivity can be applied to 2011. Compared with the estimated flux component budgets in 2011 (Table 3), parameterisations from other years consistently provide higher (i.e. more negative) GPP sums and stronger C sink strengths (more negative NEE).

The green chromatic coordinate (GCC) for the area of the experimental plots (indicated by the red square in Fig. 2) was lower in 2011 compared with 2010 and 2012–2014 (Fig. S1). A time integration of GCC from the end of snow melt until the end of growing season suggests a 16% decrease in greenness in 2011 compared with the 2010–2014 average. The camera-based classification of the field of view of the camera in 2011 (Fig. 2) resulted in five separable ecosystem classes with an overall accuracy of



Fig. 5 Instantaneous, daytime flux measurements of net ecosystem exchange (NEE) and ecosystem respiration (R_{eco}) in the Kobbefjord experimental plots 2008–2014. Gross primary production (GPP) was calculated as the difference between NEE and R_{eco}

Table 3 Mean \pm standard error (spatial replication) of measured transparent (net ecosystem exchange, NEE) and dark (ecosystem respiration, R_{eco}) fluxes and estimated budgets of gross primary production (GPP), R_{eco} and NEE during June–August 2008–2014 in Kobbefjord. Superscript letters for the budgets columns, derived from a Tukey's HSD multiple comparison, indicate significant differences among years. Numbers in parentheses reflect sample size (i.e. number of plots)

Year	Measurements (mg C	$CO_2 m^{-2} h^{-1}$)	Budgets (g C m ⁻²)					
	NEE	R _{eco}	GPP	R _{eco}	NEE			
2008	-358 ± 81	262 ± 12	- ± -	- ± -	- ± -			
2009	-497 ± 88	216 ± 13	-252 ± 39^{abc} (14)	$100 \pm 5^{\rm a}$ (16)	-150 ± 40^{abc} (12)			
2010	-496 ± 77	288 ± 14	-244 ± 21^{ab} (18)	$150 \pm 7^{\rm b}$ (18)	-94 ± 17^{ab} (18)			
2011	-86 ± 32	236 ± 9	-104 ± 14^{a} (10)	$110 \pm 3^{\rm a}$ (17)	7 ± 16^{a} (10)			
2012	-1023 ± 143	406 ± 21	-399 ± 49^{bcd} (13)	$200 \pm 10^{\text{ cd}}$ (18)	$-216 \pm 44^{\rm bc}$ (13)			
2013	-1164 ± 178	425 ± 27	-424 ± 44 ^{cd} (18)	$182 \pm 10^{\rm bc}$ (18)	$-242 \pm 37^{\rm bc}$ (18)			
2014	-1119 ± 160	479 ± 28	-505 ± 65^{d} (18)	231 ± 13^{d} (18)	$-274 \pm 54^{\rm c}$ (18)			

© The Author(s) 2017. This article is published with open access at Springerlink.com www.kva.se/en

\$33

Table 4 Estimated flux components (GPP; gross primary production, R_{eco} ; ecosystem respiration, NEE; net ecosystem exchange, g C m⁻²) in 2011 using meteorological data (photosynthetic photon flux density, PPFD and soil temperature, ST) from 2011 and parameterisations of Eqs. 1 and 2 from other years (2009, 2010, 2012–2014)

Year	GPP	R _{eco}	NEE
2009	-196 ± 31	84 ± 5	-111 ± 31
2010	-180 ± 16	119 ± 6	-61 ± 12
2012	-280 ± 34	158 ± 10	-136 ± 30
2013	-366 ± 37	170 ± 10	-196 ± 31
2014	-430 ± 57	205 ± 12	-226 ± 46

94% (Table S2); bedrock, non-attacked heath, larvae-attacked heath, fen and water (Table 5). The classification covered a total area of 2.58 km^2 , and we estimated that 0.83 km^2 consisted of heath damaged by larvae; corresponding to 32% of the area covered by the camera (Fig. 2) or 59% of the total heath area.

Time-integrated NDVI and EVI showed a marked decrease in 2011 in Kobbefjord (Fig. 6). Local minima were also observed in 2004 and 2005. Similarly, there were low values of NDVI and EVI for the area close to Kangerlussuaq for years with reported outbreaks, 2004–2005 and 2010–2011 (Table 1); however, the between-year variation was higher for this site with low time-integrated EVI and NDVI also in 2000 and 2003.

DISCUSSION

The outbreak of the noctuid moth *E. occulta* in Kobbefjord in 2011 had a strong and extensive impact on the vegetation. The production of leaves, buds and catkins or flowers in all species monitored in the area was heavily impacted and the vegetation reproduction was seriously reduced (Bay et al. 2012). Also, in the year following the outbreak, 2012, the total catkin and flower production was low (Bay et al. 2013), indicating that the plants focused their resources on establishing new leaves; a compensatory growth as a response to herbivory (McNaughton 1983). The excess energy stored in 2012 from not producing catkins resulted in a record amount of catkins in 2013 (e.g. Fig. 4).

The larvae did not forage upon leaves from all plant species, e.g. *Empetrum nigrum* was generally left untouched,

although larvae feeding on *E. nigrum* flowers were observed in the field. *E. nigrum* is generally unpalatable to herbivores and not directly defoliated during moth outbreaks (Jepsen et al. 2013; Karlsen et al. 2013); however, previous studies have discussed the possibility that starving larvae attempt to eat their leaves making them more susceptible for desiccation or infection (Jepsen et al. 2013; Karlsen et al. 2013; Olofsson et al. 2013). Plot-scale NDVI measurements showed that *E. nigrum* was notably less green in 2011 than in other years (Olsen et al. 2014), which could thus be explained by the larval outbreak. However, other adverse effects such as frost damage (Bjerke et al. 2014) during early winter 2010/2011 cannot be excluded.

In the following years, E. nigrum was greener than in previous years, also before the outbreak (Olsen et al. 2014). This pertained to all plant species as seen by generally higher NDVI values measured after the outbreak; an indication of good health, which may stem from higher levels of nutrients made available for the plants from decomposed larvae. Arctic tundra vegetation is generally nutrient limited (cf. Chapin and Shaver 1985) and larvae faeces and carcasses can provide a nutrient pulse to the system (Kagata and Ohgushi 2012). Also, reduced plant nutrient uptake during 2011, as a consequence of reduced growth, may have resulted in excess nutrient availability in the following years. Post and Pedersen (2008) report a fourfold increase in nitrogen (N) concentration in leaf tissues of S. glauca and B. nana at the peak of the larval outbreak in Kangerlussuaq (Table 1) along with a rapid biomass recovery following the outbreak.

There was a marked decrease in CO_2 fluxes in 2011, both in terms of instantaneous, measured fluxes (Fig. 5)

Table 5 Area coverage from camera-based classification in Kobbefjord 2011

Class	Total area coverage (km ²)	Fraction of classified area	Number of segments	Average area per segment (m^2)
Chubb	Total alou covorage (kiii)	Theorem of chassined area	rumber of segments	Attenuge area per segment (m)
Bedrock	0.30	0.12	629	483
Non-attacked heath	0.57	0.22	298	1900
Attacked heath	0.83	0.32	694	1192
Fen	0.01	0.004	24	599
Water	0.87	0.34	89	9720

🖄 Springer



Fig. 6 Time-integrated (DOY 177-241) normalized difference vegetation index (NDVI) and enhanced vegetation index (EVI) for Kobbefjord and Kangerlussuaq (Site 1 in Young et al. 2016), respectively, derived from the MODIS sensor

and estimated summertime budgets (Table 3). Net ecosystem exchange was close to zero during June–August in 2011 (Table 3), indicating that the heath ecosystem, represented by the experimental plots, did not accumulate C during this period. The reduction in CO_2 accumulation during 2011 was caused by a significant decrease in GPP to less than half of that in other years (Table 3). However, fluxes were higher in the years following the outbreak, again indicating a rapid ecosystem recovery after the larvae attack. The increase in GPP in 2012–2014 may be explained by an increase in nutrient availability due to the larval outbreak, as discussed above, favouring vegetation growth in subsequent years.

The rapid regrowth and the increase in primary productivity indicate that the tundra ecosystem may not be as vulnerable as anticipated with respect to these outbreaks. The ecosystem may have developed a high degree of resiliency as a response to outbreak events occurring at certain intervals. Our findings, that the years following the outbreak (2012–2014) had higher GPP and stronger C sink strengths compared with the years preceding the outbreak (2009–2010), correspond to the strong biomass recovery observed in Kangerlussuaq following a larval outbreak (Post and Pedersen 2008). This indicates that the effects of outbreaks may be counterbalanced by increased primary production in the following years. Further, the larvae appear to play a significant role by influencing nutrient dynamics and accelerating N turnover.

By using the parameterisations from other years, we estimated what the CO₂ exchange in 2011 would have been in the absence of the larval outbreak (Table 4). This approach takes inter-annual variation in meteorological characteristics into account, e.g. the impact of long-lasting snow cover in 2011 is included in these estimates. Parameters from all other years resulted in higher (i.e. more negative) GPP and stronger C sink strength, whereas the effect on R_{eco} was less consistent. The parameters from 2010 resulted in lower (less negative) GPP sum and weaker C sink strength compared with other years, which can be associated with the modest number of moth larvae affecting ecosystem productivity also in 2010 (Fig. 3). The parameters from 2013 and 2014 resulted in high GPP sums and strong C sink strengths, indicating a strong recovery from the larval attack and a potential switch to a more productive state as discussed above. As such, when assessing the effect of the larvae on vegetation productivity and C budget in 2011, it seems most reasonable to use parameters from 2009 and 2012. Although a simplification, it results in a decrease in C sink strength in the order of 118 to 143 g C m⁻², with an associated uncertainty (combined standard error from the spatial replication) of approximately \pm 47 g C m⁻². Scaling to the field of view of the camera (Fig. 2), taking the whole area of attacked heath into account (Table 5), results in a C loss of 98–119 tonnes C. However, the camera covers <10% of the entire Kobbefjord catchment (2.58 out of 32 km²) so the catchment scale C loss may be one order of magnitude larger (approximately 1210–1470 tonnes C). This approximation can be compared with a study in northern Sweden by Heliasz et al. (2011), who estimated a C loss of 29 000 tonnes C for a mountain birch forest area of 316 km² exposed to an outbreak of larvae in 2004 of the autumnal moth *E. autumnata*.

We demonstrate the potential for using satellite imagery to detect and map insect outbreaks in West Greenland. To our knowledge, this is the first time satellite data have been used to observe effects of insect outbreaks in tundra ecosystems. Both NDVI and EVI show a clear decrease in time-integrated values during 2011 in Kobbefjord, with a decrease of 15 and 26%, respectively, compared with the 2000-2014 mean (Fig. 6). A decrease of 16% in time-integrated GCC in 2011 matches this range. These estimates also match a 16-27% decrease in peak NDVI in 2012 in northern Fennoscandia during a moth larvae outbreak, compared with a 2000-2011 average (Bjerke et al. 2014). The outbreaks in Kangerlussuaq in 2004-2005 and 2010–2011 (Pedersen and Post 2008; Avery and Post 2013; Table 1) are also visible through low values of time-integrated indices (Fig. 6); however, the picture is less clear for this site with low values also in other years.

It might be suggested that outbreaks of *E. occulta* in West Greenland occur in synchrony since the satellite data indicate low NDVI and EVI in Kobbefjord also in 2004; a year with documented outbreak in Kangerlussuaq (Pedersen and Post 2008). However, as the current study is limited to the near vicinity of field investigations in the respective site, impacts on a larger scale can only be speculated upon. Nevertheless, spatial synchrony in outbreak events indicates that climatic variations play a key role in triggering outbreak events (Klemola et al. 2006; Young et al. 2014). Outbreaks of Epirrita autumnata and Operophtera brumata in northern Fennoscandia have been associated with reduced egg mortality during warm winters (Tenow and Nilssen 1990; Callaghan et al. 2004; Chapin et al. 2004; Young et al. 2014) as well as with decreased parasitoid and predator activity because of low spring and summer temperatures (Virtanen and Neuvonen 1999; Callaghan et al. 2004). However, other studies have found a positive relationship between moth outbreaks and spring and summer temperatures (Klemola et al. 2003; Young et al. 2014). In our study in Kobbefjord, the winters (December-February) of 2009/2010 and 2010/2011 were indeed the warmest on record with mean temperatures of -2.7 and -4.5 °C, respectively, compared

with a 2008–2014 mean of -6.7 °C (Table 2). Also, the summer of 2011 was relatively cold. It is also worth mentioning the importance of snow, which plays a key role in regulating Arctic ecosystem functioning (cf. Callaghan et al. 2012). There was a thick and long-lasting snow pack in the winter 2010/2011 in Kobbefjord (Table 2), which insulated and protected overwintering *E. occulta* larvae from low winter temperatures. In line with this argumentation, it can be noticed that heath vegetation on mountain slopes does not appear to be affected by the larvae (Fig. 2); these areas are generally colder and covered by less snow than the lowlands.

CONCLUSIONS

Our results indicate a marked decline in summertime C uptake during an outbreak of the larvae of *E. occulta* in 2011 in Kobbefjord. However, the years following the outbreak (2012–2014) were characterised by stronger C uptake compared with the years preceding the outbreak. This indicates that the ecosystem is well adapted to these outbreaks and that they presumably occur at certain intervals if a number of environmental conditions are fulfilled. As a consequence of the outbreaks, nutrient turnover rates increase and growth is favoured in subsequent years. As such, the outbreaks may facilitate ecosystem rejuvenation (Tenow et al. 2004).

Future studies should focus on developing tools based on remote sensing products such as the vegetation indices used here for mapping larval outbreak events in West Greenland. A spatially distributed dataset of outbreak events, as opposed to occasional observations, would be highly useful for comparisons with gridded climate data. However, satellite data can only provide landscape scale information on net effects. There is thus an urgent need to continue and expand upon in situ environmental monitoring efforts in the Arctic, in order to improve upon the process-based understanding of how climate change and associated changes in extreme events such as insect outbreaks may affect tundra ecosystem functioning and dynamics. Predicting extreme events, e.g. larval outbreaks, is difficult so in order to capture the events continuous, long-term monitoring programmes are required.

Acknowledgements Data for this study were provided by the Greenland Ecosystem Monitoring Programme. A special thanks to Maia Olsen and other BioBasis' field assistants for their support in the field. This work was supported by the Danish Energy Agency, Danish Environmental Protection Agency and Nordic Center of Excellence eSTICC (eScience Tools for Investigating Climate Change in northern high latitudes) funded by Nordforsk (Grant 57001).

Open Access This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted

Deringer

use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided you give appropriate credit to the original author(s) and the source, provide a link to the Creative Commons license, and indicate if changes were made.

REFERENCES

- Aastrup, P., J. Nymand, K. Raundrup, M. Olsen, T.L. Lauridsen, P.H. Krogh, N.M. Schmidt, L. Illeris, et al. 2015. Conceptual design and sampling procedures of the biological programme of NuukBasic. 2nd edition. Aarhus University: DCE—Danish Centre for Environment and Energy.
- Avery, M., and E. Post. 2013. Record of a Zoophthora sp. (Entomophthoromycota: Entomophthorales) pathogen of the irruptive noctuid moth Eurois occulta (Lepidoptera) in West Greenland. Journal of Invertebrate Pathology 114: 292–294.
- Bay, C., P. Aastrup, and J. Nymand. 2008. The NERO line. A vegetation transect in Kobbefjord, West Greenland. Aarhus University: National Environmental Research Institute.
- Bay, C., K. Raundrup, J. Nymand, P. Aastrup, P.H. Krogh, T.L. Lauridsen, L.S. Johansson, M. Lund, et al. 2012. Nuuk Basic: The BioBasis programme. In *Nuuk Ecological Research Operations, 5th Annual Report*, ed. Jensen, L.M. 33–46. Aarhus University: DCE—Danish Centre for Environment and Energy.
- Bay, C., J. Nymand, P. Aastrup, K. Raundrup, P.H. Krogh, T.L. Lauridsen, M. Lund, K. Albert et al. 2013. Nuuk Basic: The BioBasis programme. In *Nuuk ecological research operations*, 6th Annual Report, ed. Jensen, L.M. and M. Rasch, 33–46. Aarhus University: DCE—Danish Centre for Environment and Energy.
- Bjerke, J.W., S.R. Karlsen, K.A. Høgda, E. Malnes, J.U. Jepsen, S. Lovibond, D. Vikhamar-Schuler, and H. Tømmervik. 2014. Record-low primary productivity and high plant damage in the Nordic Arctic Region in 2012 caused by multiple weather events and pest outbreaks. *Environmental Research Letters*. doi:10. 1088/1748-9326/9/8/084006.
- Callaghan, T.V., L.O. Björn, Y. Chernov, T. Chapin, T.R. Christensen, B. Huntley, R.A. Ims, M. Johansson, et al. 2004. Effects on the structure of arctic ecosystems in the short- and long-term perspectives. *Ambio* 33: 436–447.
- Callaghan, T.V., M. Johansson, R.D. Brown, P.Y. Groisman, N. Labba, V. Radionov, R.S. Bradley, S. Blangy, et al. 2012. Multiple effects of changes in arctic snow cover. *Ambio* 40: 32–45.
- Cappelen J., P.R. Wang, M. Scharling, R.S. Thomsen, L. Boas, K. Vilic and Stendel M. 2012. Danmarks klima 2011 med Tórshavn, Færøerne og Nuuk, Grønland. Teknisk rapport 12-01. Copenhagen: Danish Meteorological Institute (in Danish, English summary).
- Chapin, F.S., and G.R. Shaver. 1985. Individualistic growth-response of tundra plant species to environmental manipulations in the field. *Ecology* 66: 564–576.
- Chapin, F.S., T.V. Callaghan, Y. Bergeron, M. Fukuda, J.F. Johnstone, G. Juday, and S.A. Zimov. 2004. Global change and the boreal forest: Thresholds, shifting states or gradual change? *Ambio* 33: 361–365.
- Corripio, J.G. 2004. Snow surface albedo estimation using terrestrial photography. *International Journal of Remote Sensing* 25: 5705–5729.
- Fox, A.D., I.S. Francis, J. Madsen, and J.M. Stroud. 1987. The breeding biology of the Lapland bunting *Calcarius lapponicus* in West Greenland during two contrasting years. *Ibis* 129: 541–552.
- Heliasz, M., T. Johansson, A. Lindroth, M. Mölder, M. Mastepanov, T. Friborg, T.V. Callaghan, and T.R. Christensen. 2011.

Quantification of C uptake in subarctic birch forest after setback by an extreme insect outbreak. *Geophysical Research Letters* 38: L01704. doi:10.1029/2010GL044733.

- Henry, G.H.R., and U. Molau. 1997. Tundra plants and climate change: the International Tundra Experiment (ITEX). *Global Change Biology* 3 (Suppl. 1): 1–9.
- Huete, A., K. Didan, T. Miura, E.P. Rodriguez, X. Gao, and L.G. Ferreira. 2002. Overview of the radiometric and biophysical performance of the MODIS vegetation indices. *Remote Sensing* of Environment 83: 195–213.
- Iversen, J. 1934. Moorgeologische untersuchungen auf Grönland. Meddelelser fra Dansk Geologisk Forening 8: 341–358. (In German).
- Jensen, D.B. 2003. Thebiodiversity of Greenland a country study. Technical Report No. 55. Nuuk: Pinngortitaleriffik, Grønlands Naturinstitut.
- Jensen, L.M., and M. Rasch. 2008. Nuuk ecological research operations, 1st Annual Report, 2007. Copenhagen: Danish Polar Centre.
- Jepsen, J.U., M. Biuw, R.A. Ims, L. Kapari, T. Schott, O.P.L. Vindstad, and S.B. Hagen. 2013. Ecosystem impacts of a range expanding forest defoliator at the forest-tundra ecotone. *Ecosys*tems 16: 561–575.
- Kagata, H., and T. Ohgushi. 2012. Positive and negative impacts of insect frass quality on soil nitrogen availability and plant growth. *Population Ecology* 54: 75–82.
- Karlsen, S.R., J.U. Jepsen, A. Odland, R.A. Ims, and A. Elvebakk. 2013. Outbreaks by canopy-feeding geometrid moth cause statedependent shifts in understorey plant communities. *Oecologia* 173: 859–870.
- Karsholt, O., N.P. Kristensen, T.J. Simonsen, and M. Ahola. 2015. Lepidoptera (Moths and butterflies). In *The Greenland entomofauna: An identification manual of insects, spiders and their allies*, ed. J. Böcher, N.P. Kristensen, T. Pape, and L. Vilhelmsen, 302–352. Leiden: Brill.
- Klemola, T., S. Hanhimäki, K. Ruohomäki, J. Senn, M. Tanhuanpää, P. Kaitaniemi, H. Ranta, and E. Haukioja. 2003. Performance of the cyclic autumnal moth, *Epirrita autumnata*, in relation to birch mast seedling. *Oecologia* 135: 354–361.
- Klemola, T., O. Huitu, and K. Ruohomäki. 2006. Geographically partitioned spatial synchrony among cyclic moth populations. *Oikos* 114: 349–359.
- Lund, M., T.R. Christensen, M. Mastepanov, A. Lindroth, and L. Ström. 2009. Effects of N and P fertilization on the greenhouse gas exchange in two northern peatlands with contrasting N deposition rates. *Biogeosciences* 6: 2135–2144.
- McGuire, A.D., T.R. Christensen, D. Hayes, A. Heroult, E. Euskirchen, J.S. Kimball, C. Koven, P. Lafleur, et al. 2012. An assessment of the carbon balance of Arctic tundra: Comparisons among observations, process models, and atmospheric inversions. *Biogeosciences* 9: 3185–3204. doi:10.5194/bg-9-3185-2012.
- McNaughton, S.J. 1983. Compensatory plant growth as a response to herbivory. Oikos 40: 329–336.
- Mølgaard, P., K. Christensen, M.S. Vöge, G.B. Christensen, and K.V. Ommundsen. 2013. Confirm the presence of *Eurois occulta* larvae on Disko. In Arctic Station—Annual Report 2013, 25–26, ed. T.W. Perlt, and K. Christoffersen. Copenhagen: Faculty of Science, University of Copenhagen.
- Neuvonen, S., P. Niemelä, and T. Virtanen. 1999. Climatic change and insect outbreaks in boreal forests: The role of winter temperatures. *Ecological Bulletins* 47: 63–67.
- Olsen, M., J. Nymand, K. Raundrup, P. Aastrup, P.H. Krogh, T.L. Lauridsen, M. Lund and K. Albert. 2014. Nuuk Basic: The BioBasis programme. In *Nuuk Ecological Research Operations*, 7th Annual Report, ed. Jensen, L.M. and T.R. Christensen,

34-45. Aarhus University: DCE—Danish Centre for Environment and Energy.

- Olofsson, J., M. te Beest, and L. Ericson. 2013. Complex biotic interactions drive long-term vegetation dynamics in a subarctic ecosystem. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society Series B* 368: 20120486.
- Pedersen, C., and E. Post. 2008. Interactions between herbivory and warming in aboveground biomass production of arctic vegetation. *BMC Ecology* 8: 17. doi:10.1186/1472-6785-1188-1117.
- Post, E., and C. Pedersen. 2008. Opposing plant community responses to warming with and without herbivores. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Science of the United States of America* 105: 12353–12358.
- Post, E., M.C. Forchammer, M.S. Bret-Harte, T.V. Callaghan, T.R. Christensen, B. Elberling, A.D. Fox, O. Gilg, et al. 2009. Ecological dynamics across the Arctic associated with recent climate change. *Science* 325: 1355–1358.
- Saarnio, S., S. Järviö, T. Saarinen, H. Vasander, and J. Silvola. 2003. Minor changes in vegetation and carbon gas balance in a boreal mire under a raised CO₂ or NH₄NO₃ supply. *Ecosystems* 6: 500–511.
- Stocker, T.F., D. Qin, G.-K. Plattner, M. Tignor, S.K. Allen, J. Boschung, A. Nauels, Y. Xia, et al. 2013. *Climate change 2013: The physical science basis*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Tenow, O., and A.C. Nilssen. 1990. Egg cold hardiness and topoclimatic limitations to outbreaks of *Epirrita autumnata* in northern Fennoscandia. *Journal of Applied Ecology* 27: 723–734.
- Tenow, O., H. Bylund, P.S. Karsson, and J. Hoogesteger. 2004. Rejuvenation of a mountain birch forest by an Epirrita autumnata (Lepidoptera: Geometridae) outbreak. *Acta Oecologia* 25: 43–52. doi:10.1016/j.actao.2003.10.006.
- Toomey, M., M.A. Friedl, S. Frolking, K. Hufkens, S. Klosterman, O. Sonnentag, D.D. Baldocchi, et al. 2015. Greenness indices from digital cameras predict the timing and seasonal dynamics of canopy-scale photosynthesis. *Ecological Applications* 25: 99–115.
- Vibe, C. 1971. Lavere dyr i Grønland [Smaller animals in Greenland]. In *Danmarks Natur*, ed. T.W. Böcher, C.O. Nielsen, and A. Schou, 444–452. Copenhagen: Politikens Forlag. (in Danish).
- Virtanen, T., and S. Neuvonen. 1999. Performance of moth larvae on birch in relation to altitude, climate, host quality and parasitoids. *Oecologia* 120: 92–101.
- Westergaard-Nielsen, A., M. Lund, B.U. Hansen, and M.P. Tamstorf. 2013. Camera derived vegetation greenness index as proxy for gross primary production in a low Arctic wetland area. *ISPRS Journal of Photogrammetry and Remote Sensing* 86: 89–99.
- Westergaard-Nielsen, A., A.B. Bjørnsson, M.R. Jepsen, M. Stendel, B.U. Hansen, and B. Elberling. 2015. Greenlandic sheep farming controlled by vegetation response today and at the end of the 21st Century. *Science of the Total Environment* 512: 672–681.
- Young, A.B., D.M. Cairns, C.W. Lafon, and J. Moen. 2014. Geometrid moth outbreaks and their climatic relations in northern Sweden. *Arctic, Antarctic, and Alpine Research* 46: 659–668.
- Young, A.B., D.A. Watts, A.H. Taylor, and E. Post. 2016. Species and site differences influence climate-shrub growth responses in West Greenland. *Dendrochronologia* 37: 69–78.

AUTHOR BIOGRAPHIES

Magnus Lund (\boxtimes) is a Senior Researcher at the Department of Bioscience, Aarhus University. His research is focused on the exchange of carbon, energy, water and nutrients in northern high

latitude ecosystems across a variety of scales in time and space. He is also manager for the GeoBasis monitoring programme at Zackenberg Research Station, NE Greenland.

Address: Department of Bioscience, Arctic Research Centre, Aarhus University, Frederiksborgvej 399, 4000 Roskilde, Denmark. e-mail: ml@bios.au.dk

Katrine Raundrup is a PhD Student/Researcher at the Greenland Institute of Natural Resources. Her main research interests include various aspects of Arctic terrestrial mammal ecology, and she is involved with the BioBasis monitoring work in Nuuk, Greenland. *Address:* Greenland Institute of Natural Resources, Kivioq 2, P.O. Box 570, 3900 Nuuk, Greenland.

e-mail: kara@natur.gl

Andreas Westergaard-Nielsen is an Assistant Professor at CEN-PERM, Department of Geosciences and Natural Resource Management at the University of Copenhagen. His main research interests are remote sensing and scaling of Arctic ecosystem processes and analyses of spatiotemporal variations of and drivers for climatic changes in the Arctic region. He has been directly involved in GEM for several years with a main involvement in the GeoBasis monitoring programme.

Address: Department of Geosciences and Natural Resource Management, Center for Permafrost (CENPERM), University of Copenhagen, Oestervoldgade 10, 1350 Copenhagen, Denmark. e-mail: awn@ign.ku.dk

Efrén López-Blanco is a PhD Student at the Department of Biosciences, Aarhus University and School of GeoSciences, University of Edinburgh. His research is focused on carbon exchange balances and their link with biological processes in the Arctic with a specific focus on combining measurements and modelling. He is involved in the GeoBasis monitoring programme at Kobbefjord, Nuuk.

Address: Department of Bioscience, Arctic Research Centre, Aarhus University, Frederiksborgvej 399, 4000 Roskilde, Denmark. e-mail: elb@bios.au.dk

Josephine Nymand is a Scientist and Head of the Department of Environment and Mineral Resources at the Greenland Institute of Natural Resources. Her research interests include terrestrial wildlife biology and has focused on monitoring of Arctic species of plants and animals. Josephine is responsible for the BioBasis monitoring programme at Kobbefjord Research Station, West Greenland.

Address: Greenland Institute of Natural Resources, Kivioq 2, P.O. Box 570, 3900 Nuuk, Greenland.

e-mail: jony@natur.gl

Peter Aastrup is a Senior Advisor and Head of the section for Arctic Environment, Department of Bioscience, Aarhus University. He is Coordinator of DCE's environmental advisory to the Greenland Government in relation to mineral activities in Greenland. His research focus has been muskoxen and caribou and their distribution and relation to range and habitats. He also has long experience on monitoring climate effects in the arctic environment.

Address: Department of Bioscience, Arctic Research Centre, Aarhus University, Frederiksborgvej 399, 4000 Roskilde, Denmark. e-mail: paa@bios.au.dk

Deringer

Ambio

Electronic Supplementary Materials This supplementary material has not been peer reviewed.

Title: Larval outbreaks in West Greenland: instant and subsequent effects on tundra ecosystem productivity and CO₂ exchange

Authors: Magnus Lund, Katrine Raundrup, Andreas Westergaard-Nielsen, Efrén López Blanco, Josephine Nymand, Peter Aastrup



Fig. S1. The green chromatic coordinate (GCC) during June-August (DOY 152-243) in 2010-2014 for the area of the experimental plots (indicated by the red square in Fig. 2), derived from the fixed automatic camera.

Table S1. Estimated parameters from eq. 1 and eq. 2 used to construct time series of gross primary
production (GPP) and ecosystem respiration (R_{eco}) for the experimental plots in Kobbefjord. Note that in
2011, the green chromatic coordinate (GCC) were used instead of soil temperature (ST) in eq. 1.

Year	Plot no.	GPP	GPP parameterization (eq. 1)			Re	R _{eco} parameterization (eq. 2)				
		а	b	r2	RMSE	n	С	d	r2	RMSE	n
2009	1	-145	310	0.86	146	15	65	0.10	0.53	55	15
	2	-183	192	0.76	287	14	54	0.11	0.40	75	14
	3	-63	260	0.31	123	13	17	0.20	0.66	61	13
	4	-	-	-	-	-	7	0.30	0.93	65	13
	5	-	-	-	-	-	53	0.12	0.53	76	14
	6	-143	33	0.59	371	14	53	0.14	0.54	108	14
	7	-62	391	0.69	83	14	30	0.13	0.49	37	14
	8	-211	509	0.76	304	14	-	-	-	-	-
	9	-52	89	0.46	123	14	14	0.22	0.71	67	14
	10	-62	47	0.32	146	13	23	0.19	0.60	91	13
	11	-122	199	0.54	360	13	40	0.16	0.79	66	13
	12	-	-	-	-	-	28	0.16	0.62	67	14
	13	-36	168	0.72	55	14	12	0.21	0.69	42	14
	14	-202	134	0.63	392	15	74	0.10	0.39	85	15
	15	-47	215	0.40	99	14	45	0.14	0.47	92	14
	16	-65	85	0.47	149	14	19	0.20	0.63	92	14
	17	-56	132	0.33	149	14	-	-	-	-	-
	18	-	-	-	-	-	27	0.16	0.69	55	14
2010	1	-123	200	0.63	228	17	72	0.11	0.66	57	18
	2	-189	533	0.45	460	17	84	0.10	0.42	89	17
	3	-66	196	0.71	99	17	41	0.14	0.49	69	17
	4	-140	198	0.78	259	17	48	0.17	0.81	76	17
	5	-174	369	0.76	278	15	66	0.13	0.63	86	15
	6	-93	178	0.86	101	17	74	0.11	0.64	67	17
	7	-46	88	0.78	64	18	35	0.14	0.85	26	18
	8	-203	588	0.83	239	16	79	0.09	0.40	76	18
	9	-90	220	0.80	83	17	63	0.13	0.66	77	18
	10	-81	116	0.71	142	17	50	0.15	0.79	58	17
	11	-84	198	0.88	73	15	65	0.11	0.63	65	15
	12	-145	161	0.76	273	17	152	0.08	0.41	131	17
	13	-49	139	0.76	81	17	64	0.11	0.77	36	18
	14	-244	682	0.64	424	18	79	0.12	0.43	115	18
	15	-73	163	0.39	274	16	61	0.14	0.69	74	18
	16	-76	125	0.77	101	17	46	0.14	0.76	53	17
	17	-38	94	0.34	123	13	34	0.16	0.67	70	15
	18	-83	617	0.82	92	17	109	0.06	0.34	72	17
2011	1	-84	67	0.66	114	12	66	0.12	0.74	45	14
	2	-	-	-	-	-	68	0.09	0.43	49	12

	3	-97	647	0.54	96	13	89	0.08	0.58	43	14
	4	-122	640	0.22	263	10	64	0.12	0.71	64	11
	5	-	-	-	-	-	121	0.06	0.41	80	10
	6	-	-	-	-	-	106	0.07	0.42	65	11
	7	-	-	-	-	-	41	0.13	0.64	33	12
	8	-	-	-	-	-	36	0.18	0.65	62	12
	9	-130	693	0.36	107	14	55	0.14	0.83	42	14
	10	-61	75	0.37	97	11	65	0.11	0.71	46	12
	11	-	-	-	-	-	108	0.07	0.58	56	11
	12	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
	13	-30	142	0.18	43	13	61	0.12	0.76	36	14
	14	-110	46	0.53	419	11	26	0.19	0.58	71	12
	15	-147	1369	0.80	57	13	47	0.15	0.95	22	14
	16	-175	775	0.69	60	13	27	0.19	0.92	32	14
	17	-	-	-	-	-	93	0.09	0.64	64	12
	18	-133	1571	0.31	147	11	132	0.05	0.51	46	12
2012	1	-193	368	0.86	197	17	84	0.12	0.57	104	17
	2	-239	245	0.87	282	17	152	0.06	0.25	131	17
	3	-113	129	0.75	127	16	97	0.10	0.77	59	16
	4	-	-	-	-	-	200	0.07	0.52	107	15
	5	-	-	-	-	-	95	0.12	0.45	106	12
	6	-	-	-	-	-	102	0.11	0.75	72	15
	7	-83	244	0.70	138	16	103	0.06	0.27	80	16
	8	-333	257	0.84	472	17	122	0.09	0.60	91	17
	9	-113	105	0.63	147	15	126	0.09	0.42	117	15
	10	-139	318	0.26	328	15	119	0.09	0.38	127	15
	11	-153	162	0.72	262	11	135	0.08	0.26	88	11
	12	-	-	-	-	-	257	0.06	0.51	99	14
	13	-73	71	0.71	142	16	148	0.05	0.32	71	17
	14	-276	294	0.89	294	14	130	0.09	0.53	104	14
	15	-	-	-	-	-	94	0.12	0.45	131	14
	16	-118	111	0.65	163	15	57	0.14	0.56	105	15
	17	-90	145	0.71	226	11	13	0.25	0.61	134	12
2010	18	-103	153	0.48	217	14	116	0.08	0.39	71	14
2013	1	-188	1/5	0.82	230	16	65	0.14	0.70	//	16
	2	-481	/58	0.94	299	15	31	0.23	0.66	158	16
	3	-143	64 260	0.77	124	15	68	0.15	0.76	89	15
	4	-374	369	0.81	478	16	103	0.15	0.61	200	16
	5	-390	325	0.83	470	14	162	0.11	0.52	203	15
	ט ד	-227	201	0.91	104	1L 1P	46	0.19	0.70	13/	10
	/	-95	5∠1 274	0.84	104	15	4/	0.14	0.82	3/	1L 1P
	ð	-453	3/4	0.89	499	14 15	109	0.10	0.65	89 100	15
	9 10	-1/2	328 150	0.75	142	15	81	0.15	0.75	102	15
	10	-146	128	0.81	134	15	93	0.13	0.57	138	15

	11	-264	415	0.92	214	15	67	0.15	0.67	136	15
	12	-397	390	0.87	410	15	117	0.13	0.70	142	16
	13	-86	163	0.67	131	15	96	0.09	0.55	68	16
	14	-427	736	0.88	409	15	47	0.19	0.82	87	15
	15	-95	7	0.71	148	16	54	0.18	0.81	94	16
	16	-164	317	0.79	156	15	52	0.18	0.52	166	15
	17	-121	323	0.86	137	15	40	0.16	0.73	84	15
	18	-147	404	0.84	153	15	87	0.11	0.42	136	15
2014	1	-223	247	0.67	356	15	163	0.08	0.27	142	15
	2	-331	186	0.64	731	16	174	0.08	0.42	155	16
	3	-159	201	0.46	343	13	111	0.12	0.69	129	13
	4	-340	145	0.57	743	12	116	0.14	0.52	252	12
	5	-371	52	0.70	565	12	247	0.09	0.38	285	12
	6	-237	122	0.82	314	13	95	0.12	0.78	94	13
	7	-114	306	0.83	123	16	75	0.12	0.78	50	16
	8	-506	446	0.75	779	15	101	0.13	0.59	134	15
	9	-144	293	0.33	351	16	93	0.13	0.59	148	16
	10	-152	226	0.61	237	12	99	0.13	0.42	251	13
	11	-231	224	0.87	225	13	99	0.13	0.70	140	13
	12	-349	48	0.71	632	12	274	0.07	0.36	186	12
	13	-112	427	0.75	139	15	95	0.10	0.56	80	16
	14	-319	318	0.73	501	15	178	0.08	0.31	169	16
	15	-120	303	0.45	175	15	100	0.12	0.89	61	15
	16	-136	120	0.59	203	13	82	0.13	0.87	59	13
	17	-111	163	0.70	191	13	107	0.10	0.48	139	13
	18	-144	53	0.66	199	11	166	0.08	0.42	123	11

Table S2. Error matrix from the ecosystem classification. The classification is the result of an automated multiresolution segmentation process (eCognition Developer 9.0.2, Trimble) with primary weight on segment size (scale parameter set to 500) as well as shape (set to 0.1) and compactness (set to 0.5). The generated segments were subsequently used as training data (15 segments per class). The classification was based on a supervised maximum likelihood algorithm, trained with aformentioned selected segments. Each class was tested with approx. 30 independent ground control points generated from in-situ registrations (more than 10 control points per class) and visual inspection of the imagery. The high accuracy is due to the limited number of classes, the limited areal coverage, and a significant percentage of the area being covered by user-selected segments.

Class	Affected heath	Fen	Bedrock	Water	Non-
					affected
					heath
Affected heath	29	0	0	0	1
Fen	0	29	0	0	1
Bedrock	0	0	28	0	2
Water	1	0	0	28	1
Non-affected	3	0	0	0	27
heath					
Overall accuracy	0.94				

Paper III

 López-Blanco, E., Lund, M., Christensen, T. R., Tamstorf, M. P., Smallman, T. L., Slevin, D., Westergaard-Nielsen, A., Hansen, B. U., Abermann, J., and Williams, M.: Plant traits are key determinants in buffering the meteorological sensitivity of net carbon exchanges of arctic tundra, Journal of Geophysical Research–Biogeosciences, 123, https://doi.org/10.1029/2018JG004386, 2018.



Nuuk-Kobbefjord site, West Greenland. 2015 field season. Photo by Efrén López-Blanco



Journal of Geophysical Research: Biogeosciences

RESEARCH ARTICLE

10.1029/2018JG004386

Key Points:

- We calibrated and validated an ecosystem model using field data to predict carbon dynamics over 8 years in West Greenland tundra
- Similar meteorological sensitivity of GPP and $\rm R_{eco}$ leads to buffered NEE
- Plant traits control the compensatory effect observed (and estimated) between gross primary production and ecosystem respiration

Supporting Information:

Supporting Information S1

Correspondence to:

E. López-Blanco, elb@bios.au.dk

Citation:

López-Blanco, E., Lund, M., Christensen, T. R., Tamstorf, M. P., Smallman, T. L., Slevin, D., et al. (2018). Plant traits are key determinants in buffering the meteorological sensitivity of net carbon exchanges of Arctic tundra. *Journal of Geophysical Research: Biogeosciences*, 123. https://doi.org/10.1029/ 2018JG004386

Received 9 JAN 2018 Accepted 24 JUL 2018 Accepted article online 30 JUL 2018

©2018. The Authors.

This is an open access article under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivs License, which permits use and distribution in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited, the use is non-commercial and no modifications or adaptations are made.

Plant Traits are Key Determinants in Buffering the Meteorological Sensitivity of Net Carbon Exchanges of Arctic Tundra

Efrén López-Blanco^{1,2}, Magnus Lund¹, Torben R. Christensen^{1,3}, Mikkel P. Tamstorf¹, Thomas L. Smallman², Darren Slevin², Andreas Westergaard-Nielsen⁴, Birger U. Hansen⁴, Jakob Abermann⁵, and Mathew Williams²

¹Department of Bioscience, Arctic Research Center, Aarhus University, Roskilde, Denmark, ²School of GeoSciences, University of Edinburgh, Edinburgh, UK, ³Department of Physical Geography and Ecosystem Science, Lund University, Lund, Sweden, ⁴Center for Permafrost (CENPERM), Department of Geosciences and Natural Resource Management, University of Copenhagen, Copenhagen, Denmark, ⁵Asiaq, Greenland Survey, Nuuk, Greenland

JGR

Abstract The climate sensitivity of carbon (C) cycling in Arctic terrestrial ecosystems is a major unknown in the Earth system. There is a lack of knowledge about the mechanisms that drive the interactions between photosynthesis, respiration, and changes in C stocks across full annual cycles in Arctic tundra. We use a calibrated and validated model (soil-plant-atmosphere; SPA) to estimate net ecosystem exchange (NEE), gross primary production (GPP), ecosystem respiration (Reco), and internal C processing across eight full years. SPA's carbon flux estimates are validated with observational data obtained from the Greenland Ecosystem Monitoring program in West Greenland tundra. Overall, the model explained 73%, 73%, and 50% of the variance in NEE, GPP, and Reco, respectively, and 85% of the plant greenness variation. Flux data highlighted the insensitivity of growing season NEE to interannual meteorological variability, due to compensatory responses of photosynthesis and ecosystem respiration. In this modelling study, we show that this NEE buffering is the case also for full annual cycles. We show through a sensitivity analysis that plant traits related to nitrogen are likely key determinants in the compensatory response, through simulated links to photosynthesis and plant respiration. Interestingly, we found a similar temperature sensitivity of the trait-flux couplings for GPP and Reco, suggesting that plant traits drive the stabilization of NEE. Further, model analysis indicated that wintertime periods decreased the C sink by 60%, mostly driven by litter heterotrophic respiration. This result emphasizes the importance of wintertime periods and allows a more comprehensive understanding of full annual C dynamics.

1. Introduction

The Arctic tundra, an important element of the global carbon (C) cycle (AMAP, 2017; Hugelius et al., 2014; McGuire et al., 2009; Tarnocai et al., 2009; Williams & Rastetter, 1999), is expected to experience changes in the current global warming context (ACIA, 2005; AMAP, 2017; Callaghan et al., 2012; Christensen et al., 2007; Grøndahl et al., 2008; Meltofte et al., 2008; Serreze & Barry, 2011). The likely increase of future temperature, precipitation, and growing season length (Arctic Climate Impact Assessment, 2005; Bintanja & Andry, 2017; IPCC, 2013) may have multiple effects on CO₂ exchange. Increases in plant productivity are expected in response to rising temperatures (Street et al., 2013), under joint warmer and wetter conditions (López-Blanco et al., 2017), or with earlier and longer growing seasons (Aurela et al., 2004; Black et al., 2000; Groendahl et al., 2007). These gains may be counterbalanced by C losses associated with microbial decomposition of soil organic matter during early winter (Commane et al., 2017; Zona et al., 2016) but also during following summer (Helfter et al., 2015; Lund et al., 2012), drought stress on plant photosynthesis under warmer conditions (Goetz et al., 2005; Hanis et al., 2015), higher rates of microbial oxidation of soil organic matter associated with warmer temperatures (Webb et al., 2016), decreases in photosynthesis due to biological disturbances (Heliasz et al., 2011; López-Blanco et al., 2017; Lund et al., 2017), permafrost thaw (Koven et al., 2011; Schuur et al., 2015), or severely burned landscapes (Rocha & Shaver, 2011). Minor variations in relation to these processes can lead to changes in ecosystem C sink functioning.



It is still a key challenge to understand the interannual variation in net ecosystem exchange (NEE) between the Arctic tundra and the atmosphere due to the large uncertainties between photosynthesis and respiration interactions (McGuire et al., 2012), and how these gross fluxes connect with C storage in vegetation and soil. The task is challenging because of insufficient coverage of measurement sites in the Arctic, particularly across annual cycles. The extreme conditions and remoteness of the Arctic (Kwon et al., 2006; Lafleur et al., 2012; McGuire et al., 2012; Poyatos et al., 2013; van der Molen et al., 2007; Westergaard-Nielsen et al., 2013), but also instrument failures, make automatic and continuous measurements difficult, especially during wintertime (Lund et al., 2012). Frequent gaps in data sets, and the inevitable bias attached to their gap filling (Falge et al., 2001; Moffat et al., 2007; Papale et al., 2006), complicate subsequent analysis because of increased uncertainty. The analysis of the annual impact of driving variables on C fluxes becomes problematic without year-round data (Grøndahl et al., 2008; López-Blanco et al., 2017; van der Molen et al., 2007), and the discussion of C source/sink dynamics is compromised without taking into account nongrowing season processes (Aurela et al., 2004; Commane et al., 2017; Zona et al., 2016).

The process-based understanding of the mechanisms driving the interplay between NEE's competing processes are not yet fully understood. Likewise, there is a lack of knowledge about each of the sub-components contributing to the respiratory losses during both the growing season and the wintertime periods (Hobbie et al., 2000). NEE is usually separated into its two key processes: photosynthesis (gross primary production [GPP]) and ecosystem respiration (Reco) (Lasslop et al., 2010; Reichstein et al., 2005). Similarly, the respiratory loss splits between autotrophic respiration (R_a ; the sum of growth [R_a] and maintenance [R_m] respiration from leaves, stems, and roots) and heterotrophic respiration (R_h ; litter and soil organic matter decomposition) (Waring & Schlesinger, 1985). These components change not only within seasons but also from year to year, in response to both biotic and abiotic drivers, and can vary among tissue types (Hopkins et al., 2013; Reich et al., 2008; Tjoelker et al., 2001; Waring & Schlesinger, 1985). The decomposition of gross fluxes in Arctic ecosystems remains unquantified at such high levels of complexity (McGuire et al., 2012). Furthermore, terrestrial ecosystem models frequently assume fixed values of carbon use efficiency (CUE), the proportion of GPP allocated to growth, usually based on a predefined fraction of GPP respired as R_a. CUE needs to be sensitive to biological states (such as tissue N concentration), and environmental conditions (Bradford & Crowther, 2013). Without accurate estimates of current carbon fluxes from the Arctic, predicting the response of these systems to global change is challenging (Hobbie et al., 2000). Therefore, studies on C storage and turnover controls are needed and special attention must be paid to dynamic systems including positive feedbacks, which will ultimately lead into a more comprehensive picture of the Arctic ecosystematmosphere interactions.

We have previously found that eddy covariance (EC) derived ecosystem flux data suggest an insensitivity to meteorology of growing season NEE across interannual variability (López-Blanco et al., 2017). This insensitivity was despite large variability in temperature and precipitation through the growing seasons. The net CO_2 budget was surprisingly stable compared to the magnitude of variations in GPP and R_{eco} inferred from the eddy flux data. We concluded that the meteorological sensitivity of photosynthesis and ecosystem respiration were similar, and hence compensatory, but we could not explain the causes. This research led to two key questions. First, is this meteorological buffering of NEE also the case over full annual cycles? Second, what determines the meteorological insensitivity of NEE? We hypothesize that plant traits, particularly foliar N, are critical in causing the similar meteorological sensitivities of photosynthesis and respiration. Foliar N mediates both photosynthesis and a major fraction of autotrophic respiration.

In this study we applied a process-based terrestrial ecosystem model, combined with extensive field measurements to simulate year-round C fluxes (and hence CUE) and C stocks in plants and soils, and address these questions. We used the modified, calibrated and validated soil-plant-atmosphere (SPA) model (Williams et al., 1996) to report independent predictions from observational data measured by the Greenland Ecosystem Monitoring (GEM) program (http://g-e-m.dk/) in West Greenland tundra (64°N), across 8 years between 2008 and 2015. The Kobbefjord site is currently the southernmost station in the low Arctic Western Greenland equipped for measurement of terrestrial CO₂ exchange. Our aim using this data-model framework was to quantify (1) how realistically the SPA model can simulate growing season C fluxes in Arctic tundra, and the sensitivity of key parameters in calibrating the model; (2) the role of the winter period on the full annual-cycle C balance, to determine if NEE is insensitive to meteorology over full annual cycles;



and (3) untangling the effects of competing ecosystem processes and their links to plant traits, testing the hypothesis that plant N and vegetation properties are important controls on the tight link between GPP and R_{eco} , through the role of N in metabolic processes. Ultimately, discrepancies between model and data emerging from these questions can provide helpful information about knowledge gaps and ecological indicators not previously detected from field observations, emphasizing the unique synergy that models and data are capable of bringing together.

2. Materials and Methods

2.1. Site Description

Kobbefjord is a valley system located in the low Arctic in Western Greenland ($64^{\circ}07'$ N; $51^{\circ}21'$ W). The study area is located ~20 km from Nuuk, Greenland's capital, and has been subjected to extensive environmental research activities since 2007 within the Nuuk Ecological Research Operations program under the auspices of the GEM program (http://g-e-m.dk/). The Kobbefjord area presents high meteorological variability from year to year, with a mean annual air temperature of $-0.4 \,^{\circ}$ C (ranging between $-1.7 \,^{\circ}$ C in 2011 and $3.4 \,^{\circ}$ C in 2010) and a total annual precipitation of about 862 mm between 2008 and 2015 (López-Blanco et al., 2017). There is no continuous permafrost at the site and the annual variation of the maximum snow depth observed in our measurement period was 0.4 to 1.4 m. The water table in Kobbefjord fluctuated between +0.53 cm (sign of water abundance at the end of the growing season) and $-18 \,\text{cm}$ (sign of water stress at the peak of the growing season) in the 2010–2015 period. However, no apparent water limitation on C dynamics has been found in the ecosystem, likely resistant to drought due to the water from the surroundings (López-Blanco et al., 2017). The vegetation in the key study site—a fen ecosystem—is dominated by *Eriophorum angustifolium* and *Scirpus caespitosus*, and it is surrounded by heath species such as *Empetrum nigrum*, *Vaccinium uliginosum*, and copse species as *S. glauca* and *Eriophorum angustifolium* (Bay et al., 2008). For more information, see López-Blanco et al., 2017.

2.2. Field Observations: Model Forcing, Calibration, and Validation

First, this research used data from the meteorological towers located at the Kobbefjord site during the 2008–2015 period to drive the SPA model to estimate C fluxes and stocks. The ancillary data (air temperature [T_{air} , °C], vapor pressure deficit [VPD; kPa] shortwave radiation [SWR; W/m²], photosynthetic active radiation [PAR; μ mol m⁻² s⁻¹], total precipitation [P; mm], and snow coverage [S; %]; Figure S1; hereafter, S denotes additional information) presented gaps no larger than 0.3% for T_{air} and VPD and 10% for SWR, PAR, and P due to poor weather and instrument malfunction. Since the model requires gap-filled inputs, we gap filled the meteorological data using daily ERA-Interim reanalysis (Dee et al., 2011) products (T_{air} , dew point temperature [T_{dp}], P and SWR). The T_{air} and T_{dp} consist of data at 00Z, 06Z, 12Z, and 18Z (instantaneous values). P and SWR consist of data at 00Z and 12Z (totals for the previous 12 hr). We used a weather generator code (full description can be found in Text S1) to apply a diurnal cycle to the T_{air} and SWR variables. PAR was calculated to be twice the SWR. Finally, we resampled the data set from hourly to half-hour temporal resolution for the SPA model.

Further, we performed a 4-week fieldwork campaign between June and July 2015 to obtain site-specific measurements on local aboveground vegetation and soil structure. The footprint analysis performed by Westergaard-Nielsen et al. (2013) suggested an overall contribution of fen (63.9%), heath (23.7%), copse (9.0%), and bedrock (3.4%) to the EC measurements. Therefore, we intentionally selected five plots in the fen site together with three and two more plots from the surrounding heath and copse, respectively. We sampled the aboveground vegetation from 10 plots of 10 cm \times 10 cm square area, and the soil underneath at a maximum depth of 20 cm, within a 100-m radius of the location of the EC tower. The samples were collected on 12 August (1 week earlier than GPP at maximum capacity), frozen, and shipped to the laboratory. In the laboratory, we (1) separated the different tissue types by hand (i.e., leaves, stems, roots, litter, and mosses) from the aboveground biomass and roots from the soil cores, (2) measured the leaf area index (LAI) using Image J (Schneider et al., 2012), (3) dried at 70 °C until constant weight during ~48 hr, (4) weighted the resulting dry samples, (5) subsampled each stock before the carbon and nitrogen (CN) analysis, (6) finely grinded using a ball mixer at maximum frequency (25 Hz) during 2 min, and (7) measured total CN contents using a NC 2500 analyzer. After this, we calculated the leaf mass per area (LMA), total foliar nitrogen and total leaf, stem, root, and litter C content at the harvesting date (Figure S2). Stem here does not strictly refer to

woody material; it is just structural biomass that is not photosynthetic (leaves) or absorbing water/nutrients from the soil (roots). Since our aim was to simulate the observations from the fen site, only data from this ecotype was used to calibrate the vegetation parameters in the model initialization.

We manually calibrated the last 4 years of the time series (2012–2015) and then validated the initial 4 years (2008–2011) including the anomalous year 2011, ensuring that both the calibration and validation data sets do not overlap. The calibration period was specifically selected to exclude the moth outbreak in 2011 to quantify the model-data mismatch introduced by the biological disturbance, which is not represented in the model. The state variables for the earlier 4 years were calibrated based on matching to stocks the final 4 years. The calibration procedure of the model parameters used field data, values retrieved from literature and tuning of turnover rates of the C stocks (Table 1) to match the stock data for the calibration years. Moreover, we targeted NEE, GPP, R_{eco}, and LAI as key variables aiming for a defined, acceptable degree of statistical agreement. The statistical metrics we considered acceptable were (1) $R^2 \ge 0.7$ for NEE, GPP, and LAI (compared with % of Greenness) and ≥ 0.5 for R_{eco} ; (2) RMSE ≤ 1 g C m⁻² year⁻¹, and (3) mean bias ≤ 1 g C m⁻² year⁻¹ for the simulated period for these four variables.

We used NEE data during the final 4 years for calibration, then used to testing the first 4 years. We processed, gap filled, and partitioned EC data on NEE measured during eight snow-free seasons across the 2008–2015 period. The measurement season is typically scheduled between the snow melt period in spring and the snow freeze-in period at the end of summer. The end of the snow melt period and the growing season start and length present high interannual variability (López-Blanco et al., 2017). In 2014 the EC station suffered a major instrument failure that translated in the loss of half of the growing season data. The EC tower is equipped with a closed-path infrared CO₂ and H₂O gas analyzer LI-7000 (LI-COR Inc., USA) and a 3-D sonic anemometer Gill R3-50 (Gill Instruments Ltd, UK). We processed NEE gap-filled and partitioned NEE using ReddyProc's technique (López-Blanco et al., 2017). In this study, we used the meteorological sign of convention representing uptake and release of C with negative and positive values, respectively.

Moreover, we used a daily estimate of the timing of snowmelt and freeze-in period to constrain the soil temperature during the wintertime, as well as the % of greenness to determine the phenology timing (seasonality) at a pixel level from a time-lapse camera (HP e427) located at 500 m asl. (Westergaard-Nielsen et al., 2013). We used % of greenness to constrain and validate model estimations. Percent of greenness data were used as input in the last 4 years (calibration set) to tune the decay slope after the peak of the growing season of LAI, then used as an independent test only in 2010 and 2011 due to the lack of greenness data in 2008 and 2009. The % of greenness, an index based on the three colors in a digital camera, RedGreenBlue, was computed as G/(R + G + B), which normalizes for changes in illumination. It was recently found that the physical reason for the % of greenness signal was a mix of leaf color, LAI, and the background (Keenan et al., 2014). Additionally, the seasonal greening of the vegetation was measured using a SpectroSense 2+ handheld system with two mounted sensors, which calculates the greening index (normalized difference vegetation index—NDVI) to cross check the % of greenness data from the automatic photo camera in the fen site. Measurements were made 4–5 times across snow-free periods.

2.3. Model Description

This study utilizes process-based modeling at leaf-level scale (parameterization) and canopy-level scale (prediction). The SPA model (Figure 1; Williams et al., 1996) uses a multiple canopy layer approach (up to 10 layers) linking each canopy layer independently to root accessible soil layers (up to 20 layers; Williams et al., 1996). SPA estimates ecosystem fluxes of C, water and energy coupling its leaf level C, water and energy cycles through eco-physiological principles. SPA has been already validated against EC observations in Arctic tundra (Williams et al., 2000) but also in tropical rain forest (Williams et al., 1998), temperate deciduous forests (Williams et al., 1996), or temperate evergreen forests (Williams et al., 2001). The model requires a simple set of measurable meteorological-related variables together with vegetation- and soil-related parameters, completely independent of flux data, against which the model can be compared (Williams et al., 2000). SPA uses a multilayer canopy radiative transfer scheme accounting for both sunlit and shaded leaf area (Williams et al., 1998). Photosynthesis is simulated using a detailed representation of carboxylation (Farquhar & von Caemmerer, 1982). The critical V_{cmax} and J_{max} parameters are linearly related to foliar N. Moreover, the evaporative fluxes (wet surface, soil, and transpiration) are based on the Penman-Monteith model (Jones, 1992). Photosynthesis and transpiration are linked through a stomatal optimization scheme, which aims to



Journal of Geophysical Research: Biogeosciences

Table 1

Ranking Table Listing the S-Indices (SI) for NEE, GPP, and R_{eco} Subject to the Average ±10% Change of Each of the 36 Ecosystem Parameters in SPA

Parameter	Unit	Function	Value	Source	SI-NEE	SI-GPP	SI-R _{eco}
Initial autotrophic respiration C	$g C m^{-2}$	IC	0	Field data	0.000	0.000	0.000
Initial foliage C	$g C m^{-2}$	IC	0	Field data	0.000	0.000	0.000
Root biomass to reach 50% of max depth	$\mathrm{g}~\mathrm{m}^{-2}$	SS	50	Smallman et al., 2013	0.000	0.000	0.000
Turnover rate of autotrophic respiration pool	hr ⁻¹	CC	0.07	Smallman et al., 2013	0.000	0.000	0.000
Water retained by canopy	mm	WC	1	Williams et al., 1996, 2000	0.000	0.000	0.000
Leaf capacitance	mmol m $^{-2}$ leaf area MPa $^{-1}$	CS	4000	Smallman et al., 2013	0.004	0.000	0.001
Stem conductivity	$\mathrm{mmol}~\mathrm{m}^{-1}~\mathrm{s}^{-1}~\mathrm{MPa}^{-1}$	CS	5	Smallman et al., 2013	0.008	0.002	0.002
Maximum root depth	m	SS	0.5	Smallman et al., 2013	0.015	0.000	0.002
Minimum temperature threshold	deg C	PH	10	van der Kolk et al., 2016	0.031	0.008	0.006
Minimum leaf water potential	MPa	WC	-1.5	Williams et al., 2000	0.037	0.008	0.004
Turnover rate of wood	hr ⁻¹	CC	0.000008	Tuned	0.045	0.000	0.005
Precipitation that penetrates canopy	fraction	WC	0.7	Williams et al., 1996, 2000	0.048	0.000	0.006
Root resistivity	MPa s g mmol $^{-1}$	CS	20	Smallman et al., 2013	0.049	0.005	0.000
Initial wood C	$g C m^{-2}$	IC	70	Field data	0.070	0.000	0.008
Width of leaf	m	CS	0.02	Williams et al., 2000	0.078	0.022	0.015
GDD threshold	deg C	PH	10	Shulski and Wendler, 2007	0.092	0.021	0.014
Decomposition rate	hr ⁻¹	CC	0.000004	Smallman et al., 2013	0.155	0.000	0.018
Initial labile C	$g C m^{-2}$	IC	13	Tuned	0.176	0.056	0.043
Turnover rate of foliage	hr ⁻¹	CC	0.0029	Hobbie et al., 2000	0.324	0.084	0.058
Respiratory cost of labile transfers	fraction	CC	0.129	Smallman et al., 2013	0.373	0.058	0.023
Stomatal efficiency parameter	μ mol CO ₂ mmol ⁻¹ H ₂ O m ⁻² s ⁻¹	WC	1.007	Smallman et al., 2013	0.407	0.059	0.010
Turnover rate of fine roots	hr ⁻²	CC	0.000009	Sloan et al., 2013	0.440	0.036	0.089
Initial litter C	g C m ⁻²	IC	60	Field data	0.499	0.000	0.056
Mineralization rate of litter	hr^{-1}	CC	0.000055	Tuned	0.585	0.000	0.065
Turnover rate of labile pool	hr^{-1}	CC	0.0022	Tuned	0.629	0.131	0.075
NPP allocated to foliage	fraction	CC	0.7	Smallman et al., 2013	0.713	0.147	0.084
Fraction of leaf loss to litter	fraction	CC	0.3	Tuned	0.963	0.166	0.077
NPP allocated to roots	fraction	CC	0.7	Smallman et al., 2013	1.052	0.033	0.080
Mineralization rate of SOM	hr^{-1}	CC	0.000001	Tuned	1.259	0.000	0.140
Rate coefficient for V _{cmax}	μ mol C g N ⁻¹ s ⁻¹	PT	14	Smallman et al., 2013	1.334	0.227	0.104
Initial SOM C	g C m ⁻²	IC	4800	Hugelius et al., 2013	1.346	0.001	0.150
Initial root C	$g C m^{-2}$	IC	200	Field data	1.584	0.047	0.124
Average foliar nitrogen	$g N m^{-2}$	CS	1.61	Field data	3.154	0.916	0.667
Maximum foliar carbon stock	$g C m^{-2}$	СС	28	Field data	3.868	0.922	0.595
Rate coefficient for J _{max}	μ mol C g N ⁻¹ s ⁻¹	PT	36	Smallman et al., 2013	4.432	0.786	0.369
Leaf mass per area	$ m g~C~m^{-2}$	CS	56.27	Field data	4.546	1.137	0.769

Note. The table orders the S-indices (NEE) starting with the lowest value and increasing to the highest value. The function column classifies the parameters based on their role, that is, photosynthetic (PT), C cycle (CC), water cycle (WC), initial conditions (IC), canopy structure (CS), soil structure (SS), and phenology (PH). The colors represent how sensitive the parameter is to the response variable: green = little sensitive; red = very sensitive. A further test of the four most sensitive parameters is proposed in Figure 6 (pink highlight).

maximize C accumulation within SPA's hydraulic limitations. SPA simulates both the vertical distribution and movement of water and heat through the soil profile. A detailed overview of SPA can be found in Smallman et al. (2013). Plant phenology and carbon dynamics are simulated using a box carbon model, the Data Assimilation Linked Ecosystem Carbon model imbedded within the SPA framework, which simulates the states and dynamics of ecosystem C stocks (foliage, structural/wood carbon, fine roots, labile carbon, soil organic matter (SOM), and surface litter) (Williams et al., 2005). In SPA, the unique allocations groupings are (1) foliar allocation is a fixed fraction from NPP (Table 1; NPP allocated to foliage), dependent on growing degree day summation, restarting from the snow melt period (retrieved from the photo monitoring) and (2) stem and root allocation are dependent on a fixed fraction from NPP (Table 1; NPP



Journal of Geophysical Research: Biogeosciences



Figure 1. Schematic description of the soil-plant-atmosphere model. The blue boxes represent the key model components, while the green boxes the model inputs and the orange boxes the model outputs.

allocated to roots, while NPP allocated to stems is 1-NPP allocated to roots). The plant phenology in SPA is entirely driven by meteorological forcing unless stated otherwise. The unique turnover groupings are (1) foliar turnover, driven by a minimum temperature threshold (Table 1) and a predefined day at the end of August and (2) roots and stem represented as a constant loss fraction assuming first-order kinetics. Litter decomposition to SOM, litter mineralization (R_h litter) and SOM mineralization (R_h som) follow a similar continuous decay process with exponential temperature adjustment. Leaves and fine root mortality is directly input to the litter stock, while woody mortality is directly input to the SOM stock. Thus we assume different labilities for the dead organic C depending on tissue source. The collected data were used to parameterize and evaluate the Arctic specific branch in SPA in order to simulate the full range of biogeochemical feedbacks in West Greenland.

The model has been modified to introduce a revised C allocation approach, which separately estimates respiration associated with growth (R_g) and maintenance (R_m) respiration. Growth respiration is assumed to be a fixed fraction of C allocated to each tissue using the following equations:

$$R_{g \text{ leaf}} = (GPP_{\text{leaf}} * R_{g} \text{ frac}); NPP_{\text{leaf}} = alloc_{\text{leaf}} - R_{g \text{ leaf}}$$
(1)

$$R_{g \text{ root}} = (GPP_{roots}^* R_g \text{ frac}); NPP_{root} = alloc_{roots} - R_{g \text{ root}}$$
(2)

$$R_{g \ stem} = (GPP_{stem}^* R_g \ frac); NPP_{stem} = alloc_{stem} - R_g \ stem$$
(3)

where R_g is assumed to be a fixed fraction of C allocated (alloc) to a given tissue (R_g frac) equivalent to 21% of NPP (Waring & Schlesinger, 1985). Further, maintenance respiration (R_m) has been calculated based on a modified version of the Reich et al. (2008) calculation in SPA, which demonstrated a strong respirationnitrogen (N) relationship among tissue types (leaves, stems, and roots). The R_m in leaves has been calculated based on air temperature, average foliar N, leaf C per area, and LAI, only when the air temperatures >0 °C. R_m in roots was calculated based on soil temperatures at 10 cm depth, the C:N relation in roots and the root C stock, following the same freezing point limitation. Finally, a brief description of the equations showing the different components of the C fluxes related to each other is provided in the supporting information equation S1.

The snowpack thickness has a direct influence on soil temperatures and consequently on respiration processes. Therefore, we also implemented a snow cover subroutine in order to constrain soil temperature across wintertime periods. We used snow fraction information (Figure S3) recorded from the camera pointing towards the fen site (Westergaard-Nielsen et al., 2013) to inform a simplified version of the snow scheme by



Figure 2. Time-series of observed (OBS) and predicted (MOD) plant phenology (%Gr, % of greenness; NDVI, in situ normalized difference vegetation index; LAI, leaf area index) (a) and C stocks (labile, foliage, stem, root, and litter) (b), as well as simulated C allocation (to labile, foliage, stem, and root) (c) and C turnover [from foliage, stem, and root] (d). The gray shading denotes the snow-free period reported in López-Blanco et al. (2017). The 2015 C dynamics (pink highlights) are presented in detail in Figure S5.

Essery (2015). The modified snow scheme used snow fractional cover to update the soil surface energy balance including albedo, evaporative, and sensible heat exchanges.

2.4. Sensitivity Analysis

We conducted a sensitivity analysis of the vegetation related parameters used in SPA to determine how critical each is to the estimation of NEE, GPP, and R_{eco} . By identifying how sensitive NEE, GPP and R_{eco} are to changes in each of the 36 parameters, we identify potential model limitations of the simulated C dynamics (e.g., C allocation, C turnover, phenology, and seasonality). The sensitivity analysis also helps to test the robustness of model outputs in presence of uncertainty. We first determined 36 nominal parameters values (Table 1) and confirmed that these generate reasonable model fluxes compared to the flux tower data. We decided our response variables for the sensitivity analysis as total annual NEE, GPP, and R_{eco} . In sequence, we modified each parameter ±10%. We evaluated the percentage change in the response variable. The ratio of the % change in response variable to % change in parameter is the sensitivity index (SI), such that if |SI| > 1 [|SI| = magnitude of S], the parameter is very sensitive to the response variable; close to 0 means little sensitivity. We tested the sensitivity analysis for the entire data set and for each year independently. Additionally, we assessed the relationships between the four most sensitive parameters in the model

AGU 100



Table 2

Statistics of Linear Fit Between the SPA Model (Independent) and the Field Observations (Dependent) per Individual Year and for the Entire 2008–2015 Period

			Validation set						
	Statistics	2008	2009	2010	2011	2008–2011	2012		
NEE	Intercept	-0.12 (-0.16/-0.07)	-0.12 (-0.16/-0.08)	-0.23 (-0.29/-0.18)	-0.16 (-0.21/-0.1)	-0.17 (-0.19/-0.14)	-0.08 (-0.12/-0.04)		
	Slope	0.66 (0.59/0.72)	0.83 (0.76/0.9)	0.63 (0.57/0.69)	0.52 (0.42/0.62)	0.65 (0.61/0.68)	0.52 (0.48/0.56)		
	R ²	0.72	0.76	0.74	0.42	0.7	0.8		
	RMSE	0.28	0.26	0.35	0.31	0.31	0.24		
	Bias	-0.02	-0.1	-0.18	-0.28	-0.15	0.03		
GPP	Intercept	0.06 (-0.06/0.18)	0.24 (0.13/0.35)	0.16 (0.01/0.31)	0.12 (-0.02/0.26)	0.15 (0.09/0.22)	0.16 (0.05/0.27)		
	Slope	0.96 (0.89/1.04)	1 (0.97/1.13)	0.95 (0.88/1.03)	0.88 (0.74/1.02)	0.97 (0.93/1.01)	0.59 (0.54/0.63)		
	R ²	0.82	0.8	0.79	0.51	0.77	0.84		
	RMSE	0.46	0.47	0.54	0.54	0.51	0.43		
	Bias	0.11	0.19	0.23	0.21	0.19	1.01		
Reco	Intercept	-0.28 (-0.35/-0.2)	-0.19 (-0.23/-0.14)	-0.14 (-0.22/-0.07)	-0.29 (-0.34/-0.25)	-0.21 (-0.24/-0.18)	-0.18 (-0.25/-0.12)		
	Slope	0.88 (0.79/0.97)	0.88 (0.82/0.94)	0.7 (0.63/0.77)	0.79 (0.73/0.85)	0.78 (0.74/0.81)	0.43 (0.39/0.47)		
	R ²	0.52	0.72	0.55	0.66	0.59	0.56		
	RMSE	0.36	0.26	0.42	0.22	0.33	0.35		
	Bias	-0.37	-0.26	-0.42	-0.44	-0.37	-0.96		
LAI	Intercept	_	_	0.31 (0.31/0.31)	0.32 (0.31/0.32)	0.31 (0.31/0.32)	0.32 (0.31/0.32)		
	Slope	_	_	0.06 (0.06/0.07)	0.06 (0.05/0.06)	0.06 (0.06/0.06)	0.07 (0.06/0.08)		
	R ²	_	_	0.90	0.75	0.83	0.88		
	RMSE	_	_	0.00	0.01	0.01	0.01		
	Bias	—	—	0.03	0.11	0.06	0.07		

Note. The data set was divided into a calibration set (2008–2011) and a validation set (2012–2015). The presented statistics are from a model run entirely driven by environmental data, based on growing degree day summation restarted from the snow melt period and minimum temperature threshold, both calculated from soil temperatures at 10 cm depth. The parentheses represent the 95% confidence interval for the intercepts and slopes. The units for RMSE and bias are g C m⁻² year⁻¹ in NEE, GPP, and R_{ecor} and m² m⁻² in LAI.

against mean annual temperature. This assessment tested whether the sensitivity of both GPP and R_{eco} to plant traits is coupled or decoupled across meteorological variation. We hypothesized that the metabolic processes (photosynthesis and autotrophic respiration) that are coupled by plant traits in the model would have similar temperature sensitivity.

3. Results

The SPA model performed well in simulating the observed plant phenology (Figure 2a and Table 2) and C fluxes (Figure 3 and Table 2), tracking the variations observed across multiseasonal and multiannual periods. We modelled full annual C dynamics despite the lack of field observations during winter by implementing a snow cover subroutine constrained by snow fraction data (Figure S3). The data constraint improved substantially soil temperature estimations (Figure S4), and as such it enhanced confidence across the wintertime period. We found that SPA supports the main finding from our previous analysis on flux responses to meteorological variations and biological disturbance using observational data only (López-Blanco et al., 2017). In this study, large meteorological variability across the full annual 2008–2015 period led to a strong coupling between modelled photosynthetic inputs and respiration outputs and thus also stability of net C uptake (Figure 4). Wintertime plays an important role in the annual C budget by decreasing the C sink strength, mainly through sustained Reco rates driven by C litter decomposition. We also note evidence that heterotrophic respiration dominates the shoulders of the growing seasons (wintertime, early spring, and late autumn), while growth and maintenance respiration are more important between greenup and greendown (Figure 5). From our sensitivity analysis of vegetation-related input parameters, it emerges that plant traits are important controllers in the interannual gross flux variability (Table 1). Also, we found that the sensitivity of both GPP and Reco to changes in plant traits was coupled across meteorological variation (Figure 6).

3.1. Sensitivity and Quality of Modelled C Fluxes and Stocks

In this study, % of greenness data were used to constrain LAI simulated in SPA, defining the timing of the plant phenology at the beginning and at the end of the growing season (Figure 2a and Table 2). The % of

Table 2 (continued)

			Calibra	ation set		Total
	Statistics	2013	2014	2015	2012-2015	2008–2015
NEE	Intercept	-0.1 (-0.14/-0.07)	0.02 (-0.05/0.1)	-0.1 (-0.15/-0.05)	-0.09 (-0.11/-0.06)	-0.13 (-0.15/-0.11)
	Slope	0.55 (0.51/0.59)	0.67 (0.59/0.75)	0.62 (0.56/0.68)	0.56 (0.54/0.59)	0.6 (0.57/0.62)
	R ²	0.85	0.82	0.8	0.81	0.73
	RMSE	0.21	0.25	0.25	0.24	0.29
	Bias	-0.02	0.19	-0.01	0.02	-0.07
GPP	Intercept	0.28 (0.2/0.36)	0.6 (0.35/0.85)	0.25 (0.12/0.38)	0.17 (0.11/0.24)	0.08 (0.02/0.13)
	Slope	0.8 (0.75/0.84)	1.1 (0.95/1.2)	0.75 (0.69/0.81)	0.69 (0.66/0.72)	0.76 (0.73/0.79)
	R^2	0.91	0.84	0.83	0.81	0.73
	RMSE	0.31	0.41	0.4	0.45	0.55
	Bias	0.59	0.47	0.67	0.73	0.42
Reco	Intercept	-0.28 (-0.33/-0.24)	-1.1 (-1.22/-0.95)	-0.23 (-0.27/-0.18)	-0.2 (-0.23/-0.16)	-0.16 (-0.18/-0.14)
	Slope	0.73 (0.68/0.77)	1.4 (1.3/1.6)	0.6 (0.56/0.64)	0.53 (0.5/0.56)	0.59 (0.56/0.61)
	R ²	0.73	0.56	0.7	0.52	0.5
	RMSE	0.24	0.34	0.24	0.34	0.36
	Bias	-0.51	-0.66	-0.57	-0.67	-0.52
LAI	Intercept	0.31 (0.31/0.31)	0.31 (0.31/0.32)	0.31 (0.31/0.32)	0.31 (0.31/0.31)	0.31 (0.31/0.31)
	Slope	0.07 (0.07/0.08)	0.07 (0.07/0.08)	0.07 (0.07/0.08)	0.07 (0.07/0.08)	0.07 (0.06/0.07)
	R ²	0.87	0.88	0.90	0.88	0.85
	RMSE	0.01	0.01	0.00	0.01	0.01
	Bias	0.12	0.08	0.12	0.10	0.08

greenness is only shown within the snow-free period, defined by the gray boxes across the entire time series. The modelled LAI was able to represent ~85% of the % of greenness variability (Table 2). The calibration set (2012–2015) has larger degree of agreement ($R^2 = 0.88$) compared to the validation set (2010–2011; $R^2 = 0.83$). NPP allocated to foliage, photosynthetic parameters, turnover rate of foliage, and maximum foliar carbon stock were key parameters used to fit the observations (Table 1). The modelled C stocks obtained from the labile, foliage, stem, root, and litter stocks and the observational data points from the field campaign in 2015 are included as mean \pm range (Figure 2b). The field data on C stocks was used to establish a benchmark for each C stock at the modelled time step, assuming steady state conditions. The manual calibration aimed to have the modelled C stock inside the observations' ranges. Estimated C foliage, C stem, C roots, and C litter were within the observed thresholds (Figure 2b and S5). NPP allocated to foliage and roots (Figure 2c), as well as all the turnover rate parameters (Figure 2d) and the initial C stocks were key to estimating ecosystem C stocks.

The SPA estimates of C fluxes across eight snow-free periods were validated against the flux data presented in López-Blanco et al. (2017; Figure 3). The model represented ~73%, ~73%, and 50% of the variability in NEE, GPP, and R_{eco}, respectively (Table 2). The calibration set has a larger degree of agreement (R² = 0.81, 0.81 and RMSE = 0.24, 0.45 for NEE and GPP, respectively) compared to the validation set (R² = 0.70, 0.77 and RMSE = 0.24, 0.45), except for R_{eco} (R² = 0.52 in calibration versus R² = 0.59 in validation; Table 2). The mean annual NEE during the 2008–2015 period was -17.2 g Cm^{-2} (range $-33.8 \text{ to } 5.3 \text{ g Cm}^{-2}$), while mean GPP was -147.9 g Cm^{-2} ($-92.8 \text{ to } -219.4 \text{ g Cm}^{-2}$) and mean R_{eco} was 130.7 g Cm⁻² (98.1 to 185.6 g Cm⁻²; Table 3). In general, the model captured the initial respiration peak of the growing season (Figure 3a) and the beginning of the growing season (R² = 0.85, *p* < 0.001), followed by a short but intensive C uptake period (Figures 3a and 3c). However, Figures 3b and 3d also show the biases observed due to difference in timing (shifts of peak of the growing season in 2010 R_{eco} and 2011 NEE for example) and differences in flux magnitudes (such as 2012 GPP and R_{eco}). Overall, SPA tended to overestimate NEE (i.e., higher C uptake) by 13%, while GPP and R_{eco} were underestimated (i.e., lower photosynthetic and respiration rates) by 28% and 36%, respectively.

LMA, rate coefficient for J_{max} (J_{max}), maximum foliar mass, and foliar nitrogen (N) are the four most sensitive parameters in SPA for the simulation NEE, GPP, and R_{eco} under the current setup (Table 1). For example, the S-



Figure 3. Time series (a and c) and full annual budgets (b and d) of observed (OBS) and predicted (MOD) C fluxes (NEE, net ecosystem exchange; GPP, gross primary production; and R_{eco}, ecosystem respiration).

index of LMA (SI-NEE = 4.55) denotes that if this parameter increases 1%, C fluxes will experience a shift of 4.55%. Interestingly, NEE, GPP, and R_{eco} experienced a similar sensitivity pattern, and SI-GPP and SI- R_{eco} were in the same order of magnitude. LMA, maximum foliar mass, and foliar N are field observations collected in the 2015 field campaign; thus, this sensitivity analysis demonstrates how field data can help to improve the model certainty over key parameters. However, there are other calibrated parameters such as mineralization rate of SOM or fraction of leaf loss to litter that are relatively sensitive for the modelled C fluxes, denoting site-specific characteristics with likely high uncertainty if they are applied to different conditions/locations. Ideally, the calibrated parameters need to be replaced by field measurements from similar conditions to improve the certainty around the SPA runs in case model is to be applied to other sites.

3.2. The Role of the Winter Period on the Full Annual-Cycle C Balance

The SPA model quantifies the wintertime period in the annual C budget. The addition of the respiratory losses across wintertime periods shifted NEE significantly by decreasing the C sink strength ~60% (Figures 3b, 3d, and 4) and increasing 22.7% the annual soil respiration ($R_{g root} + R_{m root} + R_{h litter} + R_{h soil organic matter}$) excluding the June–September period. Interestingly, the partitioning of these wintertime respiration losses indicates that $R_{h litter}$ was the largest contributor with 43.3% to the annual budget. During winter, the only two flux contributions to NEE were derived from litter and SOM decomposition, both parts of the heterotrophic

AGU 100





Figure 4. The relationship between estimated annual NEE (black), GPP (dark green), R_{eco} (dark red) (g C m⁻² year⁻¹) and mean annual temperature (°C) for the years 2008–2015. Linear regressions are shown for each flux against temperature, including equations and R² values.

respiration (R_h; Figure 5a; Equation S1). The contribution from litter decomposition to the annual budget is 2-fold larger than from SOM (27% versus 15%). Moreover, in Arctic ecosystems there are two key periods with large respiratory losses (i.e., large positive NEE) in the transition between summer and the shoulder seasons (Figure 3a). The first peak is between the end of the snow melt period and the beginning of growing season, while the second one is observed between the end of the growing season and the freeze-in period. The model suggests that the first peak of positive NEE was driven by air temperature (R² = 0.77, *p* < 0.001), while the second peak was driven by the accumulation of litter stock (R² = 0.74, *p* < 0.001). These two processes occurred in spring and fall together with the respiration produced by litter and SOM in winter are the main contributors to the decrease of C sink strength.

Since the validation of wintertime fluxes remains challenging due to the lack of field data, we constrained the snow cover, one of the most important controllers of the wintertime period in Arctic ecosystems, and its direct influence on soil temperature and therefore the C fluxes. The agreement between observed and modelled soil temperatures at 10 cm depth was ~94% with snow cover routine employed and ~65% without (Figure S4). The major improvement on the model simulations was for wintertime soil temperatures, which on average increased from -9.1 to -0.6 °C (observations were -0.3 °C) for the January-April period and from -0.6 °C to +2.4 °C (observations were +2.8 °C) for the November-December period. Moreover, these changes in soil temperature (i.e., warmer temperatures in wintertime) have increased R_h (litter + SOM) ~8% due to the insulation effect from snow.

3.3. Partitioning the Processes Contributing to NEE and Their Meteorological Sensitivity

We found that SPA supports the main finding from our previous analysis on flux responses to meteorological variations and biological disturbance (López-Blanco et al., 2017). The net C uptake insensitivity found across meteorologically diverse growing seasons and full annual cycles here is also driven by the compensation between photosynthesis (GPP) and the sum of respiration losses (Reco; Figures 4 and 5). The model suggests stronger and steeper correlations between annual GPP ($R^2 = 0.75$, slope = 21 g C m⁻² year⁻¹ °C) and R_{eco} $(R^2 = 0.88, slope = 15 g C m^{-2} year^{-1} °C)$ with annual temperatures compared to NEE-temperature $(R^2 = 0.44 \text{ and slope} = 5 \text{ g C m}^{-2} \text{ year}^{-1} \text{ °C}$; Figure 4). These results reinforce previous findings demonstrating a relative insensitivity of NEE to meteorological drivers, due to the compensatory effect between GPP and R_{eco} shown here. A linear regression of annual R_{eco} on GPP shows a strong correlation, $R^2 = 0.96$. We note evidence that R_h dominates the outer shoulders (wintertime, early spring, and late autumn), while R_g and R_m are more important during the growing season (Figure 5a). In summer, plant growth increased R_a. Annually aggregated data suggest that when R_a was dominating over R_h, there was a tight link between GPP and R_{eco} . The annual data also reflect a strong relationship between GPP and R_a ($R_m + R_d$) ($R^2 = 0.97$, p < 0.001). Phenology drivers such as beginning of the growing season (R² = 0.88 and 0.82, p < 0.001) and snow melt period ($R^2 = 0.82$ and 0.89, p < 0.001) played an important role in the GPP and R_a dynamics, respectively (Figure S6). We also found a significant correlation between GPP and R_h ($R^2 = 0.89$, p < 0.001), influenced by the amount of litter deposited each year (proportional to GPP), as noted from the major contribution from litter decomposition to R_h. Overall, annual photosynthetic inputs dominate the sum of the respiration outputs $(R_g + R_m + R_h)$ except in 2011 (Figure 5b).

Interestingly, the model quantified a decrease of 20% in the annual CUE for 2011. This decrease was directly related to a significant decrease of GPP (40%) and R_a (34%) compared to the rest of the years (Table 3). Moreover, annual R_h increased its contribution to NEE ~18% in 2011, likely induced by the late snow melt period. These estimations are the result of a marked variability of meteorological conditions between 2010 and 2011. Even though the Kobbefjord area was associated with a major larvae outbreak (Lund et al., 2017), the



Journal of Geophysical Research: Biogeosciences



Figure 5. Seasonal (a) and annual (b) partitioned modelled gross fluxes (GPP, gross primary production; R_g, growth respiration; R_m, maintenance respiration; and R_h, heterotrophic respiration). The upper set shows absolute values including superimposed monthly and annual NEEs. The bottom set shows relative values (i.e., the % contributed of gross fluxes to NEE) highlighting the balance between inputs (productivity) and outputs (respiration).

model unexpectedly captured the seasonality of NEE without any prescription in the model structure on biological disturbances. The model was able to estimate similar NEE ($R^2 = 0.76$, p < 0.001), GPP ($R^2 = 0.80$, p < 0.001) and R_{eco} ($R^2 = 0.65$, p < 0.001) in 2011 when we run the C uptake seasonality in SPA forced by the % of greenness data instead (compared to the regular set up; $R^2 = 0.42$, 0.51 and 0.66, p < 0.001) respectively; Table 2). The NEE estimates from this synthetic setup (18 g C m⁻²) were still not close to the field measurements (40 g C m⁻²), but they were better than environmental driven runs (5 g C m⁻²). Therefore, SPA quantifies the likely effect on 2011 NEE as 45% meteorological driven and 55% contributed by the moth outbreak in 2011 from the difference between the phenology driven run and the field observations. This finding suggests a joint, relatively equal influence from both the meteorological drivers and the biological disturbance.

3.4. The Plant Traits Effect on Buffering the Interannual NEE Variability

We found that both GPP and R_{eco} are sensitive to annual temperature variability, while NEE is much less sensitive due to compensatory effects (Figure 4). In order to understand the reason of this compensation, we hypothesized that plant traits couple the two processes closely and lead to compensation. Plant traits such as LMA, rate coefficient for J_{max} , maximum leaf mass, and foliar N are the most sensitive controls on both GPP and R_{eco} shown by the sensitivity analysis (Table 1), which provides some support for our hypothesis. For further testing, we repeated the sensitivity experiments for individual years (2008–2015) and these four plant traits (Figure 6). We assessed the regression lines describing the change in GPP and R_{eco} trait sensitivity to mean annual temperature using two analysis of covariance tests with and without the interaction between GPP and R_{eco} . The models with interaction were not significantly different, which suggests the slopes of the relationships do not differ between GPP and R_{eco} fits. Thus, the emergent relative temperature sensitivity of



100





these processes, and therefore compensation, is maintained despite potential year to year or spatial differences in plant traits.

4. Discussion

The SPA model has been implemented, calibrated, and validated to explore the challenges in process based understanding of C cycling in Arctic ecosystems at high temporal resolution (i.e., half-hourly time

 Table 3

 Annual Average of Main Ecosystem C Fluxes NEE, GPP, NPP and Recc

· · · J · ·			, , ,	ELU								
Years	NEE	GPP	NPP	R_{eco}	R _{m leaf}	R _{m root}	R _{g leaf}	R _{g root}	R _{g stem}	R _{h litter}	R _{h som}	CUE
2008	-26.9	-165.5	-80.8	138.5	43.4	19.2	7.8	9.2	4	36.1	18.8	0.49
2009	-22	-144.5	-70.4	122.5	34.7	16.4	7.8	8.2	3.5	34.2	17.6	0.49
2010	-33.8	-219.4	-104.8	185.6	59.9	27.2	7.8	13.6	5.8	43.7	27.5	0.48
2011	5.3	-92.8	-35.2	98.1	25	15.3	7.8	3.1	1.3	29.6	16	0.38
2012	-12.6	-156.1	-71.5	143.5	43.1	20.5	7.9	8.4	3.6	38.1	21.9	0.46
2013	-16.8	-136.6	-64.3	119.8	35.1	15.7	7.8	7.3	3.1	33.1	17.5	0.47
2014	-18	-149.4	-70	131.4	39.5	17.7	7.8	8.1	3.5	35.2	19.5	0.47
2015	-13	-119.2	-56.9	106.1	28.2	14.3	7.8	6.3	2.7	31	15.9	0.48
Mean 2008–2015	-17.2	-147.9	-69.2	130.7	38.6	18.3	7.8	8.0	3.4	35.1	19.3	0.47
Min 2008–2015	-33.8	-219.4	-104.8	98.1	25.0	14.3	7.8	3.1	1.3	29.6	15.9	0.38
Max 2008–2015	5.3	-92.8	-35.2	185.6	59.9	27.2	7.9	13.6	5.8	43.7	27.5	0.49

Note. NPP is defined as NPP = GPP - R_a . R_{eco} sub-subcomponents split between the autotrophic respiration (R_a ; the sum of growth (R_g) and maintenance (R_m) respiration from leaves, stems and roots) and heterotrophic respiration (R_{hi}) litter and soil organic matter decomposition). Carbon use efficiency (CUE) is defined as CUE = 1 - (($R_m + R_g$)/GPP). The units for all variables are g C m⁻² year⁻¹ except for CUE (dimensionless).

steps). The model captured well multiseason and multiannual variability of plant phenology and C dynamics compared to field observations. The results here are in line with a previous study showing meteorology driven insensitivity of NEE based on the coupling between GPP and R_{eco} , also throughout full annual cycles. However, the results from this paper also point to plant traits as key controls in the compensatory effect between GPP and ecosystem respiration. This study emphasizes the significance of integration between field observations and process-based modeling to advance our understating of ecosystem carbon dynamics.

4.1. Quality and Limitations of Modelled C Fluxes and Stocks

The SPA model demonstrated a coherent performance of basic C fluxes, stocks and plant phenology against the independent in situ data provided by the GEM program (Figures 2a and 2b, Figure 3, and Table 2). In this modeling exercise, three important sources of data are vital for model performance: (1) plant phenology (i.e., the % of greenness; Figure 2a and Table 2); (2) the snow fraction information (Figure S3), both derived from an inexpensive optical camera (Westergaard-Nielsen et al., 2013; Westergaard-Nielsen et al., 2017); and (3) the foliar N content and LMA data from the field campaign (Figure S2 and Table 1). On the one hand, the fit between observed and modeled beginning of the growing season ($R^2 = 0.92$; p < 0.001) was a major challenge, and it has been found very sensitive for the simulated C budget. Mismatches on growing season start/end led to significant biases, both positive and negative (Table 2), likely shaped by the high meteorological interannual variability observed in Kobbefjord (López-Blanco et al., 2017). For example, the model underrepresented phenology dynamics between years 2010 and 2011, with a subsequent impact on C budget estimations. In 2010, the warmest summer with the longest growing season triggered an excessive C uptake, while in 2011 the colder June followed by the cloudier July likely led to a delayed growing season, not well captured in SPA. By forcing SPA's beginning of the growing season in 2011 with the % of greenness data (rather than environmentally forced), the agreement improved from a $R^2 = 0.4$ to $R^2 = 0.76$ for NEE, and an increase of 18 g C m $^{-2}$ respired. Along these lines, this is also an indirect validation of the phenology methodology and its links to C dynamics.

On the other hand, three of the most sensitive parameters used in the model runs (LMA, J_{max}, and maximum foliar mass) were derived from field observations (Table 1). The terrestrial carbon cycle is currently the least constrained component of the global carbon budget (Bloom et al., 2016; IPCC, 2013). From a modeling perspective, more field measurements are required to better constrain the ecosystem model performances of C cycling in changing environments. We consider that more observations on plant phenology, photosynthetic parameters (Albert et al., 2011; Boesgaard et al., 2012; Rogers et al., 2017), plant structure (Campioli et al., 2013; Van Wijk et al., 2004), C and N stocks at different stages of the season (Arndal et al., 2009), C storage and turnover (Cornelissen et al., 2007; DeMarco et al., 2014; Hobbie et al., 2000; Sloan et al., 2013) will improve modeling robustness based on enhanced calibrations. The discussion around variable selection, experimental design, and data suitability needs to be agreed both by field and model researchers. The incorporation of field observations into models can lead to improvements in modelled ecosystem processes, while models can inform on data collected in field campaigns.

The SPA model outputs, which has been manually parameterized (Table 1), could benefit from model data fusion approaches based on Bayesian statistics and optimal parameter sets (Bloom et al., 2016; Bloom & Williams, 2015; Williams et al., 2005). Additionally, we have neglected important components and processes shaping more complete C dynamics in northern latitudes. First, mosses should be considered in Arctic tundra modeling studies (Uchida et al., 2016) as they are a representative vegetation type in Arctic ecosystems and have important implications for CUE and soil temperature insulation (Bradford & Crowther, 2013; Street, Stoy, et al., 2012; Street et al., 2013; Williams et al., 2000). Second, methane (CH₄) is another important contributor to the total C budgets in these ecosystems (Mastepanov et al., 2008, 2012; Tagesson et al., 2012; Zona et al., 2016). However, CH₄ modeling is challenging due to its different transport mechanisms, but possible (Kaiser et al., 2017; Walter et al., 2001; Walter & Heimann, 2000), and some studies can be used to set up future modeling efforts at this site (Pirk et al., 2017). Third, permafrost dynamics brings an additional layer of complexity to the C exchange (Åkerman & Johansson, 2008; Koven et al., 2011; Schuur et al., 2015) and its application and modeling is required due to the increased permafrost thaw in warmer temperatures (Rasmussen et al., 2017; Riseborough et al., 2008). Fourth, dissolved organic carbon losses by runoff can represent 12–35% of NEE in similar latitudes (Olefeldt et al., 2012; Roulet et al., 2007), and fen sites have been found to have higher export



rates than bogs or palsa environments (Olefeldt & Roulet, 2012). Finally, vegetation shifts feedbacks in response to changing temperature, precipitation, snow dynamics, and permafrost thaw are critical (Andrew et al., 2017; Myers-Smith et al., 2015), and its modeling has been proved implementable (van der Kolk et al., 2016).

4.2. The Role of the Winter Period on the Full Annual-Cycle C Balance

Recent studies have emphasized the relevance of the incorporation of wintertime periods to gain a more comprehensive understanding of the C sink/source dynamics in Arctic terrestrial ecosystems (Commane et al., 2017; Zona et al., 2016). The response of decomposition processes to temperature across long and cold winters is critical, especially when low but constant rates of respiration contribute to the annual budget under changing snow packs (McGuire et al., 2000). Thick snow packs insulate the soil from low temperatures and can at the same time act as a lid preventing respiration losses from reaching the atmosphere until snowmelt period (Lund et al., 2012). In this study, we included snow fraction data (Figure S3) to constrain soil temperature (Figure S4), so the representation of heterotrophic respiration derived from roots, litter and SOM decomposition in the outer shoulders (Figure 3) is more realistically simulated. Hobbie et al. (2000) indicated that winter activity can influence both the magnitude and the direction of annual C fluxes, and they reported winter activity to represent 61-81% of annual NEE (Oechel et al., 1997) and ~20% of annual soil respiration (Schimel & Clein, 1995). Here we quantify a decrease of the C sink strength (NEE) of 62% and an increase of 22.7% of the annual soil respiration. This result suggests a nontrivial contribution of the cold period to the year-round CO₂ exchange in this tundra site. The challenges now remain on wintertime-based field campaigns, similar to Pirk et al. (2016), to measure soil CO_2 data for validation with certain temporal coverage. To better constrain the decomposition rates and their feedbacks with snow regimes and soil temperatures controlling the wintertime C dynamics in Arctic ecosystems, it is essential to increase efforts on monitoring the changes occurring over full annual cycles (Euskirchen et al., 2012; Grøndahl et al., 2008), and at a deeper level of complexity (Cornelissen et al., 2007; DeMarco et al., 2014).

4.3. Quantifying the Contributing Processes to NEE, Their Meteorological and Biological Sensitivity, and Links to Leaf Traits

The SPA model has proven capable of effectively simulating Arctic C cycling (Table 2) at a very high temporal resolution as a result of its parameterization at leaf-level scale (Table 1), unravelling deeper levels of complexity at canopy-level scale (Table 3). In SPA, the net C uptake was calculated from the balance between the photosynthetic inputs (GPP) and respiration outputs (Reco; Figure 3), and the respiration losses are separated into its finer components (R_q, R_m, and R_h) (Figure 5). In the biosphere, stock dynamics are connected (Dopheide et al., 2012), and these fluxes are the result of the allocation (Figure 2c) of NPP to the various identifiable stocks of biomass (foliage, labile, stems, roots, litter, and SOM) together with their turnover rates and decomposition (Figure 2d). SPA captures all these fluxes within the same framework, and Figure 7 is an illustration of the terrestrial C cycling in Kobbefjord the period 2008–2015. Figure 7 synthesizes annual ranges of C stocks, allocation, turnover, and fluxes shown previously in Figures 2, 3, 4, and 5b and Table 3. The sensible balance between the components (Figure 7) can be highly dependent on meteorological variability but also biological disturbances (López-Blanco et al., 2017). In fact, one can positively feedback on the other. For example, in 2010, Kobbefjord experienced the warmest July-September period, and this anomaly was followed by a colder and drier October-May period, producing the thickest snowpack (Figure S1) on record. Additionally, the delayed beginning of the growing season in 2011 was characterized by a colder June, a cloudier (low PAR) July (Table S1) and larvae moth feeding on vegetation surrounding the fen (Lund et al., 2017). This succession of meteorological and biological events may have favored (1) optimal conditions for the moth outbreak, facilitating the survival of larvae eggs over winter due to the warmer soil temperatures under a very thick snowpack and (2) minimal conditions for plant growth agreeing with the significant decrease in GPP (Figure 5b) and subsequent decrease of CUE (Table 3). This study demonstrates that shifts in growing season timing can lead to large changes in net C exchange, thus delayed effects can severely affect the following years' performance.

However, SPA representation of process interactions agrees with the analyses realized by López-Blanco et al. (2017), suggesting that large interannual growing season variability of GPP and R_{eco} are also compensatory, and so NEE remained stable across meteorologically diverse years (Figure 4 and 5b). This result can be compared with the findings from Westergaard-Nielsen et al. (2017) in Zackenberg, Northeast Greenland, where

Journal of Geophysical Research: Biogeosciences

10.1029/2018JG004386



Figure 7. Schematic diagram of the terrestrial C processes modelled in SPA for the Kobbefjord (fen) site across the soil-plant-atmosphere continuum. C processes represented include flows for C fluxes in green (NEE, net ecosystem exchange; GPP, gross primary production; R_{eco} , ecosystem respiration; R_{g} , growth respiration; R_{m} , maintenance respiration; and R_{h} , heterotrophic respiration), C allocation in light blue (to labile, leaf, stem, and root), C turnover in dark red (from leaf, stem, root, and litter) and C stocks in dark blue (labile, leaf, stem, root, litter, and SOM). The ranges delimit minimum and maximum values.

the vegetation compensated the shorter growing season by having fast greenup and a tendency to higher peak in greenness, which links to GPP. We use the modeling to explore the mechanisms driving this compensatory effect. We implemented tissue-level respiration-nitrogen relationships from Reich et al. (2008) and fixed fractions of C allocated following Waring and Schlesinger (1985) to dynamically calculate R_m and R_{gr} respectively (Figure 5). During the June–August period, R_a contributed 69.8% to all respiratory losses (R_{ecc} ; $R_q = 18.5\%$; $R_m = 51.25\%$; Figure 5a) while annually, 58.3% ($R_q = 14.8\%$; $R_m = 43.5\%$; Figure 5a) b). These results suggest that the plant respiration is dominated by nitrogen-related dynamics (R_m) rather than the production of new biomass (R_q). The parameterization used here has been already reported based on plant C stock size and on the magnitude of GPP (Hopkins et al., 2013; Thornton & Rosenbloom, 2005). However, reports of explicit partitioned respiration components in the Arctic are missing, so field measurements are required for validation. Overall, this implementation provided a better understanding of the CUE responses to environmental change, and CUE estimations are more abundant in literature. The CUE around the sub-Arctic tundra has been reported ~0.47, but mosses could increase it up to 0.71-0.81 (Bradford & Crowther, 2013; Street et al., 2013). Here we reported CUE, estimated from first principles of modeling GPP and R_{a_r} of ~0.5 except in 2011 (Table 3). We found CUE to be sensitive to the events described this year, decreasing from ~0.5 to 0.4 (Table 3). A value of 0.4 indicates that 40% of gained C is allocated to biomass, and thus the GPP-R $_{\rm eco}$ compensation was disrupted by an unusual meteorology and the biological disturbance. CUE is sensitive to temperature and nitrogen concentration (cold temperatures and large N availabilities will increase CUE; Bradford & Crowther, 2013). In likely warming scenarios the CUE is hypothesized to decrease, favoring respiration losses (Street et al., 2013); therefore, this fact may affect the future coupling. Further modeling studies can investigate this likelihood.



From the sensitivity analysis (Table 1), similar responses of NEE, GPP, and Reco have emerged to changes in plant traits and vegetation properties. In fact, the correlation of GPP and Reco sensitivity to the same key parameters was strong ($R^2 = 0.84$), supporting the compensatory effect revealed by GPP and R_{eco} ($R^2 = 0.95$; Table 3). Reichstein et al. (2014) suggested that a significant part of the large unexplained variance of ecosystem functional properties and their environment is related to variation in plant traits. Additionally, the same authors suggested that ecosystem properties such as GPP or R_a could be derived from plant traits, claiming also a stronger integration of plant traits and ecosystem-atmosphere exchange. Here LMA, the rate coefficient for J_{max}, maximum foliar mass, and foliar N were found to be very important elements for the model parameterization (Table 1). We also found that these four most sensitive N-related plant traits in SPA presented a similar temperature sensitivity for GPP and R_{eco} across full annual cycles (Figure 6). This evidence supports our hypothesis that plant traits drive stabilization of NEE (Figure 4), through temperature-sensitive compensation between GPP and R_a. We find that GPP is more sensitive to temperature than R_{eco}, so compensation is not completely balanced between GPP and Reco. But both fluxes have similar trait-temperature sensitivity, and so compensation is relatively insensitive to temperature changes. There is evidence that plant traits are potentially key controllers in the gross flux coupling and that they can explain other ecosystem functional properties, including allocation, respiration and decomposition and stabilization of carbon in the soil. Street, Shaver, et al. (2012) pointed to very robust relationships between total foliar nitrogen and LAI across multiple different Arctic regions, despite their large variability in C uptake and plant functional types. The role of functional properties seems very important to interannual variability, even to biological disturbance, which suggests ecosystem resilience to changes (Reichstein et al., 2014). Further testing of the hypothesis presented here could involve a comparison of flux measurements from other high-latitude sites with similar climate but differing dominant vegetation communities, with different plant traits.

5. Conclusions

The SPA model captures well high temporal C dynamics and plant phenology in high-latitude ecosystems. Using a process model, we have explored the role of the wintertime period on NEE and decomposed the compensatory effects buffering NEE to meteorological variability. Wintertime heterotrophic respiration decreased the annual C sink strength mostly through litter decomposition, highlighting the importance of the cold period to the year-round CO_2 exchange in Arctic tundra. The modeling suggests that GPP and R_{eco} sensitivities to meteorology are similar and therefore compensatory, due to the key role that plant N content has on both processes, leading to a NEE stability across climatically diverse full annual cycles. Here plant traits and vegetation properties seem to be relevant controllers of the gross flux coupling. Continued exploration of flux time series is required to investigate the robustness of this meteorological buffering. Special attention needs to be paid to disturbance events such as the 2011 anomaly where the interplay between unusual meteorology and moth outbreak can break down the photosynthesis-respiration compensation.

References

ACIA (2005). Arctic climate impact assessment. New York: Cambridge University Press.

- Åkerman, H. J., & Johansson, M. (2008). Thawing permafrost and thicker active layers in sub-arctic Sweden. Permafrost and Periglacial Processes, 19(3), 279–292. https://doi.org/10.1002/ppp.626
- Albert, K. R., Ro-Poulsen, H., Mikkelsen, T. N., Michelsen, A., Van Der Linden, L., & Beier, C. (2011). Effects of elevated CO2, warming and drought episodes on plant carbon uptake in a temperate heath ecosystem are controlled by soil water status. *Plant, Cell & Environment*, 34(7), 1207–1222. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-3040.2011.02320.x
- AMAP (2017). Snow, water, ice and permafrost in the Arctic (SWIPA) 2017. Retrieved from Oslo, Norway: https://www.amap.no/documents/ doc/Snow-Water-Ice-and-Permafrost-in-the-Arctic-SWIPA-2017/1610
- Andrew, C. M., Elizabeth, S. J., Gillian, P., Isla, M.-S., & Marc, M.-F. (2017). Shrub growth and expansion in the Arctic tundra: an assessment of controlling factors using an evidence-based approach. *Environmental Research Letters*, 12(8), 085007.
- Arndal, M. F., Illeris, L., Michelsen, A., Albert, K., Tamstorf, M., & Hansen, B. U. (2009). Seasonal variation in gross ecosystem production, plant biomass, and carbon and nitrogen pools in five high Arctic vegetation types. Arctic, Antarctic, and Alpine Research, 41(2), 164–173. https:// doi.org/10.1657/1938-4246-41.2.164
- Aurela, M., Laurila, T., & Tuovinen, J.-P. (2004). The timing of snow melt controls the annual CO₂ balance in a subarctic fen. *Geophysical Research Letters*, 31, L16119. https://doi.org/10.1029/2004GL020315

Bay, C., Aastrup, P., & Nymand, J. (2008). The NERO line. A vegetation transect in Kobbefjord, West Greenland. Retrieved from
 Bintanja, R., & Andry, O. (2017). Towards a rain-dominated Arctic. *Nature Climate Change*, *7*, 263. https://doi.org/10.1038/nclimate3240
 Black, T. A., Chen, W. J., Barr, A. G., Arain, M. A., Chen, Z., Nesic, Z., et al. (2000). Increased carbon sequestration by a boreal deciduous forest in years with a warm spring. *Geophysical Research Letters*, *27*(9), 1271–1274. https://doi.org/10.1029/1999GL011234

Ecological Research Operations (nuukbasic.dk) as well as the ClimateBasis programme, in charge of the meteorological stations, the GeoBasis programme, in charge of the eddy covariance system, and the BioBasis programme, especially to Maia Olsen, for the collection and shipping of vegetation and soil samples. Both projects are being run under the GEM program funded by the Danish Environmental Protection Agency and the Danish Energy Agency. Moreover, this work was supported in part by a scholarship from the Aarhus-Edinburgh Excellence in European Doctoral Education Project and by the eSTICC (eScience tools for investigating Climate Change in Northern High Latitudes) project, part of the Nordic Center of Excellence (57001), as well as the Danish National Research foundation (DNRF100). We acknowledge the support of the NERC CYCLOPS and GREENHOUSE projects. Thanks are also due to Isabel de Andrés Velasco for contribution on the artistic design in Figure 7. Measurement data from the GEM program are freely available from the GEM database (http://data.g-e-m. dk/). The SPA model version used in this study (cyclops version—2.6.0.cyclops) is freely available from the SPA's developer page (https://sourced.ecdf. ed.ac.uk/projects/geos/SPA). Instructions on how to get the source code and how to compile and run SPA are available from the SPA Users Wiki (https://www.wiki.ed.ac.uk/display/SPA/ SPA+Model). Postprocessed data and scripts are available from the authors upon request (elb@bios.au.dk)

Bloom, A. A., Exbrayat, J.-F., van der Velde, I. R., Feng, L., & Williams, M. (2016). The decadal state of the terrestrial carbon cycle: Global retrievals of terrestrial carbon allocation, pools, and residence times. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 113(5), 1285–1290. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1515160113

Bloom, A. A., & Williams, M. (2015). Constraining ecosystem carbon dynamics in a data-limited world: integrating ecological "common sense" in a model–data fusion framework. *Biogeosciences*, 12(5), 1299–1315. https://doi.org/10.5194/bq-12-1299-2015

Boesgaard, K. S., Albert, K. R., Ro-Poulsen, H., Michelsen, A., Mikkelsen, T. N., & Schmidt, N. M. (2012). Long-term structural canopy changes sustain net photosynthesis per ground area in high arctic Vaccinium uliginosum exposed to changes in near-ambient UV-B levels. *Physiologia Plantarum*, 145(4), 540–550. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1399-3054.2011.01564.x

- Bradford, M. A., & Crowther, T. W. (2013). Carbon use efficiency and storage in terrestrial ecosystems. *New Phytologist*, 199(1), 7–9. https://doi.org/10.1111/nph.12334
- Callaghan, T. V., Johansson, M., Brown, R. D., Groisman, P. Y., Labba, N., Radionov, V., et al. (2012). The changing face of arctic snow cover: A synthesis of observed and projected changes. *Ambio*, 40(1), 17–31. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13280-011-0212-y
- Campioli, M., Schmidt, N., Albert, K., Leblans, N., Ro-Poulsen, H., & Michelsen, A. (2013). Does warming affect growth rate and biomass production of shrubs in the High Arctic? *Plant Ecology*, 214(8), 1049–1058. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11258-013-0230-x
- Christensen, J. H., Hewitson, B., Busuioc, A., Chen, A., Gao, X., Held, I., et al. (2007). Regional climate projections. In S. Solomon, et al. (Eds.), Climate Change 2007: Climate Change 2007: The Physical Science Basis: Working Group I Contribution to the Fourth Assessment Report of the IPCC (pp. 848–940). New York: Cambridge University Press.
- Commane, R., Lindaas, J., Benmergui, J., Luus, K. A., Chang, R. Y.-W., Daube, B. C., et al. (2017). Carbon dioxide sources from Alaska driven by increasing early winter respiration from Arctic tundra. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 114(21), 5361–5366. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1618567114
- Cornelissen, J. H. C., Van Bodegom, P. M., Aerts, R., Callaghan, T. V., Van Logtestijn, R. S. P., Alatalo, J., et al. (2007). Global negative vegetation feedback to climate warming responses of leaf litter decomposition rates in cold biomes. *Ecology Letters*, *10*(7), 619–627. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1461-0248.2007.01051.x
- Dee, D. P., Uppala, S. M., Simmons, A. J., Berrisford, P., Poli, P., Kobayashi, S., et al. (2011). The ERA-Interim reanalysis: Configuration and performance of the data assimilation system. Quarterly Journal of the Royal Meteorological Society, 137(656), 553–597. https://doi.org/ 10.1002/qj.828
- DeMarco, J., Mack, M. C., & Bret-Harte, M. S. (2014). Effects of arctic shrub expansion on biophysical vs. biogeochemical drivers of litter decomposition. *Ecology*, 95(7), 1861–1875. https://doi.org/10.1890/13-2221.1
- Dopheide, E., van der Meer, F., Sliuzas, R., van der Veen, A., & Voinov, A. (2012). System Earth: Some theory on the system The core of GIScience: A systems-based approach. Enschede. The Netherlands: The International Institute for Geo-Information Science and Earth Observation (ITC). Essery, R. (2015). A factorial snowpack model (FSM 1.0). Geoscientific Model Development, 8(12), 3867–3876. https://doi.org/10.5194/gmd-8-3867-2015
- Euskirchen, E. S., Bret-Harte, M. S., Scott, G. J., Edgar, C., & Shaver, G. R. (2012). Seasonal patterns of carbon dioxide and water fluxes in three representative tundra ecosystems in northern Alaska. *Ecosphere*, 3(1), 1–19. https://doi.org/10.1890/ES11-00202.1
- Falge, E., Baldocchi, D., Olson, R., Anthoni, P., Aubinet, M., Bernhofer, C., et al. (2001). Gap filling strategies for defensible annual sums of net ecosystem exchange. *Agricultural and Forest Meteorology*, *107*(1), 43–69. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0168-1923(00)00225-2
- Farquhar, G. D., & von Caemmerer, S. (1982). Modelling of photosynthetic response to environmental conditions. In O. L. Lange, P. S. Nobel, C. B. Osmond, & H. Ziegler (Eds.), *Physiological plant ecology II: Water relations and carbon assimilation* (pp. 549–587). Berlin, Heidelberg: Springer.
- Goetz, S. J., Bunn, A. G., Fiske, G. J., & Houghton, R. A. (2005). Satellite-observed photosynthetic trends across boreal North America associated with climate and fire disturbance. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 102(38), 13521–13525. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0506179102
- Groendahl, L., Friborg, T., & Soegaard, H. (2007). Temperature and snow-melt controls on interannual variability in carbon exchange in the high Arctic. *Theoretical and Applied Climatology*, 88(1-2), 111–125. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00704-005-0228-y
- Grøndahl, L., Friborg, T., Christensen, T. R., Ekberg, A., Elberling, B., Illeris, L., et al. (2008). In T. R. C. B. E. M. C. F, H. Meltofte, & R. Morten (Eds.), Spatial and inter-annual variability of trace gas fluxes in a heterogeneous High-Arctic landscape, Advances in Ecological Research (Vol. 40, pp. 473–498). London, UK: Academic Press.
- Hanis, K. L., Amiro, B. D., Tenuta, M., Papakyriakou, T., & Swystun, K. A. (2015). Carbon exchange over four growing seasons for a subarctic sedge fen in northern Manitoba, Canada. Arctic Science, 1(2), 27–44. https://doi.org/10.1139/as-2015-0003
- Helfter, C., Campbell, C., Dinsmore, K. J., Drewer, J., Coyle, M., Anderson, M., et al. (2015). Drivers of long-term variability in CO₂ net ecosystem exchange in a temperate peatland. *Biogeosciences*, 12(6), 1799–1811. https://doi.org/10.5194/bg-12-1799-2015
- Heliasz, M., Johansson, T., Lindroth, A., Mölder, M., Mastepanov, M., Friborg, T., et al. (2011). Quantification of C uptake in subarctic birch forest after setback by an extreme insect outbreak. *Geophysical Research Letters*, *38*, L01704. https://doi.org/10.1029/2010GL044733
- Hobbie, S. E., Schimel, J. P., Trumbore, S. E., & Randerson, J. R. (2000). Controls over carbon storage and turnover in high-latitude soils. *Global Change Biology*, 6(S1), 196–210. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-2486.2000.06021.x
- Hopkins, F., Gonzalez-Meler, M. A., Flower, C. E., Lynch, D. J., Czimczik, C., Tang, J., & Subke, J.-A. (2013). Ecosystem-level controls on rootrhizosphere respiration. *New Phytologist*, 199(2), 339–351. https://doi.org/10.1111/nph.12271
- Hugelius, G., Bockheim, J. G., Camill, P., Elberling, B., Grosse, G., Harden, J. W., et al. (2013). A new data set for estimating organic carbon storage to 3 m depth in soils of the northern circumpolar permafrost region. *Earth System Science Data*, 5(2), 393–402. https://doi.org/ 10.5194/essd-5-393-2013
- Hugelius, G., Strauss, J., Zubrzycki, S., Harden, J. W., Schuur, E. A. G., Ping, C. L., et al. (2014). Improved estimates show large circumpolar stocks of permafrost carbon while quantifying substantial uncertainty ranges and identifying remaining data gaps. *Biogeosciences Discussions*, 11(3), 4771–4822. https://doi.org/10.5194/bgd-11-4771-2014
- IPCC (2013). In T. F. Stocker, et al. (Eds.), Climate Change 2013: The Physical Science Basis. Contribution of Working Group I to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. Cambridge, United Kingdom and New York, NY, USA: Cambridge University Press. Jones, H. G. (1992). Plants and microclimate. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Kaiser, S., Göckede, M., Castro-Morales, K., Knoblauch, C., Ekici, A., Kleinen, T., et al. (2017). Process-based modelling of the methane balance in periglacial landscapes (JSBACH-methane). *Geoscientific Model Development*, 10(1), 333–358. https://doi.org/10.5194/ gmd-10-333-2017
- Keenan, T. F., Darby, B., Felts, E., Sonnentag, O., Friedl, M. A., Hufkens, K., et al. (2014). Tracking forest phenology and seasonal physiology using digital repeat photography: A critical assessment. *Ecological Applications*, 24(6), 1478–1489. https://doi.org/ 10.1890/13-0652.1

Koven, C. D., Ringeval, B., Friedlingstein, P., Ciais, P., Cadule, P., Khvorostyanov, D., et al. (2011). Permafrost carbon-climate feedbacks accelerate global warming. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 108(36), 14769–14774. https://doi.org/10.1073/ pnas.1103910108

- Kwon, H.-J., Oechel, W. C., Zulueta, R. C., & Hastings, S. J. (2006). Effects of climate variability on carbon sequestration among adjacent wet sedge tundra and moist tussock tundra ecosystems. *Journal of Geophysical Research*, 111, G03014. https://doi.org/10.1029/2005JG000036
- Lafleur, P. M., Humphreys, E. R., St. Louis, V. L., Myklebust, M. C., Papakyriakou, T., Poissant, L., et al. (2012). Variation in peak growing season net ecosystem production across the Canadian Arctic. *Environmental Science & Technology*, *46*(15), 7971–7977. https://doi.org/10.1021/es300500m
- Lasslop, G., Reichstein, M., Papale, D., Richardson, A. D., Arneth, A., Barr, A., et al. (2010). Separation of net ecosystem exchange into assimilation and respiration using a light response curve approach: critical issues and global evaluation. *Global Change Biology*, *16*(1), 187–208. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2486.2009.02041.x
- López-Blanco, E., Lund, M., Williams, M., Tamstorf, M. P., Westergaard-Nielsen, A., Exbrayat, J. F., et al. (2017). Exchange of CO2 in Arctic tundra: Impacts of meteorological variations and biological disturbance. *Biogeosciences*, 14(19), 4467–4483. https://doi.org/10.5194/bg-14-4467-2017
- Lund, M., Falk, J. M., Friborg, T., Mbufong, H. N., Sigsgaard, C., Soegaard, H., & Tamstorf, M. P. (2012). Trends in CO₂ exchange in a high Arctic tundra heath, 2000-2010. Journal of Geophysical Research, 117, G02001. https://doi.org/10.1029/2011JG001901
- Lund, M., Raundrup, K., Westergaard-Nielsen, A., López-Blanco, E., Nymand, J., & Aastrup, P. (2017). Larval outbreaks in West Greenland: Instant and subsequent effects on tundra ecosystem productivity and CO(2) exchange. *Ambio*, 46(Suppl 1), 26–38. https://doi.org/ 10.1007/s13280-016-0863-9
- Mastepanov, M., Sigsgaard, C., Dlugokencky, E. J., Houweling, S., Strom, L., Tamstorf, M. P., & Christensen, T. R. (2008). Large tundra methane burst during onset of freezing. *Nature*, 456(7222), 628–630. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature07464
- Mastepanov, M., Sigsgaard, C., Tagesson, T., Ström, L., Tamstorf, M. P., Lund, M., & Christensen, T. R. (2012). Revisiting factors controlling methane emissions from high-arctic tundra. *Biogeosciences Discussions*, 9(11), 15853–15900. https://doi.org/10.5194/bgd-9-15853-2012
- McGuire, A. D., Anderson, L. G., Christensen, T. R., Dallimore, S., Guo, L., Hayes, D. J., et al. (2009). Sensitivity of the carbon cycle in the Arctic to climate change. *Ecological Monographs*, 79(4), 523–555. https://doi.org/10.1890/08-2025.1
- McGuire, A. D., Christensen, T. R., Hayes, D., Heroult, A., Euskirchen, E., Kimball, J. S., et al. (2012). An assessment of the carbon balance of Arctic tundra: comparisons among observations, process models, and atmospheric inversions. *Biogeosciences*, 9(8), 3185–3204. https://doi.org/ 10.5194/bg-9-3185-2012
- McGuire, A. D., Melillo, J. M., Randerson, J. T., Parton, W. J., Heimann, M., Meier, R. A., et al. (2000). Modeling the effects of snowpack on heterotrophic respiration across northern temperate and high latitude regions: Comparison with measurements of atmospheric carbon dioxide in high latitudes. *Biogeochemistry*, 48(1), 91–114. https://doi.org/10.1023/a:1006286804351
- Meltofte, H., Christensen, T. R., Elberling, B., Forchhammer, M. C., & Rasch, M. (2008). Introduction. In T. R. C. B. E. M. C. F, H. Meltofte, & R. Morten (Eds.), Advances in ecological research (Vol. 40, pp. 1–12). London, UK: Academic Press.
- Moffat, A. M., Papale, D., Reichstein, M., Hollinger, D. Y., Richardson, A. D., Barr, A. G., et al. (2007). Comprehensive comparison of gap-filling techniques for eddy covariance net carbon fluxes. *Agricultural and Forest Meteorology*, 147(3–4), 209–232. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agrformet. 2007.08.011
- Myers-Smith, I. H., Elmendorf, S. C., Beck, P. S. A., Wilmking, M., Hallinger, M., Blok, D., et al. (2015). Climate sensitivity of shrub growth across the tundra biome. *Nature Climate Change*, *5*, 887. https://doi.org/10.1038/nclimate2697
- Oechel, W. C., Vourlitis, G., & Hastings, S. J. (1997). Cold season CO2 emission from Arctic soils. *Global Biogeochemical Cycles*, 11(2), 163–172. https://doi.org/10.1029/96GB03035
- Olefeldt, D., & Roulet, N. T. (2012). Effects of permafrost and hydrology on the composition and transport of dissolved organic carbon in a subarctic peatland complex. *Journal of Geophysical Research, 117*, G01005. https://doi.org/10.1029/2011JG001819
- Olefeldt, D., Roulet, N. T., Bergeron, O., Crill, P., Bäckstrand, K., & Christensen, T. R. (2012). Net carbon accumulation of a high-latitude permafrost palsa mire similar to permafrost-free peatlands. *Geophysical Research Letters*, *39*, L03501. https://doi.org/10.1029/2011GL050355
- Papale, D., Reichstein, M., Aubinet, M., Canfora, E., Bernhofer, C., Kutsch, W., et al. (2006). Towards a standardized processing of Net Ecosystem Exchange measured with eddy covariance technique: Algorithms and uncertainty estimation. *Biogeosciences*, 3(4), 571–583. https://doi. org/10.5194/bg-3-571-2006
- Pirk, N., Mastepanov, M., López-Blanco, E., Christensen, L. H., Christiansen, H. H., Hansen, B. U., et al. (2017). Toward a statistical description of methane emissions from arctic wetlands. Ambio, 46(1), 70–80. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13280-016-0893-3
- Pirk, N., Tamstorf, M. P., Lund, M., Mastepanov, M., Pedersen, S. H., Mylius, M. R., et al. (2016). Snowpack fluxes of methane and carbon dioxide from high Arctic tundra. *Journal of Geophysical Research: Biogeosciences*, 121, 2886–2900. https://doi.org/10.1002/2016JG003486
- Poyatos, R., Heinemeyer, A., Ineson, P., Evans, J. G., Ward, H. C., Huntley, B., & Baxter, R. (2013). Environmental and vegetation drivers of seasonal CO2 fluxes in a sub-arctic forest-mire ecotone. *Ecosystems*, 17(3), 377–393. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10021-013-9728-2
- Rasmussen, L. H., Zhang, W., Hollesen, J., Cable, S., Christiansen, H. H., Jansson, P.-E., & Elberling, B. (2017). Modelling present and future permafrost thermal regimes in Northeast Greenland. *Cold Regions Science and Technology*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. coldregions.2017.10.011
- Reich, P. B., Tjoelker, M. G., Pregitzer, K. S., Wright, I. J., Oleksyn, J., & Machado, J.-L. (2008). Scaling of respiration to nitrogen in leaves, stems and roots of higher land plants. *Ecology Letters*, 11(8), 793–801. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1461-0248.2008.01185.x
- Reichstein, M., Bahn, M., Mahecha, M. D., Kattge, J., & Baldocchi, D. D. (2014). Linking plant and ecosystem functional biogeography. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 111(38), 13697–13702. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1216065111
- Reichstein, M., Falge, E., Baldocchi, D., Papale, D., Aubinet, M., Berbigier, P., et al. (2005). On the separation of net ecosystem exchange into assimilation and ecosystem respiration: Review and improved algorithm. *Global Change Biology*, 11(9), 1424–1439. https://doi.org/ 10.1111/j.1365-2486.2005.001002.x
- Riseborough, D., Shiklomanov, N., Etzelmüller, B., Gruber, S., & Marchenko, S. (2008). Recent advances in permafrost modelling. Permafrost and Periglacial Processes, 19(2), 137–156. https://doi.org/10.1002/ppp.615
- Rocha, A. V., & Shaver, G. R. (2011). Burn severity influences postfire CO2 exchange in arctic tundra. *Ecological Applications*, 21(2), 477–489. https://doi.org/10.1890/10-0255.1
- Rogers, A., Serbin, S. P., Ely, K. S., Sloan, V. L., & Wullschleger, S. D. (2017). Terrestrial biosphere models underestimate photosynthetic capacity and CO2 assimilation in the Arctic. New Phytologist, 216(4), 1090–1103. https://doi.org/10.1111/nph.14740
- Roulet, N. T., Lafleur, P. M., Richard, P. J. H., Moore, T. R., Humphreys, E. R., & Bubier, J. (2007). Contemporary carbon balance and late Holocene carbon accumulation in a northern peatland. *Global Change Biology*, *13*(2), 397–411. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2486.2006.01292.x
Schimel, J. P., & Clein, J. S. (1995). Microbial response to freeze-thaw cycles in tundra and taiga soils. Soil Biology and Biochemistry, 28(8), 1061–1066. https://doi.org/10.1016/0038-0717(96)00083-1

Schneider, C. A., Rasband, W. S., & Eliceiri, K. W. (2012). NIH Image to ImageJ: 25 years of Image Analysis. *Nature Methods*, 9(7), 671–675. Schuur, E. A. G., McGuire, A. D., Schadel, C., Grosse, G., Harden, J. W., Hayes, D. J., et al. (2015). Climate change and the permafrost carbon feedback. *Nature*, 520(7546), 171–179. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature14338

Serreze, M. C., & Barry, R. G. (2011). Processes and impacts of Arctic amplification: A research synthesis. Global and Planetary Change, 77(1–2), 85–96. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gloplacha.2011.03.004

Shulski, M., & Wendler, G. (2007). The Climate of Alaska (216 pp). Fairbanks, AK: University of Alaska Press, Snowy Owl Books.

- Sloan, V. L., Fletcher, B. J., Press, M. C., Williams, M., & Phoenix, G. K. (2013). Leaf and fine root carbon stocks and turnover are coupled across Arctic ecosystems. *Global Change Biology*, 19(12), 3668–3676. https://doi.org/10.1111/gcb.12322
- Smallman, T. L., Moncrieff, J. B., & Williams, M. (2013). WRFv3.2-SPAv2: development and validation of a coupled ecosystem–atmosphere model, scaling from surface fluxes of CO2 and energy to atmospheric profiles. *Geoscientific Model Development*, 6(4), 1079–1093. https:// doi.org/10.5194/gmd-6-1079-2013

Street, L. E., Shaver, G. R., Rastetter, E. B., van Wijk, M. T., Kaye, B. A., & Williams, M. (2012). Incident radiation and the allocation of nitrogen within Arctic plant canopies: Implications for predicting gross primary productivity. *Global Change Biology*, 18(9), 2838–2852. https://doi. org/10.1111/j.1365-2486.2012.02754.x

Street, L. E., Stoy, P. C., Sommerkorn, M., Fletcher, B. J., Sloan, V. L., Hill, T. C., & Williams, M. (2012). Seasonal bryophyte productivity in the sub-Arctic: A comparison with vascular plants. *Functional Ecology*, 26(2), 365–378. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2435.2011.01954.x

Street, L. E., Subke, J.-A., Sommerkorn, M., Sloan, V., Ducrotoy, H., Phoenix, G. K., & Williams, M. (2013). The role of mosses in carbon uptake and partitioning in arctic vegetation. *New Phytologist*, 199(1), 163–175. https://doi.org/10.1111/nph.12285

- Tagesson, T., Mölder, M., Mastepanov, M., Sigsgaard, C., Tamstorf, M. P., Lund, M., et al. (2012). Land-atmosphere exchange of methane from soil thawing to soil freezing in a high-Arctic wet tundra ecosystem. *Global Change Biology*, 18(6), 1928–1940. https://doi.org/10.1111/ j.1365-2486.2012.02647.x
- Tarnocai, C., Canadell, J. G., Schuur, E. A. G., Kuhry, P., Mazhitova, G., & Zimov, S. (2009). Soil organic carbon pools in the northern circumpolar permafrost region. *Global Biogeochemical Cycles*, 23, GB2023. https://doi.org/10.1029/2008GB003327
- Thornton, P. E., & Rosenbloom, N. A. (2005). Ecosystem model spin-up: Estimating steady state conditions in a coupled terrestrial carbon and nitrogen cycle model. *Ecological Modelling*, 189(1), 25–48. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolmodel.2005.04.008
- Tjoelker, M. G., Oleksyn, J., & Reich, P. B. (2001). Modelling respiration of vegetation: Evidence for a general temperature-dependent Q10. Global Change Biology, 7(2), 223–230. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-2486.2001.00397.x
- Uchida, M., Muraoka, H., & Nakatsubo, T. (2016). Sensitivity analysis of ecosystem CO2 exchange to climate change in High Arctic tundra using an ecological process-based model. *Polar Biology*, *39*(2), 251–265. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00300-015-1777-x
- van der Kolk, H. J., Heijmans, M. M. P. D., van Huissteden, J., Pullens, J. W. M., & Berendse, F. (2016). Potential Arctic tundra vegetation shifts in response to changing temperature, precipitation and permafrost thaw. *Biogeosciences*, 13(22), 6229–6245. https://doi.org/10.5194/bg-13-6229-2016
- van der Molen, M. K., van Huissteden, J., Parmentier, F. J. W., Petrescu, A. M. R., Dolman, A. J., Maximov, T. C., et al. (2007). The growing season greenhouse gas balance of a continental tundra site in the Indigirka lowlands, NE Siberia. *Biogeosciences*, 4(6), 985–1003. https://doi.org/ 10.5194/bg-4-985-2007
- Van Wijk, M. T., Clemmensen, K. E., Shaver, G. R., Williams, M., Callaghan, T. V., Chapin, F. S., et al. (2004). Long-term ecosystem level experiments at Toolik Lake, Alaska, and at Abisko, Northern Sweden: generalizations and differences in ecosystem and plant type responses to global change. *Global Change Biology*, 10(1), 105–123. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2486.2003.00719.x
- Walter, B. P., & Heimann, M. (2000). A process-based, climate-sensitive model to derive methane emissions from natural wetlands:

Application to five wetland sites, sensitivity to model parameters, and climate. *Global Biogeochemical Cycles*, 14(3), 745–765. https://doi.org/10.1029/1999GB001204

Walter, B. P., Heimann, M., & Matthews, E. (2001). Modeling modern methane emissions from natural wetlands: 1. Model description and results. *Journal of Geophysical Research*, 106(D24), 34189–34206. https://doi.org/10.1029/2001JD900165

Waring, R. H., & Schlesinger, W. H. (1985). Forest ecosystems: concepts and management. London, UK: Academic Press.

- Webb, E. E., Schuur, E. A. G., Natali, S. M., Oken, K. L., Bracho, R., Krapek, J. P., et al. (2016). Increased wintertime CO2 loss as a result of sustained tundra warming. *Journal of Geophysical Research: Biogeosciences*, 121, 249–265. https://doi.org/10.1002/2014JG002795
- Westergaard-Nielsen, A., Lund, M., Hansen, B. U., & Tamstorf, M. (2013). Camera derived vegetation greenness index as proxy for gross primary production in a low Arctic wetland area. *ISPRS Journal of Photogrammetry and Remote Sensing*, 86, 89–99. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. isprsjprs.2013.09.006
- Westergaard-Nielsen, A., Lund, M., Pedersen, S. H., Schmidt, N. M., Klosterman, S., Abermann, J., & Hansen, B. U. (2017). Transitions in high-Arctic vegetation growth patterns and ecosystem productivity tracked with automated cameras from 2000 to 2013. *Ambio*, 46(1), 39–52. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13280-016-0864-8
- Williams, M., Eugster, W., Rastetter, E. B., McFadden, J. P., & Chapin, F. S. III (2000). The controls on net ecosystem productivity along an Arctic transect: a model comparison with flux measurements. *Global Change Biology*, 6(S1), 116–126. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-2486.2000.06016.x
- Williams, M., Law, B. E., Anthoni, P. M., & Unsworth, M. H. (2001). Use of a simulation model and ecosystem flux data to examine carbon-water interactions in ponderosa pine. *Tree Physiology*, 21(5), 287–298.
- Williams, M., Malhi, Y., Nobre, A. D., Rastetter, E. B., Grace, J., & Pereira, M. G. P. (1998). Seasonal variation in net carbon exchange and evapotranspiration in a Brazilian rain forest: A modelling analysis. *Plant, Cell & Environment*, 21(10), 953–968. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-3040.1998.00339.x

Williams, M., & Rastetter, E. B. (1999). Vegetation characteristics and primary productivity along an arctic transect: Implications for scaling-up. Journal of Ecology, 87(5), 885–898. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-2745.1999.00404.x

- Williams, M., Rastetter, E. B., Fernandes, D. N., Goulden, M. L., Wofsy, S. C., Shaver, G. R., et al. (1996). Modelling the soil-plant-atmosphere continuum in a Quercus–Acer stand at Harvard Forest: the regulation of stomatal conductance by light, nitrogen and soil/plant hydraulic properties. *Plant, Cell & Environment*, 19(8), 911–927. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-3040.1996.tb00456.x
- Williams, M., Schwarz, P. A., Law, B. E., Irvine, J., & Kurpius, M. R. (2005). An improved analysis of forest carbon dynamics using data assimilation. Global Change Biology, 11(1), 89–105. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2486.2004.00891.x
- Zona, D., Gioli, B., Commane, R., Lindaas, J., Wofsy, S. C., Miller, C. E., et al. (2016). Cold season emissions dominate the Arctic tundra methane budget. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 113(1), 40–45. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1516017113



Journal of Geophysical Research: Biogeosciences

Supporting Information for

Plant Traits are Key Determinants in Buffering the Meteorological Sensitivity of Net Carbon Exchanges of Arctic Tundra

Efrén López-Blanco^{1,2}, Magnus Lund¹, Torben R. Christensen^{1,3}, Mikkel P. Tamstorf¹, Thomas L. Smallman², Darren Slevin², Andreas Westergaard-Nielsen⁴, Birger U. Hansen⁴, Jakob Abermann⁵, Mathew Williams²

¹ Department of Biosciences, Arctic Research Center, Aarhus University, Frederiksborgvej 399, 4000 Roskilde, Denmark

² School of GeoSciences, University of Edinburgh, Edinburgh, EH93FF, UK

³ Department of Physical Geography and Ecosystem Science, Lund University, Sölvegatan 12, 223 62 Lund, Sweden

⁴ Center for Permafrost (CENPERM), Department of Geosciences and Natural Resource Management, University of Copenhagen, Oester Voldgade 10, 1350 Copenhagen, Denmark

⁵ Asiaq, Greenland Survey, Qatserisut 8, GL-3900 Nuuk, Greenland

Contents of this file

Text S1 Equations S1 Figures S1 to S5 Tables S1

Introduction

This supporting information provides additional details regarding the weather generator script used to gap-fill meteorological forcing (**Text S1**), the C flux partitioning and carbon use efficiency equations utilized in the study (**Equations S1**), the meteorological drivers used in the SPA framework after the model initialization (**Figure S1**), the carbon (C) and nitrogen (N) content of the three plant ecotypes sampled during the field campaign in 2015 (**Figure S2**), the snow coverage data used to constrain the snow subroutine introduced in SPA (**Figure S3**), the observed and modelled soil temperature before and after the implementation of the snow cover subroutine (**Figure S4**), a zoom-in on 2015 data presented in Figure 2 (**Figure S5**), the correlation matrix showing the Pearson correlations and significance between partitioned C fluxes- and phenology-related variables (**Figure S6**), and the air temperature and photosynthetic active radiation anomalies of the analyzed years (**Table S1**).

Text S1: Description of Weather Generator v1

Authors: Oliver Browne, T. Luke Smallman & Mathew Williams

The weather generator uses simple empirical approach to use daily information (max / min / mean, day of year and latitude) to estimate hourly time step information for incoming shortwave radiation, air temperature, relative humidity, precipitation, wind speed and atmospheric CO₂ concentration. A wide range of statistical and machine learning approaches are available to perform downscaling or gap-filling of time series; however, the explicit aim of the weather generator is to utilise a minimum of input information to allow for provision of consistent meteorological inputs in a data-sparse environment. The process of downscaling daily information to hourly will be briefly outlined in the following paragraphs, including a quantification of the weather generator's errors in downscaling meteorology. Wind speed and atmospheric CO₂ concentration are currently assumed to be equal to their daily mean values for each hour. The code is written in Fortran (including a control interface written in R), is fully commented and is freely available to download.

Hourly incoming shortwave radiation is estimated based on day length (estimated as a function of latitude and day of year), the daily time course of solar geometry and mean daily incoming shortwave. Day length is assumed to be equally distributed before and after noon, thus estimating the hour of sunrise and sun set. Solar radiation is then distributed over the daily time course based on the magnitude of the cosine solar zenith angle.

Downscaling air temperature requires input of daily minimum, maximum and mean air temperature (note daily mean temperature could be approximated as the mean of the minimum and maximum). The daily minimum temperature is assumed to occur at dawn while the maximum temperature is assumed to occur at midday plus an assumed lag value (currently assumed to equal 1 hour). The daily temperature curve is divided into three linear sections spanning midnight to dawn, dawn to the daily maximum temperature and daily maximum to midnight. The midnight temperature is calculated to maintain the desired daily mean temperature. At high latitudes when periods of 24-

hour darkness / light are possible the temperature time course is assumed to be equal to the daily mean. The hourly time course of relative humidity is assumed to be anticorrelated with that of temperature. The daily minimum and maximum relative humidity are assumed to occur at the same time as the maximum and minimum temperatures respectively.

The timing of precipitation is challenging to simulate due to complex processes requiring detailed information from the wider atmospheric conditions. Here, we have two simple assumptions available. First to distribute precipitation uniformly over the day. Second, to concentrate rainfall to a four-hour period targeted to begin when relative humidity is at its maximum.

Equations S1: Flux partitioning and carbon use efficiency.

The different components of the carbon budget considered in this study are related to each other as follows:

$$NEE = GPP - R_{eco}$$
(1)

where NEE is Net ecosystem exchange, GPP is gross primary production and R_{eco} is the ecological respiration. R_{eco} is defined as:

$$R_{eco} = R_a + R_h \tag{2}$$

where R_a is autotrophic respiration, and R_h is heterotrophic respiration. R_a and R_h are separated further down as:

$$R_a = R_g + R_m = (R_g_{leaf} + R_g_{root} + R_g_{stem}) + (R_m_{leaf} + R_m_{root})$$
(3)

$$R_{h} = R_{h \text{ litter}} + R_{h \text{ soil organic matter}}$$

$$\tag{4}$$

where R_g is growth respiration, R_m is maintenance respiration, and R_h is heterotrophic respiration. Each of these respiratory losses are split by C pools.

The carbon use efficiency (CUE) is defined as:

$$CUE = 1 - ((R_m + R_g) / GPP)$$
 (5)

where CUE is 1 minus the ratio of carbon losses through autotrophic respiration (R_a), split between growth (R_g) and maintenance (R_m), and gross primary productivity (GPP).



Figure S1. Time series of the monthly averaged drivers read in the SPA framework after the initialization of initial conditions and the vegetation and soil parameters. The meteorological drivers represented are **(a)** minimum, mean (solid line), minimum and maximum (dashed line) air temperature (°C), **(b)** cumulative precipitation and snow depth (mm), **(c)** photosynthetic active radiation (µmol⁻¹ m⁻²), and **(d)** vapor pressure deficit (hPa).



Figure S2. Carbon (C) and nitrogen (N) content (g m⁻²) of the three plant ecotypes sampled (fen, heath and copse) around the eddy covariance tower, separated by pools (leaf, litter, stem and roots). The error bars summarize the standard deviation from the CN analysis' replicates and the variability between samples.



Figure S3. Snow coverage data used to constrain the snow subroutine introduced in SPA following Essery (2015).



Figure S4. Time series of the observed and modelled soil temperature before (red) and after (blue) the implementation of the snow cover subroutine. The outputs shown are at a depth of 10 cm across the period 2008-2015.



Figure S5. Zoom-in on 2015 data presented in Figure 2. Observed [OBS] and predicted [MOD] plant phenology [%Gr, % of greenness; NDVI, in-situ Normalized Difference Vegetation Index; LAI; Leaf Area Index] (a) and C pools [labile, foliage, stem, root, litter] (b), as well as simulated C allocation [to labile, foliage, stem and root] (c) and C turnover [from foliage, stem and root] (d).



Figure S6. Correlation matrix showing the Pearson correlations and significance between NEE, Net Ecosystem Exchange; GPP, Gross Primary Production; Rg, Growth respiration; Rm, Maintenance respiration; Rh, Heterotrophic respiration; CUE, Carbon Use Efficiency; SM, Snow Melt period; bGS, beginning of the Growing Season; IGS, length of the Growing Season.

Year	Period	T _{air} anomalies	PAR anomalies
2008	June	0.22	279.32
2008	July	3.20	177.38
2008	August	0.61	-21.79
2008	September	-3.63	-221.43
2009	June	-1.47	96.99
2009	July	2.47	216.15
2009	August	1.01	11.08
2009	September	-4.21	-203.20
2010	June	0.84	96.04
2010	July	2.29	88.75
2010	August	3.55	-69.35
2010	September	-0.35	-174.46
2011	June	-1.64	159.61
2011	July	1.90	2.68
2011	August	0.52	-40.69
2011	September	-4.21	-213.61
2012	June	1.42	231.68
2012	July	3.99	56.20
2012	August	1.59	-74.82
2012	September	-1.70	-237.46
2013	June	-1.63	165.36
2013	July	1.20	96.87
2013	August	0.22	-19.09
2013	September	-3.55	-252.28
2014	June	-0.10	176.50
2014	July	3.01	157.98
2014	August	2.04	-33.68
2014	September	-3.41	-245.56
2015	June	-2.54	250.73
2015	July	1.54	140.38
2015	August	-0.02	-45.38
2015	September	-3.61	-228.75

Table S1. Monthly air temperature (T_{air} ; °C) and photosynthetic active radiation (PAR; μ mol⁻¹ m⁻²) anomalies of the analyzed years (2008-2015)

Paper IV

López-Blanco, E., Exbrayat, J. F., Lund, M., Christensen, T. R., Tamstorf, M. T., Slevin, D., Hugelius, G., Bloom, A. A., and Williams, M.: Evaluation of terrestrial pan-Arctic carbon cycling using a data assimilation system, Earth System Dynamics Discussions, 2018, 1-27, 10.5194/esd-2018-19, 2018.



Zackenberg site, East Greenland. 2017 field season. Photo by Efrén López-Blanco

Evaluation of terrestrial pan-Arctic carbon cycling using a dataassimilation system

Efrén López-Blanco^{1,2}, Jean-François Exbrayat^{2,3}, Magnus Lund¹, Torben R. Christensen^{1,4}, Mikkel P. Tamstorf¹, Darren Slevin², Gustaf Hugelius⁵, Anthony A. Bloom⁶, Mathew Williams^{2,3}

¹ Department of Biosciences, Arctic Research Center, Aarhus University, Frederiksborgvej 399, 4000 Roskilde, Denmark

² School of GeoSciences, University of Edinburgh, Edinburgh, EH93FF, UK

³ National Centre for Earth Observation, University of Edinburgh, Edinburgh, EH9 3FF, UK

⁴ Department of Physical Geography and Ecosystem Science, Lund University, Sölvegatan 12, 223 62 Lund, Sweden

⁵ Department of Physical Geography and Bolin Centre for Climate Research, Stockholm University, 106 91 Stockholm, Sweden

⁶ Jet Propulsion Laboratory, California Institute of Technology, Pasadena, CA 91109, USA

Correspondence to: Efrén López-Blanco (elb@bios.au.dk)

Keywords: Arctic tundra, Arctic taiga, Net Ecosystem Exchange, Gross primary production, Ecosystem Respiration, carbon stocks, transit times, field observations, global vegetation models.

Abstract. There is a significant knowledge gap in the current state of the terrestrial carbon (C) budget. The Arctic accounts for approximately 50% of the global soil organic C stock, emphasizing the important role of Arctic regions in the global C cycle. Recent studies have pointed to the poor understanding of C pools turnover, although remain unclear as to whether productivity or biomass dominate the biases. Here, we use an improved version of the CARDAMOM data-assimilation system, to produce pan-Arctic terrestrial C-related variables without using traditional plant functional type or steady-state assumptions. Our approach integrates a range of data (soil organic C, leaf area index, biomass, and climate) to determine the most likely state of the high latitude C cycle at a 1° x 1° resolution for the first 15 years of the 21st century, but also to provide general guidance about the controlling biases in the turnover dynamics. As average, CARDAMOM estimates 513 (456, 579), 245 (208, 290) and 204 (109, 427) g C m⁻² yr⁻¹ (90% confidence interval) from photosynthesis, autotrophic and heterotrophic respiration respectively, suggesting that the pan-Arctic region acted as a likely sink -55 (-152, 157) g C m⁻² yr⁻¹, weaker in tundra and stronger in taiga, but our confidence intervals remain large (and so the region could be a source of C). In general, we find a good agreement between CARDAMOM and different sources of assimilated and independent data at both pan-Arctic and local scale. Using CARDAMOM as a benchmarking tool for global vegetation models (GVM), we also conclude that turnover time of vegetation C is weakly simulated in vegetation models and is a major component of error in their forecasts. Our findings highlight that GVM modellers need to focus on the vegetation C stocks dynamics, but also their respiratory losses, to improve our process-based understanding of internal C cycle dynamics in the Arctic.

1 Introduction

Arctic ecosystems play a significant role in the global carbon (C) cycle (Hobbie et al., 2000; McGuire et al., 2009; McGuire et al., 2012). Slow organic matter decomposition rates due to cold and poorly drained soils in combination with cryogenic soil processes have led to an accumulation of large stocks of C stored in the soils, much of which is currently held in permafrost (Tarnocai et al., 2009). The permafrost region soil organic C (SOC) stock is more than twice the size of the atmospheric C stock; and accounts for approximately half of the global SOC stock (Hugelius et al., 2014; Jackson et al., 2017). High latitude ecosystems are experiencing a temperature increase that is nearly twice the global average (AMAP, 2017). The expected future increase of temperature (IPCC, 2013), precipitations (Bintanja and Andry, 2017), and growing season length (Aurela et al., 2004; Groendahl et al., 2007) will likely have consecuences in the Arctic net C balance. As high latudes warm, C cyle dynamics may lead to an increase of carbon dioxide (CO_2) emissions through ecosystem respiration (R_{eco}) driven by for example larger heterotrophic respiration (Commane et al., 2017; Schuur et al., 2015; Zona et al., 2016), drought stress on plant productity (Goetz et al., 2005) and episodic disturbances (Lund et al., 2017; Mack et al., 2011). However, temperatureinduced vegetation changes may counterbalance those effects by photosynthetic enhancement (Forkel et al., 2016; Graven et al., 2013; Lucht et al., 2002; Zhou et al., 2001; Zhu et al., 2016). Two examples are the increase of gross primary productivity (GPP) due to extended growing seasons, nutrient availability and CO₂ fertilization (Abbott et al., 2016; Myers-Smith et al., 2015; Myneni et al., 1997) and the shifts in vegetation dynamics such as shrub expansion (Myers-Smith et al., 2011). Consequently, phenology shifts may feedback on climate with unclear magnitude and sign (Anav et al., 2013; Murray-Tortarolo et al., 2013; Peñuelas et al., 2009). As a result of the significant changes that are already affecting the structure and function of Arctic ecosystems, it is critical to understand and quantify the C dynamics of the terrestrial tundra and taiga and their responses to climate change (McGuire et al., 2012).

Although the land surface is estimated to offset 30% of anthropogenic emissions of CO₂ (Canadell et al., 2007; Le Quéré et al., 2018), the terrestrial C cycle is currently the least constrained component of the global C budget and vast uncertainties remain (Bloom et al., 2016). Despite the importance of Arctic tundra and taiga biomes in the global land C cycle, our understanding of controls interacting between the allocation of C from net primary productivity (NPP), C stocks (C_{stock}), and transit times (TT), is deficient (Carvalhais et al., 2014; Friend et al., 2014; Hobbie et al., 2000). The TT is a concept that represents the time it takes for a particle of C to persist in a specific C stock and it is defined by the C stock and its outgoing flux, here addressed as $TT = C_{stock} / NPP$. According to a recent study by Sierra et al. (2017), TT is an important diagnostic metric of the C cycle and a concept that is independent of model internal structure and theoretical assumptions (steady state for example) for its calculation. Terms such as turnover time (Carvalhais et al., 2016), residence time (Friend et al., 2014), and turnover rate (Thurner et al., 2016) are used in the literature to represent the concept of TT (Sierra et al. 2017). The spatial variability with climate has been more studied for ecosystem productivity than for C transit time dynamics (Friend et al., 2014; Nishina et al., 2015; Thurner et al., 2016; Thurner et al., 2017). Friend et al., 2014 detailed that transit time dominates uncertainty in terrestrial vegetation responses to future climate and atmospheric CO₂. They found a 30% larger variation in modelled vegetation C change than response of NPP. Nishina et al. (2015) also suggested that long term C dynamics within ecosystems (vegetation turnover and soil decomposition) are more critical factors than photosynthetic processes (i.e. GPP or NPP). The respective contribution of bias from biomass and NPP to biases in transit times remain unquantified. Without an appropriate understanding of current state of basic components of the C cycle, the understanding of C cycle feedbacks to climate change remains highly uncertain (Hobbie et al., 2000; Koven et al., 2015b).

There are these days important efforts incorporating both in-situ and satellite-based datasets to asses C cycle retrievals and to reduce the uncertainties. At local scale, the net ecosystem exchange (NEE) of CO_2 between the land surface and the atmosphere is usually measured using eddy covariance EC techniques (Baldocchi, 2003). International efforts have led to the creation of global networks such as FLUXNET (http://fluxnet.fluxdata.org/) and ICOS (https://www.icos-ri.eu/), to harmonise data and support the reduction of uncertainties around the C cycle and its driving mechanisms. However, upscaling field observations to estimate regional to global C budget presents important challenges due to insufficient spatial coverage of measurements and heterogeneous landscape mosaics (McGuire et al., 2012). Furthermore, harsh environmental conditions in high latitude ecosystems and their remoteness complicates the collection of high quality data (Grøndahl et al., 2008; Lafleur et al., 2012). Given the lack of continuous, spatially distributed ground-based scale observations of NEE in the Arctic, it remains a challenging task to calculate with certainty whether or not the Arctic is a net C sink or a net C source, and how the net C balance will evolve in the future (Fisher et al., 2014). Over the past decade, an increasing number of regional to global datasets has improved our understanding of the terrestrial C dynamics, including global scale vegetation dynamics. These range from machine-learning based upscaling of FLUXNET data (Jung et al., 2017), remotely-sensed biomass products (Carvalhais et al., 2014; Thurner et al., 2014) and the creation of a global soil database (FAO/IIASA/ISRIC/ISSCAS/JRC, 2012). However, important limitations in data availability still remain in difficult measured drivers such as soil-plant turnover and soil respiration responses to climate, especially for a highly influential and understudied region like the Arctic.

Conveniently, Global Vegetation Models (GVM) have been developed to determine global terrestrial C cycles and represent vegetation ecosystem processes including the structural (i.e. growth, competition, and turnover) and biochemical (i.e. water, carbon, and nutrients cycling) responses to climate variability (Clark et al., 2011; Fisher et al., 2014; Friend and White, 2000; Ito and Inatomi, 2012; Pavlick et al., 2013; Sitch et al., 2003; Smith et al., 2001; Woodward et al., 1995). The advantage of using process-based models to measure C dynamics is that processes which drive ecosystem-atmosphere interactions can be simulated and reconstructed when data is scarce. However, C cycle modelling in GVMs typically relies on pre-arranged parameters retrieved from literature, prescribed plant-functional-type (PFT) and spin-up processes until the C stocks (biomass and SOC) reach their steady state. Further, inherent differences of model structure contribute more significantly to GVM uncertainties (Exbrayat et al., 2018; Nishina et al., 2014), than from differences in climate projections (Ahlström et al., 2012). Many model intercomparison projects have demonstrated a lack of coherence in future projections of terrestrial C cycling (Ahlström et al., 2012; Friedlingstein et al., 2014). Recent studies have used simulations from the first phase of the Inter-Sectoral Impact Model Intercomparison Project (ISI-MIP) (Warszawski et al., 2014) to evaluate the importance of key elements regulating vegetation C dynamics, but also the estimated magnitude of their associated uncertainties (Exbrayat et al., 2018; Friend et al., 2014; Nishina et al., 2014; Nishina et al., 2015; Thurner et al., 2017). An important insight is that the TTs in land ecosystem are a main uncertain feature of the global C cycle and, despite the increasing volume of C-cycling related products, GVMs do not provide estimates of the internal dynamics which regulate the C cycle and its response to changes.

An approach to circumvent these issues is to integrate models and data to estimate these dynamics in agreement with observations. Integrating available climatic, ecological and biochemical data from field experiments, flux towers and remote sensing observations using data assimilation system (e.g. ensemble Kalman filter, Bayesian technique) can reduce uncertainties in parameter estimation and improve calculation of C cycle dynamics (Fox et al., 2009; Luo et al., 2009; Williams et al., 2005). Here, we use the CARbon DAta MOdel framework (CARDAMOM) (Bloom et al., 2016; Smallman et al., 2017) to retrieve the pan-Arctic terrestrial carbon cycle for the 2000-2015 period in agreement with gridded observations of LAI,

in some locations. Additionally, we selected variable u* threshold to identify insufficient turbulence wind conditions from year to year similar to López-Blanco et al. (2017). For readability purposes, in this data-model comparison we included the median (P50) \pm the 50% confidence interval (percentile 25th to 75th; $\binom{P75}{P25}$) including both random and u* filtering uncertainty following the method described in Papale et al. (2006). Some of the sites lack wintertime measurements and we filtered out data for months with less than 10 % observations. We performed a point-to-grid cell comparison to assess the degree of agreement between each flux magnitude and seasonality calculating the statistics of linear fit (slope, intercept, R², RMSE, and bias) per flux and site between CARDAMOM and FLUXNET2015 datasets.

2.4 Benchmark of Global Vegetation Models

We examined the pan-Arctic annual changes in net primary production (NPP), vegetation biomass carbon stocks (Cveg) and vegetation transit times (TTveg) using CARDAMOM as benchmark tool for six participating GVMs in the ISI-MIP comparison project (Warszawski et al., 2014). In this study we have considered HYBRID (Friend and White, 2000), JeDi (Pavlick et al., 2013), JULES (Clark et al., 2011), LPJmL (Sitch et al., 2003), SDGVM (Woodward et al., 1995), and VISIT (Ito and Inatomi, 2012). The specific properties and degree of complexity of each ISI-MIP model are summarized in Table S4, and more detailed information can be found in Friend et al. (2014) and Thurner et al. (2017). In this study, each model simulation has been conducted under multiple General Circulation Models (GCMs). Here we included HadGEM2-ES (Collins et al., 2011), IPSLCM5A-LR (Dufresne et al., 2013), MIROC-ESM-CHEM (Watanabe et al., 2011), GFDL-ESM2M (Dunne et al., 2012), and NorESM1-M (Bentsen et al., 2013) GCMs from the fifth phase of the Coupled Model Intercomparison Project (CMIP5) experiment (Arora et al., 2013; Taylor et al., 2012), which are temperature and precipitation bias corrected following Hempel et al. (2013). The comparisons with CARDAMOM for each GVM included the mean ensemble of all GCM forcings. The comparisons have been performed under the same spatial resolution as the CARDAMOM spatial resolution for the 2000-2004 period (1° x 1° resolution). We estimated the degree of agreement using the statistics of linear fit (slope, intercept, R², RMSE, and bias) per variable and model between CARDAMOM and GVMs, but also their spatial variability including stipples where the GVM datasets are within the CARDAMOM's 90% confidence interval.

3 Results

3.1 Pan-Arctic retrievals of C cycle

Overall, we found that the pan-Arctic region (Figure 1 and Table 1) acted as a small sink of C (area-weighted P50) over the 2000-2015 period with an average of -55.8 $\binom{1158.1}{-260.5}$ g C m⁻² yr⁻¹, P50 $\binom{P95}{P05}$, although the 90% confidence intervals remain large (and so the region could be a source of C). Tundra regions presented a weaker sink compared to taiga regions, this is -13.0 $\binom{1107.7}{-158.5}$ and -104.1 $\binom{1215.0}{-375.4}$ g C m⁻² yr⁻¹ respectively, but also lower uncertainties with nearly 1265.5 g C m⁻² yr⁻¹ between P05 and P95 in tundra. In general, the photosynthetic inputs exceeded the respiratory outputs (GPP > Reco; Table 1), although the much larger uncertainties stemming from Reco, and more specifically from R_h, compared with GPP complicate the net C sink/source estimate beyond the median's average ensembles. In the pan-Arctic region approximately half of GPP is autotrophically respired resulting in an NPP of 263.3 $\binom{376.6}{177.4}$ g C m⁻² yr⁻¹. Carbon use efficiency (NPP/GPP) averages $0.51\binom{0.55}{0.46}$, and marginally varied across tundra $0.50\binom{0.54}{0.46}$ and taiga $0.52\binom{0.56}{0.46}$. Despite these apparent small variations, tundra

biomass and SOC stocks. In this paper, we compare analyses of C dynamics of Arctic tundra and taiga against (a) global products of GPP (Jung et al., 2017) and heterotrophic respiration (R_h) (Hashimoto et al., 2015); (b) NEE, GPP and R_{eco} field observations from 8 sub- and high- Arctic sites included in the FLUXNET2015 dataset, and (c) 6 extensively used GVMs from the ISI-MIP comparison project (Warszawski et al., 2014). Our objectives are to (1) present and evaluate the retrievals and uncertainties of the current state of the pan-Arctic terrestrial C cycling using a model-data fusion system, (2) quantify the degree of agreement between our better constrained product with local to global scale sources of available data available, and (3) use CARDAMOM as a benchmarking tool for the ISI-MIP models to provide general guidance towards GVM improvements. Finally, we suggest future work to be done in the context of pan-Arctic C cyling modelling at the global scale.

2 Data and methods

2.1 Pan-Arctic region

The spatial domain we considered in this study (Figure S1) corresponds to the extent of the Northern Circumpolar Soil Carbon Database version 2 (NCSCDv2) dataset (Hugelius et al., 2013a; Hugelius et al., 2013b), bounded by latitudes 44°N - 80°N and longitudes 180°W - 180°E, and at a spatial resolution of 1° x 1°. This area of study totals 18.7 million km² of land area. We used the GlobCover vegetation map product developed by the European Space Agency (Bontemps et al., 2011) to separate regions dominated by non-forested and forested land cover types (hereafter referred as tundra and taiga, respectively) (Figure S1). The differentiation between tundra and taiga grid cells is in agreement with the tree line delimitated by Brown et al. (1997) together with the tundra domain defined from the Regional Carbon Cycle Assessment and Processes Activity reported by McGuire et al. (2012). However, the tundra region extents into taiga regions without presence of trees in some areas such as the extensive grasslands in South Russia and Mongolia (Figure S1). This classification of tundra and taiga totals 9.0 and 9.7 million km² of land area, respectively.

2.2 The CARbon DAta MOdel framework

Here we use the CARbon DAta MOdel framework (CARDAMOM; Bloom et al., 2016) (list of acronyms can be found in Table S1) to retrieve terrestrial C cycle dynamics, including explicit confidence intervals, in the pan-Arctic region. CARDAMOM is centred around the Data Assimilation Linked Ecosystem Carbon version 2 (DALEC2), to simulate landatmosphere C fluxes and the evolution of six C stocks (foliage, labile, wood, roots, soil organic matter (SOM) and surface litter) and corresponding fluxes (Bloom and Williams, 2015; Williams et al., 2005). DALEC2 includes 17 parameters controlling the processes of plant phenology, photosynthesis, allocation of primary production to respiration and vegetation carbon stocks, plant and organic matter turnover rates, all established within specific prior ranges based on ecologically viable limits (Table S2). DALEC2 simulates GPP and its allocation to the four plant stocks and autotrophic respiration (R_a) as timeinvariant fraction. Plant C decays into litter and soil stocks where microbial decomposition generates heterotrophic respiration (R_h). In each plant, litter and soil stock turnover is simulated using temperature dependent first-order kinetics. The Net Ecosystem Exchange (NEE) is calculated as the difference between GPP and the sum of the respiration fluxes ($R_{eco} = R_a + R_h$), while Net Primary Productivity (NPP) is the difference between GPP and R_a . Only NEE follows the standard micrometeorological sign convection presenting the uptake of C as negative (sink), and the release of C as positive (source); both GPP and R_{eco} are reported as positive fluxes.

CARDAMOM is driven by climate data from the European Centre for Medium-Range Weather Forecast Reanalysis interim (ERA-interim) dataset (Dee et al., 2011) for the 2000-2015 period. A Bayesian Metropolis-Hastings Markov chain Monte Carlo (MHMCMC) algorithm is used to retrieve the posterior distribution of 17 process parameters according to observational constraints and Ecological and Dynamic constraints (EDCs; Bloom and Williams, 2015). EDCs ensure that DALEC2 simulates the terrestrial carbon cycle in agreement with ecological theory. Observational constraints include monthly time series of Leaf Area Index (LAI) from the MOD15A2 product (Myneni et al., 2002), estimates of vegetation biomass and soil organic carbon content. In this paper, there are two main differences with the global approach described in Bloom et al. (2016). First, the biomass constraints used by Bloom et al. (2016) only cover tropical regions. Instead, here we use global biomass estimates from Carvalhais et al. (2014) which are based on remotely-sensed forest biomass (Thurner et al., 2014) and upscaled GPP based on data driven estimates (Jung et al., 2011) covering the pan-Arctic domain. Second, we constrained the storage of SOC in the 0-1 m topsoil from the Circum-Arctic permafrost region (Brown et al., 1997) using the NCSCD spatial explicit product (Hugelius et al., 2013a; Hugelius et al., 2013b) instead of the Harmonized World Soil Database (HWSD) (FAO/IIASA/ISRIC/ISSCAS/JRC, 2012). While we report results using this configuration, we provide estimates of the sensitivity of retrievals to the choice of SOC database and the inclusion or omission of C_{veg} prior (global biomass product) in the Supplement.

We apply the setup described above to 3433 1° x 1° pixels (1815 in tundra; 1618 in taiga) using a monthly time step. Each pixel is treated independently without assuming a prior land cover type. Prior values for two parameters (fraction of GPP respired and canopy efficiency) are set according to Bloom et al. (2016). The MHMCMC is performed three times until convergence and a total of 1500 parameter sets is sampled from the posterior distribution of parameter sets which allow producing corresponding density function of all C fluxes and stocks. In the following we report highest confidence results (median; P50) and the uncertainty represented by the 90% confidence interval (5th percentile to 95th percencile, $\binom{P95}{P05}$). We aggregated the different C stocks into photosynthetic (C_{photo}; leaf and labile), vegetation (C_{veg}; leaf, labile, wood and roots) and soil (C_{dom}; litter and SOM) C stocks.

2.3 Model evaluation at local and pan-Arctic scales

At the pan-Arctic scale, we compared our CARDAMOM GPP with FLUXCOM dataset from Jung et al. (2017). FLUXCOM is based on a machine-learning approach to upscale local GPP data from eddy-covariance towers and provide gridded estimates of monthly fluxes at 0.5° x 0.5° resolution. FLUXCOM has been used in previous studies as a benchmark for simulated GPP (Exbrayat et al., 2018; Slevin et al., 2017). We also compared our CARDAMOM R_h with the global spatiotemporal distribution of soil respiration from Hashimoto et al. (2015) calculated by a climate-driven empirical model. To assess the degree of statistical agreement we calculated linear goodness-of-fit (slope, intercept, R², RMSE, and bias) between CARDAMOM and the two independent datasets. The mapping includes stipples representing locations where the independent datasets are within the CARDAMOM's 90% confidence interval.

At a local scale, we compare CARDAMOM NEE and its partitioned components GPP and R_{eco} estimates against monthly aggregated values from the FLUXNET2015 sites. We selected 8 sites (Belelli Marchesini et al., 2007; Bond-Lamberty et al., 2004; Goulden et al., 1996; Ikawa et al., 2015; Kutzbach et al., 2007; López-Blanco et al., 2017; Lund et al., 2012; Sari et al., 2017) located across sub- and high-Arctic latitudes, covering locations with different climatic conditions and dominating ecotypes (Table S3). For this evaluation, we compared the same years for both observations and CARDAMOM, and we selected data using daytime method (Lasslop et al., 2010) due to the absence of true nighttime period during Arctic summers

photosynthesized and respired (respectively $315.0\binom{450.1}{226.9}$ and $300.0\binom{1515.0}{119.3}$ g C m⁻² yr⁻¹) approximately half as much as the Taiga region (736.5 $\binom{940.9}{564.9}$ and $618.98\binom{2106.3}{276.6}$ g C m⁻² yr⁻¹).

The total size of the pan-Arctic soil C stock (C_{dom}) averaged 24.4 $\binom{47.6}{10.3}$ kg C m⁻², an estimate 94% greater than the vegetation C stock (C_{veg}), 1.4 $\binom{6.0}{0.5}$ kg C m⁻². The soil C stock (fresh litter and SOM) is clearly dominated by C_{som}, accounting for the 98.8%, which also dominates the total terrestrial C stock in the pan-Arctic. Among the living C stocks, 91% of the C is allocated to the structural stocks (wood and roots; $1.3\binom{5.8}{0.4}$ kg C m⁻²) compared to 9% to the photosynthetic stock (leaves and labile; $0.1\binom{0.1}{0.1}$ kg C m⁻²). On average, the total ecosystem C stock is $26.2\binom{51.1}{11.7}$ kg C m⁻² in the pan-Arctic region, with slightly lower stocks in tundra ($24.6\binom{50.7}{10.8}$ kg C m⁻²) than taiga ($28.0\binom{52.0}{12.8}$ kg C m⁻²). In general, the taiga region accumulated on average ~44 %, ~55 % and ~10 % more C than tundra region in photosynthetic, structural and soil C stocks, respectively. In other words, taiga accumulates ~12 % more total C than tundra. Uncertainties in estimates of soil C stock are notably higher than for living C stocks, highlighting the lack of observational and mechanistic constraint on heterotrophic respiration.

The global mean C transit time is $1.4\binom{2.2}{0.9}$ years in leaves and labile plant tissue (TT_{photo}), $4.3\binom{15.3}{1.6}$ years in stems and roots (TT_{veg}), and $129.3\binom{981.1}{10.9}$ years in litter and SOM (TT_{dom}). The total C transit time (TT_{tot}) ($142.5\binom{1089.4}{11.9}$ years) is clearly dominated by the soil C stock, highlighting the very long periods of times that C particles persist in Arctic soils. CARDAMOM calculated 60% longer TT_{dom} in tundra compared to taiga, but also significantly greater uncertainties likely echoing from the caviates found in C_{dom} and R_h due to the limitations of data constraints. Longer transit times are likely affected at some degree by low temperatures, wet soils, and thus slower decomposition processes.

3.2 Data assimilation and evaluation: from global to local scale

Our analysis indicates that the assimilated data by the CARDAMOM framework are in good agreement with priors of SOC and, in a lesser degree, biomass. The agreement for the SOC dataset by Hugelius et al. (2013a) is a 1:1 relationship ($R^2 = 1.0$; RMSE = 0.97 kg C m⁻²) (Figure 2). The biomass product from Carvalhais et al. (2014) led to a tendency towards ~28% higher accumulation of C in the vegetation (leaf, labile, wood and roots) C stocks compared to the assimilated biomass in CARDAMOM ($R^2 = 0.97$; RMSE = 0.46 kg C m⁻²). The understanding of ecological dynamics implemented in CARDAMOM cannot fully resolve Carvalhais et al. (2014) biomass in agreement with other products of LAI and SOC.

On the other hand, we compared our estimates of GPP and R_h with independent datasets to evaluate the model performance (Figure 3). We found GPP to be well correlated ($R^2 = 0.81$; RMSE = 0.43 kg C m⁻²), but significantly lower (~51%) compared to Jung et al. (2017)'s GPP estimates. The areas with larger agreement, this is where FLUXCOM falls within CARDAMOM's 90% confidence interval, are in taiga regions rather than in tundra (Figure 3). We found the R_h product from Hashimoto et al. (2015) is less consistent with our estimates ($R^2 = 0.38$; RMSE = 0.09 kg C m⁻²), presenting a tendency towards lower values in tundra pixels and higher values in taiga pixels. R_h falls only within the 90% confidence interval of CARDAMOM in Central Northen Canada and Eurasia as well as the grasslands in South Russia and Mongolia (Figure 3). The spatial variability of R_h is considerably smaller in Hashimoto et al. (2015) compared to our CARDAMOM estimates. This findings confirm the uncetartanties previously noted in modelled respiratory processes (Table 1) where the upper P95 in R_h dominated NEE's uncertainties, but also the soil C stocks and transit times.

In order to get also a comparison with direct ground observations from the FLUXNET2015 dataset, we report here monthly aggregated P50 \pm P25-75 estimates of NEE, GPP and R_{eco} to show timing and magnitudes, but also to diagnose

whether CARDAMOM is in general agremment with flux tower data. Overall, CARDAMOM performed well in simulating observed NEE ($R^2 = 0.66$; RMSE = 0.51 g C m⁻² month⁻¹; Bias = 0.16 g C m⁻² month⁻¹), GPP ($R^2 = 0.85$; RMSE = 0.89 g C m⁻² month⁻¹) and R_{eco} ($R^2 = 0.82$; RMSE = 0.63 g C m⁻² month⁻¹; Bias = 0.35 g C m⁻² month⁻¹) and R_{eco} ($R^2 = 0.82$; RMSE = 0.63 g C m⁻² month⁻¹; Bias = 0.35 g C m⁻² month⁻¹) across 8 sub-Arctic and high-Arctic sites from the FLUXNET2015 dataset (Figure 4; Table 2). CARDAMOM NEE is 25% lower than FLUXNET2015, while GPP and R_{eco} are 30% and 10% higher, respectively. This mismatch is important in the context of the FLUXCOM GPP upscaling, 50% lower than CARDAMOM. Some sites such as Hakasia, Samoylov, Poker Flat and Manitoba (NEE $R^2 = 0.73$; GPP $R^2 = 0.92$ and $R_{eco} R^2 = 0.88$) represent better the seasonality and the magnitude of the C fluxes than the rest, i.e. Tiksi, Kobbefjord, Zackenberg and UCI-1998 (NEE $R^2 = 0.58$; GPP $R^2 = 0.67$ and $R_{eco} R^2 = 0.67$). In general, CARDAMOM captured the beginning and the end of the growing season (Figure 4), although the assimilation system have important bias due to (1) difference in timing (e.g. earlier shifts of peak of the growing season in Manitoba GPP and R_{eco} and earlier end of the growing season in Poker Flat NEE) and (2) differences in flux magnitudes (such as in Hakasia GPP and R_{eco} and Kobbefjord NEE).

3.3 Benchmarking ISI-MIP with CARDAMOM

We used our highest confidence retrievals of NPP, C_{veg} and TT_{veg} (i.e. retrievals including assimilated LAI, biomass and SOC) to benchmark the performance of the GVMs from the ISI-MIP project. In this assessment we compared not only their spatial variability across the pan-Arctic, tundra and taiga region (Figure 5), but also the degree of agreement between their mean model ensemble within the 90% confidence interval of our assimilation framework (Figure 6, Table 3). Overall, ISI-MIP models are more in agreement with CARDAMOM's NPP estimates (RMSE = 0.3 kg C m⁻² yr⁻¹; Bias= 0.1 kg C m⁻² yr⁻¹) than C_{veg} (RMSE = 2.8 kg C m⁻²; Bias= 1.7 kg C m⁻²) and TT_{veg} (RMSE = 15.0 years; Bias= 3.5 years). Moreover, the assessed GVMs consistently estimated 36% and 53% higher NPP and C_{veg} and 45% longer TT_{veg} than CARDAMOM across the entire pan-Arctic domain (Figure 5 and 6). HYBRID overestimated CARDAMOM NPP and C_{veg} more clearly than any other model by 70% and 75%, but only 36% for TT_{veg} . This is a representative example of compensating errors that may reduce the apparent bias in the inner dynamics. In other word, HYBRID TT_{veg} is simply the result of a systematic overestimation of NPP and C_{veg} . On the other hand, JeDi and SDGVM are the models in closer agreement with CARDAMOM (Table 3; Figure 5 and 6).

Finally, we apportioned the error contribution to TT_{veg} by applying an attribution analysis in order to identify the origin of the bias, this is NPP or C_{veg} . Interestingly, we found that C_{veg} is weakly simulated in GVMs and is a major component of error in their forecasts (Figure 7). We used CARDAMOM to calculate two hypothetical TT_{veg} (i.e. $TT_{veg} = CARDAMOM$ $C_{veg} / ISI-MIP$ NPP and $TT_{veg} = ISI-MIP$ $C_{veg} / CARDAMOM$ NPP) and then identify the largest difference with CARDAMOM's reference TT_{veg} . We estimated the hypothetical TT_{veg} for each pixel in each model, and derived a pixel-wise measure of the contribution of biases in NPP and C_{veg} to biases in TT_{veg} by overlapping their distribution functions (Figure 7). The distribution of the differences relative to CARDAMOM revealed that the highest error (i.e. the lower overlapped area, and by extension the largest contributor to TT_{veg} biases) comes from C_{veg} with only a 29% agreement in the distribution.

4 Discussion

4.1. Pan-Arctic retrievals of C cycle

The CARDAMOM framework has been used to evaluate the terrestrial pan-Arctic C cycling in tundra and taiga at coarse spatio-temporal scale (at monthly and annual time steps for the 2000-2015 period and at 1° x 1° grid cells). Overall, we found that the pan-Arctic region (1) was most likely a consistent sink of C (weaker in tundra and stronger in taiga), although the large uncertainties derived from respiratory processes (Table 1) strongly increase the 90% confidence interval uncertainty; (2) accumulated most of the C in the soil C stock (both fresh litter and SOM, but dominated by the latter with a contribution of about 97%); and (3) experienced longer transit times litter and SOM C stock in tundra compared to taiga.

In general, we found a reasonable agreement between CARDAMOM and different sources of assimilated and independent data at both pan-Arctic and local scale. CARDAMOM retrievals of assimilated data are in agreement with the SOC and biomass constraints (Figure 2). The simulation of TT_{dom} is weakly constrained - our analysis adjusts TT to match mapped stocks, hence the strong match of modelled to mapped SOC. So, independent data on TT_{dom} data (e.g. ¹⁴C) is required across the pan-Arctic region to provide stronger constraint on process parameters. Further, the retrivievals presented here exhibited a modest performance compared to independent global GPP (Jung et al., 2017) and R_h products (Hashimoto et al., 2015) (Figure 3). The uncertainties in CARDAMOM R_h are substantially larger than for CARDAMOM GPP, and that echoes in the large uncertainty found in NEE (Table 1). One difference between these two models is the lack of moisture limitation on respiration in CARDAMOM. Conversely, GPP is relatively well-constrained through the assimilation of LAI and a prior for productivity (Bloom et al., 2016), although an important mismatch has been found: CARDAMOM GPP is 50% lower than FLUXCOM, but 30% higher than FLUXNET2015 EC data.

Interestingly, the agreement between earth observation data and EC data is surprisingly good given the vast scale difference. However, a direct point-to-grid cell comparison with local observations derived from the FLUXNET2015 dataset (Figure 4, Table 2) is challenging and always difficult. CARDAMOM outputs covers 1° x 1° grid cells, whereas local eddy covariance flux measurements are in the order of 1-10 hectares. Thus, for observational sites located in areas with complex terrain, such as Kobbefjord in coastal Greenland, the agreement can be expected to be low. For inland forest sites, such as Poker Flat in Alaska, there may be less differences in vegetation characteristics and local climatology between the local scale measurement footprint and the corresponding CARDAMOM grid cell. This scaling issue is likely to have a larger impact on flux magnitudes compared with seasonal dynamics. In general, CARDAMOM captured the seasonal dynamics in NEE, GPP and Reco well (Figure 4, Table 2). There was, however, a consistent timing-mismatch in early season flux increase, where CARDAMOM predicts earlier growing season onset compared with observations. This is likely due to the impact of snow cover, which is not explicitly included in the CARDAMOM framework.

At broader scales CARDAMOM demonstrates that an assimilation system can certainly be a robust and useful tool to assess large scale C cycle dynamics in the Arctic - its retrievals are in agreement with several outcomes from relevant papers such as the (I) C flux observations and model estimates reported in McGuire et al. (2012); (II) C stocks and transit times described by Carvalhais et al. (2014), and (III) NPP, C stocks and turnover rates stated in Thurner et al. (2017).

I. The CARDAMOM NEE estimates reported in this study for the tundra domain are inside the variability comparison of values compiled by McGuire et al. (2012) considering field observation, regional process-based models, globalprocess based models and inversion models. The authors reported that Arctic tundra was a sink of CO₂ of -150 Tg C yr⁻¹ (SD=45.9) across the 2000-2006 period over an area of 9.16 x 10⁶ km². Here, CARDAMOM NEE estimated - 125 Tg C yr⁻¹ over an area of 9 x 10⁶ km² for the same period. This exhaustive assessment of the C balance in Arctic tundra included approximately 250 estimates using the chamber and eddy covariance method from 120 published papers (McGuire et al., 2012; Supplement 1) with an area-weighted mean of means of -202 Tg C yr⁻¹. The regional models, including runs from LPJ-Guess WHyMe (Wania et al., 2009a, b), Orchidee (Koven et al., 2011), TEM6 (McGuire et al., 2010), and TCF model (Kimball et al., 2009), reported a NEE of -187 Tg C yr⁻¹ and GPP, NPP, R_a and R_h of 350, 199, 151 and 182 g C m⁻²y⁻¹, respectively. GVMs applications such as CLM4C (Lawrence et al., 2011), CLM4CN (Thornton et al., 2009), Hyland (Levy et al., 2004), LPJ (Sitch et al., 2003), LPJ- Guess (Smith et al., 2001), O-CN (Zaehle and Friend, 2010), SDGVM (Woodward et al., 1995), and TRIFFID (Cox, 2001) estimated a NEE of -93 Tg C yr⁻¹ and GPP, NPP, R_a and R_h of 272, 162, 83 and 144 g C m⁻²yr⁻¹. For the same period, CARDAMOM has estimated 318, 161, 154 and 148 g C m⁻²yr⁻¹ respectively for the same gross C fluxes.

- II. Carvalhais et al. (2014) estimated a total ecosystem carbon (C_{tot}) of $20.5\binom{52.5}{8.0}$ kg C m⁻² for tundra and $24.8\binom{58.0}{15.2}$ kg C m⁻² for taiga, while CARDAMOM tundra was $24.6\binom{33.0}{18.3}$ kg C m⁻², while $28.0\binom{36.1}{21.5}$ kg C m⁻² in taiga (Figure 5; Table 1) for the same area. In other words, Carvalhais et al. (2014)'s C_{tot} product stored only 17% and 12% less carbon in tundra and taiga respectively than CARDAMOM. Overall, CARDAMOM calculated 20% and 6% longer transit times for tundra and taiga respectively, with average values of $80.8\binom{195.2}{21.8}$ years in tundra and $51.2\binom{109.3}{22.1}$ years in taiga (Table 1) compared to the $64.4\binom{259.8}{25.7}$ years in tundra and $48.2\binom{111.6}{24.9}$ years in taiga in Carvalhais et al. (2014). These numbers have been retrieved from the same biome classification and they include the 90% confidence interval of the assessed spatial variability. Both datasets agree on the fact that high (cold) latitudes, first tundra, and second taiga have the longest transit times in the entire globe (Bloom et al., 2016; Carvalhais et al., 2014).
- III. A recent study from Thurner et al. (2017) assessed temperate and taiga-related TTs presenting a 5-year average NPP dataset applying both MODIS (Running et al., 2004; Zhao et al., 2005) and BETHY/DLR (Turn et al., 2016) products and an inovative biomass product (Thurner et al., 2014) accounting for both forest and non-forest vegetation. Our estimate of TT_{veg} for the exact same period is $5.2\binom{17.8}{1.9}$ years, very close to Thurner et al. (2017)'s TT, $8.2\binom{11.5}{5.5}$ years using MODIS and $6.5\binom{8.7}{4.2}$ years using BETHY/DLR. A note of caution here, the number reported by the authors are turnover rates, which are inferred to transit times by just applying the inverse of turnover rates ($TT_{veg}=1$ /turnover rates). Additionally, their NPP estimates, 0.35 and 0.45 kg C m⁻² yr⁻¹ from both MODIS and BETHY/DLR, is only 5% more productive as average than CARDAMOM NPP estimate, $0.4\binom{0.5}{0.3}$ kg C m⁻² yr⁻¹; and the biomass derived from Thurner et al. (2014), 3.0 ± 1.1 kg C m⁻², is 23% lower than CARDAMOM C_{veg}, $2.3\binom{4.9}{1.2}$ kg C m⁻², calculated for the same period and for the same taiga domain.

4.2. CARDAMOM as a benchmarking tool

The CARDAMOM framework has proven capable of effectively simulating Arctic C cycling dynamics in the entire pan-Arctic region, but also to partition it in its two main biomes, i.e. tundra and taiga (Figure 2, 3, 4, Table 1, Discussion 4.1). We used our data assimilation system as a benchmarking tool for six GVMs and we found that productivity (NPP) processes are more in agreement with CARDAMOM than biomass (C_{veg}), and thus biomass is the largest contributor to the bias governing C transit time (TT). This finding suggests also that there is a need to improve simulations of vegetation C stocks in Earth System models and to calculate more robust inner dynamics. Recent studies used the same GVM inter-comparison models we

used here raising strong arguments about the differences in model formulations and their impact on calculations, significant uncertainties and poor representation of C stocks dynamics at global scale (Exbrayat et al., 2018; Friend et al., 2014; Nishina et al., 2015; Thurner et al., 2017). Here, we present a considerably more data-constrained and data-integrated approach than traditional GVMs to calculate C dynamics. Consequently, we believe CARDAMOM is a good candidate to use as benchmark approach to pinpoint caveats of model performance. For example, Exbrayat et al. (2018) found that ISI-MIP models are less in agreement for NPP in boreal latitudes compared to global CARDAMOM retrievals addressed in Bloom et al. (2016), lacking the biomass constraint in boreal regions. In this study, we incorporated two new and critical layers of data constraints suitable for high latitudes (Carvalhais et al., 2014; Hugelius et al., 2013b) compared to the previous CARDAMOM version, and we found that NPP has one of the best agreements among the assessed variables (compared to C_{veg} and TT_{veg}), but also slightly better performance in tundra than in taiga (Bias = 9 and 19 g C m⁻² yr⁻¹ respectively) (Figure 5 and 6; Table 3).

Furthermore, recent studies have emphasized the significance and need for model comparison of variables such as transit times (Ceballos-Núñez et al., 2017; Sierra et al., 2017), a diagnostic metric independent of model internal structure. From a modelling point of view, it remains unclear why transit times differ (Figure 5 and 6) and whether NPP or C_{veg} dominates the biases. Based on Figure 5 and 6, biases in biomass C stocks likely dominate the error in transit times. Consequently, we used CARDAMOM to calculate the relative contribution of productivity and biomass to the transit times bias by applying a simple attribution analysis (Figure 7). We concluded that the largest bias to transit times are originated by a deficient understanding of the biomass component. Therefore, this study agrees with previous studies (Friend et al., 2014; Nishina et al., 2014; Thurner et al., 2017) highlighting the deficient representation of transit times/turnover dynamics, but we further suggest that GVM and ESM modellers need to focus on the vegetation C stocks dynamics calculations to improve inner C dynamics.

4.3 Outlook

Although CARDAMOM estimates for pan-Arctic C cycling are in moderatively good agreement with observations and data constraints, we have not included important components controlling ecosystem processes that could potentially improve our understanding on C feedbacks, and with emphasis for high latitude ecosystems. For example, thaw and release of permafrost C is not represented in CARDAMOM, but the influence on vegetation dynamics, permafrost degradation and soil respiration is critical in high latitudes (Koven et al., 2015a; Parazoo et al., 2018). Also, Koven et al. (2017) shown that soil thermal regimes are key to getting the long-term vulnerability of soil C right. Moreover, we have not characterized snow dynamics and the insulating effect of snow affecting respiratory losses across wintertime periods either (Essery, 2015; López-Blanco et al., 2018). Further, methane emissions, another important contributor to total C budget (Mastepanov et al., 2008; Mastepanov et al., 2016), was neglected from this modelling exercise and it is not easy to model due to its complex transport mechanisms (Kaiser et al., 2017; Walter et al., 2001).

In order to decrease uncertainties around the balance of photosynthetic inputs and respiratory outputs, future explorations on SOC decomposition by microbial activity (Xenakis and Williams, 2014), nutrient interactions with carbon (Thomas and Williams, 2014), plant traits relationships across pan-Arctic regions (Reichstein et al., 2014; Sloan et al., 2013), mechanisims driving carbon use efficiency (Bradford and Crowther, 2013; Street et al., 2013), drivers of gross flux coupling (López-Blanco et al., 2017), and effect of fine-scale disturbances such as moth outbreaks (Heliasz et al., 2011; López-Blanco et al., 2017; Lund et al., 2017) should be addressed at the coarse pan-Arctic scale. From a modelling perspective, we consider

that more field observations are crucial, specifically on plant and soil decomposition (C stocks turnover rates) (He et al., 2016) and respiratory processes (partitioning of R_{eco} into R_a and R_b) (Hobbie et al., 2000; McGuire et al., 2000), not only across the growing season, but also during wintertime (Commane et al., 2017; Zona et al., 2016). An improved data-model integration will move towards enhanced model robustness and the decrease of model uncertainties.

5 Conclusions

The Arctic is experiencing rapid environmental changes, which are expected to significantly influence the global C cycle. Using a data-assimilation framework we have evaluated the current state of key C flux, stocks and transit time variables for the pan-Arctic region. We found that the pan-Arctic region was a likely sink of C, weaker in tundra and stronger in taiga, but uncertainties around the respiration losses are still large, and so the region could be a source of C. Comparisons with global and local scale datasets demonstrate the advantageus capabilities of CARDAMOM assessing the C cycling in the Arctic domain. Moreover, CARDAMOM is a more data-constrained and data-integrated approach than any GVMs available, thus data-assimilation systems are good candidates to benchmark a forward model's performance and pinpoint issues that need attention. We found better agreement for NPP estimates than for biomass, which is the main contributor to transit time bias. Improved mapping of vegetation C stocks and change over time is required for better analytical constraint. Moreover, future work is required with modelling of soil thermal regimes, permafrost and snow dynamics to improve accuracy and decrease uncertainties. This work establishes the baseline for more process-based ecological analyses using the CARDAMOM data-assimilation system as a promising technique to constrain the pan-Arctic C cycle.

Data availability

CARDAMOM output used in this study is available from Exbrayat and Williams (2018) from the University of Edinburgh's DataShare service at <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.7488/ds/2334</u>.

Acknowledgements

This work was supported in part by a scholarship from the Aarhus-Edinburgh Excellence in European Doctoral Education Project and by the eSTICC (eScience tools for investigating Climate Change in Northern High Latitudes) project, part of the Nordic Center of Excellence. This work was also supported by the Natural Environment Research Council (NERC) through the National Center for Earth Observation. Data-assimilation procedures were performed using the Edinburgh Compute and Data Facility resources. This work used eddy covariance data acquired and shared by the FLUXNET community, including these networks: AmeriFlux, AfriFlux, AsiaFlux, CarboAfrica, CarboEuropeIP, CarboItaly, CarboMont, ChinaFlux, Fluxnet-Canada, GreenGrass, ICOS, KoFlux, LBA, NECC, OzFlux-TERN, TCOS-Siberia, and USCCC. The ERA-Interim reanalysis data are provided by ECMWF and processed by LSCE. The FLUXNET eddy covariance data processing and harmonization was carried out by the European Fluxes Database Cluster, AmeriFlux Management Project, and Fluxdata project of FLUXNET, with the support of CDIAC and ICOS Ecosystem Thematic Center, and the OzFlux, ChinaFlux and AsiaFlux offices. We thank Nuno Carvalhais for discussion that helped to focus our ideas. For their roles in producing, and making available the ISI-MIP model output, we acknowledge the modelling groups and the ISI-MIP coordination team.

References

Abbott, B. W., Jones, J. B., Schuur, E. A. G., Chapin, F. S., Bowden, W. B., Bret-Harte, M. S., Epstein, H. E., Flannigan, M. D., Harms, T. K., Hollingsworth, T. N., Mack, M. C., McGuire, A. D., Natali, S. M., Rocha, A. V., Tank, S. E., Turetsky, M. R., Vonk, J. E., Wickland, K. P., Aiken, G. R., Alexander, H. D., Amon, R. M. W., Benscoter, B. W., Bergeron, Y., Bishop, K., Blarquez, O., Bond-Lamberty, B., Breen, A. L., Buffam, I., Cai, Y., Carcaillet, C., Carey, S. K., Chen, J. M., Chen, H. Y. H., Christensen, T. R., Cooper, L. W., Cornelissen, J. H. C., De Groot, W. J., Deluca, T. H., Dorrepaal, E., Fetcher, N., Finlay, J. C., Forbes, B. C., French, N. H. F., Gauthier, S., Girardin, M. P., Goetz, S. J., Goldammer, J. G., Gough, L., Grogan, P., Guo, L., Higuera, P. E., Hinzman, L., Hu, F. S., Hugelius, G., Jafarov, E. E., Jandt, R., Johnstone, J. F., Karlsson, J., Kasischke, E. S., Kattner, G., Kelly, R., Keuper, F., Kling, G. W., Kortelainen, P., Kouki, J., Kuhry, P., Laudon, H., Laurion, I., MacDonald, R. W., Mann, P. J., Martikainen, P. J., McClelland, J. W., Molau, U., Oberbauer, S. F., Olefeldt, D., Paré, D., Parisien, M. A., Payette, S., Peng, C., Pokrovsky, O. S., Rastetter, E. B., Raymond, P. A., Raynolds, M. K., Rein, G., Reynolds, J. F., Robards, M., Rogers, B. M., Schdel, C., Schaefer, K., Schmidt, I. K., Shvidenko, A., Sky, J., Spencer, R. G. M., Starr, G., Striegl, R. G., Teisserenc, R., Tranvik, L. J., Virtanen, T., Welker, J. M., and Zimov, S.: Biomass offsets little or none of permafrost carbon release from soils, streams, and wildfire: an expert assessment, Environmental Research Letters, 11, 034014, 2016.

Ahlström, A., Schurgers, G., Arneth, A., and Smith, B.: Robustness and uncertainty in terrestrial ecosystem carbon response to CMIP5 climate change projections, Environmental Research Letters, 7, 044008, 2012.

AMAP: Snow, water, ice and permafrost in the Arctic (SWIPA) 2017. Arctic Monitoring and Assessment Programme (AMAP). Oslo, Norway. xiv + 269 pp., xiv + 269 pp, 2017.

Anav, A., Murray-Tortarolo, G., Friedlingstein, P., Sitch, S., Piao, S., and Zhu, Z.: Evaluation of Land Surface Models in Reproducing Satellite Derived Leaf Area Index over the High-Latitude Northern Hemisphere. Part II: Earth System Models, Remote Sensing, 5, 3637, 2013.

Arora, V. K., Boer, G. J., Friedlingstein, P., Eby, M., Jones, C. D., Christian, J. R., Bonan, G., Bopp, L., Brovkin, V., Cadule, P., Hajima, T., Ilyina, T., Lindsay, K., Tjiputra, J. F., and Wu, T.: Carbon–Concentration and Carbon–Climate Feedbacks in CMIP5 Earth System Models, Journal of Climate, 26, 5289-5314, 10.1175/jcli-d-12-00494.1, 2013.

Baldocchi, D. D.: Assessing the eddy covariance technique for evaluating carbon dioxide exchange rates of ecosystems: past, present and future, Global Change Biology, 9, 479-492, 10.1046/j.1365-2486.2003.00629.x, 2003.

Belelli Marchesini, L., Papale, D., Reichstein, M., Vuichard, N., Tchebakova, N., and Valentini, R.: Carbon balance assessment of a natural steppe of southern Siberia by multiple constraint approach, Biogeosciences, 4, 581-595, 10.5194/bg-4-581-2007, 2007.

Bentsen, M., Bethke, I., Debernard, J. B., Iversen, T., Kirkevåg, A., Seland, Ã., Drange, H., Roelandt, C., Seierstad, I. A., Hoose, C., and Kristjánsson, J. E.: The Norwegian Earth System Model, NorESM1-M – Part 1: Description and basic evaluation of the physical climate, Geosci. Model Dev., 6, 687-720, 10.5194/gmd-6-687-2013, 2013.

Bloom, A. A., and Williams, M.: Constraining ecosystem carbon dynamics in a data-limited world: integrating ecological "common sense" in a model-data fusion framework, Biogeosciences, 12, 1299-1315, 10.5194/bg-12-1299-2015, 2015.

Bloom, A. A., Exbrayat, J.-F., van der Velde, I. R., Feng, L., and Williams, M.: The decadal state of the terrestrial carbon cycle: Global retrievals of terrestrial carbon allocation, pools, and residence times, Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 113, 1285-1290, 10.1073/pnas.1515160113, 2016.

Bond-Lamberty, B., Wang, C., and Gower, S. T.: Net primary production and net ecosystem production of a boreal black spruce wildfire chronosequence, Global Change Biology, 10, 473-487, doi:10.1111/j.1529-8817.2003.0742.x, 2004.

Bontemps, S., Defourny, P., Bogaert, E., Arino, O., Kalogirou, V., and Perez, J.: GLOBCOVER 2009 - Products description and validation report, 2011.

Bradford, M. A., and Crowther, T. W.: Carbon use efficiency and storage in terrestrial ecosystems, New Phytologist, 199, 7-9, 10.1111/nph.12334, 2013.

Brown, J., Ferrians Jr, O. J., Heginbottom, J. A., and Melnikov, E. S.: Circum-Arctic map of permafrost and ground-ice conditions, Report 45, 1997.

Canadell, J. G., Le Quéré, C., Raupach, M. R., Field, C. B., Buitenhuis, E. T., Ciais, P., Conway, T. J., Gillett, N. P., Houghton, R. A., and Marland, G.: Contributions to accelerating atmospheric CO₂ growth from economic activity, carbon intensity, and efficiency of natural sinks, Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 104, 18866-18870, 10.1073/pnas.0702737104, 2007.

Carvalhais, N., Forkel, M., Khomik, M., Bellarby, J., Jung, M., Migliavacca, M., u, M., Saatchi, S., Santoro, M., Thurner, M., Weber, U., Ahrens, B., Beer, C., Cescatti, A., Randerson, J. T., and Reichstein, M.: Global covariation of carbon turnover times with climate in terrestrial ecosystems, Nature, 514, 213-217, 10.1038/nature13731, 2014.

Ceballos-Núñez, V., Richardson, A. D., and Sierra, C. A.: Ages and transit times as important diagnostics of model performance for predicting carbon dynamics in terrestrial vegetation models, Biogeosciences Discuss., 2017, 1-27, 10.5194/bg-2017-308, 2017.

Clark, D. B., Mercado, L. M., Sitch, S., Jones, C. D., Gedney, N., Best, M. J., Pryor, M., Rooney, G. G., Essery, R. L. H., Blyth, E., Boucher, O., Harding, R. J., Huntingford, C., and Cox, P. M.: The Joint UK Land Environment Simulator (JULES), model description – Part 2: Carbon fluxes and vegetation dynamics, Geosci. Model Dev., 4, 701-722, 10.5194/gmd-4-701-2011, 2011.

Collins, W. J., Bellouin, N., Doutriaux-Boucher, M., Gedney, N., Halloran, P., Hinton, T., Hughes, J., Jones, C. D., Joshi, M., Liddicoat, S., Martin, G., O'Connor, F., Rae, J., Senior, C., Sitch, S., Totterdell, I., Wiltshire, A., and Woodward, S.: Development and evaluation of an Earth-System model – HadGEM2, Geosci. Model Dev., 4, 1051-1075, 10.5194/gmd-4-1051-2011, 2011.

Commane, R., Lindaas, J., Benmergui, J., Luus, K. A., Chang, R. Y.-W., Daube, B. C., Euskirchen, E. S., Henderson, J. M., Karion, A., Miller, J. B., Miller, S. M., Parazoo, N. C., Randerson, J. T., Sweeney, C., Tans, P., Thoning, K., Veraverbeke, S., Miller, C. E., and Wofsy, S. C.: Carbon dioxide sources from Alaska driven by increasing early winter respiration from Arctic tundra, Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 114, 5361-5366, 10.1073/pnas.1618567114, 2017.

Cox, P. M.: Description of the "TRIFFID" Dynamic Global Vegetation Model. Hadley Centre technical note 24, Met Office, UK, 2001.

Dee, D. P., Uppala, S. M., Simmons, A. J., Berrisford, P., Poli, P., Kobayashi, S., Andrae, U., Balmaseda, M. A., Balsamo, G., Bauer, P., Bechtold, P., Beljaars, A. C. M., van de Berg, L., Bidlot, J., Bormann, N., Delsol, C., Dragani, R., Fuentes, M., Geer, A. J., Haimberger, L., Healy, S. B., Hersbach, H., Hólm, E. V., Isaksen, L., Kållberg, P., Köhler, M., Matricardi, M., McNally, A. P., Monge-Sanz, B. M., Morcrette, J. J., Park, B. K., Peubey, C., de Rosnay, P., Tavolato, C., Thépaut, J. N., and Vitart, F.: The ERA-Interim reanalysis: configuration and performance of the data assimilation system, Quarterly Journal of the Royal Meteorological Society, 137, 553-597, 10.1002/qj.828, 2011.

Dufresne, J.-L., Foujols, M.-A., Denvil, S., Caubel, A., Marti, O., Aumont, O., Balkanski, Y., Bekki, S., Bellenger, H., Benshila, R., Bony, S., Bopp, L., Braconnot, P., Brockmann, P., Cadule, P., Cheruy, F., Codron, F., Cozic, A., Cugnet, D., de Noblet, N., Duvel, J.-P., Ethé, C., Fairhead, L., Fichefet, T., Flavoni, S., Friedlingstein, P., Grandpeix, J.-Y., Guez, L., Guilyardi, E., Hauglustaine, D., Hourdin, F., Idelkadi, A., Ghattas, J., Joussaume, S., Kageyama, M., Krinner, G., Labetoulle, S., Lahellec, A., Lefebvre, M.-P., Lefevre, F., Levy, C., Li, Z. X., Lloyd, J., Lott, F., Madec, G., Mancip, M., Marchand, M., Masson, S., Meurdesoif, Y., Mignot, J., Musat, I., Parouty, S., Polcher, J., Rio, C., Schulz, M., Swingedouw, D., Szopa, S., Talandier, C., Terray, P., Viovy, N., and Vuichard, N.: Climate change projections using the IPSL-CM5 Earth System Model: from CMIP3 to CMIP5, Climate Dynamics, 40, 2123-2165, 10.1007/s00382-012-1636-1, 2013.

Dunne, J. P., John, J. G., Adcroft, A. J., Griffies, S. M., Hallberg, R. W., Shevliakova, E., Stouffer, R. J., Cooke, W., Dunne, K. A., Harrison, M. J., Krasting, J. P., Malyshev, S. L., Milly, P. C. D., Phillipps, P. J., Sentman, L. T., Samuels, B. L., Spelman, M. J., Winton, M., Wittenberg, A. T., and Zadeh, N.: GFDL's ESM2 Global Coupled Climate–Carbon Earth System Models. Part I: Physical Formulation and Baseline Simulation Characteristics, Journal of Climate, 25, 6646-6665, 10.1175/jcli-d-11-00560.1, 2012.

Essery, R.: A factorial snowpack model (FSM 1.0), Geosci. Model Dev., 8, 3867-3876, 10.5194/gmd-8-3867-2015, 2015.

Exbrayat, J. F., Bloom, A. A., Falloon, P., Ito, A., Smallman, T. L., and Williams, M.: Reliability ensemble averaging of 21st century projections of terrestrial net primary productivity reduces global and regional uncertainties, Earth Syst. Dynam., 9, 153-165, 10.5194/esd-9-153-2018, 2018.

Exbrayat, J. F., and Williams, M.: CARDAMOM panarctic retrievals 2000-2015. 2000-2015 [Dataset], National Centre for Earth Observation and School of GeoSciences. University of Edinburgh, http://dx.doi.org/10.7488/ds/2334, 2018.

FAO/IIASA/ISRIC/ISSCAS/JRC: Harmonized World Soil Database (version 1.21). FAO, Rome, Italy and IIASA, Laxenburg, Austria, 2012.

Fisher, J. B., Sikka, M., Oechel, W. C., Huntzinger, D. N., Melton, J. R., Koven, C. D., Ahlström, A., Arain, M. A., Baker, I., Chen, J. M., Ciais, P., Davidson, C., Dietze, M., El-Masri, B., Hayes, D., Huntingford, C., Jain, A. K., Levy, P. E., Lomas, M. R., Poulter, B., Price, D., Sahoo, A. K., Schaefer, K., Tian, H., Tomelleri, E., Verbeeck, H., Viovy, N., Wania, R., Zeng, N., and Miller, C. E.: Carbon cycle uncertainty in the Alaskan Arctic, Biogeosciences, 11, 4271-4288, 10.5194/bg-11-4271-2014, 2014.

Forkel, M., Carvalhais, N., Rödenbeck, C., Keeling, R., Heimann, M., Thonicke, K., Zaehle, S., and Reichstein, M.: Enhanced seasonal CO2 exchange caused by amplified plant productivity in northern ecosystems, Science, 351, 696-699, 10.1126/science.aac4971, 2016.

Fox, A., Williams, M., Richardson, A. D., Cameron, D., Gove, J. H., Quaife, T., Ricciuto, D., Reichstein, M., Tomelleri, E., Trudinger, C. M., and Van Wijk, M. T.: The REFLEX project: Comparing different algorithms and implementations for the inversion of a terrestrial ecosystem model against eddy covariance data, Agricultural and Forest Meteorology, 149, 1597-1615, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agrformet.2009.05.002, 2009.

Friedlingstein, P., Meinshausen, M., Arora, V. K., Jones, C. D., Anav, A., Liddicoat, S. K., and Knutti, R.: Uncertainties in CMIP5 Climate Projections due to Carbon Cycle Feedbacks, Journal of Climate, 27, 511-526, 10.1175/jcli-d-12-00579.1, 2014.

Friend, A. D., and White, A.: Evaluation and analysis of a dynamic terrestrial ecosystem model under preindustrial conditions at the global scale, Global Biogeochemical Cycles, 14, 1173-1190, doi:10.1029/1999GB900085, 2000.

Friend, A. D., Lucht, W., Rademacher, T. T., Keribin, R., Betts, R., Cadule, P., Ciais, P., Clark, D. B., Dankers, R., Falloon, P. D., Ito, A., Kahana, R., Kleidon, A., Lomas, M. R., Nishina, K., Ostberg, S., Pavlick, R., Peylin, P., Schaphoff, S., Vuichard, N., Warszawski, L., Wiltshire, A., and Woodward, F. I.: Carbon residence time dominates uncertainty in terrestrial vegetation responses to future climate and atmospheric CO2, Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 111, 3280-3285, 10.1073/pnas.1222477110, 2014.

Goetz, S. J., Bunn, A. G., Fiske, G. J., and Houghton, R. A.: Satellite-observed photosynthetic trends across boreal North America associated with climate and fire disturbance, Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 102, 13521-13525, 10.1073/pnas.0506179102, 2005.

Goulden, M. L., Munger, J. W., Fan, S.-M., Daube, B. C., and Wofsy, S. C.: Exchange of Carbon Dioxide by a Deciduous Forest: Response to Interannual Climate Variability, Science, 271, 1576-1578, 10.1126/science.271.5255.1576, 1996.

Graven, H. D., Keeling, R. F., Piper, S. C., Patra, P. K., Stephens, B. B., Wofsy, S. C., Welp, L. R., Sweeney, C., Tans, P. P., Kelley, J. J., Daube, B. C., Kort, E. A., Santoni, G. W., and Bent, J. D.: Enhanced Seasonal Exchange of CO2 by Northern Ecosystems Since 1960, Science, 341, 1085-1089, 10.1126/science.1239207, 2013.

Grøndahl, L., Friborg, T., Christensen, T. R., Ekberg, A., Elberling, B., Illeris, L., Nordstrøm, C., Rennermalm, Å., Sigsgaard, C., and Søgaard, H.: Spatial and Inter-Annual Variability of Trace Gas Fluxes in a Heterogeneous High-Arctic Landscape, in: Advances in Ecological Research, edited by: Hans Meltofte, T. R. C. B. E. M. C. F., and Morten, R., Academic Press, 473-498, 2008.

Hashimoto, S., Carvalhais, N., Ito, A., Migliavacca, M., Nishina, K., and Reichstein, M.: Global spatiotemporal distribution of soil respiration modeled using a global database, Biogeosciences, 12, 4121-4132, 10.5194/bg-12-4121-2015, 2015.

He, Y., Trumbore, S. E., Torn, M. S., Harden, J. W., Vaughn, L. J. S., Allison, S. D., and Randerson, J. T.: Radiocarbon constraints imply reduced carbon uptake by soils during the 21st century, Science, 353, 1419-1424, 10.1126/science.aad4273, 2016.

Heliasz, M., Johansson, T., Lindroth, A., Mölder, M., Mastepanov, M., Friborg, T., Callaghan, T. V., and Christensen, T. R.: Quantification of C uptake in subarctic birch forest after setback by an extreme insect outbreak, Geophysical Research Letters, 38, n/a-n/a, 10.1029/2010GL044733, 2011.

Hempel, S., Frieler, K., Warszawski, L., Schewe, J., and Piontek, F.: A trend-preserving bias correction – the ISI-MIP approach, Earth Syst. Dynam., 4, 219-236, 10.5194/esd-4-219-2013, 2013.

Hobbie, S. E., Schimel, J. P., Trumbore, S. E., and Randerson, J. R.: Controls over carbon storage and turnover in high-latitude soils, Global Change Biology, 6, 196-210, 10.1046/j.1365-2486.2000.06021.x, 2000.

Hugelius, G., Bockheim, J. G., Camill, P., Elberling, B., Grosse, G., Harden, J. W., Johnson, K., Jorgenson, T., Koven, C. D., Kuhry, P., Michaelson, G., Mishra, U., Palmtag, J., Ping, C. L., O'Donnell, J., Schirrmeister, L., Schuur, E. A. G., Sheng, Y., Smith, L. C., Strauss, J., and Yu, Z.: A new data set for estimating organic carbon storage to 3 m depth in soils of the northern circumpolar permafrost region, Earth Syst. Sci. Data, 5, 393-402, 10.5194/essd-5-393-2013, 2013a.

Hugelius, G., Tarnocai, C., Broll, G., Canadell, J. G., Kuhry, P., and Swanson, D. K.: The Northern Circumpolar Soil Carbon Database: spatially distributed datasets of soil coverage and soil carbon storage in the northern permafrost regions, Earth Syst. Sci. Data, 5, 3-13, 10.5194/essd-5-3-2013, 2013b.

Hugelius, G., Strauss, J., Zubrzycki, S., Harden, J. W., Schuur, E. A. G., Ping, C. L., Schirrmeister, L., Grosse, G., Michaelson, G. J., Koven, C. D., O'Donnell, J. A., Elberling, B., Mishra, U., Camill, P., Yu, Z., Palmtag, J., and Kuhry, P.: Improved estimates show large circumpolar stocks of permafrost carbon while quantifying substantial uncertainty ranges and identifying remaining data gaps, Biogeosciences Discuss., 11, 4771-4822, 10.5194/bgd-11-4771-2014, 2014.

Ikawa, H., Nakai, T., Busey, R. C., Kim, Y., Kobayashi, H., Nagai, S., Ueyama, M., Saito, K., Nagano, H., Suzuki, R., and Hinzman, L.: Understory CO2, sensible heat, and latent heat fluxes in a black spruce forest in interior Alaska, Agricultural and Forest Meteorology, 214-215, 80-90, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agrformet.2015.08.247, 2015.

Ito, A., and Inatomi, M.: Water-Use Efficiency of the Terrestrial Biosphere: A Model Analysis Focusing on Interactions between the Global Carbon and Water Cycles, Journal of Hydrometeorology, 13, 681-694, 10.1175/jhm-d-10-05034.1, 2012.

Jackson, R. B., Lajtha, K., Crow, S. E., Hugelius, G., Kramer, M. G., and Piñeiro, G.: The Ecology of Soil Carbon: Pools, Vulnerabilities, and Biotic and Abiotic Controls, Annual Review of Ecology, Evolution, and Systematics, 48, 419-445, 10.1146/annurev-ecolsys-112414-054234, 2017.

Jung, M., Reichstein, M., Margolis, H. A., Cescatti, A., Richardson, A. D., Arain, M. A., Arneth, A., Bernhofer, C., Bonal, D., Chen, J., Gianelle, D., Gobron, N., Kiely, G., Kutsch, W., Lasslop, G., Law, B. E., Lindroth, A., Merbold, L., Montagnani, L., Moors, E. J., Papale, D., Sottocornola, M., Vaccari, F., and Williams, C.: Global patterns of land-atmosphere fluxes of carbon dioxide, latent heat, and sensible heat derived from eddy covariance, satellite, and meteorological observations, Journal of Geophysical Research: Biogeosciences, 116, doi:10.1029/2010JG001566, 2011.

Jung, M., Reichstein, M., Schwalm, C. R., Huntingford, C., Sitch, S., Ahlström, A., Arneth, A., Camps-Valls, G., Ciais, P., Friedlingstein, P., Gans, F., Ichii, K., Jain, A. K., Kato, E., Papale, D., Poulter, B., Raduly, B., Rödenbeck, C., Tramontana, G., Viovy, N., Wang, Y.-P., Weber, U., Zaehle, S., and Zeng, N.: Compensatory water effects link yearly global land CO2 sink changes to temperature, Nature, 541, 516, 10.1038/nature20780, 2017.

Kaiser, S., Göckede, M., Castro-Morales, K., Knoblauch, C., Ekici, A., Kleinen, T., Zubrzycki, S., Sachs, T., Wille, C., and Beer, C.: Process-based modelling of the methane balance in periglacial landscapes (JSBACH-methane), Geosci. Model Dev., 10, 333-358, 10.5194/gmd-10-333-2017, 2017.

Kimball, J. S., Jones, L. A., Zhang, K., Heinsch, F. A., McDonald, K. C., and Oechel, W.: A Satellite Approach to Estimate Land CO2 Exchange for Boreal and Arctic Biomes Using MODIS and AMSR-E, IEEE Transactions on Geoscience and Remote Sensing, 47, 569-587, 10.1109/TGRS.2008.2003248, 2009.

Koven, C. D., Ringeval, B., Friedlingstein, P., Ciais, P., Cadule, P., Khvorostyanov, D., Krinner, G., and Tarnocai, C.: Permafrost carbon-climate feedbacks accelerate global warming, Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 108, 14769-14774, 10.1073/pnas.1103910108, 2011.

Koven, C. D., Schuur, E. A. G., Schädel, C., Bohn, T. J., Burke, E. J., Chen, G., Chen, X., Ciais, P., Grosse, G., Harden, J. W., Hayes, D. J., Hugelius, G., Jafarov, E. E., Krinner, G., Kuhry, P., Lawrence, D. M., MacDougall, A. H., Marchenko, S. S., McGuire, A. D., Natali, S. M., Nicolsky, D. J., Olefeldt, D., Peng, S., Romanovsky, V. E., Schaefer, K. M., Strauss, J., Treat, C. C., and Turetsky, M.: A simplified, data-constrained approach to estimate the permafrost carbon–climate feedback, Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society A: Mathematical, Physical and Engineering Sciences, 373, 10.1098/rsta.2014.0423, 2015a.

Koven, C. D., Schuur, E. A. G., Schädel, C., Bohn, T. J., Burke, E. J., Chen, G., Chen, X., Ciais, P., Grosse, G., Harden, J. W., Hayes, D. J., Hugelius, G., Jafarov, E. E., Krinner, G., Kuhry, P., Lawrence, D. M., MacDougall, A. H., Marchenko, S. S., McGuire, A. D., Natali, S. M., Nicolsky, D. J., Olefeldt, D., Peng, S., Romanovsky, V. E., Schaefer, K. M., Strauss, J., Treat, C. C., and Turetsky, M.: A simplified, data-constrained approach to estimate the permafrost carbon–climate feedback, Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society A: Mathematical, Sciences, 373, 10.1098/rsta.2014.0423, 2015b.

Koven, C. D., Hugelius, G., Lawrence, D. M., and Wieder, W. R.: Higher climatological temperature sensitivity of soil carbon in cold than warm climates, Nature Climate Change, 7, 817, 10.1038/nclimate3421, 2017.

Kutzbach, L., Wille, C., and Pfeiffer, E.-M.: The exchange of carbon dioxide between wet arctic tundra and the atmosphere at the Lena River Delta, Northern Siberia, Biogeosciences, 4, 869-890, 10.5194/bg-4-869-2007, 2007.

Lafleur, P. M., Humphreys, E. R., St. Louis, V. L., Myklebust, M. C., Papakyriakou, T., Poissant, L., Barker, J. D., Pilote, M., and Swystun, K. A.: Variation in Peak Growing Season Net Ecosystem Production Across the Canadian Arctic, Environmental Science & Technology, 46, 7971-7977, 10.1021/es300500m, 2012.

Lasslop, G., Reichstein, M., Papale, D., Richardson, A. D., Arneth, A., Barr, A., Stoy, P., and Wohlfahrt, G.: Separation of net ecosystem exchange into assimilation and respiration using a light response curve approach: critical issues and global evaluation, Global Change Biology, 16, 187-208, 10.1111/j.1365-2486.2009.02041.x, 2010.

Lawrence, D. M., Oleson, K. W., Flanner, M. G., Thornton, P. E., Swenson, S. C., Lawrence, P. J., Zeng, X., Yang, Z. L., Levis, S., Sakaguchi, K., Bonan, G. B., and Slater, A. G.: Parameterization improvements and functional and structural advances in Version 4 of the Community Land Model, Journal of Advances in Modeling Earth Systems, 3, doi:10.1029/2011MS00045, 2011.

Le Quéré, C., Andrew, R. M., Friedlingstein, P., Sitch, S., Pongratz, J., Manning, A. C., Korsbakken, J. I., Peters, G. P., Canadell, J. G., Jackson, R. B., Boden, T. A., Tans, P. P., Andrews, O. D., Arora, V. K., Bakker, D. C. E., Barbero, L., Becker, M., Betts, R. A., Bopp, L., Chevallier, F., Chini, L. P., Ciais, P., Cosca, C. E., Cross, J., Currie, K., Gasser, T., Harris, I., Hauck, J., Haverd, V., Houghton, R. A., Hunt, C. W., Hurtt, G., Ilyina, T., Jain, A. K., Kato, E., Kautz, M., Keeling, R. F., Klein Goldewijk, K., Körtzinger, A., Landschützer, P., Lefèvre, N., Lenton, A., Lienert, S., Lima, I., Lombardozzi, D., Metzl, N., Millero, F., Monteiro, P. M. S., Munro, D. R., Nabel, J. E. M. S., Nakaoka, S.-I., Nojiri, Y., Padin, X. A., Peregon, A., Pfeil, B., Pierrot, D., Poulter, B., Rehder, G., Reimer, J., Rödenbeck, C., Schwinger, J., Séférian, R., Skjelvan, I., Stocker, B. D., Tian, H., Tilbrook, B., Tubiello, F. N., van der Laan-Luijkx, I. T., van der Werf, G. R., van Heuven, S., Viovy, N., Vuichard, N., Walker, A. P., Watson, A. J., Wiltshire, A. J., Zaehle, S., and Zhu, D.: Global Carbon Budget 2017, Earth Syst. Sci. Data, 10, 405-448, 10.5194/essd-10-405-2018, 2018.

Levy, P. E., Friend, A. D., White, A., and Cannell, M. G. R.: 'The Influence of Land Use Change On Global-Scale Fluxes of Carbon from Terrestrial Ecosystems', Climatic Change, 67, 185-209, 10.1007/s10584-004-2849-z, 2004.

López-Blanco, E., Lund, M., Williams, M., Tamstorf, M. P., Westergaard-Nielsen, A., Exbrayat, J. F., Hansen, B. U., and Christensen, T. R.: Exchange of CO2 in Arctic tundra: impacts of meteorological variations and biological disturbance, Biogeosciences, 14, 4467-4483, 10.5194/bg-14-4467-2017, 2017.

López-Blanco, E., Lund, M., Christensen, T. R., Tamstorf, M. P., Smallman, T. L., Slevin, D., Westergaard-Nielsen, A., Hansen, B. U., Abermann, J., and Williams, M.: Plant Traits are Key Determinants in Buffering the Meteorological Sensitivity

of Net Carbon Exchanges of Arctic Tundra, Journal of Geophysical Research: Biogeosciences, 123, https://doi.org/10.1029/2018JG004386, 2018.

Lucht, W., Prentice, I. C., Myneni, R. B., Sitch, S., Friedlingstein, P., Cramer, W., Bousquet, P., Buermann, W., and Smith, B.: Climatic Control of the High-Latitude Vegetation Greening Trend and Pinatubo Effect, Science, 296, 1687-1689, 10.1126/science.1071828, 2002.

Lund, M., Falk, J. M., Friborg, T., Mbufong, H. N., Sigsgaard, C., Soegaard, H., and Tamstorf, M. P.: Trends in CO2 exchange in a high Arctic tundra heath, 2000-2010, Journal of Geophysical Research: Biogeosciences, 117, 2012.

Lund, M., Raundrup, K., Westergaard-Nielsen, A., López-Blanco, E., Nymand, J., and Aastrup, P.: Larval outbreaks in West Greenland: Instant and subsequent effects on tundra ecosystem productivity and CO(2) exchange, AMBIO, 46, 26-38, 10.1007/s13280-016-0863-9, 2017.

Luo, Y., Weng, E., Wu, X., Gao, C., Zhou, X., and Zhang, L.: Parameter identifiability, constraint, and equifinality in data assimilation with ecosystem models, Ecological Applications, 19, 571-574, doi:10.1890/08-0561.1, 2009.

Mack, M. C., Bret-Harte, M. S., Hollingsworth, T. N., Jandt, R. R., Schuur, E. A. G., Shaver, G. R., and Verbyla, D. L.: Carbon loss from an unprecedented Arctic tundra wildfire, Nature, 475, 489, 10.1038/nature10283 https://www.nature.com/articles/nature10283 - supplementary-information, 2011.

Mastepanov, M., Sigsgaard, C., Dlugokencky, E. J., Houweling, S., Strom, L., Tamstorf, M. P., and Christensen, T. R.: Large tundra methane burst during onset of freezing, Nature, 456, 628-630, 10.1038/nature07464, 2008.

Mastepanov, M., Sigsgaard, C., Tagesson, T., Ström, L., Tamstorf, M. P., Lund, M., and Christensen, T. R.: Revisiting factors controlling methane emissions from high-arctic tundra, Biogeosciences Discuss., 9, 15853-15900, 10.5194/bgd-9-15853-2012, 2012.

McGuire, A. D., Melillo, J. M., Randerson, J. T., Parton, W. J., Heimann, M., Meier, R. A., Clein, J. S., Kicklighter, D. W., and Sauf, W.: Modeling the effects of snowpack on heterotrophic respiration across northern temperate and high latitude regions: Comparison with measurements of atmospheric carbon dioxide in high latitudes, Biogeochemistry, 48, 91-114, 10.1023/a:1006286804351, 2000.

McGuire, A. D., Anderson, L. G., Christensen, T. R., Dallimore, S., Guo, L., Hayes, D. J., Heimann, M., Lorenson, T. D., Macdonald, R. W., and Roulet, N. T.: Sensitivity of the carbon cycle in the Arctic to climate change, Ecological Monographs, 79, 523-555, 10.1890/08-2025.1, 2009.

McGuire, A. D., Hayes, D., Kicklighter, D. W., Manizza, M., Zhuang, Q., Chen, M., Follows, M. J., Gurney, K. R., Mcclelland, J. W., Melillo, J. M., Peterson, B. J., and Prinn, R. G.: An analysis of the carbon balance of the Arctic Basin from 1997 to 2006, Tellus B, 62, 455-474, doi:10.1111/j.1600-0889.2010.00497.x, 2010.

McGuire, A. D., Christensen, T. R., Hayes, D., Heroult, A., Euskirchen, E., Kimball, J. S., Koven, C., Lafleur, P., Miller, P. A., Oechel, W., Peylin, P., Williams, M., and Yi, Y.: An assessment of the carbon balance of Arctic tundra: comparisons among observations, process models, and atmospheric inversions, Biogeosciences, 9, 3185-3204, 10.5194/bg-9-3185-2012, 2012.

Murray-Tortarolo, G., Anav, A., Friedlingstein, P., Sitch, S., Piao, S., Zhu, Z., Poulter, B., Zaehle, S., Ahlström, A., Lomas, M., Levis, S., Viovy, N., and Zeng, N.: Evaluation of Land Surface Models in Reproducing Satellite-Derived LAI over the High-Latitude Northern Hemisphere. Part I: Uncoupled DGVMs, Remote Sensing, 5, 4819, 2013.

Myers-Smith, I. H., Elmendorf, S. C., Beck, P. S. A., Wilmking, M., Hallinger, M., Blok, D., Tape, K. D., Rayback, S. A., Macias-Fauria, M., Forbes, B. C., Speed, J. D. M., Boulanger-Lapointe, N., Rixen, C., Lévesque, E., Schmidt, N. M., Baittinger, C., Trant, A. J., Hermanutz, L., Collier, L. S., Dawes, M. A., Lantz, T. C., Weijers, S., Jørgensen, R. H., Buchwal, A., Buras, A., Naito, A. T., Ravolainen, V., Schaepman-Strub, G., Wheeler, J. A., Wipf, S., Guay, K. C., Hik, D. S., and Vellend, M.: Climate sensitivity of shrub growth across the tundra biome, Nature Climate Change, 5, 887, 10.1038/nclimate2697, 2015.

Myneni, R. B., Keeling, C. D., Tucker, C. J., Asrar, G., and Nemani, R. R.: Increased plant growth in the northern high latitudes from 1981 to 1991, Nature, 386, 698, 10.1038/386698a0, 1997.

Myneni, R. B., Hoffman, S., Knyazikhin, Y., Privette, J. L., Glassy, J., Tian, Y., Wang, Y., Song, X., Zhang, Y., Smith, G. R., Lotsch, A., Friedl, M., Morisette, J. T., Votava, P., Nemani, R. R., and Running, S. W.: Global products of vegetation leaf area and fraction absorbed PAR from year one of MODIS data, Remote Sensing of Environment, 83, 214-231, https://doi.org/10.1016/S0034-4257(02)00074-3, 2002.

Nishina, K., Ito, A., Beerling, D. J., Cadule, P., Ciais, P., Clark, D. B., Falloon, P., Friend, A. D., Kahana, R., Kato, E., Keribin, R., Lucht, W., Lomas, M., Rademacher, T. T., Pavlick, R., Schaphoff, S., Vuichard, N., Warszawaski, L., and Yokohata, T.: Quantifying uncertainties in soil carbon responses to changes in global mean temperature and precipitation, Earth Syst. Dynam., 5, 197-209, 10.5194/esd-5-197-2014, 2014.

Nishina, K., Ito, A., Falloon, P., Friend, A. D., Beerling, D. J., Ciais, P., Clark, D. B., Kahana, R., Kato, E., Lucht, W., Lomas, M., Pavlick, R., Schaphoff, S., Warszawaski, L., and Yokohata, T.: Decomposing uncertainties in the future terrestrial carbon budget associated with emission scenarios, climate projections, and ecosystem simulations using the ISI-MIP results, Earth Syst. Dynam., 6, 435-445, 10.5194/esd-6-435-2015, 2015.

Papale, D., Reichstein, M., Aubinet, M., Canfora, E., Bernhofer, C., Kutsch, W., Longdoz, B., Rambal, S., Valentini, R., Vesala, T., and Yakir, D.: Towards a standardized processing of Net Ecosystem Exchange measured with eddy covariance technique: algorithms and uncertainty estimation, Biogeosciences, 3, 571-583, 10.5194/bg-3-571-2006, 2006.

Parazoo, N. C., Koven, C. D., Lawrence, D. M., Romanovsky, V., and Miller, C. E.: Detecting the permafrost carbon feedback: talik formation and increased cold-season respiration as precursors to sink-to-source transitions, The Cryosphere, 12, 123-144, 10.5194/tc-12-123-2018, 2018.

Pavlick, R., Drewry, D. T., Bohn, K., Reu, B., and Kleidon, A.: The Jena Diversity-Dynamic Global Vegetation Model (JeDi-DGVM): a diverse approach to representing terrestrial biogeography and biogeochemistry based on plant functional trade-offs, Biogeosciences, 10, 4137-4177, 10.5194/bg-10-4137-2013, 2013.

Peñuelas, J., Rutishauser, T., and Filella, I.: Phenology Feedbacks on Climate Change, Science, 324, 887-888, 10.1126/science.1173004, 2009.

Reichstein, M., Bahn, M., Mahecha, M. D., Kattge, J., and Baldocchi, D. D.: Linking plant and ecosystem functional biogeography, Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 111, 13697-13702, 10.1073/pnas.1216065111, 2014.

Running, S. W., Nemani, R. R., Heinsch, F. A., Zhao, M., Reeves, M., and Hashimoto, H.: A Continuous Satellite-Derived Measure of Global Terrestrial Primary Production, BioScience, 54, 547-560, 10.1641/0006-3568(2004)054[0547:ACSMOG]2.0.CO;2, 2004.

Sari, J., Tarmo, V., Vladimir, K., Tuomas, L., Maiju, L., Juha, M., Johanna, N., Aleksi, R., Juha-Pekka, T., and Mika, A.: Spatial variation and seasonal dynamics of leaf-area index in the arctic tundra-implications for linking ground observations and satellite images, Environmental Research Letters, 12, 095002, 2017.

Schuur, E. A. G., McGuire, A. D., Schadel, C., Grosse, G., Harden, J. W., Hayes, D. J., Hugelius, G., Koven, C. D., Kuhry, P., Lawrence, D. M., Natali, S. M., Olefeldt, D., Romanovsky, V. E., Schaefer, K., Turetsky, M. R., Treat, C. C., and Vonk, J. E.: Climate change and the permafrost carbon feedback, Nature, 520, 171-179, 10.1038/nature14338, 2015.

Sierra, C. A., Müller, M., Metzler, H., Manzoni, S., and Trumbore, S. E.: The muddle of ages, turnover, transit, and residence times in the carbon cycle, Global Change Biology, 23, 1763-1773, 10.1111/gcb.13556, 2017.

Sitch, S., Smith, B., Prentice, I. C., Arneth, A., Bondeau, A., Cramer, W., Kaplan, J. O., Levis, S., Lucht, W., Sykes, M. T., Thonicke, K., and Venevsky, S.: Evaluation of ecosystem dynamics, plant geography and terrestrial carbon cycling in the LPJ dynamic global vegetation model, Global Change Biology, 9, 161-185, doi:10.1046/j.1365-2486.2003.00569.x, 2003.

Slevin, D., Tett, S. F. B., Exbrayat, J.-F., Bloom, A. A., and Williams, M.: Global evaluation of gross primary productivity in the JULES land surface model v3.4.1, Geosci. Model Dev., 10, 2651-2670, 10.5194/gmd-10-2651-2017, 2017.

Sloan, V. L., Fletcher, B. J., Press, M. C., Williams, M., and Phoenix, G. K.: Leaf and fine root carbon stocks and turnover are coupled across Arctic ecosystems, Global Change Biology, 19, 3668-3676, 10.1111/gcb.12322, 2013.

Smallman, T. L., Exbrayat, J.-F., Mencuccini, M., Bloom, A. A., and Williams, M.: Assimilation of repeated woody biomass observations constrains decadal ecosystem carbon cycle uncertainty in aggrading forests, Journal of Geophysical Research: Biogeosciences, 122, 528-545, doi:10.1002/2016JG003520, 2017.

Smith, B., Prentice, I. C., and Sykes, M. T.: Representation of vegetation dynamics in the modelling of terrestrial ecosystems: comparing two contrasting approaches within European climate space, Global Ecology and Biogeography, 10, 621-637, doi:10.1046/j.1466-822X.2001.t01-1-00256.x, 2001.

Street, L. E., Subke, J.-A., Sommerkorn, M., Sloan, V., Ducrotoy, H., Phoenix, G. K., and Williams, M.: The role of mosses in carbon uptake and partitioning in arctic vegetation, New Phytologist, 199, 163-175, 10.1111/nph.12285, 2013.

Tarnocai, C., Canadell, J. G., Schuur, E. A. G., Kuhry, P., Mazhitova, G., and Zimov, S.: Soil organic carbon pools in the northern circumpolar permafrost region, Global Biogeochemical Cycles, 23, GB2023, 10.1029/2008GB003327, 2009.

Taylor, K. E., Stouffer, R. J., and Meehl, G. A.: An Overview of CMIP5 and the Experiment Design, Bulletin of the American Meteorological Society, 93, 485-498, 10.1175/bams-d-11-00094.1, 2012.

Thomas, R. Q., and Williams, M.: A model using marginal efficiency of investment to analyze carbon and nitrogen interactions in terrestrial ecosystems (ACONITE Version 1), Geosci. Model Dev., 7, 2015-2037, 10.5194/gmd-7-2015-2014, 2014.

Thornton, P. E., Doney, S. C., Lindsay, K., Moore, J. K., Mahowald, N., Randerson, J. T., Fung, I., Lamarque, J. F., Feddema, J. J., and Lee, Y. H.: Carbon-nitrogen interactions regulate climate-carbon cycle feedbacks: results from an atmosphere-ocean general circulation model, Biogeosciences, 6, 2099-2120, 10.5194/bg-6-2099-2009, 2009.

Thurner, M., Beer, C., Santoro, M., Carvalhais, N., Wutzler, T., Schepaschenko, D., Shvidenko, A., Kompter, E., Ahrens, B., Levick, S. R., and Schmullius, C.: Carbon stock and density of northern boreal and temperate forests, Global Ecology and Biogeography, 23, 297-310, doi:10.1111/geb.12125, 2014.

Thurner, M., Beer, C., Carvalhais, N., Forkel, M., Santoro, M., Tum, M., and Schmullius, C.: Large-scale variation in boreal and temperate forest carbon turnover rate related to climate, Geophysical Research Letters, 43, 4576-4585, 10.1002/2016GL068794, 2016.

Thurner, M., Beer, C., Ciais, P., Friend, A. D., Ito, A., Kleidon, A., Lomas, M. R., Quegan, S., Rademacher, T. T., Schaphoff, S., Tum, M., Wiltshire, A., and Carvalhais, N.: Evaluation of climate-related carbon turnover processes in global vegetation models for boreal and temperate forests, Global Change Biology, 23, 3076-3091, 10.1111/gcb.13660, 2017.

Tum, M., Zeidler, J. N., Günther, K. P., and Esch, T.: Global NPP and straw bioenergy trends for 2000–2014, Biomass and Bioenergy, 90, 230-236, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biombioe.2016.03.040, 2016.

Walter, B. P., Heimann, M., and Matthews, E.: Modeling modern methane emissions from natural wetlands: 2. Interannual variations 1982–1993, Journal of Geophysical Research: Atmospheres, 106, 34207-34219, 10.1029/2001JD900164, 2001.

Wania, R., Ross, I., and Prentice, I. C.: Integrating peatlands and permafrost into a dynamic global vegetation model: 1. Evaluation and sensitivity of physical land surface processes, Global Biogeochemical Cycles, 23, doi:10.1029/2008GB003412, 2009a.

Wania, R., Ross, I., and Prentice, I. C.: Integrating peatlands and permafrost into a dynamic global vegetation model: 2. Evaluation and sensitivity of vegetation and carbon cycle processes, Global Biogeochemical Cycles, 23, doi:10.1029/2008GB003413, 2009b.

Warszawski, L., Frieler, K., Huber, V., Piontek, F., Serdeczny, O., and Schewe, J.: The Inter-Sectoral Impact Model Intercomparison Project (ISI–MIP): Project framework, Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 111, 3228-3232, 10.1073/pnas.1312330110, 2014.

Watanabe, M., Chikira, M., Imada, Y., and Kimoto, M.: Convective Control of ENSO Simulated in MIROC, Journal of Climate, 24, 543-562, 10.1175/2010jcli3878.1, 2011.

Williams, M., Schwarz, P. A., Law, B. E., Irvine, J., and Kurpius, M. R.: An improved analysis of forest carbon dynamics using data assimilation, Global Change Biology, 11, 89-105, 10.1111/j.1365-2486.2004.00891.x, 2005.

Woodward, F. I., Smith, T. M., and Emanuel, W. R.: A global land primary productivity and phytogeography model, Global Biogeochemical Cycles, 9, 471-490, doi:10.1029/95GB02432, 1995.

Xenakis, G., and Williams, M.: Comparing microbial and chemical kinetics for modelling soil organic carbon decomposition using the DecoChem v1.0 and DecoBio v1.0 models, Geosci. Model Dev., 7, 1519-1533, 10.5194/gmd-7-1519-2014, 2014.

Zaehle, S., and Friend, A. D.: Carbon and nitrogen cycle dynamics in the O-CN land surface model: 1. Model description, sitescale evaluation, and sensitivity to parameter estimates, Global Biogeochemical Cycles, 24, doi:10.1029/2009GB003521, 2010.

Zhao, M., Heinsch, F. A., Nemani, R. R., and Running, S. W.: Improvements of the MODIS terrestrial gross and net primary production global data set, Remote Sensing of Environment, 95, 164-176, <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rse.2004.12.011</u>, 2005.

Zhou, L., Tucker, C. J., Kaufmann, R. K., Slayback, D., Shabanov, N. V., and Myneni, R. B.: Variations in northern vegetation activity inferred from satellite data of vegetation index during 1981 to 1999, Journal of Geophysical Research: Atmospheres, 106, 20069-20083, 10.1029/2000JD000115, 2001.

Zhu, Z., Piao, S., Myneni, R. B., Huang, M., Zeng, Z., Canadell, J. G., Ciais, P., Sitch, S., Friedlingstein, P., Arneth, A., Cao, C., Cheng, L., Kato, E., Koven, C., Li, Y., Lian, X., Liu, Y., Liu, R., Mao, J., Pan, Y., Peng, S., Peñuelas, J., Poulter, B., Pugh, T. A. M., Stocker, B. D., Viovy, N., Wang, X., Wang, Y., Xiao, Z., Yang, H., Zaehle, S., and Zeng, N.: Greening of the Earth and its drivers, Nature Climate Change, 6, 791, 10.1038/nclimate3004 https://www.nature.com/articles/nclimate3004 - supplementary-information, 2016.

Zona, D., Gioli, B., Commane, R., Lindaas, J., Wofsy, S. C., Miller, C. E., Dinardo, S. J., Dengel, S., Sweeney, C., Karion, A., Chang, R. Y.-W., Henderson, J. M., Murphy, P. C., Goodrich, J. P., Moreaux, V., Liljedahl, A., Watts, J. D., Kimball, J. S., Lipson, D. A., and Oechel, W. C.: Cold season emissions dominate the Arctic tundra methane budget, Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 113, 40-45, 10.1073/pnas.1516017113, 2016.


Figure 1. Schematic diagram of the terrestrial C processes modelled in CARDAMOM for the pan-Arctic (black values), tundra (yellow values) and taiga (green values) domains. The values characterize the median for the 2000-2015 period and the parentheses delimit the 90% confidence interval. C processes represented include flows for C fluxes in white [NEE, Net Ecosystem Exchange; GPP, Gross Primary Production; NPP, Net Primary Production; R_{eco}, ecosystem Respiration; R_a, autotrophic Respiration; R_h, heterotrophic Respiration], C allocation in blue [to labile, leaf, stem and root], and C turnover in cyan[from leaf, wood, roots and litter]. C stocks are represented in dark blue boxes [labile, leaf, stem, root, litter and SOM, Soil Organic Matter] and aggregated into photosynthetic (C_{photo} = leaf + labile), vegetation (C_{veg} = leaf + labile + wood + roots), soil (C_{dom} = litter + SOM) and total (C_{tot} = C_{photo} + C_{veg} + C_{dom}) C stocks in red boxes. Analogy, transit times (TT) are also aggregated into photosynthetic (TT_{photo} = leaf + labile + wood + roots), soil (TT_{tot} = TT_{photo} + TT_{veg} + TT_{dom}) C transit times.



Figure 2. Original soil organic carbon [SOC; Hugelius et al., 2014] and biomass [Carvalhais et al., 2014] datasets used in the data assimilation process within the CARDAMOM framework (left hand side), assimilated SOC and biomass integrated in CARDAMOM (center), and their respective goodness-of-fit statistics between original and assimilated datasets (right hand side).



Figure 3. Original gross primary productivity [GPP; Jung et al., 2016] and heterotropic respiration [R_h; Hashimoto et al., 2015] datasets used in the data validation process (left hand side), estimated GPP and R_h by CARDAMOM (center), and their respective goodness-of-fit statistics between original and assimilated datasets (right hand side). Stippling indicates locations where the independent datasets are within the CARDAMOM's 5th and 95th percentiles.



Figure 4. Monthly-aggregated seasonal variability of observed [FLUXNET2015] and modelled [CARDAMOM] C fluxes [NEE, Net Ecosystem Exchange; GPP, Gross Primary Production; Reco. ecosystem Respiration] across eight low- and high-Arctic sites [Hakasia, Kobefjord, Manitoba, Poker Flat, Samoylov, Tiksi, UCI-1998 and Zackenberg]. Each of these sites, located in different countries [RU-Russia, GL-Greenland, CA-Canada, US-Unite States,] feature different meteorological conditions and vegetation types (Table S2). Uncertainties represent the 25th and 75th percentiles of both field observations and the CARDAMOM framework.



Figure 5. Central tendency and variability of NPP [Net Primary Production], C_{veg} [Vegetation C pool], TT_{veg} [Vegetation transit time] in the Pan-Arctic, tundra and taiga regions. The box whisker plots comprises the estimations between the 5th and 95th percentiles, and the box encompasses the 25th to 75th percentiles. The line in each box mark the median of studied variables in each region.





Figure 6. NPP [Net Primary Production], Cveg [Vegetation C pool] and TTveg [Vegetation transit time] ratios between ISI-MIP model ensembles [HYBRID, JEDI, JULES, LPJ, SDGVM and VISIT] and CARDAMOM. Stippling indicates locations where the ISI-MIP model mean is within the CARDAMOM's 5th and 95th percentiles.



Figure 7. Distribution functions derived from the attribution analysis used to estimate the origin of vegetation transit time (TT_{veg}) bias from ISIMIP models. The control TT includes both biomass (C_{veg}) and net primary production (NPP) estimated by CARDAMOM (grey), while each of the two experimental TTs include C_{veg} (yellow) and NPP (blue) from ISIMIP models. The lower the overlapped area is between control and experimental TT, the larger the contribution for TT biases is. Dashed lines represent the average TT value for each population. For readibility purposes, the scale in X-axis is delimited to 40 years.

transit times [TTphoto, TTves, TTdom, TTwe; years] for the pan-Arctic, tundra (non-forested) and taiga (forested), region. The averages contain the estimations between the 5th Table 1. Multi-year (2000-2015) annual average of main ecosystem C fluxes [NEE, GPP, NPP, Reco, Ra, Ru; g C m⁻² yr⁻¹], C pools [Cphoto, Cveg, Cdom, Ctoi; kg C m⁻²] and and 95th percentiles, and the median in bold (50th percentile).

				Pan-Arctic					Tundra					Taiga		
	•	P05	P25	P50	P75	P95	P05	P25	P50	P75	P95	P05	P25	P50	P75	P95
	NEE	-260.5	-152.0	-55.8	156.9	1158.1	-158.5	-81.1	-13.0	176.6	1107.7	-375.4	-232.0	-104.1	134.7	1215.0
	GРР	385.8	456.0	513.1	578.5	681.1	226.9	273.4	315.0	367.2	450.7	564.9	661.9	736.5	816.8	940.9
ĩ	NPP	177.4	224.6	263.3	307.3	376.6	104.8	133.9	159.9	192.1	243.9	259.3	326.9	379.9	437.1	526.1
C fluxes	R _{eco}	193.2	316.3	449.9	716.6	1792.9	119.3	204.0	300.0	528.1	1515.0	276.6	442.9	619.0	929.1	2106.3
	R	164.3	207.7	245.3	289.9	364.0	98.4	126.5	152.3	184.9	239.9	238.7	299.2	350.1	408.2	503.9
	R	28.9	108.6	204.6	426.7	1428.9	21.0	77.5	147.6	343.2	1275.1	37.9	143.7	268.9	520.9	1602.3
	C _{photo}	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.2	0.2	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.2	0.1	0.1	0.2	0.2	0.3
2000	ر دور	0.5	0.9	1.4	2.5	6.0	0.3	0.5	0.8	2.1	7.1	0.7	1.3	2.0	3.0	4.8
c pools	C _{dom}	10.3	18.2	24.4	32.2	47.6	10.0	17.3	23.3	30.8	46.0	10.7	19.3	25.7	33.8	49.4
	Ctot	11.7	19.8	26.2	34.5	51.3	10.8	18.3	24.6	33.0	50.7	12.8	21.5	28.0	36.1	52.0
	TT photo	0.9	1.1	1.4	1.7	2.2	1.0	1.3	1.6	2.0	2.8	0.7	0.9	1.1	1.3	1.6
Trancit time	, Π _{veg}	1.6	2.7	4.3	7.2	15.3	1.4	2.3	3.5	6.0	13.0	1.9	3.2	5.2	8.6	17.8
	а П _{dom}	10.2	54.5	129.3	266.0	891.1	11.3	63.1	157.3	329.9	1096.2	8.9	44.8	97.9	194.1	660.2
	TT _{tot}	11.9	59.9	142.5	297.8	1089.4	12.8	68.6	173.1	370.5	1347.4	10.8	50.0	108.1	216.2	800.1

Table 2. Statistics of linear fit between the CARDAMOM framework (independent) and the FLUXNET2015 field observations (dependent) per individual site and per C flux [NEE, Net Ecosystem Exchange; GPP, Gross Primary Production; Reco, ecosystem Respiration]. The units for RMSE and bias are g C m⁻² month⁻¹ in NEE, GPP and Reco.

Flux	Site	Country	Intercept	Slope	R²	RMSE	Bias
	Hakasia	[RU]	0.89	1.40	0.85	0.67	0.49
	Kobbefjord	[dl]	-0.11	0.35	0.58	0.21	0.08
	Manitoba	[CA]	0.10	0.66	0.70	0.55	0.41
NIEC	Poker Flat	[ns]	0.15	0.83	0.81	0.37	0.25
	Samoylov	[RU]	0.06	0.45	0.87	0.05	0.14
	Tiksi	[RU]	00.0	0.38	0.41	0.26	0.02
	UCI-1998	<u>[</u>	-0.26	0.59	0.65	0.50	-0.15
	Zackenberg	[dl]	0.03	0.37	0.54	0.07	0.04
	Hakasia	[RU]	-0.24	1.80	0.98	0.57	1.21
	Kobbefjord	[gl]	0.31	0.62	0.80	0.35	-0.07
	Manitoba	[A]	0.63	1.30	0.93	0.73	1.15
	Poker Flat	[ns]	0.06	1.20	0.93	0.51	0:30
	Samoylov	[RU]	0.01	0.70	0.98	0.06	-0.14
	Tiksi	[RU]	0.14	0.78	0.87	0.36	-0.05
	UCI-1998	[CA]	1.00	1.30	0.82	0.95	1.32
	Zackenberg	[gl]	0.22	0.57	0.84	0.14	-0.01
	Hakasia	[RU]	0.59	1.20	0.98	0.30	0.87
	Kobbefjord	[gl]	0.12	0.65	0.86	0.17	-0.22
	Manitoba	<u>[</u>	0.96	0.91	0.80	0.81	0.81
Doco	Poker Flat	[ns]	0.21	1.20	0.89	0.35	0.34
Neco	Samoylov	[RU]	0.06	0.87	0.89	0.11	0.01
	Tiksi	[RU]	0.20	0.64	0.76	0.35	-0.15
	UCI-1998	[G	0.57	1.20	0.83	0.59	0.81
	Zackenberg	[dl]	0.24	0.66	0.86	60.0	0.10

Table 3. Statistics of linear fit between the CARDAMOM framework (independent) and the ISIMIP models (dependent) per individual model and per NPP [Net Primary Production; kg C m⁻² yr⁻¹), Cveg [Vegetation C pool; kg C m⁻²] and TTveg [Vegetation transit time; years]. The units for RMSE and bias are kg C m⁻² yr⁻¹ in NPP, kg C m⁻² yr⁻¹ $^1\,\text{in}$ C_{veg} and years in $TT_{\text{veg.}}$

				anarctic					Tundra					Taiga		
		Slope	Intercept	R²	RMSE	Bias	Slope	Intercept	R²	RMSE	Bias	Slope	Intercept	R²	RMSE	Bias
	HYBRID	0.80	0.30	0.03	0.30	0.61	0.66	1.00	0.09	0.30	0.66	1.00	-0.21	0.01	0.28	0.55
	JEDI	0.17	0.44	0.48	0.08	0.02	0.13	0.59	0.29	0.09	0.06	0.26	0.25	0.35	0.05	-0.03
	JULES	0.25	0.36	0.29	0.10	0.07	0.19	0.68	0.33	0.09	0.13	0.33	0.17	0.09	0.09	0.00
	5	0.22	0.48	0.41	0.10	0.08	0.15	0.78	0.31	0.11	0.11	0.35	0.20	0.21	0.06	0.03
	SDGVM	0.21	0.41	0.52	0.07	0.05	0.17	0.60	0.35	0.08	0.11	0.28	0.26	0.47	0.04	-0.01
	VISIT	0.18	0.43	0.28	0.12	0.02	0.11	0.80	0.28	0.12	0.07	0:30	0.17	0.07	0.10	-0.03
	HYBRID	5.90	0.13	0.00	2.90	4.61	5.60	-0.05	0.00	2.40	4.60	6.80	-0.01	0.00	3.20	4.62
	JEDI	1.40	0.32	0.24	0.84	0.41	1.30	0.00	0.00	0.80	0.45	1.80	0.32	0.40	0.54	0.37
L	JULES	1.80	0.55	0.08	2.80	1.07	1.60	0.15	0.01	2.40	0.85	2.20	0.57	0.07	3.00	1.30
2 veg	[]	2.40	0.88	0.15	3.10	2.26	1.90	0.06	0.00	2.40	0.92	4.20	0.79	0.13	2.80	3.77
	SDGVM	1.60	0.91	0.31	2.00	1.45	1.10	0.07	0.01	1.10	0.21	3.10	0.86	0.44	1.30	2.81
	VISIT	1.70	0.17	0.03	1.40	0.45	1.50	-0.06	0.00	1.20	0.45	2.40	0.10	0.01	1.30	0.44
	HYBRID	8.70	-0.07	0.00	13.00	4.14	8.80	-0.01	0.00	15.00	5.25	8.10	-0.01	0.00	10.00	2.91
	JEDI	4.80	0.29	0.18	1.30	1.80	5.00	0.07	0.01	1.30	1.93	5.40	0.29	0.19	0.97	1.67
F	JULES	4.00	0.46	0.03	5.30	1.76	4.40	0.07	0.00	4.70	1.19	5.20	0.46	0.02	5.50	2.36
veg	ĿЪ	4.80	0.97	0.10	6.40	4.70	5.10	0.03	0.00	5.20	1.63	9.00	0.84	0.06	5.50	8.16
	SDGVM	2.70	1.30	0.24	4.80	3.81	3.20	0.18	0.02	2.70	0.34	6.60	1.20	0.32	3.00	7.64
	VISIT	3.00	1.40	0.01	31.00	4.85	-0.20	3.20	0.03	43.00	7.60	7.20	-0.05	00.00	2.30	1.80

Supplement of

Evaluation of terrestrial pan-Arctic carbon cycling using a data-assimilation system

Efrén López-Blanco (elb@bios.au.dk)

Correspondence to: Efrén López-Blanco (elb@bios.au.dk)



Figure S1. Spatial domain defined by the Northern Circumpolar Soil Carbon Database version 2 (NCSCDv2) region. The tundra- taiga separated based the of the GlobCover regions were on presence-absence forested areas using map (http://due.esrin.esa.int/page_globcover.php). Forested areas included: closed to open broadleaved evergreen or semi-deciduous forest (>5m), closed (>40%) broadleaved deciduous forest (>5m), open (15-40%) broadleaved deciduous forest/woodland (>5m), closed (>40%) needleleaved evergreen forest (>5m), open (15-40%) needleleaved deciduous or evergreen forest (>5m) and closed to open (>15%) mixed broadleaved and needleleaved forest (>5m).

Table S1. List of supplementary information detailing all acronyms related to model structure, Global Vegetation Models, General

Circulation Models, model intercomparison projects, input data, C flux, stocks and transit times variables and statistical analyses.

Model structure used in this pape	r
DALEC2	Data Assimilation Linked Ecosystem Carbon version 2
CARDAMOM	CARbon Data MOdel fraMework
MHMCMC	Metropolis-Hastings Markov Chain Monte Carlo
EDC	Ecological and Dynamic constraints
Global Vegetation Models (GVM	
HYBRID	-
JEDI	Jena Diversity-Dynamic Global Vegetation Model
JULES	Joint UK Land Environment Simulator
LPJmL	Lund-Postdam-Jena managed Land
SDGVM	Sheffield Dynamic Global Vegetation Model
	Vegetation Integrative Simulator for Trace Gases
LPJ-WHYMe	Lund-Postdam-Jena - Wetland Hydrology and Methane model
TEM	Organizing Carbon and Hydrology in Dynamic Ecosystems Environment
TCE	Terrectrial Carbon Flux model
CL MAC	Community Land Model for Carbon
CL M4CN	Community Land Model for Carbon and Nitrogen
Hyland	-
LPI-Guess	Lund-Postdam-Jena - General Ecosystem Simulator
O-CN	ORCHIDEE - Carbon Nitrogen
TRIFFID	Top-down Representation of Interactive Foliage and Flora Including Dynamics
BETHY/DLR	Biosphere Energy-Transfer Hydrology Model
General Cirulation Models (GCN	I)
HadGEM2-ES	Hadley Global Environment Model 2 - Earth System
IPSLCM5A-LR	Institut Pierre-Simon Laplace Coupled Model - Low Resolution
MIROC-ESM-CHEM	Model for Interdisciplinary Resarch On Climate- Earth System Model - CHEMistry
GFDL-ESM2M	Geophysical Fluid Dynamics Laboratory - Earth System Model
NorESM1-M	Norwegian Earth System Model 1 - Medium resolution
Model Intercomparison projects	
ISIMIP	Inter-Sectoral Impact Model Intercomparison Project
CMIP5	Coupled Model Intercomparison Project (5th phase)
TRENDY	Trends in net land carbon exchange intercomparison project
Input data	
MODIS	Moderate Resolution Imaging Spectroradiometer
LAI	Leaf Area Index
SOC	Soil Organic Carbon
HWSD	Hamonized World Soil Database
NCSCD	Northern Circumpolar Soil Carbon Database
C flux variables	Nat Faamutam Frakanca
GPR	Cross Primary Production
	Net Primary Production
R	Foosystem Respiration
R _{eco}	
κ _a	Autoupine respiration
K _h	Heterotrophic Respiration
U stock variables	
C _{photo}	Photosynthetic C stock [leat + labile]
C _{veg}	Vegetation C stock [leaf + labile + stem + root]
C _{dom}	Soil C stock [litter + soil organic carbon]
C _{tot}	Total C stock [leaf + labile + litter + soil organic carbon]
Transit times	
TT _{photo}	Photosynthetic transit time [leaf + labile]
TT _{veg}	Vegetation transit time [leaf + labile + stem + root]
TT _{dom}	Soil transit time [litter + soil organic carbon]
TT _{tot}	Total transit time [leaf + labile + litter + soil organic carbon]
Statistical analyses	
R ²	Coefficient of determination
RMSE	Root Mean Square Error
BIAS	Bias error
P05	5 th percetile
P25	25 th percetile
P50	50 th percetile
P75	75 th percetile
P95	95 th percetile

Table S2. DALEC2 model parameter description, and prior ranges based on ecologically viable limits.

Process	Parameter	Prior range	Units
	Leaf onset day	1-365	day
	Leaf fall leaf	1-365	day
Plant phonology	Leaf fall period	20-150	day
Fiant phenology	Labile C release period	all leaf 1-365 c Il period 20-150 c ease period 10-100 c efficency 5.0-50 c s per area 5-200 g C GPP respired 0.3-0.7 c to foliage C pool 0.01-1 2 to to labile C pool 0.01-1 2 2 to roots C pool 20-2000 g C y C pool 20-2000 g C y C pool 20-2000 g C y C pool 20-2000 g C pool 20-2000 g C pool 20-2000 g C pool 20-2000 g C pool 20-2000 g C pool 20-2000 g C pool 20-2000 g C pool 20-2000 g C pool 20-2000 g C sturnover 0.000025-0.001 // urnover 0.000025-0.001 // urnover <td< td=""><td>day</td></td<>	day
	Canopy efficency	5.0-50	
	Leaf mass per area	Leaf fall period20-150Labile C release period10-100Canopy efficency5.0-50Leaf mass per area5-200gFraction of GPP respiredction of NPP to foliage C pool0.01-1action of NPP to labile C pool0.01-1action of NPP to roots C pool0.01-1Foliar C pool20-2000g C20-2000Labile C pool20-2000g C100-100000g C20-2000Litter C pool20-2000g C20-2000Lifespan1.001-8Wood turnover0.000025-0.001Root turnover0.0001-0.01Litter mineralization0.00001-0.01Opanic matter mineralization0.000001-0.01Decomparisition state0.00001-0.01Decomparisition state0.00001-0.01	g C m ⁻²
	Fraction of GPP respired	day 1-365 saf 1-365 riod 20-150 e period 10-100 sency 5.0-50 r area 5-200 gerspired 0.3-0.7 objage C pool 0.01-1 roots C pool 0.01-1 pool 20-2000 g pool 0.00025-0.001 pool pover 0.00001-0.01 pool p	
Allocation of NDD	Leaf fall period 20-150 ogy Labile C release period 10-100 Canopy efficency 5.0-50 Leaf mass per area 5-200 Fraction of GPP respired 0.3-0.7 Prestion of NPP to foliage C pool 0.01-1 Fraction of NPP to labile C pool 0.01-1 Fraction of NPP to roots C pool 20-2000 Labile C pool 20-2000 Labile C pool 20-2000 Uabile C pool 20-2000 Litter C pool 20-2000 Lifespan 1.001-8 Wood turnover 0.000025-0.001 Root turnover 0.0001-0.01 Soil organic matter mineralization 0.00001-0.01 Decomposition rate 0.00001-0.001		
	Fraction of NPP to labile C pool	0.01-1	
	Fraction of NPP to roots C pool	0.01-1	
	Foliar C pool	20-2000	g C m⁻² yr
C pools	Labile C pool	20-2000	g C m ⁻² yr
	Woody C pool	100-100000	g C m ⁻² yr
c pools	Foliar C pool 20-2000 Labile C pool 20-2000 Woody C pool 100-100000 Fine root C pool 20-2000 Litter C pool 20-2000	g C m ⁻² yr	
	Litter C pool	20-2000	g C m ⁻² yr
	Soil organic matter C pool	100-200000	g C m⁻² yr
	Lifespan	1.001-8	
	Wood turnover	0.000025-0.001	/day
	Root turnover	0.0001-0.01	/day
Turnover rates	Litter mineralization	0.0001-0.01	/day
	Soil organic matter mineralization	0.0000001-0.001	/day
	Decomposition rate	0.00001-0.01	/day
	Temperature dependence exponent factor	0.018-0.08	

 Table S3. Data set description of the 8 selected sites derived from the FLUXNET2015 database. MAT stands for Mean Annual Temperature while MAP for Mean Annual Precipitation.

Site ID	DK-NuF	DK-ZaH	RU-Ha1	US-Prr	CA-Man	CA-NS7	RU-Sam	RU-Tks
Site Name	Nuuk Fen	Zackenberg Heath	Hakasia steppe	Poker Flat	Manitoba	UCI-1998 burn site	Samoylov	Tiksi
Latitude	64.1	74.5	54.7	65.1	55.9	56.6	72.4	71.6
Longitude	-51.4	-20.6	90.0	-147.5	-98.5	-99.9	126.5	128.9
MAT (°C)	-1.4	-9.0	-	-2.0	-3.2	-3.5	-	-12.7
MAP (mm)	750.0	211.0	-	275.0	520.0	483.0	-	323.0
Eco-type (IGBP)	Wetland	Heathland	Grasslands	Evergreen Needleleaf	Evergreen Needleleaf	Open shrubland	Grassland	Grasslands
Tundra-Taiga	Tundra	Tundra	Tundra	Taiga	Taiga	Taiga	Tundra	Tundra
Data availability	2008-2015	2000-2014	2002-2004	2010-2014	1994-2008	2002-2005	2002-2014	2010-2014

Table S4. General properties of the global vegetation models used in this study (derived from Nishima et al. 2014 and 2015).

GVM	Vegetation	Number of PFT	Nitrogen	Fire	Permafrost	Soil depth	Soil temperature function	Soil moisture function	Reference
HYBRID4	DGVM	6	Yes	No	No	-	Exponential with optimum	Optimum curve	Friend and White (2000)
JeDi	DGVM	15	No	No	No	> 5 m	Exponential (Q10: 1.4)	-	Pavlick et al. (2013)
JULES	DGVM	5	No	No	Yes	-	Exponential (Q10: 2.0)	Linear with plateau	Clark et al. (2011)
LPJml	DGVM	10	No	Yes	Yes	3 m	Lloyd & Taylor	Linear with plateau	Sitch et al. (2003)
SDGVM	Fixed PFT	7	Yes	Yes	No	1 m	Optimum curve	Optimum curve	Woodward et al. (1995)
VISIT	Fixed PFT	16	No	Yes	No	1 m	Lloyd & Taylor	Optimum curve	Ito and Inatomi (2012)

Table S5. Information about the 4 different scenarios used in the sensitivity analysis, using HWSD soil database with and without biomass, and NCSCD with and without biomass. We report C fluxes [NBE, Net Biome Exchange; NPP, Net Primary Production; R_h, heterorophic Respiration], C pools [C_{photo}, C_{veg}, C_{dom}, C_{tot}] and transit times [TT_{photo}, TT_{veg}, TT_{dom}, TT_{tot}]. The averages contain the estimations between the 5th and 95th percentiles, and the median in bold (50th percentile).

				ни	VSD					NC	SCD		
			With bioma	5S	w	ithout biom	ass	١	Nith bioma	5S	w	ithout biom	ass
		P05	P50	P95	P05	P50	P95	P05	P50	P95	P05	P50	P95
	NBE	-261	-62	894.6	-267.5	-98.2	924.9	-258.2	-52.2	1158.6	-266.5	-89.9	1165.7
C fluxes	NPP	176.8	262.3	376.1	158.6	242.3	355.5	177.5	263.5	377.6	159.8	244	357.2
	R _h	26.6	193.9	1162.9	19.3	131.6	1164.4	29	206	1428.4	20.6	141.6	1407.1
	C _{photo}	63.1	118.9	223.1	150.3	562.5	1653	63.4	119.6	224.8	151.2	565.4	1650.5
Chools	Cveg	486.6	1353	5296	1031.7	3573.8	43899.1	489.2	1398.3	6006.5	1037.8	3588.3	43949.5
e pools	C _{dom}	7843.5	18749.7	36056.9	9082	20946.8	50601.3	10329.3	24489.4	47506.6	11906	27079.1	60657.6
	C _{tot}	9183.9	20377.7	39553.4	11877.9	26398.7	86233.1	11737.3	26276.1	51209.8	14966.5	33140.4	93666.2
	Π_{photo}	0.9	1.4	2.4	2.9	10.9	61	0.9	1.4	2.4	2.9	10.7	58.5
Transit times	Π _{veg}	1.6	4.2	16.5	3.1	10.3	46	1.6	4.2	16.2	3.1	10.2	45.9
		10	106.7	724	12.2	126.4	625.2	10.2	133.9	897.6	12.4	154.8	792.6
	Π _{tot}	12	120	933.5	19.4	212	1692.2	12.1	150.8	1139.7	18.9	243	1878.7

Paper SI

Pirk, N., Mastepanov, M., López-Blanco, E., Christensen, L. H., Christiansen, H. H., Hansen, B. U., Lund, M., Parmntier, F.-J. W., Skov, K., and Christensen, T. R.: Toward a statistical description of methane emissions from arctic wetlands, AMBIO, 46, 70-80, 10.1007/s13280-016-0893-3, 2017.



Zackenberg site, East Greenland. 2017 field season. Photo by Efrén López-Blanco



Toward a statistical description of methane emissions from arctic wetlands

Norbert Pirk, Mikhail Mastepanov, Efrén López-Blanco, Louise H. Christensen, Hanne H. Christiansen, Birger Ulf Hansen, Magnus Lund, Frans-Jan W. Parmentier, Kirstine Skov, Torben R. Christensen

Abstract Methane (CH₄) emissions from arctic tundra typically follow relations with soil temperature and water table depth, but these process-based descriptions can be difficult to apply to areas where no measurements exist. We formulated a description of the broader temporal flux pattern in the growing season based on two distinct CH₄ source components from slow and fast-turnover carbon. We used automatic closed chamber flux measurements from NE Greenland (74°N), W Greenland (64°N), and Svalbard (78°N) to identify and discuss these components. The temporal separation was well-suited in NE Greenland, where the hypothesized slow-turnover carbon peaked at a time significantly related to the timing of snowmelt. The temporally wider component from fast-turnover carbon dominated the emissions in W Greenland and Svalbard. Altogether, we found no dependence of the total seasonal CH4 budget to the timing of snowmelt, and warmer sites and years tended to yield higher CH₄ emissions.

Keywords Emission \cdot Greenland \cdot Methane \cdot Svalbard \cdot Tundra

INTRODUCTION

The small coverage of measurement sites in arctic tundra causes large uncertainties in regional emission budgets of the greenhouse gas methane (CH₄) (McGuire et al. 2012). The process-based upscaling of CH₄ flux measurements requires detailed information about the local ground conditions (Davidson et al. 2016), which typically cannot be obtained with remote sensing techniques. Arctic tundra ecosystems are predicted to warm and change significantly in the near future (Johannessen et al. 2004; Callaghan et al. 2011a; Cohen et al. 2012), so there are pressing questions

about the CH₄ flux response to, e.g., earlier snowmelt and generally warmer growing seasons (Callaghan et al. 2011b). Temperature and water table position are often identified as key controls for the short-term CH₄ fluxes (Turetsky et al. 2008, 2014; Tagesson et al. 2013), but longer-term seasonal patterns could relate more to the decomposability of the different pools of organic substrates and the development of plants (Christensen et al. 2003; Whalen 2005). So would an earlier snowmelt, causing a longer growing season, lead to larger seasonal emissions? If so, the potentially increased CH₄ concentrations in the atmosphere could further amplify climate change effects.

Gas exchange measurements in the Arctic are challenging due to the harsh weather and logistical constraints. The used measurement techniques can also differ tremendously between sites (e.g., Crill et al. 1988; Wagner et al. 2003; Corradi et al. 2005; Parmentier et al. 2011), which complicates inter-site comparisons. The closed chamber technique has proven to be a robust method for CH₄ flux measurements, but it is generally not applied continuously throughout the whole growing season (Olefeldt et al. 2013). In the larger framework of the Greenland Ecosystem Monitoring Program, three arctic sites were therefore equipped with the same automatic closed chamber system to continuously monitor CH₄ fluxes on the same plots over many growing seasons and the subsequent freeze-in periods. The collected dataset gives unique possibilities to analyze the seasonal patterns at these different ecosystems. The first five years from one of the high-arctic sites (Zackenberg) were previously analyzed by Mastepanov et al. (2013). The derived flux pattern led the authors to hypothesize a bi-component origin of growing season CH₄ emissions, driven by two different mechanisms related to slow and fast carbon turnover (Chanton et al. 1995). Accordingly, a first emission peak stems from the slow-

Deringer

© The Author(s) 2017. This article is published with open access at Springerlink.com www.kva.se/en

Discussion, future perspective and key conclusions

To be able to comprehend and predict the driving mechanisms of climate change in the Arctic, it is of major importance to understand the contemporary state of the C cycle. Descriptive studies at a local scale are required to achieve a richer understanding of the ecosystems functioning. Observations networks such as FLUXNET (Baldocchi et al., 2001), ICOS or NEON as well as ecosystem monitoring programmes similar to GEM (Christensen and Topp-Jørgensen, 2017; Christensen et al., 2017) have demonstrated to be crucial systems in order to fill C cycle related knowledge gaps. However, reference sites in northern latitudes are difficult to coordinate and hardly incorporate (i) comprehensive spatial coverage in heterogeneous landscapes, (ii) high temporal resolution to sample episodic events, (iii) continuous samples to achieve full annual cycles, and (iv) field measurements with direct line power in remote areas (McGuire et al., 2012). Exclusive datadriven analyses become insufficient to provide a wide-ranging picture of the global Arctic system. Observed patterns at very specific sites may not be applicable in other locations and some sort of complements are needed to consider. Process oriented models and data assimilation systems are suitable tools to understand C dynamics at deeper degree of complexity, but also to quantify the underlying processes that are difficult to measure in the field. McGuire et al. (2012) highlighted the importance of reducing uncertainty from observations, processbased models and data assimilation systems to better understand ecosystem-atmosphere interactions. To be able to reduce uncertainties, McGuire et al. (2012) suggested to improve ground-based observation networks of CO₂ to better understand C exchange in response to disturbance (Paper I, II) and to effectively transfer information from enhanced observation networks into process-based models (Paper III, IV). These critical recommendations were taken into consideration in this thesis to advance science and knowledge of CO₂ exchange in the Arctic.

The overall objective of this thesis is to resolve key uncertainties related to mechanisms driving the net C uptake dynamics and the interplay between photosynthetic inputs, respiratory outputs and changes of C stocks in Arctic ecosystems. This thesis involved field observations (**Paper I, II, III, IV**) and modelling simulations (**Paper III, IV**), both at local (**Paper I, II, III**) and pan-Arctic scale (**Paper IV**). Specifically, the objectives were to:

- Investigate the impact of the environmental drivers (Paper I) and the biological disturbance (Paper I, II) over the exchange of CO₂ in Arctic tundra.
- 2. Investigate the compensatory effect observed and modelled between photosynthesis and respiration losses (**Paper I, III**).
- 3. Investigate the role of wintertime fluxes over full annual cycles (Paper III).
- Evaluate the terrestrial pan-Arctic C cycle retrievals of the first 15 years of the 21st century and benchmark those retrievals with estimates from extensively used GVMs to pinpoint fixable biases (Paper IV).

In this chapter I summarise the key results of each of the four papers, and review their application to the aims of this thesis. Here I also identify key areas for further research emerged from the outcomes of this work.

The impact of environmental drivers and a biological disturbance over the exchange of CO_2 in Arctic tundra

The Nuuk-Kobbefjord Arctic tundra site acted as a consistent sink of CO_2 across the 2008-2015 period except for the anomalous year 2011, which was associated with a major pest outbreak (Paper I, II, III). On the one hand, the flux data suggest that NEE was insensitive to growing season meteorology, despite the large inter-annual variability observed from temperature and precipitation observations. On the other hand, the ranges of annual GPP and R_{eco} were >5 fold larger than NEE, but also more variable, thus gross fluxes were highly sensitive to the meteorological variability, mostly driven by temperature and insolation. In Kobbefjord there was a tendency towards larger GPP and R_{eco} during warmer and wetter years.

The meteorological conditions have markedly shaped the C exchange balance in the Kobbefjord site (Paper I, II, III). Paper I demonstrated that temperature and radiation are the two key environmental controls in the ecosystem, even though their importance oscillate depending on the diurnal, seasonal and annual cycles, but also between different time aggregations. Air temperature dominates the diurnal cycle for NEE (similar to Lindroth et al. (2007)), GPP (except at dawn and dusk) and R_{eco}. In the seasonal and annual cycles, light is found more important than temperature for NEE and GPP, whereas temperature is the key controller of R_{eco}, which is consistently in agreement with literature (Heskel et al., 2016; Lloyd and Taylor, 1994; Tjoelker et al., 2001). Additionally, we found that the variable importance may change depending on how the data is aggregated. For instance, light becomes more important for NEE and GPP at short term scales as reported by Stoy et al. (2014), while temperature is more important in the long term scale for NEE, GPP and R_{eco}. The responses to meteorological sensitivity present, however, discrepancies with some other studies such as Peichl et al. (2014) and Strachan et al. (2015). For example, the temperature-precipitation sensitivity described in Paper I, where warmer and wetter conditions were associated with larger GPP and R_{eco}, and colder and drier conditions were linked to lower GPP and R_{eco}, have not been found by Peichl et al. (2014). Environmental drivers related to water availability (i.e. VPD, precipitation and water table depth) were not found as important as temperature and radiation, in contrast with findings by Strachan et al. (2015). It is particularly interesting that in some sites the C sink strength decreased during dry years (Aurela et al., 2007; Lund et al., 2007; Peichl et al., 2014), while this particular trend occurs in wetter years in other locations (Lafleur et al., 1997). The environmental responses to C dynamics are complex, and these may change depending on factors such as hydrological settings (Strachan et al., 2015), water table changes (Hanis et al., 2015), presence/absence of permafrost (Lund et al., 2015), vegetation shifts and topography (Johansson et al., 2013) or lagged effects after extreme episodes (Zona et al., 2014). Furthermore, some other responses may be counterintuitive. For example, Paper I demonstrated that longer growing seasons do not necessarily increase NEE (i.e. larger C uptake), similar to the findings from Lund et al. (2010) and Parmentier et al. (2011). Therefore, climate change in the Arctic C balance is not straightforward to infer.

The balance between C stocks, C allocation, C turnover, and C fluxes is highly dependent on meteorological variability but, interestingly, this variability can also positively feedback on the biological disturbance occurred in the anomalous year 2011. An useful example of positive feedback loops is represented by the combination of different factors driving the C flux variability observed between 2010 and 2011 (**Paper I, II, III**). The warmest July-September period in 2010 was followed by a colder than usual October-May period in 2011, featuring the thickest snowpack measured across the 2008-2015 period. These conditions,

together with a colder June, a cloudier July and the larvae feeding on vegetation, have facilitated: 1) optimal conditions for the moth outbreak survival during the winter due to the warmer temperatures created underneath the thick snowpack (Callaghan et al., 2004; Chapin et al., 2004) and 2) minimal conditions for plant growth at the beginning of the growing season. The findings covered in **Paper I**, **II** and **III** highlight the importance of shifts in the growing season timing and their direct influence on C exchange balances, but also the lagged effects influencing following years.

Explicitly, the larval outbreak in the anomalous year of 2011 induced a severe impact on vegetation productivity and CO_2 exchange in the Nuuk-Kobbefjord area. Paper I estimates a shift from a sink of -30 g C m⁻² as average for the 2008-2015 period to a source of 41 g C m⁻², even though the moth only affected the surrounding heath. More specifically, Paper II estimates a decrease of C sink strength of 118-143 g C m⁻², corresponding to 1210-1470 tonnes C at the catchment basis, focusing only on manual cambers data in the affected heath. Interestingly, Paper II we observe a counterbalanced increase of C sink strength (i.e. enhanced plant growth) throughout the following 3 years.

To our knowledge, such abrupt shift in C sink strength has not been previously reported in Arctic tundra, excluding other severely disturbed ecosystems like burned areas (Rocha and Shaver, 2011). Paper I and II presented a clear impact on vegetation productivity, inducing a 51% and 57% decrease of GPP compared to the previous year respectively. Moreover, the SPA model (Paper III) quantified the effect on NEE in 2011 as 45% environmental and 55% moth contributed, suggesting an influence from meteorological-biological drivers of a joint nature. The moth outbreak has clearly played an important role in the C dynamics, not only in 2011, but also in the following years. Paper I and II agree on the fact that the ecosystem has shown an ability to efficiently recover from disturbance, suggesting an ecosystem resilience similar to other cases reported before (Hewitt et al., 2013; Peichl et al., 2014; Zona et al., 2014). Specifically, Paper II suggests that increased nutrient turnover rates and plant growth were enhanced as a consequence of the outbreak. Higher productivity was likely driven by an increase of nitrogen from decomposed larvae after death and the potential excess of nutrient availability due to the impossibility of usage. As result, the new leaves become greener in following years, a sign of good health and rejuvenation (Tenow et al., 2004). These findings highlight the importance of biological disturbances in the ecosystem productivity and functioning in Arctic ecosystems (Post et al., 2009). Along these lines, ecosystem models are not well prepared for such sporadic events. Paper II demonstrated, for the first time in tundra ecosystems, that moth outbreaks can be detected using normalized difference vegetation index (NDVI) and enhanced vegetation index (EVI) satellite imagery derived products from the MODIS sensor. Therefore, similar work could be integrated within the CARDAMOM data-assimilation framework (Paper IV) to constrain vegetation greenness data and benchmark GVMs. This modelling exercise may provide useful guidance towards model improvements, e.g. evaluating the degree of underestimation in traditional GVM by excluding biological disturbances from their internal structure. Moth outbreaks are expected to occur more often in the coming years (Callaghan et al., 2004) and might affect the future sign of net C uptake from sink to source (Callaghan et al., 2012), thus continued efforts are required to characterize these non-trivial ecosystem processes.

The compensatory effect between photosynthesis and respiration losses

The marked meteorological insensitivity of NEE during the snow-free period observed from flux data in Paper I was found driven by the correlated response of photosynthesis (GPP) and respiration losses (R_{eco}). However, we could not explain the reasons behind the compensatory responses by just analysing field observations alone. Hence, we constrained and calibrated a process based model to independently calculate respiration losses considering nitrogen (N) related interactions based on formulations described in Reich et al. (2008). The modelling exercise in Paper III validates the NEE buffering in snow-free periods (Paper I), but also demonstrated that the NEE buffering also occurs during year-round cycles. Interestingly, a simple sensitivity analysis revealed that plant traits related to N are likely key determinants of the tight link between photosynthetic inputs and respiratory outputs. Continued exploration of flux time series is required to investigate the robustness of this meteorological buffering.

Richardson et al. (2007) and Wohlfahrt et al. (2008) have found similar ranges of inter-annual variation of ranked cumulative GPP and R_{eco} , but also considerable larger variability compared to NEE, and thus both are in accordance with our results in **Paper I** and **III**. This finding contrasts with previous studies (Goulden et al., 1998; Morgenstern et al., 2004) suggesting that GPP is stable across years, while the R_{eco} variability determines the sign and magnitude of NEE. Oppositely, Barr et al. (2002) found that GPP is more sensitive than R_{eco} , concluding that GPP largely controls the variability in NEE. According to Richardson et al. (2007), the compensatory relationships found between the two gross fluxes may be explained either by an spurious correlation (Brett, 2004; Lasslop et al., 2010) or a genuine physiological relationship. In **Paper III** we independently evaluated and validated the flux data analysis (**Paper I**) with a process-based model specifically modified to account for independent R_{eco} estimations. Our implemented model does not calculate R_{eco} as a fixed ratio of GPP any longer; instead, it calculates maintenance respiration based on N related mechanisms following Reich et al. (2008). Thus, we believe the compensatory effect between GPP and R_{eco} coupling is an authentic physiological relationship rather than a consequence from spurious correlations.

On the one hand, an example of physiological relationship was described by Janssens et al. (2001) where it is claimed that differences in soil respiration are better explained by a variation of plant productivity rather than annual temperature variations. The authors suggested this behaviour could be constrained based on two mechanisms directly related to productivity: (i) root respiration controlled by the amount of photosynthate allocated to roots, and (ii) heterotrophic respiration driven by the availability of readily decomposed substrate such as fresh litter from leaves and fine roots. On the other hand, a variation in R_{eco} may lead to a subsequent variation in GPP. The inter-annual variation of N mineralisation rates might control the variation in foliar N content and, therefore, the photosynthetic capacity at the canopy level (Aber et al., 1996). In our study, field data on leaf mass per area, maximum foliar C stock and average foliar N collected have contributed very positively to constrain the uncertainty of simulated GPP and R_{eco} dynamics (**Paper III**). Regardless of the cause of the compensation, the interplay between productivity and respiration promoted the homeostasis of NEE (Richardson et al., 2017). Finally, four important messages can be extracted from this study: (i) N-related plant traits are the most sensitive parameters in the SPA model, hence (ii) field data on C-N ratios have significantly contributed to the decrease of model uncertainty, (iii) a similar ranked sensitivity of the model parameters have been found both in GPP and R_{eco} , and thus (iv) plant traits are likely key regulators of the gross flux coupling.

Complementary evaluations across the pan-Arctic domain are required to further investigate the strength of the compensatory effect as well as the decoupling impacts triggered by low productivity in episodic biological disturbances. Firstly, in **Paper I** we detected gross flux correlations using flux tower measurements. Secondly, in **Paper III** we verified a comparable performance using a process-oriented modelling technique at the same local scale, expanding the analysis also during full annual cycles. Compensatory effects remain to be tested at coarser spatial resolutions. There are three natural steps to continue in this direction: (i) evaluate more sites similar to **Paper I** using existing datasets across the pan-Arctic region (e.g. FLUXNET2015 sites, **Paper IV**), (ii) perform a sensitivity analysis for each new site to replicate resembling plant trait performance (Paper III), and (iii) test whether the compensatory effect emerges globally using the CARDAMOM data assimilation system (Paper IV). Hereafter I provide two simple examples with preliminary diagnostics (Figure 4 and 5) utilizing the same model set up as in **Paper IV.** A follow up analysis analogous to Figure 5 in **Paper** III shows very similar contributions of plant productivity (GPP) and respiratory losses (R_a and R_b) to NEE in the Kobbefjord site (Figure 4). This test agrees with **Paper III**, GPP slightly dominates R_{exp} ($R_a + R_b$). Interestingly, the 2008-2015 mean carbon use efficiency (CUE; GPP-R_a / GPP) is 0.57 using this simple diagnostic in CARDAMOM, compared to the averaged 0.5 estimated in **Paper III**. There are obvious scaling considerations that must be necessarily taken into account (**Paper IV**), although this approach may allows an interesting exploration of pan-Arctic CUE transects, and ultimately a better understanding of their responses to the environmental change. This is particularly important in a likely future context where warmer scenarios are expected to decrease CUE, this is increasing the overall respiratory losses (Street et al., 2013).



Figure 4. Annual gross fluxes [GPP, Gross Primary Production; Ra, autotrophic respiration; Rh, heterotrophic respiration] modelled by SPA (Paper III) and CARDAMOM (Paper IV) in the 1°x1° degree pixel where Kobbefjord is located. The y-axis represents the % contributed of gross fluxes to NEE, highlighting the balance between inputs (GPP) and outputs (R_a+R_b).

In a coarser perspective, pan-Arctic GPP- R_{eco} relationships are also tightly coupled (Figure 5), suggesting a slighter dominance of photosynthetic uptake (20% in tundra, and 30% in taiga) compared to the respiration losses. These preliminary results are in agreement with findings from **Paper I** and **III**, therefore further modelling studies are required to investigate this likelihood and the potential linkages with spatial variability in plant traits.



Figure 5. CARDAMOM retrievals from Paper IV characterizing the GPP- R_{eco} relationships across the pan-Arctic domain. In the scatterplot tundra is represented in brown and taiga in dark green.

The role of wintertime fluxes over full annual cycles

Wintertime responses such as low but constant respiration losses underneath the snowpack are usually not considered even though they can significantly affect the total annual C balance (Hobbie et al., 2000; McGuire et al., 2000). The lack of wintertime measurements due to remoteness, hostile meteorology, the difficulty to power-up stations and the occurrence of instrument failure usually complicate this task. The model analysis in Paper III indicated that wintertime periods decrease the C sink strength by 60% and increase up to 25% the annual soil respiration, very similar to the 61-81% and 20% reported by Oechel et al. (1997) and Schimel and Clein (1995) respectively. The R_{eco} partitioning implemented in Paper III also quantified the importance of litter and SOM decomposition processes, suggesting that R_h from litter is the largest contributor with ~20% to the annual budget, 2-fold larger than SOM. The two-characteristic peaks of respiration losses in each shoulder of the growing season were found driven by temperature (spring) and litter decomposition (autumn). These two processes together with the respiration from litter and SOM were identified as the main contributors to the decrease of C sink strength.

Wintertime C fluxes are significant and can even influence the sign and magnitude of the annual net C fluxes (Hobbie et al., 2000). The CO₂ sink/source dynamics without the discussion of non-growing season processes is difficult (Grøndahl et al., 2008). Papers by Zona et al. (2016), Commane et al. (2017) and Aurela et al. (2002) indicate the importance of non-growing season C dynamics. Additionally, delayed effects of wintertime-related variables such as snow depth and cover may induce a positive feedback on the ecosystem dynamics (**Paper III**). For instance, wintertime periods should be considered to have a more complete picture of the C cycle in Arctic ecosystems. However, little is known about some wintertime related processes. For example, the role of microbial activity is usually lacking in most of the biogeochemical modelling (Xenakis and Williams, 2014), and it is not fully understood whether the microbial activity in winter follows similar mechanisms than in summer (Schimel and Clein, 1996). Moreover, it remains unclear whether litter mass and N loss that usually occur primarily during winter (Hobbie and Chapin, 1996) are associated with biological interactions before snowmelt or with spring leaching (Hobbie et al., 2000). Likewise, it remains uncertain the implications of mosses in relation with CUE and the degree of soil temperature insulation in Arctic topsoils

(Street et al., 2012; Williams et al., 2000). Wintertime R_{eco} , along with litter and SOM turnover rates, need to be further constrained in ecosystem models (Cornelissen et al., 2007; DeMarco et al., 2014; Hobbie et al., 2000). Therefore, we need more field data, although these datasets are scarce and very challenging to measure (**Paper III, IV**).

Alternatively, we can use indirect data constraints to infer the effect of respiratory losses in cold periods. For example, Lund et al. (2012) discussed the insulating effect generated under thick snowpacks, keeping warmer temperatures compared to the surface, and thus increasing heterotrophic respiration rates. Moreover, snowpacks also act as lids avoiding the release of these respiratory outputs until the snowmelt in spring. In **Paper III** we used two different sources of data, snow coverage and soil temperature, as proxy to quantify the effect of snow dynamics in the overall C cycle. The results suggested a substantial improvement once the snow coverage data constrained the soil temperatures, but more interestingly we estimated an increase of 8 % in heterotrophic respiration due to the effect of snow. Following up on this successful implementation, future work on the validation of wintertime processes is needed (Pirk et al., 2016; Zhang et al., 2018). CARDAMOM (Paper IV) does not incorporate snow dynamics in the current structure, although such implementations may be pursued in the future. The DALEC model (Paper III, IV) embedded in CARDAMOM can be potentially coupled with the Hydrologiska Byråns Vattenbalansavdelning (HBV) snow pack, snow melt and soil moisture approach, broadly described by Seibert (1999) and references from Bergström et al. and Lindström et al. therein. Similar to **Paper III**, presence/absence of snow can be used as a trigger for plant phenology, to potentially influence the turnover of litter, and sublimation as a pathway to satisfy potential evaporation (and thereby adjust GPP). Since CARDAMOM requires to be constrained by 3-5 parameters in the future snow module, a suggested good candidate is the ESA's GlobSnow2 Snow Water Equivalent dataset (Takala et al., 2011).

The current state of the pan-Arctic C cycling modelling and its challenges

To determine the most likely state of the pan-Arctic C cycle we integrated in the same data assimilation system (Paper IV) a range of global gridded data including climate, soil organic C (SOC), leaf area index (LAI) and biomass with a mass balance model (Paper III). The pan-Arctic region was likely a small sink of C for the first 15 years of the 21st century, weaker in tundra and stronger in taiga, but our confidence intervals remain large (and so the region could be a source of C). The largest uncertainty in the net C uptake has been associated with heterotrophic respiration. We also conclude that biomass is the largest contributor to the bias modelled in turnover dynamic from global vegetation models (GVMs) and is a major component of error in their projections. Improved mapping of vegetation C stocks is required for a better understanding of the internal ecosystem C dynamics.

At the large scale, CARDAMOM estimates reported in **Paper IV** are found in consistent good agreement with C flux observations, forward and inversions model estimates reported from McGuire et al. (2012), C stocks and transit times described by Carvalhais et al. (2014), and the turnover rates suggested by Thurner et al. (2017). This reasonable performance compared to independently Arctic-specific C cycle retrievals (C fluxes, pools and turnover rates) demonstrates that CARDAMOM is a robust and suitable tool to assess large scale C cycle dynamics in the pan-Arctic domain. CARDAMOM also detected inconsistencies with

independent global datasets. The spatial variability of our analysis suggests that (i) biomass stocks are 28% lower than earth observation (EO) mapping (Carvalhais et al., 2014), (ii) GPP is 50% lower than Multi-Tree Ensemble (MTE) upscaling (Jung et al., 2017), and (iii) R_h is higher in the taiga and lower in the tundra than upscaled estimates (Hashimoto et al., 2015). CARDAMOM confirms that most of the uncertainties found in NEE echoes from the lack of understanding of heterotrophic respiration processes (**Paper III**).

At the local scale, on the one hand, we note that independent tests at EC locations suggest that CARDAMOM's GPP may be 30% overestimated. This mismatch is important in the context of the MTE upscaling, i.e. MTE is 50% lower than CARDAMOM, while CARDAMOM is 30% larger than FLUXNET. On the other hand, the agreement between EO data and EC data is surprisingly good (reproducing both the magnitude and their seasonal cycles) given the enormous scale difference. An increase of the model spatial resolution (i.e. finer grid-cells) may be helpful to closely investigate the agreement with measured flux data, but also to explore intriguing emerging questions that cannot be answered given our current understanding. For example, what controls the spatial variations in C sink/source strength? Since model parameters such as C allocation, turnover or leaf mass per area dynamically change between grid-cells, can we find that these are more linked to NEE variations, or are these mostly controlled by GPP or R_{exo} ?

By moving towards closer data-model integration at different spatio-temporal scales, CARDAMOM would potentially be a suitable candidate to approach new layers of complexity to fill some of the knowledge gaps (Figure 6). This could be achieved either from a bottom-up perspective (i.e. from local to global scale, using for example multi-site data) or a top-down strategy (i.e. from global to local scale, using finer gridded data in CARDAMOM).



Figure 6. Modified conceptual diagram from Figure 3 identifying key areas (represented in red) for future research arising from the outcomes of this work.

A key finding in **Paper IV** was the isolation of two important issues. First, the significant and systematic uncertainties regarding (heterotrophic) respiration processes. Interestingly, in **Paper I** we found larger discrepancies in R_{eco} compared to GPP using different partitioning approaches, but also in the data-model comparison in **Paper III**. One potential solution to decrease the uncertainties associated with R_{eco} may be the

use of microbial models rather than first order kinetics (Xenakis and Williams, 2014). Second, biomass is the largest contributor to the bias controlling the turnover rates in GVMs, while productivity processes are more in agreement with CARDAMOM. Recent studies raised strong arguments about the poor representation of C pools dynamics at global scale (Exbrayat et al., 2018; Friend et al., 2014; Nishina et al., 2014; Nishina et al., 2015; Thurner et al., 2017). However, from these studies it remains unclear whether productivity or biomass dominated the biases in transit times. In **Paper IV** we apportion the bias contribution, clearly dominated by GVMs biomass. This finding is especially interesting to benchmark the current process-based understanding of internal C cycle dynamics in the Arctic, but also to pinpoint fixable bias in model performance.

Finally, non-trivial Arctic related processes and responses remain to be tested and implemented in the CARDAMOM framework (**Paper IV**). For example: 1) the biological disturbances integrating remote sensing with modelling (following guidelines from **Paper II**), 2) the compensatory effects between GPP and R_{ecc} (addressed in **Paper I, III**), and 3) the impact of snow dynamics in wintertime R_h fluxes (**Paper III**). Additionally, it would be very interesting and highly relevant to validate the performance of the plant trait parameters with independent datasets such as Kattge et al. (2011) and Sloan et al. (2013) to further evaluate the links between C and N, using a different approach to cross-check **Paper III**'s findings. Overall, this work establishes the baseline for more process-based ecological analyses using the CARDAMOM framework (**Paper IV**) as a promising technique to constrain the pan-Arctic C cycle.

Concluding remarks

This thesis illustrated how significant local scale ground-based observations are to the Arctic C balance (**Paper I, II**), but also how modelling techniques at local (**Paper III**) and pan-Arctic scale (**Paper IV**) can benefit and improve using robust field datasets. **Paper I** and **II** addressed the current state of the C exchange balance and how severely C fluxes can be affected by a biological disturbance in West Greenland tundra. Kobbefjord acted as sink of C except for the anomalous year associated with a severe moth outbreak. NEE presented a marked insensitivity to meteorology, while GPP and R_{eco} were highly sensitive and tightly coupled. **Paper III** was built on a couple of knowledge gaps identified in **Paper II** highlighted that plant traits are key controllers of the tight coupling observed and modelled between GPP and R_{eco} , and that wintertime periods decreased 60% the annual C sink strength. **Paper IV** incorporated a coarser perspective to the C cycling addressing key uncertainties of global productivity and decomposition processes at pan-Arctic scales. We aimed to link this project back with previous work using local scale field observations (**Paper I**) and utilizing the same C cycling modelling core incorporated in **Paper III**. **Paper IV** showed the likely sink of C of the pan-Arctic region although large uncertainties from respiratory losses remain, but also pinpointed the poor performances of GVM's turnover time of vegetation C, a major component of error in their forecasts.

The combination of data-model approaches generates novel outputs, allowing us to explore mechanisms and controls that otherwise would not have been possible to address independently. Moreover, the disagreements between observations and models are very valuable, and these uncertainties help us to recognise specific lacks of understanding and suggest new niches for further investigation such as the biological disturbance in C cycle modelling (**Paper III**), the partition of respiratory losses (**Paper III, IV**) or the significant bias in vegetation C turnover (**Paper IV**). Considerable efforts are required to implement Arctic ecosystem monitoring programs during full annual cycles (Euskirchen et al., 2012; Grøndahl et al., 2008), and more field measurements on plant phenology, plant and soil structure and C and N stocks are needed to improve ecosystem model constraints. Finally, future work on large scale gross flux compensatory responses, wintertime dynamics and a dedicated focus on episodic biological disturbances are suggested to improve our process-based understanding of the Arctic C cycle in changing environments.

References

- Aber, J. D., Reich, P. B., and Goulden, M. L.: Extrapolating leaf CO2 exchange to the canopy: a generalized model of forest photosynthesis compared with measurements by eddy correlation, Oecologia, 106, 257-265, 10.1007/bf00328606, 1996.
- Aurela, M., Laurila, T., and Tuovinen, J.-P.: Annual CO2 balance of a subarctic fen in northern Europe: Importance of the wintertime efflux, Journal of Geophysical Research: Atmospheres, 107, ACH 17-11-ACH 17-12, 10.1029/2002JD002055, 2002.
- Aurela, M., Riutta, T., Laurila, T., Tuovinen, J.-P., Vesala, T., Tuittila, E.-S., Rinne, J., Haapanala, S., and Laine, J.: CO2 exchange of a sedge fen in southern Finland—the impact of a drought period, Tellus B, 59, 826-837, 10.1111/j.1600-0889.2007.00309.x, 2007.
- Baldocchi, D., Falge, E., Gu, L., Olson, R., Hollinger, D., Running, S., Anthoni, P., Bernhofer, C., Davis, K., Evans, R., Fuentes, J., Goldstein, A., Katul, G., Law, B., Lee, X., Malhi, Y., Meyers, T., Munger, W., Oechel, W., U, K. T. P., Pilegaard, K., Schmid, H. P., Valentini, R., Verma, S., Vesala, T., Wilson, K., and Wofsy, S.: FLUXNET: A New Tool to Study the Temporal and Spatial Variability of Ecosystem-Scale Carbon Dioxide, Water Vapor, and Energy Flux Densities, Bulletin of the American Meteorological Society, 82, 2415-2434, 10.1175/1520-0477(2001)082<2415:fantts>2.3.co;2, 2001.
- Barr, A. G., Griffis, T. J., Black, T. A., Lee, X., Staebler, R. M., Fuentes, J. D., Chen, Z., and Morgenstern, K.: Comparing the carbon budgets of boreal and temperate deciduous forest stands, Canadian Journal of Forest Research, 32, 813-822, 10.1139/x01-131, 2002.
- Brett, M. T.: When is a correlation between non-independent variables "spurious"?, Oikos, 105, 647-656, 10.1111/j.0030-1299.2004.12777.x, 2004.
- Callaghan, T. V., Björn, L. O., Chernov, Y., Chapin, T., Christensen, T. R., Huntley, B., Ims, R. A., Johansson, M., Jolly, D., Jonasson, S., Matveyeva, N., Panikov, N., Oechel, W., Shaver, G., and Henttonen, H.: Effects on the Structure of Arctic Ecosystems in the Short- and Long-term Perspectives, AMBIO: A Journal of the Human Environment, 33, 436-447, 10.1579/0044-7447-33.7.436, 2004.
- Callaghan, T. V., Johansson, M., Key, J., Prowse, T., Ananicheva, M., and Klepikov, A.: Feedbacks and Interactions: From the Arctic Cryosphere to the Climate System, AMBIO, 40, 75-86, 10.1007/s13280-011-0215-8, 2012.
- Carvalhais, N., Forkel, M., Khomik, M., Bellarby, J., Jung, M., Migliavacca, M., u, M., Saatchi, S., Santoro, M., Thurner, M., Weber, U., Ahrens, B., Beer, C., Cescatti, A., Randerson, J. T., and Reichstein, M.: Global covariation of carbon turnover times with climate in terrestrial ecosystems, Nature, 514, 213-217, 10.1038/nature13731, 2014.

- Chapin, F. S., Callaghan, T. V., Bergeron, Y., Fukuda, M., Johnstone, J. F., Juday, G., and Zimov, S. A.: Global Change and the Boreal Forest: Thresholds, Shifting States or Gradual Change?, AMBIO: A Journal of the Human Environment, 33, 361-365, 10.1579/0044-7447-33.6.361, 2004.
- Christensen, T. R., and Topp-Jørgensen, E.: Greenland Ecosystem Monitoring Annual Report Cards 2016., DCE-Danish Centre for Environment and Energy, Aarhus University, Roskilde, Denmark, 26, 2017.
- Christensen, T. R., Topp-Jørgensen, E., Sejr, M. K., and Schmidt, N. M.: Synthesis of the Greenland Ecosystem Monitoring program. In: AMBIO, Supplement 1, 2017.
- Commane, R., Lindaas, J., Benmergui, J., Luus, K. A., Chang, R. Y.-W., Daube, B. C., Euskirchen, E. S., Henderson, J. M., Karion, A., Miller, J. B., Miller, S. M., Parazoo, N. C., Randerson, J. T., Sweeney, C., Tans, P., Thoning, K., Veraverbeke, S., Miller, C. E., and Wofsy, S. C.: Carbon dioxide sources from Alaska driven by increasing early winter respiration from Arctic tundra, Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 114, 5361-5366, 10.1073/pnas.1618567114, 2017.
- Cornelissen, J. H. C., Van Bodegom, P. M., Aerts, R., Callaghan, T. V., Van Logtestijn, R. S. P., Alatalo, J., Stuart Chapin, F., Gerdol, R., Gudmundsson, J., Gwynn-Jones, D., Hartley, A. E., Hik, D. S., Hofgaard, A., Jónsdóttir, I. S., Karlsson, S., Klein, J. A., Laundre, J., Magnusson, B., Michelsen, A., Molau, U., Onipchenko, V. G., Quested, H. M., Sandvik, S. M., Schmidt, I. K., Shaver, G. R., Solheim, B., Soudzilovskaia, N. A., Stenström, A., Tolvanen, A., Totland, Ø., Wada, N., Welker, J. M., Zhao, X., and Team, M. O. L.: Global negative vegetation feedback to climate warming responses of leaf litter decomposition rates in cold biomes, Ecology Letters, 10, 619-627, 10.1111/j.1461-0248.2007.01051.x, 2007.
- DeMarco, J., Mack, M. C., and Bret-Harte, M. S.: Effects of arctic shrub expansion on biophysical vs. biogeochemical drivers of litter decomposition, Ecology, 95, 1861-1875, 10.1890/13-2221.1, 2014.
- Euskirchen, E. S., Bret-Harte, M. S., Scott, G. J., Edgar, C., and Shaver, G. R.: Seasonal patterns of carbon dioxide and water fluxes in three representative tundra ecosystems in northern Alaska, Ecosphere, 3, 1-19, 10.1890/ES11-00202.1, 2012.
- Exbrayat, J. F., Bloom, A. A., Falloon, P., Ito, A., Smallman, T. L., and Williams, M.: Reliability ensemble averaging of 21st century projections of terrestrial net primary productivity reduces global and regional uncertainties, Earth Syst. Dynam., 9, 153-165, 10.5194/esd-9-153-2018, 2018.
- Friend, A. D., Lucht, W., Rademacher, T. T., Keribin, R., Betts, R., Cadule, P., Ciais, P., Clark, D. B., Dankers, R., Falloon, P. D., Ito, A., Kahana, R., Kleidon, A., Lomas, M. R., Nishina, K., Ostberg, S., Pavlick, R., Peylin, P., Schaphoff, S., Vuichard, N., Warszawski, L., Wiltshire, A., and Woodward, F. I.: Carbon residence time dominates uncertainty in terrestrial vegetation responses to future climate and atmospheric CO2, Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 111, 3280-3285, 10.1073/pnas.1222477110, 2014.
- Goulden, M. L., Wofsy, S. C., Harden, J. W., Trumbore, S. E., Crill, P. M., Gower, S. T., Fries, T., Daube, B. C., Fan, S.-M., Sutton, D. J., Bazzaz, A., and Munger, J. W.: Sensitivity of Boreal Forest Carbon Balance to Soil Thaw, Science, 279, 214-217, 10.1126/science.279.5348.214, 1998.
- Grøndahl, L., Friborg, T., Christensen, T. R., Ekberg, A., Elberling, B., Illeris, L., Nordstrøm, C., Rennermalm, Å., Sigsgaard, C., and Søgaard, H.: Spatial and Inter-Annual Variability of Trace Gas Fluxes in a Heterogeneous High-Arctic Landscape, in: Advances in Ecological Research, Academic Press, 473-498, 2008.

- Hanis, K. L., Amiro, B. D., Tenuta, M., Papakyriakou, T., and Swystun, K. A.: Carbon exchange over four growing seasons for a subarctic sedge fen in northern Manitoba, Canada, Arctic Science, 1, 27-44, 10.1139/as-2015-0003, 2015.
- Hashimoto, S., Carvalhais, N., Ito, A., Migliavacca, M., Nishina, K., and Reichstein, M.: Global spatiotemporal distribution of soil respiration modeled using a global database, Biogeosciences, 12, 4121-4132, 10.5194/bg-12-4121-2015, 2015.
- Heskel, M. A., O'Sullivan, O. S., Reich, P. B., Tjoelker, M. G., Weerasinghe, L. K., Penillard, A., Egerton, J. J. G., Creek, D., Bloomfield, K. J., Xiang, J., Sinca, F., Stangl, Z. R., Martinez-de la Torre, A., Griffin, K. L., Huntingford, C., Hurry, V., Meir, P., Turnbull, M. H., and Atkin, O. K.: Convergence in the temperature response of leaf respiration across biomes and plant functional types, Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 113, 3832-3837, 10.1073/pnas.1520282113, 2016.
- Hewitt, R. E., Bent, E., Hollingsworth, T. N., Chapin, F. S., and Taylor, D. L.: Resilience of Arctic mycorrhizal fungal communities after wildfire facilitated by resprouting shrubs, Écoscience, 20, 296-310, 10.2980/20-3-3620, 2013.
- Hobbie, S. E., and Chapin, F. S.: Winter regulation of tundra litter carbon and nitrogen dynamics, Biogeochemistry, 35, 327-338, 10.1007/bf02179958, 1996.
- Hobbie, S. E., Schimel, J. P., Trumbore, S. E., and Randerson, J. R.: Controls over carbon storage and turnover in highlatitude soils, Global Change Biology, 6, 196-210, 10.1046/j.1365-2486.2000.06021.x, 2000.
- Janssens, I. A., Lankreijer, H., Matteucci, G., Kowalski, A. S., Buchmann, N., Epron, D., Pilegaard, K., Kutsch, W., Longdoz, B., Grünwald, T., Montagnani, L., Dore, S., Rebmann, C., Moors, E. J., Grelle, A., Rannik, Ü., Morgenstern, K., Oltchev, S., Clement, R., Guðmundsson, J., Minerbi, S., Berbigier, P., Ibrom, A., Moncrieff, J., Aubinet, M., Bernhofer, C., Jensen, N. O., Vesala, T., Granier, A., Schulze, E. D., Lindroth, A., Dolman, A. J., Jarvis, P. G., Ceulemans, R., and Valentini, R.: Productivity overshadows temperature in determining soil and ecosystem respiration across European forests, Global Change Biology, 7, 269-278, doi:10.1046/j.1365-2486.2001.00412.x, 2001.
- Johansson, M., Callaghan, T. V., Bosiö, J., Åkerman, H. J., Jackowicz-Korczynski, M., and Christensen, T. R.: Rapid responses of permafrost and vegetation to experimentally increased snow cover in sub-arctic Sweden, Environmental Research Letters, 8, 035025, 2013.
- Jung, M., Reichstein, M., Schwalm, C. R., Huntingford, C., Sitch, S., Ahlström, A., Arneth, A., Camps-Valls, G., Ciais, P., Friedlingstein, P., Gans, F., Ichii, K., Jain, A. K., Kato, E., Papale, D., Poulter, B., Raduly, B., Rödenbeck, C., Tramontana, G., Viovy, N., Wang, Y.-P., Weber, U., Zaehle, S., and Zeng, N.: Compensatory water effects link yearly global land CO2 sink changes to temperature, Nature, 541, 516, 10.1038/nature20780, 2017.
- Kattge, J., Díaz, S., Lavorel, S., Prentice, I. C., Leadley, P., BÖNisch, G., Garnier, E., Westoby, M., Reich, P. B., Wright, I. J., Cornelissen, J. H. C., Violle, C., Harrison, S. P., Van Bodegom, P. M., Reichstein, M., Enquist, B. J., Soudzilovskaia, N. A., Ackerly, D. D., Anand, M., Atkin, O., Bahn, M., Baker, T. R., Baldocchi, D., Bekker, R., Blanco, C. C., Blonder, B., Bond, W. J., Bradstock, R., Bunker, D. E., Casanoves, F., Cavender-Bares, J., Chambers, J. Q., Chapin Iii, F. S., Chave, J., Coomes, D., Cornwell, W. K., Craine, J. M., Dobrin, B. H., Duarte, L., Durka, W., Elser, J., Esser, G., Estiarte, M., Fagan, W. F., Fang, J., FernÁNdez-MÉNdez, F., Fidelis, A., Finegan, B., Flores, O., Ford, H., Frank, D., Freschet, G. T., Fyllas, N. M., Gallagher, R. V., Green, W. A., Gutierrez, A. G., Hickler, T., Higgins, S. I., Hodgson, J. G., Jalili, A., Jansen, S., Joly, C. A., Kerkhoff, A. J., Kirkup, D., Kitajima, K., Kleyer, M., Klotz, S., Knops, J. M. H., Kramer, K., KÜHn, I., Kurokawa, H., Laughlin,

D., Lee, T. D., Leishman, M., Lens, F., Lenz, T., Lewis, S. L., Lloyd, J., LlusiÀ, J., Louault, F., Ma, S., Mahecha, M. D., Manning, P., Massad, T., Medlyn, B. E., Messier, J., Moles, A. T., MÜLler, S. C., Nadrowski, K., Naeem, S., Niinemets, Ü., NÖLlert, S., NÜSke, A., Ogaya, R., Oleksyn, J., Onipchenko, V. G., Onoda, Y., OrdoÑEz, J., Overbeck, G., Ozinga, W. A., PatiÑO, S., Paula, S., Pausas, J. G., PeÑUelas, J., Phillips, O. L., Pillar, V., Poorter, H., Poorter, L., Poschlod, P., Prinzing, A., Proulx, R., Rammig, A., Reinsch, S., Reu, B., Sack, L., Salgado-Negret, B., Sardans, J., Shiodera, S., Shipley, B., Siefert, A., Sosinski, E., Soussana, J. F., Swaine, E., Swenson, N., Thompson, K., Thornton, P., Waldram, M., Weiher, E., White, M., White, S., Wright, S. J., Yguel, B., Zaehle, S., Zanne, A. E., and Wirth, C.: TRY – a global database of plant traits, Global Change Biology, 17, 2905-2935, 10.1111/j.1365-2486.2011.02451.x, 2011.

- Lafleur, P. M., McCaughey, J. H., Joiner, D. W., Bartlett, P. A., and Jelinski, D. E.: Seasonal trends in energy, water, and carbon dioxide fluxes at a northern boreal wetland, Journal of Geophysical Research: Atmospheres, 102, 29009-29020, 10.1029/96JD03326, 1997.
- Lasslop, G., Reichstein, M., Papale, D., Richardson, A. D., Arneth, A., Barr, A., Stoy, P., and Wohlfahrt, G.: Separation of net ecosystem exchange into assimilation and respiration using a light response curve approach: critical issues and global evaluation, Global Change Biology, 16, 187-208, 10.1111/j.1365-2486.2009.02041.x, 2010.
- Lindroth, A., Lund, M., Nilsson, M., Aurela, M., Christensen, T. R., Laurila, T., Rinne, J., Riutta, T., Sagerfors, J., StrÖM, L., Tuovinen, J.-P., and Vesala, T.: Environmental controls on the CO2 exchange in north European mires, Tellus B, 59, 812-825, 10.1111/j.1600-0889.2007.00310.x, 2007.
- Lloyd, J., and Taylor, J. A.: On the Temperature Dependence of Soil Respiration, Functional Ecology, 8, 315-323, 10.2307/2389824, 1994.
- Lund, M., Lindroth, A., Christensen, T. R., and Ström, L.: Annual CO2 balance of a temperate bog, Tellus B, 59, 804-811, 10.1111/j.1600-0889.2007.00303.x, 2007.
- Lund, M., Lafleur, P. M., Roulet, N. T., Lindroth, A., Christensen, T. R., Aurela, M., Chojnicki, B. H., Flanagan, L. B., Humphreys, E. R., Laurila, T., Oechel, W. C., Olejnik, J., Rinne, J., Schubert, P. E. R., and Nilsson, M. B.: Variability in exchange of CO2 across 12 northern peatland and tundra sites, Global Change Biology, 16, 2436-2448, 10.1111/j.1365-2486.2009.02104.x, 2010.
- Lund, M., Falk, J. M., Friborg, T., Mbufong, H. N., Sigsgaard, C., Soegaard, H., and Tamstorf, M. P.: Trends in CO2 exchange in a high Arctic tundra heath, 2000-2010, Journal of Geophysical Research: Biogeosciences, 117, 2012.
- Lund, M., Bjerke, J. W., Drake, B. G., Engelsen, O., Hansen, G. H., Parmentier, F. J. W., Powell, T. L., Silvennoinen, H., Sottocornola, M., Tømmervik, H., Weldon, S., and Rasse, D. P.: Low impact of dry conditions on the CO2 exchange of a Northern-Norwegian blanket bog, Environmental Research Letters, 10, 10.1088/1748-9326/10/2/025004, 2015.
- McGuire, A. D., Melillo, J. M., Randerson, J. T., Parton, W. J., Heimann, M., Meier, R. A., Clein, J. S., Kicklighter, D. W., and Sauf, W.: Modeling the effects of snowpack on heterotrophic respiration across northern temperate and high latitude regions: Comparison with measurements of atmospheric carbon dioxide in high latitudes, Biogeochemistry, 48, 91-114, 10.1023/a:1006286804351, 2000.
- McGuire, A. D., Christensen, T. R., Hayes, D., Heroult, A., Euskirchen, E., Kimball, J. S., Koven, C., Lafleur, P., Miller, P. A., Oechel, W., Peylin, P., Williams, M., and Yi, Y.: An assessment of the carbon balance of Arctic tundra: comparisons among observations, process models, and atmospheric inversions, Biogeosciences, 9, 3185-3204, 10.5194/bg-9-3185-2012, 2012.

- Morgenstern, K., Andrew Black, T., Humphreys, E. R., Griffis, T. J., Drewitt, G. B., Cai, T., Nesic, Z., Spittlehouse, D. L., and Livingston, N. J.: Sensitivity and uncertainty of the carbon balance of a Pacific Northwest Douglas-fir forest during an El Niño/La Niña cycle, Agricultural and Forest Meteorology, 123, 201-219, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agrformet.2003.12.003, 2004.
- Nishina, K., Ito, A., Beerling, D. J., Cadule, P., Ciais, P., Clark, D. B., Falloon, P., Friend, A. D., Kahana, R., Kato, E., Keribin, R., Lucht, W., Lomas, M., Rademacher, T. T., Pavlick, R., Schaphoff, S., Vuichard, N., Warszawaski, L., and Yokohata, T.: Quantifying uncertainties in soil carbon responses to changes in global mean temperature and precipitation, Earth Syst. Dynam., 5, 197-209, 10.5194/esd-5-197-2014, 2014.
- Nishina, K., Ito, A., Falloon, P., Friend, A. D., Beerling, D. J., Ciais, P., Clark, D. B., Kahana, R., Kato, E., Lucht, W., Lomas, M., Pavlick, R., Schaphoff, S., Warszawaski, L., and Yokohata, T.: Decomposing uncertainties in the future terrestrial carbon budget associated with emission scenarios, climate projections, and ecosystem simulations using the ISI-MIP results, Earth Syst. Dynam., 6, 435-445, 10.5194/esd-6-435-2015, 2015.
- Oechel, W. C., Vourlitis, G., and Hastings, S. J.: Cold season CO2 emission from Arctic soils, Global Biogeochemical Cycles, 11, 163-172, 10.1029/96GB03035, 1997.
- Parmentier, F. J. W., van der Molen, M. K., van Huissteden, J., Karsanaev, S. A., Kononov, A. V., Suzdalov, D. A., Maximov, T. C., and Dolman, A. J.: Longer growing seasons do not increase net carbon uptake in the northeastern Siberian tundra, Journal of Geophysical Research: Biogeosciences, 116, n/a-n/a, 10.1029/2011JG001653, 2011.
- Peichl, M., Öquist, M., Löfvenius, M. O., Ilstedt, U., Sagerfors, J., Grelle, A., Lindroth, A., and B. Nilsson, M.: A 12year record reveals pre-growing season temperature and water table level threshold effects on the net carbon dioxide exchange in a boreal fen, Environmental Research Letters, 9, 055006, 2014.
- Pirk, N., Tamstorf, M. P., Lund, M., Mastepanov, M., Pedersen, S. H., Mylius, M. R., Parmentier, F.-J. W., Christiansen, H. H., and Christensen, T. R.: Snowpack fluxes of methane and carbon dioxide from high Arctic tundra, Journal of Geophysical Research: Biogeosciences, 121, 2886-2900, 10.1002/2016JG003486, 2016.
- Post, E., Forchhammer, M. C., Bret-Harte, M. S., Callaghan, T. V., Christensen, T. R., Elberling, B., Fox, A. D., Gilg, O., Hik, D. S., Høye, T. T., Ims, R. A., Jeppesen, E., Klein, D. R., Madsen, J., McGuire, A. D., Rysgaard, S., Schindler, D. E., Stirling, I., Tamstorf, M. P., Tyler, N. J. C., van der Wal, R., Welker, J., Wookey, P. A., Schmidt, N. M., and Aastrup, P.: Ecological Dynamics Across the Arctic Associated with Recent Climate Change, Science, 325, 1355-1358, 10.1126/science.1173113, 2009.
- Reich, P. B., Tjoelker, M. G., Pregitzer, K. S., Wright, I. J., Oleksyn, J., and Machado, J.-L.: Scaling of respiration to nitrogen in leaves, stems and roots of higher land plants, Ecology Letters, 11, 793-801, 10.1111/j.1461-0248.2008.01185.x, 2008.
- Reichstein, M., Papale, D., Valentini, R., Aubinet, M., Bernhofer, C., Knohl, A., Laurila, T., Lindroth, A., Moors, E., Pilegaard, K., and Seufert, G.: Determinants of terrestrial ecosystem carbon balance inferred from European eddy covariance flux sites, Geophysical Research Letters, 34, n/a-n/a, 10.1029/2006GL027880, 2007.
- Richardson, A. D., Hollinger, D. Y., Aber, J. D., Ollinger, S. V., and Braswell, B. H.: Environmental variation is directly responsible for short- but not long-term variation in forest-atmosphere carbon exchange, Global Change Biology, 13, 788-803, 10.1111/j.1365-2486.2007.01330.x, 2007.
- Rocha, A. V., and Shaver, G. R.: Burn severity influences postfire CO2 exchange in arctic tundra, Ecological Applications, 21, 477-489, 10.1890/10-0255.1, 2011.

- Schimel, J. P., and Clein, J. S.: Microbial response to freeze-thaw cycles in tundra and taiga soils, Soil Biology and Biochemistry, 28, 1061-1066, <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/0038-0717(96)00083-1</u>, 1995.
- Schimel, J. P., and Clein, J. S.: Microbial response to freeze-thaw cycles in tundra and taiga soils, Soil Biology and Biochemistry, 28, 1061-1066, <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/0038-0717(96)00083-1</u>, 1996.
- Seibert, J.: Regionalisation of parameters for a conceptual rainfall-runoff model, Agricultural and Forest Meteorology, 98-99, 279-293, <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0168-1923(99)00105-7</u>, 1999.
- Sloan, V. L., Fletcher, B. J., Press, M. C., Williams, M., and Phoenix, G. K.: Leaf and fine root carbon stocks and turnover are coupled across Arctic ecosystems, Global Change Biology, 19, 3668-3676, 10.1111/gcb.12322, 2013.
- Stoy, P. C., Trowbridge, A. M., and Bauerle, W. L.: Controls on seasonal patterns of maximum ecosystem carbon uptake and canopy-scale photosynthetic light response: contributions from both temperature and photoperiod, Photosynthesis Research, 119, 49-64, 10.1007/s11120-013-9799-0, 2014.
- Strachan, I. B., Pelletier, L., and Bonneville, M.-C.: Inter-annual variability in water table depth controls net ecosystem carbon dioxide exchange in a boreal bog, Biogeochemistry, 127, 99-111, 10.1007/s10533-015-0170-8, 2015.
- Street, L. E., Stoy, P. C., Sommerkorn, M., Fletcher, B. J., Sloan, V. L., Hill, T. C., and Williams, M.: Seasonal bryophyte productivity in the sub-Arctic: a comparison with vascular plants, Functional Ecology, 26, 365-378, 10.1111/j.1365-2435.2011.01954.x, 2012.
- Street, L. E., Subke, J.-A., Sommerkorn, M., Sloan, V., Ducrotoy, H., Phoenix, G. K., and Williams, M.: The role of mosses in carbon uptake and partitioning in arctic vegetation, New Phytologist, 199, 163-175, 10.1111/nph.12285, 2013.
- Takala, M., Luojus, K., Pulliainen, J., Derksen, C., Lemmetyinen, J., Kärnä, J.-P., Koskinen, J., and Bojkov, B.: Estimating northern hemisphere snow water equivalent for climate research through assimilation of space-borne radiometer data and ground-based measurements, Remote Sensing of Environment, 115, 3517-3529, <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rse.2011.08.014</u>, 2011.
- Tenow, O., Bylund, H., Karlsson, P. S., and Hoogesteger, J.: Rejuvenation of a mountain birch forest by an Epirrita autumnata (Lepidoptera: Geometridae) outbreak, Acta Oecologica, 25, 43-52, <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.actao.2003.10.006</u>, 2004.
- Thomas, R. Q., and Williams, M.: A model using marginal efficiency of investment to analyze carbon and nitrogen interactions in terrestrial ecosystems (ACONITE Version 1), Geosci. Model Dev., 7, 2015-2037, 10.5194/gmd-7-2015-2014, 2014.
- Thurner, M., Beer, C., Ciais, P., Friend, A. D., Ito, A., Kleidon, A., Lomas, M. R., Quegan, S., Rademacher, T. T., Schaphoff, S., Tum, M., Wiltshire, A., and Carvalhais, N.: Evaluation of climate-related carbon turnover processes in global vegetation models for boreal and temperate forests, Global Change Biology, 23, 3076-3091, 10.1111/gcb.13660, 2017.
- Tjoelker, M. G., Oleksyn, J., and Reich, P. B.: Modelling respiration of vegetation: evidence for a general temperaturedependent Q10, Global Change Biology, 7, 223-230, 10.1046/j.1365-2486.2001.00397.x, 2001.

- Williams, M., Eugster, W., Rastetter, E. B., McFadden, J. P., and Chapin III, F. S.: The controls on net ecosystem productivity along an Arctic transect: a model comparison with flux measurements, Global Change Biology, 6, 116-126, 10.1046/j.1365-2486.2000.06016.x, 2000.
- Wohlfahrt, G., Hammerle, A., Haslwanter, A., Bahn, M., Tappeiner, U., and Cernusca, A.: Seasonal and inter-annual variability of the net ecosystem CO2 exchange of a temperate mountain grassland: Effects of weather and management, Journal of Geophysical Research: Atmospheres, 113, n/a-n/a, 10.1029/2007JD009286, 2008.
- Xenakis, G., and Williams, M.: Comparing microbial and chemical kinetics for modelling soil organic carbon decomposition using the DecoChem v1.0 and DecoBio v1.0 models, Geosci. Model Dev., 7, 1519-1533, 10.5194/gmd-7-1519-2014, 2014.
- Zhang, W., Jansson, P. E., Schurgers, G., Hollesen, J., Lund, M., Abermann, J., and Elberling, B.: Process-oriented modeling of a high Arctic tundra ecosystem: Long-term carbon budget and ecosystem responses to interannual variations of climate, Journal of Geophysical Research: Biogeosciences, 123, https://doi.org/10.1002/2017JG003956, 2018.
- Zona, D., Lipson, D. A., Richards, J. H., Phoenix, G. K., Liljedahl, A. K., Ueyama, M., Sturtevant, C. S., and Oechel, W. C.: Delayed responses of an Arctic ecosystem to an extreme summer: impacts on net ecosystem exchange and vegetation functioning, Biogeosciences, 11, 5877-5888, 10.5194/bg-11-5877-2014, 2014.
- Zona, D., Gioli, B., Commane, R., Lindaas, J., Wofsy, S. C., Miller, C. E., Dinardo, S. J., Dengel, S., Sweeney, C., Karion, A., Chang, R. Y.-W., Henderson, J. M., Murphy, P. C., Goodrich, J. P., Moreaux, V., Liljedahl, A., Watts, J. D., Kimball, J. S., Lipson, D. A., and Oechel, W. C.: Cold season emissions dominate the Arctic tundra methane budget, Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 113, 40-45, 10.1073/pnas.1516017113, 2016.



On the way to the unknown, East Greenland. 2017 field season. Photo by Efrén López-Blanco